Conservation Genomics and Adaptive Management of Translocated Greater Stick-Nest Rats (*Leporillus conditor*) Under Climate Change

Isabelle Rose Onley

Ø

A thesis submitted to the University of Adelaide in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Adelaide Faculty of Sciences School of Biological Sciences



May 2022

Contents

Thesis Declaration
Acknowledgements
Thesis Abstract
Introduction7
Chapter 1
Genomic Approaches for Conservation Management in Australia under Climate Change 31
Chapter 2
Morphological variation in skull shape and size across extinct and extant populations of the greater stick-nest rat (<i>Leporillus conditor</i>): implications for translocation
Chapter 3
Sex assignment in a non-model organism in the absence of field records using Diversity Arrays Technology (DArT) data
Chapter 4
Understanding dispersal patterns can inform future translocation strategies: a case study of the threatened greater stick-nest rat (<i>Leporillus conditor</i>)
Chapter 5
The importance of alternative heat refuges for a nest-building rodent translocated to the arid zone
Chapter 6
Needle in a genomic haystack: searching for signals of selection in a fragmented non- model species
Chapter 7
Disproportionate admixture improves reintroduction outcomes despite the use of low- diversity source populations: population viability analysis for a translocation of the greater stick-nest rat
Chapter 7
General Discussion

Thesis Declaration

I certify that this work contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in my name, in any university or other tertiary institution and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text. In addition, I certify that no part of this work will, in the future, be used in a submission in my name, for any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution without the prior approval of the University of Adelaide and where applicable, any partner institution responsible for the joint-award of this degree.

The author acknowledges that copyright of published works contained within the thesis resides with the copyright holder(s) of those works.

I also give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, via the University's digital research repository, the Library Search and also through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the University to restrict access for a period of time.

I acknowledge the support I have received for my research through the provision of an Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship.

Isabelle Onley

May 2022

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I acknowledge the continuous guidance and support provided by my supervisors, Jeremy Austin and Katherine Moseby. I am extremely thankful for the independence they allowed me during my candidature to develop my project as I saw fit, to collaborate, learn and make mistakes, and for their help and reassurance when I needed it. This allowed me to grow as a researcher and to connect and work with people beyond the University, and I am so grateful.

This work would not have been possible without the amazing staff at Arid Recovery Reserve. They have all contributed to this project in so many ways, by collecting and sharing data, welcoming me to the Reserve during field trips, commenting on manuscripts and research ideas, and so much more. I would like to give a special mention to Kath Tuft, who was always so encouraging and an absolute joy to communicate with.

I'd also like to express my appreciation for Pete Copley's guidance throughout my PhD. Pete was always ready to help and provide information and feedback, on stickies and many other things. His mentorship has been so valuable to me.

A big thank you also goes to the team behind Return to 1616 – Saul Cowen, Kym Ottewell and many others – for inviting me to be involved in what has been an incredibly rewarding experience. While COVID prevented me from visiting Dirk Hartog Island, getting updates on the stickies settling into their new home was a wonderful feeling, as was working with such a passionate and welcoming group of people.

Also integral to this project have been many of the staff and students of ACAD, who created a supportive and stimulating environment through many changes and regime shifts. I will remember Friday afternoon meetings fondly, and received a lot of helpful tips and suggestions during research updates. Kieren Mitchell and Joshua Schmidt gave a lot of their time to assist me with data analysis, and the members of Thesis Writing Group provided invaluable feedback on drafts.

There are many other people to thank for the completion of this thesis. Bill Sherwin and Shaun Barclay generously shared samples that were integral to the project, and without which much of this work couldn't be done. Emma Sherratt gave tireless morphological advice, sharing her vast knowledge and collaborating on a chapter that couldn't have been done without her. Kris Helgen provided much helpful guidance and support during the early years of my candidature, and afterwards, even from afar. Amy Slender and Brenton von Takach assisted with data analysis, and Steve Delean and Jono Tuke with statistical advice. Kyle Watters and the other wonderful rangers of the Sir Joseph Banks group kindly ferried me to and from Reevesby Island, twice! Graham Medlin and David Stemmer of the South Australian Museum gave me access to incredibly valuable specimens that were vital to one of my PhD chapters. Similarly, Kenny Travouillon and Alex Baynes of the Western Australian Museum, Karen Roberts and Kevin Rowe of Museums Victoria, and Sandy Ingleby of the Australian Museum, were incredibly helpful with procurement of specimens and sharing of information.

On a personal note, I'm so grateful to my loving friends and family for their support along the bumpy road that is PhD candidature. My dad Ian, my mum Barb and her lovely partner Darren, my brother Mems and his wonderful fiancé, Thom, and my amazing extended family have all given me so much love and encouragement these last few years, even though COVID kept us all apart for most of it. The kindness and care of my second family here in SA, Gordana, Roy and Deanna, has also meant more to me than I can ever express. And to all my beautiful friends (too many to name here but special mentions to Annabel and both Jaz's), thank you for keeping me sane with many chats over coffee and wine!

During the second year of my PhD, I was lucky enough to meet my incredible partner (now fiancé), David. He has celebrated even my smallest wins, lifted me up through my lows, and always encouraged me to step out of my comfort zone and to believe in myself. He has been my rock, and it's hard to imagine what this journey would have been like without him. So, last but absolutely not least, I'd like to express my very deep love and gratitude to Dave.

Thesis Abstract

In the last two centuries, many species in Australia and around the world have experienced rapid population declines. Further biodiversity loss is predicted under the projected rising temperatures and weather extremes associated with anthropogenic climate change. Informed, adaptive management practises are therefore required to safeguard Earth's flora and fauna from further extinction risk. However, given the speed at which many species have declined, conservation managers often operate in a knowledge void, particularly when making decisions about cryptic or understudied taxa with limited biological information available. In addition, there is often little available data on species' range, diversity and population size prior to human-driven declines, making goal-setting for restoration projects difficult. Recent advances in genomic technologies and wildlife monitoring technology may offer novel solutions to this problem. Informed, multi-disciplinary, effective conservation management strategies and decision-making is of increasing importance under climate change. This thesis therefore aims to use a variety of tools, including genomics, field ecology, morphology and population viability analysis, to investigate the past and present biology of a threatened endemic species, the greater stick-nest rat (Leporillus conditor). The knowledge gained from these studies will then be used to provide guidelines and suggestions for future management of the species, such as optimal translocation harvesting strategies and critical refuge requirements during periods of climatic extremes. The greater stick-nest rat shares many characteristics with other Australian small mammals, as it is a highly fragmented species that is frequently translocated, has suffered a significant range contraction, is vulnerable to predation and climate change, and is relatively data-deficient. The management strategies developed from this comprehensive research will therefore be broadly applicable to many species of conservation concern under the pressures of projected climate change.

Introduction

In recent years, wildlife across the globe have experienced rapid declines (WWF 2020), leaving many threatened species data deficient in areas critical to conservation management (IUCN 2013; Bland et al. 2015). As a result, conservation programs often operate in a knowledge void, with decision-making for interventions such as translocation, genetic rescue and captive breeding programs based on structured protocols, rather than species-specific biological information. This lack of natural history data can inhibit the success of conservation efforts, particularly for species with specific habitat requirements (Michaels et al. 2014; Berger-Tal et al. 2020). However, by combining modern and historic data on species' genomics, morphology, climate and microclimate niches, social structure, and other critical aspects of biology, ecologists can begin to fill the void for threatened species in order to improve conservation outcomes. My thesis seeks to piece together the biological puzzle of one such understudied species, the greater stick-nest rat (*Leporillus conditor*), with the aim of informing future management decisions and, in a broader sense, highlighting the importance of natural history data for conservation management under climate change.

The diversity of Australia's terrestrial mammal fauna

Australia is one of the most biodiverse countries in the world and is home to a high number of endemic taxa (Chapman 2009). Of the frog species found in Australia, 94% are found nowhere else in the world, along with 93% of reptiles, 45% of birds, and 87% of mammals (Chapman 2009). Australia's mammalian fauna is also the most distinctive in the world and, along with New Guinea, the only place where all three orders of mammals occur naturally (Holt *et al.*, 2013; Woinarski, Burbidge and Harrison, 2015). Monotremes are an ancient order (~110 mya) consisting of four species (Keast 1968; Archer et al. 1999), while marsupials are far more numerous (~250 species) and can be traced in the Australian fossil record back to 55 mya (Godthelp et al. 1992; Archer and Kirsch 2006; Mitchell et al. 2014). Bats, the first placental mammals to arrive in Australia, likely appeared on the continent around the same time, dispersing naturally from Asia to Australia (Godthelp et al. 1992; Cox 2000). Most native Australian terrestrial rodents did not follow until 4.5-4 mya (Whitelaw 1991; Aplin and Ford 2014; Smissen and Rowe 2018), all of whom belong to the subfamily Murinae (Johnson 2006; Breed and Ford 2007). These murines are often referred to as 'old endemics', or Old World rats and mice, and likely diversified in New Guinea before crossing to Australia when sea levels were low in the late Miocene and early Pliocene (Aplin 2006). Murine rodents were joined in Australia by 'new endemics', a small number of *Rattus* species, in the Pleistocene (~1.8 mya) (Aplin 2006; Breed and Ford 2007). Today, there are 59 recognised modern species of native rats and mice in Australia, residing in a range of habitats from coastal to arid (Watts and Kemper 1989).

Australia's faunal extinction record

Australia's fauna has an extensive history of not only diversification, but extinction. The most recent extinctions can be classified into three main events. The first occurred during the late Pleistocene, 126-12 kya, and is characterised by the disappearance of Australia's megafauna (>44 kg) (Johnson 2006; Saltré et al. 2019). While there has been an ongoing debate as to the cause of these extinctions, recent studies attribute this rapid decline in megafaunal diversity in Australia and beyond to a combination of climate change (glacial-interglacial transition) and human impacts (Koch and Barnosky 2006; Saltré et al. 2019; David et al. 2021).

The next notable extinction period occurred during the Holocene, when two large marsupial carnivores – the Tasmanian devil (*Sarcophilis harrisii*) and the thylacine (*Thylacinus cynovephalus*) – and the native hen (*Gallinula mortierii*) disappeared from the Australian mainland, surviving only on Tasmania. These extinctions appear to be synchronous, and occurred between 3.1 and 3.2 kya (White et al. 2018). The cause of the disappearance of these two apex predators from the mainland has also been the subject of debate – potential explanations include the arrival of the dingo (*Canis lupus dingo*) (Johnson and Wroe 2003), climate variability associated with the onset of the El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) (Brown 2006; Brüniche-Olsen et al. 2018; White et al. 2018), and human intensification (Johnson and Wroe 2003).

The third, and most recent, extinction event is an ongoing wave of biodiversity loss known as the "Anthropocene", of which human impacts are the driving force. The combined humaninduced pressures of habitat fragmentation, unsustainable harvesting, the spread of invasive species, pollution and climate change interact to create a "perfect storm" resulting in extinction rates exceeding than those of previous mass extinctions in the fossil record (Wilson 2010; Barnosky et al. 2011; Pievani 2014). Since the year 1500, an estimated 868 species have become extinct worldwide, a level of biodiversity loss that is up to 100 times higher than background rates (Turvey and Crees 2019). With human intensification and industrialisation in the last two centuries, the threat of extinction to flora and fauna has only grown, and is expected to increase further – extinction rates could soon rise at least five-fold under current trajectories (Johnson et al. 2017). This escalation will primarily be driven by habitat reduction and modification, the spread of invasive species, pollution, overexploitation of species, and rapidly shifting environmental conditions caused by anthropogenic climate change (Diamond et al. 1989; Millennium Ecosystem Assessment 2005; Brook et al. 2008; Wilson 2010). Annual average temperatures in Australia may rise by up to 5°C by 2090 (CSIRO 2020). The flow-on effects of these rising temperatures include, but are not limited to, habitat loss and fragmentation and associated range contractions, migration of pathogens and predators, and more frequent extreme weather events (Malcolm et al. 2006; Cahill et al. 2013).

Climate change in an Australian context

Australia has experienced climate change events before. Northward drift resulting from the breakup of Gondwana has resulted in a long-term shift towards aridity (Barlow 1981; McLoughlin 2001; Hill 2004). Multiple drying events have forced the continent's fauna through a number of arid 'filters', resulting in the evolution of adaptations to aridity in many (if not most) Australian species (Dawson and Dawson 2006). In the middle Miocene (~14 mya), rapid growth of polar ice sheets in Antarctica caused sea-levels to drop (Zachos et al. 2008). Atmospheric circulation and precipitation was affected; where Australia's climate had been warm and humid in the early Miocene, the late Miocene saw rapid drying and aridification and a major reduction in rainforest cover across most of Australia (Martin 2006; Groeneveld et al. 2017). In the Pliocene, episodic cycles of aridity resulted in the formation of Australia's stony deserts between 4-2 mya (Dodson and Macphail 2004; Fujioka et al. 2005). During the Pleistocene, glaciations caused the climate to shift rapidly between warm and wet, and cold and dry climates, ultimately resulting in increased aridification; sand dune systems developed in central Australia, while southeastern Australia became increasingly dry ~1.5-1 mya (Quilty 1994; Fujioka et al. 2009; McLaren and Wallace 2010). Approximately 42 kya, a reversal of Earth's magnetic poles coincided with Grand Solar Minima to cause changes to atmospheric ozone concentration and circulation; known as the "Adams Event", this change resulted in global climate shifts, including a intensification of ultraviolet radiation and a shift towards aridity in Australia (Cooper et al. 2021). During the Last Glacial Maximum (LGM) (~25-16 kya), when the most recent glacial cycle was at its peak, mainland lakes contracted and the cold, windy climate allowed sand dune deserts to develop further (Galloway 1965; Bowler et al. 1976; Turney et al. 2006). A period of further drying then occurred in the mid-Holocene, ~4-2 kya, coinciding with the onset of ENSO (Shulmeister and Lees 1995).

The most recent period of climate change began ~200 years ago, with the onset of industrialisation and fossil fuel-based economy (Head et al. 2014). Atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO₂) has risen from 270-275 ppm pre-1800, to ~414.5 ppm in 2020 (Steffen et al. 2007; NOAA 2021). This increased concentration of CO₂ has led to a "greenhouse effect", in which atmospheric CO₂, water vapour and other gasses absorb energy released from the Earth's surface (Anderson et al. 2016). This is a natural feedback loop that, under normal circumstances, creates a comfortable and liveable climate – but increased fossil fuel emissions have exacerbated the process and caused a global increase in temperature (Lacis et al. 2010; Anderson et al. 2016). Since national records began in 1910, Australia's average temperature has risen by 1.44°C (CSIRO and Bureau of Meteorology 2020). There have also been significant reductions in overall rainfall in several regions (Keenan and Cleugh 2011), while extreme rainfall, flooding, fire and heat events are becoming more frequent (Gallant and Karoly 2010).

Adaptive strategies in an arid climate

As a result of these repeated drying events and an evolutionary history of variable climates, Australian fauna, particularly those found in the arid zone, have evolved a number of adaptive strategies to survive in extreme environments (Dawson and Dawson 2006). These include, but are not limited to; behavioural adaptations, such as nocturnal activity patterns and burrowing for shelter (Withers et al. 2004); dietary adaptations, including a generalist feeding strategy allowing continuous exploitation of unpredictable food sources (Fisher and Dickman 1993); physiological adaptations, such as counterflow in the blood or airways or concentrated urine (Asres and Amha 2014); and morphological adaptations, wherein body and appendage surface area adapt to maximise heat loss (Roycroft et al. 2020). Organisms may also enter torpor during periods of extreme stress, an efficient way to conserve energy until conditions are more favourable (Warnecke et al. 2010). Adaptive life history traits can also be observed at a population level, particularly in cases where a boom and bust lifecycle occurs in response to resource availability (Robin and Heinsohn 2009; Pavey et al. 2014). Species may employ any combination of these adaptations in order to persist during periods of drought and extreme heat.

Anthropogenic impacts on Australian biodiversity

Despite this suite of adaptations that have evolved over time in response to repeated selection pressures, Australia's extinction record is one of the worst in the world (Waldron et al. 2017). Since the arrival of Europeans almost two and a half centuries ago, the continent's unique wildlife has been subjected to increased predation by feral predators such as cats (*Felis catus*) and foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*), introduced pathogens, competition with introduced grazers, alterations to fire regimes and land use, habitat clearing and pollution (McKenzie et al. 2007; Woinarski et al. 2019). These combined pressures have resulted in the extinction of 38 vascular plant species, ten invertebrates, nine birds and 34 mammals, among other taxa – overall totalling at least 90 species (Woinarski et al., 2015, 2019). But Australia's chronicle of species extinctions is far from ancient history; recently, the world's first mammalian extinction attributed to anthropogenic climate change was recorded in the country's far north. The Bramble Cay melomys (*Melomys rubicola*), declared extinct in 2016, was an endemic rodent surviving on a tiny island in Torres Strait, and its disappearance has been attributed to ocean inundation of critical habitat as a result of rising sea levels induced by climate change (Gynther et al. 2016; Watson 2016; Fulton 2017; Woinarski et al. 2017).

Solutions to Australia's extinction problem

Conservation managers in Australia face a number of challenges, particularly when planning for projected climate change. Introduced predators represent a major threat to biodiversity; feral cats alone are considered to have been a major contributor to the extinction of 22 endemic Australian mammals, and threaten many more (Woinarski et al., 2015). While lethal controls such as baiting are common methods of fox and cat management, the most effective method for mitigating these threats appear to be the establishment of populations of vulnerable species on predator-free islands or within fenced enclosures on the mainland (Doherty et al. 2017). The impact of feral predators on native fauna can be exacerbated by fragmentation and land clearing (May and Norton 1996), a process that also limits dispersal,

gene flow and population connectivity. Revegetation efforts in cleared areas have proven to be effective in some cases, however; revegetated areas near remnant vegetation have been observed to increase species richness of birds and arboreal marsupials (Munro et al. 2007). These refugia can also act as a stepping stone to assist movement through the landscape, aiding dispersal whilst providing shelter from predators (Fischer and Lindenmayer 2002).

While valuable, planted vegetation is not a conservation solution for all taxa. Less mobile species requiring a highly complex understory, such as small terrestrial mammals, do not respond as well as birds and other highly mobile taxa to new stands of vegetation (Hobbs et al. 2003; McElhinny et al. 2006). In such cases, dispersal and colonisation can be aided by the process of translocation, wherein managers facilitate the movement of individuals into an area (often within the species' historical range) in order to establish new populations (IUCN 2013). This is a particularly effective solution for species that have suffered extreme range contractions; many Australian endemics only survive in extremely fragmented habitat, on offshore islands or in fenced reserves (Woinarski et al., 2015). Translocation insures the species against local extinction and can be an effective way to assist in species recovery following a bottleneck.

Translocation is not without its challenges. For species that have suffered severe range contractions – including many endemic Australian taxa – there is often little understanding of habitat requirements, climate tolerance thresholds, historical diversity and distribution, making it difficult for managers to predict survival outcomes when conducting a reintroduction (Berger-Tal et al. 2020). This uncertainty is further compounded by projected climate change; rising temperatures and increasingly unpredictable weather patterns makes it even more difficult to predict how translocated individuals will cope in their new environment. However, if a baseline understanding of the species' life history and requirements can be reached and future environmental change is taken into account, translocation has been flagged as a valuable tool to aid in the conservation of species threatened by climate change and ultimately reduce extinction risk (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2008; Butt et al. 2020). Species that do not have the capacity to adapt or migrate in response to a climatic shifts may be moved to more suitable areas by wildlife managers in order to ensure their ongoing persistence. This strategy represents a shift from the traditional "restoration" paradigm of conservation biology towards a more proactive approach designed

to manage and work alongside change (Thomas 2011), a necessary transition during a time of unprecedented anthropogenic disturbance.

Learning from the past

In cases where information on historical diversity and distribution is limited, studies have shown that information gained from Indigenous knowledge, the fossil record and museum collections can offer valuable insight into past population structures and community assemblages (Godoy et al. 2004; Taylor and Jamieson 2007; Willis et al. 2007; Seddon 2010; Burney and Burney 2016). This can provide goals and direction for managers seeking to return a species or ecosystem to its former state, such as the Western Australian government's Dirk Hartog Island National Park Ecological Restoration Project, 'Return to 1616' (Algar et al. 2020). Further, knowledge gained from historical sources can also inform on a species' vulnerability to temperature shifts under climate change, by providing insight into past climatic shifts, habitat niches and temperature thresholds, as well as phenotypic and genetic responses to climate change over time (Willis and Birks 2006; Jackson and Hobbs 2009; Moritz and Agudo 2013; Holmes et al. 2016; Denney and Anderson 2020). DeLeo et al. (2020) recently used herbarium records to study phenotypic changes in thale cress (Arabidopsis thaliana), identifying significant change over the past two centuries in all traits studied, likely in response to anthropogenic climate change. Moritz et al. (2008) used historical field notes, photographs and trapping records to resample the small mammal communities of Yosemite National Park, USA, and found that drastic elevational range shifts had occurred in half of the species in the last 100 years. Further, exon capture of alpine chipmunk (Tamias alpinus) museum skins from the same region showed increased genetic subdivision as a result of range contractions (Bi et al. 2013).

Contemporary adaptive management

In conjunction with historical resources, it is also important that managers and researchers continue to study relevant aspects of species' biology in order to improve conservation strategies under climate change. Advances in modern DNA sequencing techniques have made genetic analyses for conservation more affordable and accessible than ever before (Shafer et al. 2015). By using these platforms to quantify genetic diversity in threatened populations, managers can work towards reducing inbreeding depression and enhancing

heterozygosity to not only reduce the risk of extinction (Spielman et al. 2004; Charlesworth and Willis 2009), but encourage resilience to climate extremes by increasing adaptive capacity (Reusch et al. 2005; Sgrò et al. 2011). This is often achieved through the process of genetic rescue, a targeted gene flow strategy involving supplementation of genetically depauperate populations with translocated individuals from separate populations (Frankham et al. 2010; Whiteley et al. 2015). It may also involve the establishment of entirely new populations via reintroduction or assisted colonisation, often using a mixed provenancing approach by sourcing individuals from two or more existing source populations (Hoffmann et al. 2021).

There are many other elements of population ecology that must also be considered when planning conservation strategies for threatened species. Social structure and sex-biased dispersal behaviours can result in inbreeding avoidance, kin clustering and spatial genetic patterns (Hazlitt et al. 2004; Liebgold et al. 2011), and can also have implications for resource partitioning (Holekamp and Sawdy 2019). These elements can influence the viability of threatened populations, particularly those established by translocation programs. Harvesting of founder individuals and release strategies should take into account spatial genetics and species-specific dispersal patterns in order to maximise genetic diversity and the likelihood of successful population establishment (Goldenberg et al., 2019; Pacioni et al., 2020). Further, comprehensive knowledge of the habitat and resource requirements of species is an important factor in conservation; an organisms' niche relates not only to foraging and predator avoidance, but also its physiological tolerances (Rice 2005). For example, a species may have specific requirements for climate refugia that allow it to withstand high temperatures and other environmental extremes (Keppel et al. 2015). Managers must ensure that these requirements are well understood and provided for in conservation programs, particularly in the face of predicted climate change. Predator suppression can also improve the outcomes of wildlife management, and has been recognised as a critical contributor to increased abundance of native mammals, birds, reptiles and amphibians (Woinarski et al., 2011; Hayward, Moseby and Read, 2014; Woinarski, Burbidge and Harrison, 2015; Hunter et al., 2018).

Planning for future climate change

Integrating past and present ecological knowledge is a valuable step in developing and delivering informed, dynamic and adaptive conservation strategies under climate change (Beller et al. 2020), particularly in the case of reintroduction biology. Information on the past distribution and diversity of a species can guide the selection of suitable reintroduction sites (Burney and Burney 2016), as well as modelling species distributions under projected climate change (Gavin et al. 2014). The more managers know about the biology of a species, including population genetics, behavioural and social elements, and habitat requirements, the better they can plan harvesting and release strategies to maximise population establishment and ongoing viability following translocation (Goldenberg et al., 2019). Reintroduction and translocation strategies can also be informed by Population Viability Analysis (PVA), a valuable risk assessment tool that can incorporate genetic data alongside life history parameters and potential environmental stressors to predict genetic diversity, inbreeding and extinction risk (Akçakaya and Sjögren-Gulve 2000; Chaudhary and Oli 2020; Seaborn and Goldberg 2020). Further, genomic insights into adaptive capacity can allow managers to select for, and encourage, resilience under a shifting climate (Aitken and Whitlock 2013). Modern genomic technologies can even identify signals of selection in response to environmental pressures such as drought (Cummins et al. 2019), allowing researchers to predict the vulnerability of populations to climate change. All of these factors combined contribute to a more specialised, informed approach to conservation, increasing the likelihood of positive outcomes under the growing pressures of climate change.

Adaptive conservation management in practice

As climate change shifts the goal posts of threatened species management, adaptive conservation practices are required (Pressey et al. 2007; Mawdsley et al. 2009; Groves et al. 2012; Rilov et al. 2019). An example of this kind of progressive, learning-based approach is at Arid Recovery Reserve, located in the arid lands of South Australia. Established in 1998, this 123 km² wildlife reserve includes a number of fenced, predator-proof exclosures, and has been the site of successful reintroductions of five native species, including the greater sticknest rat (*Leporillus conditor*), the boodie (*Bettongia lesueur*) and the greater bilby (*Macrotis lagotis*) (Moseby and O'Donnell 2003; Bolton and Moseby 2004; Moseby and Bice 2004; Moseby et al. 2018). Arid Recovery operates in partnership with stakeholders, government, local community, traditional owners and collaborative scientists, allowing their research

impact to reach far beyond the reserve into the broader conservation community (Moseby et al. 2018).

Arid Recovery focusses heavily on scientific innovation and understanding climate change and drought. As such, many of their conservation efforts are experimental, seeking to fill knowledge gaps and provide solutions to seemingly insurmountable challenges such as introduced predators. Through investigative trials, ecologists at Arid Recovery have optimised predator exclusion fencing (Robley et al. 2007), pioneered one-way gates to prevent overpopulation within fenced reserves (Crisp and Moseby 2010), and used controlled predator exposure to improve anti-predator responses in reintroduced species (Moseby et al. 2012, 2016; West et al. 2018; Ross et al. 2019). Arid Recovery ecologists have recently created experimental artificial habitats for greater stick-nest rats to provide refuge during drought and heatwaves, including erecting shade cloth over exposed nests and constructing hollow rock shelters (Arid Recovery, unpubl. data, 2020). The large area and consistent monitoring (eg. routine trapping, camera traps, transects) within the reserve allows researchers to conduct long-term studies that are rarely possible in such remote environments. The knowledge gained through these innovative approaches to conservation are invaluable in a time of unprecedented biodiversity loss. Data on species' natural history traits under stress and their capacity for climate adaptation can inform future management strategies and improve conservation outcomes far beyond Arid Recovery Reserve itself.

The greater stick-nest rat – a model species for conservation in Australia

To demonstrate the value of an adaptive, holistic and informed approach to conservation management in the face of climate change, this project aims to combine an understanding of the past and present ecology, morphological diversity and genetic diversity of an endemic Australian mammal, the greater stick-nest rat, to formulate future management strategies. The greater stick-nest rat is a model species for threatened species conservation for a number of reasons. Firstly, the species suffered an extreme range contraction in the ~150 years following European arrival, eventually leading to its mainland extinction by the 1930s (Copley 1999a). The species' distribution, once encompassing the majority of the southern half of the continent, was reduced to a single population on the Franklin Islands, off the coast of Ceduna, South Australia. Many other Australian native species have shared similar fates, including the boodie (*Bettongia lesueur*) and Western Barred Bandicoot (*Perameles*)

bougainville) (Short 1999; Short et al. 1999; Woinarski et al. 2015). Further, given the rapid nature of this range contraction, very little is known about the historical diversity of the species, and its habitat requirements or climate tolerance thresholds beyond the Franklin Islands.

The greater stick-nest rat has also been the subject of a number of translocations since the 1980s, both to other islands and to mainland refuges (Pedler and Copley 1993; Moseby and Bice 2004; Short et al. 2018, 2019). Although some reintroductions failed, often due to an inability to exclude predators (Copley 1999b; Short et al. 2018, 2019), many were successful. The greater stick-nest rat now has several meta-populations that can act not only as insurance populations, but as sources for future translocations. In addition, one translocation – to Arid Recovery Reserve – reintroduced individuals from a coastal habitat in the southernmost point of the species' known distribution to a desert climate. While the translocation was considered successful, greater stick-nest rats at Arid Recovery demonstrated high rates of mortality during heat waves and drought (Bolton and Moseby 2004). This represents a unique and highly valuable opportunity to use genomic methods to assess the genetic impacts of temperature shifts on bottlenecked species, as the translocation to an arid climate can be used as a proxy for climate change.

Most biological information available on the species has been gathered during expeditions to the Franklin Islands (Robinson 1975; Copley 1988) and observations of captive and translocated populations (Pedler and Copley 1993; Ryan et al. 2003; Bolton and Moseby 2004; Moseby and Bice 2004; Procter 2007; Short et al. 2018, 2019; White et al. 2020). However, due to its rapid mainland extinction, little is known about the historical population structure of the greater stick-nest rat, as well as its past climatic niches, physiological tolerance thresholds, habitat requirements and natural history (e.g. dispersal behaviours and social structure) in the wild. Further, there is currently no genetic data on the adaptive capacity of the extant and translocated populations. Improved knowledge of this species' ecology could not only assist current conservation strategies, but assist in planning for future management under climate change. The ongoing viability of the greater stick-nest rat, and many species like it both within Australia and overseas, relies upon effective and responsive adaptive management; our best defence against the exacerbation of an already poor extinction record is to seek a deeper understanding of threatened species' biology and requirements both past and present, as well as their genetics and adaptive capability. This study presents a

comprehensive analysis of multiple aspects of the life history of a threatened native species in a conservation context, with the specific aim to contribute to future management strategies under climate change (Figure 1).



Figure 1 A summary of the thesis components and their temporal associations.

Thesis outline

Chapter One, a review of current and future genomic applications to conservation under climate change in Australia, aims to highlight potential avenues for modern DNA sequencing technology to assist in threatened species management in the face of unprecedented environmental change. I discuss the barriers to the uptake of conservation genomics in common practice, and provide examples of the ways that these obstacles are being overcome in the wildlife management community.

Chapter Two uses morphological data gathered from museum collections to determine the level of historical variation and diversity once present in the greater stick-nest rat prior to its mainland extinction. In particular, I assess whether intraspecific morphological variation was present in the species that may limit the capacity of individuals to persist following

reintroduction into parts of their historical range (i.e. specialised skull morphology in response to the local environment, island gigantism).

Chapter Three demonstrates the application of a read-doseage pipeline designed for shotgun data to a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) dataset generated by next-generation sequencing platform, Diversity Arrays (DArT-seq), in order to successfully determine the sex of field-collected greater stick-nest rat DNA samples in the absence of a reference genome. Given the increased uptake of next-generation sequencing in conservation biology, the paucity of reference genomes available for threatened species, and the difficulties associated with sexing in the field, this pipeline is a valuable tool for wildlife managers and researchers.

Chapter Four combines high-throughput DNA sequencing and field data to study the social structure and dispersal behaviour of the species in the early stages of translocation to Arid Recovery, a desert environment with climatic extremes similar to those predicted to occur with increasing frequency under climate change. I provide the first empirical evidence of female philopatry in the species, and use spatial genetic patterns to make recommendations for appropriate harvesting and release strategies of future translocations.

Chapter Five is an analysis of long-term temperature data gathered inside greater stick-nest rat nests at two study sites, a coastal habitat (Reevesby Island) and the arid conditions at Arid Recovery. I compare multiple nest substrates to determine the most effective climate refugia under extreme temperatures.

Chapter Six aims to determine whether signals of adaptation in response to heat stress are present in the genome of greater stick-nest rats following translocation to Arid Recovery, as the desert environment may have selected for individuals with greater physiological, morphological or behavioural traits to survive heatwaves and drought. If so, this has implications for the future of threatened species management under climate change.

Chapter Seven incorporates genetic data and life history parameters to construct a Population Viability Analysis for a planned translocation of greater stick-nest rats to Dirk Hartog Island, Western Australia. I model a variety of translocation scenarios to determine the optimal harvesting strategy that will maximise genetic diversity and potential adaptive capacity in the founding population, ultimately resulting in increased resilience to future climate change. Chapter Eight is a general discussion of the outcomes of each chapter, consolidating the results and their combined implications for the future conservation and adaptive management of the greater stick-nest rat and other threatened small mammal species under climate change.

References

- Aitken, S. N. and Whitlock, M. C., 2013. Assisted Gene Flow to Facilitate Local Adaptation to Climate Change. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 44 (1), 367–388.
- Akçakaya, H. R. and Sjögren-Gulve, P., 2000. Population Viability Analyses in Conservation Planning: An Overview. *Ecological Bulletins*, 9–21.
- Algar, D., Morris, K., Asher, J. and Cowen, S., 2020. Dirk Hartog Island 'Return to 1616' Project – The first six years (2014 to 2019). *Ecological Management & Restoration*, 21 (3), 173–183.
- Anderson, T. R., Hawkins, E. and Jones, P. D., 2016. CO2, the greenhouse effect and global warming: from the pioneering work of Arrhenius and Callendar to today's Earth System Models. *Endeavour*, 40 (3), 178–187.
- Aplin, K. and Ford, F., 2014. Murine rodents: late but highly successful invaders. In: Prins,
 H. H. T. and Gordon, I. J. (eds) *Invasion biology and ecological theory: Insights from* a continent in transformation, 196-240
- Aplin, K. P., 2006. Ten million years of rodent evolution in Australasia: phylogenetic evidence and a speculative historical biogeography. In: Merrick, J. R., Archer, M., Hickey, G. M., Lee, M. S. Y. (eds) *Evolution and Biogeography of Australasian Vertebrates*. Sydney: Australian Scientific Publishing, 707–744.
- Archer, M., Arena, R., Bassarova, M., Black, K., Brammall, J., Cooke, B., Creaser, P., Crosby, K., Gillespie, A., Godthelp, H., Gott, M., Kear, B., Krikman, A., Mackness, B., Muirhead, J., Musser, A., Myers, T., Pledge, N. and Wroe, S., 1999. The Evolutionary History and Diversity of Australian Mammals. *Australian Mammalogy*, 21 (1), 1–45.
- Archer, M. and Kirsch, J., 2006. The evolution and classification of marsupials. In: Armati, P. J., Dickman, C. R., Hume, I. D. (eds) *Marsupials*. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1–21.
- Asres, A. and Amha, N., 2014. Physiological adaptation of animals to the change of environment: a review. *Journal of Biology, Agriculture and Healthcare*, 4 (25), 146-151.
- Barlow, B., 1981. The Australian flora: its origin and evolution. In: *Flora of Australia Volume 1: Introduction*, 25-75.
- Barnosky, A. D., Matzke, N., Tomiya, S., Wogan, G. O., Swartz, B., Quental, T. B., Marshall, C., McGuire, J. L., Lindsey, E. L. and Maguire, K. C., 2011. Has the Earth's sixth mass extinction already arrived? *Nature*, 471 (7336), 51–57.
- Beller, E. E., McClenachan, L., Zavaleta, E. S. and Larsen, L. G., 2020. Past forward: Recommendations from historical ecology for ecosystem management. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 21, e00836.
- Berger-Tal, O., Blumstein, D. T. and Swaisgood, R. R., 2020. Conservation translocations: a review of common difficulties and promising directions. *Animal Conservation*, 23 (2), 121–131.
- Bi, K., Linderoth, T., Vanderpool, D., Good, J. M., Nielsen, R. and Moritz, C., 2013. Unlocking the vault: next-generation museum population genomics. *Molecular Ecology*, 22 (24), 6018–6032.
- Bland, L. M., Collen, B., Orme, C. D. L. and Bielby, J., 2015. Predicting the conservation status of data-deficient species. *Conservation Biology*, 29 (1), 250–259.
- Bolton, J. and Moseby, K., 2004. The activity of Sand Goannas *Varanus gouldii* and their interaction with reintroduced Greater Stick-nest Rats *Leporillus conditor*. *Pacific Conservation Biology*, 10 (3), 193-201.

- Bowler, J., Hope, G., Jennings, J., Singh, G. and Walker, D., 1976. Late quaternary climates of Australia and New Guinea. *Quaternary Research*, 6 (3), 359–394.
- Breed, B. and Ford, F., 2007. Native Mice and Rats. Collingwood, Victoria, Australia: CSIRO Publishing.
- Brook, B. W., Sodhi, N. S. and Bradshaw, C. J. A., 2008. Synergies among extinction drivers under global change. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 23 (8), 453–460.
- Brown, O. J. F., 2006. Tasmanian devil (*Sarcophilus harrisii*) extinction on the Australian mainland in the mid-Holocene: multicausality and ENSO intensification. *Alcheringa: An Australasian Journal of Palaeontology*, 30 (S1), 49–57.
- Brüniche-Olsen, A., Jones, M., Burridge, C., Murchison, E., Holland, B. and Austin, J., 2018. Ancient DNA tracks the mainland extinction and island survival of the Tasmanian devil. *Journal of Biogeography*, 45 (5), 963-976.
- Burney, D. A. and Burney, L. P., 2016. Monitoring results from a decade of native plant translocations at Makauwahi Cave Reserve, Kaua'i. *Plant Ecology*, 217 (2), 139–153.
- Butt, N., Chauvenet, A. L. M., Adams, V. M., Beger, M., Gallagher, R. V., Shanahan, D. F., Ward, M., Watson, J. E. M. and Possingham, H. P., 2020. Importance of species translocations under rapid climate change. *Conservation Biology*, 35 (3), 775-783.
- Cahill, A. E., Aiello-Lammens, M. E., Fisher-Reid, M. C., Hua, X., Karanewsky, C. J., Yeong Ryu, H., Sbeglia, G. C., Spagnolo, F., Waldron, J. B., Warsi, O. and Wiens, J. J., 2013. How does climate change cause extinction? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 280 (1750), 20121890.
- Chapman, A., 2009. Numbers of living species in Australia and the world. Toowoomba, Australia: 2nd edition. Australian Biodiversity Information Services.
- Charlesworth, D. and Willis, J. H., 2009. The genetics of inbreeding depression. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 10 (11), 783–796.
- Chaudhary, V. and Oli, M. K., 2020. A critical appraisal of population viability analysis. *Conservation Biology*, 34 (1), 26–40.
- Cooper, A., Turney, C. S., Palmer, J., Hogg, A., McGlone, M., Wilmshurst, J., Lorrey, A. M., Heaton, T. J., Russell, J. M. and McCracken, K., 2021. A global environmental crisis 42,000 years ago. *Science*, 371 (6531), 811–818.
- Copley, P., 1988. The Stick-nest Rats of Australia: A Final Report to World Wildlife Fund (Australia). National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Environment and Planning.
- Copley, P., 1999a. Natural histories of Australia's stick-nest rats, genus *Leporillus* (*Rodentia : Muridae*). *Wildlife Research*, 26 (4), 513.
- Copley, P., 1999b. Review of the recovery plan for greater stick-nest rat, *Leporillus conditor*. Adelaide: Biodiversity Branch, Department for Environment, Heritage and Aboriginal Affairs.
- Cox, C. B., 2000. Plate tectonics, seaways and climate in the historical biogeography of mammals. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, 95, 509–516.
- Crisp, H. and Moseby, K., 2010. One-way gates: Initial trial of a potential tool for preventing overpopulation within fenced reserves. *Ecological Management & Restoration*, 11 (2), 139–141.
- CSIRO, 2020. Climate Change in Australia: Australian Climate Futures Tool [online]. Available from: https://www.climatechangeinaustralia.gov.au/ [Accessed 7 Nov 2020].
- CSIRO and Bureau of Meteorology, 2020. State of The Climate 2020, 24.
- Cummins, D., Kennington, W. J., Rudin-Bitterli, T. and Mitchell, N. J., 2019. A genomewide search for local adaptation in a terrestrial-breeding frog reveals vulnerability to climate change. *Global Change Biology*, 25 (9), 3151–3162.

- David, B., Arnold, L. J., Delannoy, J.-J., Fresløv, J., Urwin, C., Petchey, F., McDowell, M. C., Mullett, R., Mialanes, J., Wood, R., Crouch, J., Berthet, J., Wong, V. N. L., Green, H. and Hellstrom, J., 2021. Late survival of megafauna refuted for Cloggs Cave, SE Australia: Implications for the Australian Late Pleistocene megafauna extinction debate. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 253, 106781.
- Dawson, T. J. and Dawson, L., 2006. Evolution of arid Australia and consequences for vertebrates. In: Evolution and Biogeography of Australian Vertebrates. Oatlands, NSW, Australia: Auscipub Pty Ltd.
- DeLeo, V. L., Menge, D. N. L., Hanks, E. M., Juenger, T. E. and Lasky, J. R., 2020. Effects of two centuries of global environmental variation on phenology and physiology of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Global Change Biology*, 26 (2), 523–538.
- Denney, D. A. and Anderson, J. T., 2020. Natural history collections document biological responses to climate change. *Global Change Biology*, 26 (2), 340–342.
- Diamond, J. M., Ashmole, N. P. and Purves, P. E., 1989. The Present, Past and Future of Human-Caused Extinctions [and Discussion]. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, 325 (1228), 469–477.
- Dodson, J. R. and Macphail, M. K., 2004. Palynological evidence for aridity events and vegetation change during the Middle Pliocene, a warm period in Southwestern Australia. *Human Dimensions and Natural Processes in Environmental Change*, 41 (3), 285–307.
- Doherty, T. S., Dickman, C. R., Johnson, C. N., Legge, S. M., Ritchie, E. G. and Woinarski, J. C. Z., 2017. Impacts and management of feral cats Felis catus in Australia. *Mammal Review*, 47 (2), 83–97.
- Fischer, J. and Lindenmayer, D. B., 2002. The conservation value of paddock trees for birds in a variegated landscape in southern New South Wales. 2. Paddock trees as stepping stones. *Biodiversity & Conservation*, 11 (5), 833–849.
- Fisher, D. O. and Dickman, C. R., 1993. Diets of insectivorous marsupials in arid Australia: selection for prey type, size or hardness? *Journal of Arid Environments*, 25 (4), 397–410.
- Frankham, R., Ballou, J. D. and Briscoe, D. A., 2010. *Introduction to Conservation Genetics*. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Fujioka, T., Chappell, J., Fifield, L. K. and Rhodes, E. J., 2009. Australian desert dune fields initiated with Pliocene–Pleistocene global climatic shift. *Geology*, 37 (1), 51–54.
- Fujioka, T., Chappell, J., Honda, M., Yatsevich, I., Fifield, K. and Fabel, D., 2005. Global cooling initiated stony deserts in central Australia 2–4 Ma, dated by cosmogenic 21Ne-10Be. *Geology*, 33 (12), 993–996.
- Fulton, G. R., 2017. The Bramble Cay melomys: the first mammalian extinction due to human-induced climate change. *Pacific Conservation Biology*, 23 (1), 1-3.
- Gallant, A. J. E. and Karoly, D. J., 2010. A Combined Climate Extremes Index for the Australian Region. *Journal of Climate*, 23 (23), 6153–6165.
- Galloway, R., 1965. Late quaternary climates in Australia. *The Journal of Geology*, 73 (4), 603–618.
- Gavin, D. G., Fitzpatrick, M. C., Gugger, P. F., Heath, K. D., Rodríguez-Sánchez, F., Dobrowski, S. Z., Hampe, A., Hu, F. S., Ashcroft, M. B., Bartlein, P. J., Blois, J. L., Carstens, B. C., Davis, E. B., Lafontaine, G. de, Edwards, M. E., Fernandez, M., Henne, P. D., Herring, E. M., Holden, Z. A., Kong, W., Liu, J., Magri, D., Matzke, N. J., McGlone, M. S., Saltré, F., Stigall, A. L., Tsai, Y.-H. E. and Williams, J. W., 2014. Climate refugia: joint inference from fossil records, species distribution models and phylogeography. *New Phytologist*, 204 (1), 37–54.

- Godoy, J. A., Negro, J. J., Hiraldo, F. and Donázar, J. A., 2004. Phylogeography, genetic structure and diversity in the endangered bearded vulture (*Gypaetus barbatus*, L.) as revealed by mitochondrial DNA. *Molecular Ecology*, 13 (2), 371–390.
- Godthelp, H., Archer, M., Cifelli, R., Hand, S. J. and Gilkeson, C. F., 1992. Earliest known Australian Tertiary mammal fauna. *Nature*, 356 (6369), 514–516.
- Goldenberg, S. Z., Owen, M. A., Brown, J. L., Wittemyer, G., Oo, Z. M. and Leimgruber, P., 2019. Increasing conservation translocation success by building social functionality in released populations. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 18, e00604.
- Groeneveld, J., Henderiks, J., Renema, W., McHugh, C. M., De Vleeschouwer, D.,Christensen, B. A., Fulthorpe, C. S., Reuning, L., Gallagher, S. J., Bogus, K., Auer,G. and Ishiwa, T., 2017. Australian shelf sediments reveal shifts in Miocene SouthernHemisphere westerlies. *Science Advances*, 3 (5), e1602567.
- Groves, C. R., Game, E. T., Anderson, M. G., Cross, M., Enquist, C., Ferdana, Z., Girvetz, E., Gondor, A., Hall, K. R. and Higgins, J., 2012. Incorporating climate change into systematic conservation planning. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 21 (7), 1651–1671.
- Gynther, I., Waller, N. and Leung, L.-P., 2016. Confirmation of the extinction of the Bramble Cay melomys *Melomys rubicola* on Bramble Cay, Torres Strait: results and conclusions from a comprehensive survey in August–September 2014. Brisbane: Department of Environment and Heritage Protection.
- Hayward, M. W., Moseby, K. and Read, J. L., 2014. The role of predator exclosures in the conservation of Australian fauna. In: Glen, A., Dickman, C. (eds) *Carnivores of Australia: Past, present and future*, 353–371.
- Hazlitt, S. L., Eldridge, M. D. B. and Goldizen, A. W., 2004. Fine-scale spatial genetic correlation analyses reveal strong female philopatry within a brush-tailed rockwallaby colony in southeast Queensland. *Molecular Ecology*, 13 (12), 3621–3632.
- Head, L., Adams, M., McGregor, H. V. and Toole, S., 2014. Climate change and Australia. *WIREs Climate Change*, 5 (2), 175–197.
- Hill, R. S., 2004. Origins of the southeastern Australian vegetation. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 359 (1450), 1537–1549.
- Hobbs, R., Catling, P. C., Wombey, J. C., Clayton, M., Atkins, L. and Reid, A., 2003. Faunal use of bluegum (*Eucalyptus globulus*) plantations in southwestern Australia. *Agroforestry Systems*, 58 (3), 195–212.
- Hoegh-Guldberg, O., Hughes, L., McIntyre, S., Lindenmayer, D. B., Parmesan, C., Possingham, H. P. and Thomas, C. D., 2008. Ecology. Assisted colonization and rapid climate change. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 321 (5887), 345–346.
- Hoffmann, A. A., Miller, A. D. and Weeks, A. R., 2021. Genetic mixing for population management: From genetic rescue to provenancing. *Evolutionary Applications*, 14 (3), 634–652.
- Holekamp, K. E. and Sawdy, M. A., 2019. The evolution of matrilineal social systems in fissiped carnivores. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 374 (1780), 20180065.
- Holmes, M. W., Hammond, T. T., Wogan, G. O. U., Walsh, R. E., LaBarbera, K., Wommack, E. A., Martins, F. M., Crawford, J. C., Mack, K. L., Bloch, L. M. and Nachman, M. W., 2016. Natural history collections as windows on evolutionary processes. *Molecular ecology*, 25 (4), 864–881.
- Holt, B. G., Lessard, J.-P., Borregaard, M. K., Fritz, S. A., Araújo, M. B., Dimitrov, D.,
 Fabre, P.-H., Graham, C. H., Graves, G. R., Jønsson, K. A., Nogués-Bravo, D., Wang,
 Z., Whittaker, R. J., Fjeldså, J. and Rahbek, C., 2013. An Update of Wallace's
 Zoogeographic Regions of the World. *Science*, 339 (6115), 74–78.

- Hunter, D. O., Lagisz, M., Leo, V., Nakagawa, S. and Letnic, M., 2018. Not all predators are equal: a continent-scale analysis of the effects of predator control on Australian mammals. *Mammal Review*, 48 (2), 108–122.
- IUCN, 2013. Guidelines for reintroductions and other conservation translocations. Gland, Switzerland: IUCN Species Survival Commission.
- Jackson, S. T. and Hobbs, R. J., 2009. Ecological Restoration in the Light of Ecological History. *Science*, 325 (5940), 567–569.
- Johnson, C., 2006. Australia's mammal extinctions: a 50,000-year history. Cambridge University Press.
- Johnson, C. N., Balmford, A., Brook, B. W., Buettel, J. C., Galetti, M., Guangchun, L. and Wilmshurst, J. M., 2017. Biodiversity losses and conservation responses in the Anthropocene. *Science*, 356 (6335), 270–275.
- Johnson, C. N. and Wroe, S., 2003. Causes of extinction of vertebrates during the Holocene of mainland Australia: arrival of the dingo, or human impact? *The Holocene*, 13 (6), 941–948.
- Keast, A., 1968. Australian Mammals: Zoogeography and Evolution. *The Quarterly Review* of Biology, 43 (4), 373–408.
- Keenan, T. D. and Cleugh, H. A., 2011. Climate Science Update: A Report to the 2011 Garnaut Review. The Centre for Australian Weather and Climate Research, CSIRO and the Bureau of Meteorology.
- Keppel, G., Mokany, K., Wardell-Johnson, G. W., Phillips, B. L., Welbergen, J. A. and Reside, A. E., 2015. The capacity of refugia for conservation planning under climate change. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 13 (2), 106–112.
- Koch, P. L. and Barnosky, A. D., 2006. Late Quaternary extinctions: state of the debate. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 37, 215-250.
- Lacis, A. A., Schmidt, G. A., Rind, D. and Ruedy, R. A., 2010. Atmospheric CO2: Principal Control Knob Governing Earth's Temperature. *Science*, 330 (6002), 356–359.
- Liebgold, E. B., Brodie, E. D. and Cabe, P. R., 2011. Female philopatry and male-biased dispersal in a direct-developing salamander, *Plethodon cinereus*. *Molecular Ecology*, 20 (2), 249–257.
- Malcolm, J. R., Liu, C., Neilson, R. P., Hansen, L. and Hannah, L., 2006. Global Warming and Extinctions of Endemic Species from Biodiversity Hotspots. *Conservation Biology*, 20 (2), 538–548.
- Martin, H. A., 2006. Cenozoic climatic change and the development of the arid vegetation in Australia. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 66 (3), 533–563.
- Mawdsley, J. R., O'MALLEY, R. and Ojima, D. S., 2009. A review of climate-change adaptation strategies for wildlife management and biodiversity conservation. *Conservation Biology*, 23 (5), 1080–1089.
- May, S. A. and Norton, T. W., 1996. Influence of fragmentation and disturbance on the potential impact of feral predators on native fauna in Australian forest ecosystems. *Wildlife Research*, 23 (4), 387.
- McElhinny, C., Gibbons, P., Brack, C. and Bauhus, J., 2006. Fauna-habitat relationships: a basis for identifying key stand structural attributes in temperate Australian eucalypt forests and woodlands. *Pacific Conservation Biology*, 12 (2), 89–110.
- McKenzie, N. L., Burbidge, A. A., Baynes, A., Brereton, R. N., Dickman, C. R., Gordon, G., Gibson, L. A., Menkhorst, P. W., Robinson, A. C., Williams, M. R. and Woinarski, J. C. Z., 2007. Analysis of factors implicated in the recent decline of Australia's mammal fauna. *Journal of Biogeography*, 34 (4), 597–611.
- McLaren, S. and Wallace, M. W., 2010. Plio-Pleistocene climate change and the onset of aridity in southeastern Australia. *Global and Planetary Change*, 71 (1), 55–72.

- McLoughlin, S., 2001. The breakup history of Gondwana and its impact on pre-Cenozoic floristic provincialism. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 49 (3), 271–300.
- Michaels, C. J., Gini, B. F. and Preziosi, R. F., 2014. The importance of natural history and species-specific approaches in amphibian ex-situ conservation. *The Herpetological Journal*, 24 (3), 135–145.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005. Millennium Ecosystem Assessment: Ecosystems and Human Well-Being. Synthesis report and biodiversity synthesis report. Washington, DC, Island Press
- Mitchell, K. J., Pratt, R. C., Watson, L. N., Gibb, G. C., Llamas, B., Kasper, M., Edson, J., Hopwood, B., Male, D., Armstrong, K. N., Meyer, M., Hofreiter, M., Austin, J., Donnellan, S. C., Lee, M. S. Y., Phillips, M. J. and Cooper, A., 2014. Molecular Phylogeny, Biogeography, and Habitat Preference Evolution of Marsupials. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 31 (9), 2322–2330.
- Moritz, C. and Agudo, R., 2013. The Future of Species Under Climate Change: Resilience or Decline? *Science*, 341 (6145), 504–508.
- Moritz, C., Patton, J. L., Conroy, C. J., Parra, J. L., White, G. C. and Beissinger, S. R., 2008. Impact of a Century of Climate Change on Small-Mammal Communities in Yosemite National Park, USA. *Science*, 322 (5899), 261.
- Moseby, K. and Bice, J., 2004. A trial re-introduction of the Greater Stick-nest Rat (*Leporillus conditor*) in arid South Australia. *Ecological Management & Restoration*, 5, 118–124.
- Moseby, K. E., Blumstein, D. T. and Letnic, M., 2016. Harnessing natural selection to tackle the problem of prey naïveté. *Evolutionary Applications*, 9 (2), 334–343.
- Moseby, K. E., Cameron, A. and Crisp, H. A., 2012. Can predator avoidance training improve reintroduction outcomes for the greater bilby in arid Australia? *Animal Behaviour*, 83 (4), 1011–1021.
- Moseby, K. E., Copley, P., Paton, D. C. and Read, J. R., 2018. Arid Recovery; a successful conservation partnership. In: Garnett, S., Latch, P., Lindenmayer, D. and Woinarski, J. (eds) *Recovering Australian Threatened Species A Book of Hope*. Canberra, Australia: CSIRO Publishing.
- Moseby, K. E., Lollback, G. W. and Lynch, C. E., 2018. Too much of a good thing; successful reintroduction leads to overpopulation in a threatened mammal. *Biological Conservation*, 219, 78–88.
- Moseby, K. E. and O'Donnell, E., 2003. Reintroduction of the greater bilby, *Macrotis lagotis* (Reid) (*Marsupialia : Thylacomyidae*), to northern South Australia: survival, ecology and notes on reintroduction protocols. *Wildlife Research*, 30 (1), 15–27.
- Munro, N. T., Lindenmayer, D. B. and Fischer, J., 2007. Faunal response to revegetation in agricultural areas of Australia: A review. *Ecological Management & Restoration*, 8 (3), 199–207.
- NOAA, 2021. Global Monitoring Laboratory Carbon Cycle Greenhouse Gases [online]. Available from: https://www.esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/ccgg/trends/global.html [Accessed 7 Apr 2021].
- Pacioni, C., Atkinson, A., Wayne, A. F., Maxwell, M. A., Ward, C. G. and Spencer, P. B. S., 2020. Spatially sensitive harvest design can minimize genetic relatedness and enhance genetic outcomes in translocation programmes. *Journal of Zoology*, 312 (1), 32-42.
- Pavey, C. R., Cole, J. R., McDonald, P. J. and Nano, C. E. M., 2014. Population dynamics and spatial ecology of a declining desert rodent, *Pseudomys australis*: the importance of refuges for persistence. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 95 (3), 615–625.

- Pedler, L. and Copley, P., 1993. Re-introduction of stick-nest rats to Reevesby Island, South Australia. Biological Conservation Branch, South Australian Department of Environment and Land Management.
- Pievani, T., 2014. The sixth mass extinction: Anthropocene and the human impact on biodiversity. *Rendiconti Lincei*, 25 (1), 85–93.
- Pressey, R. L., Cabeza, M., Watts, M. E., Cowling, R. M. and Wilson, K. A., 2007. Conservation planning in a changing world. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 22 (11), 583–592.
- Procter, J., 2007. Greater Stick-Nest Rat Husbandry Guidelines. Alice Springs Desert Park. Husbandry Manual.
- Quilty, P. G., 1994. The background: 144 million years of Australian palaeoclimate and palaeogeography. *In*: Hill, R. S. (ed) *History of the Australian Vegetation*. University of Adelaide Press, 14–43.
- Reusch, T. B. H., Ehlers, A., Hämmerli, A. and Worm, B., 2005. Ecosystem recovery after climatic extremes enhanced by genotypic diversity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 102 (8), 2826–2831.
- Rice, J. C., 2005. Understanding fish habitat ecology to achieve conservation. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 67, 1–22.
- Rilov, G., Mazaris, A. D., Stelzenmüller, V., Helmuth, B., Wahl, M., Guy-Haim, T., Mieszkowska, N., Ledoux, J.-B. and Katsanevakis, S., 2019. Adaptive marine conservation planning in the face of climate change: What can we learn from physiological, ecological and genetic studies? *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 17, e00566.
- Robin, L. and Heinsohn, R., 2009. Boom & Bust: Bird Stories for a Dry Country. CSIRO Publishing.
- Robinson, A. C., 1975. The Sticknest Rat, *Leporillus conditor*, on Franklin Island, Nuyts Archipelago, South Australia. *Australian Mammalogy*, 1 (4), 319–327.
- Robley, A., Purdey, D., Johnston, M., Lindeman, M., Busana, F. and Long, K., 2007. Experimental trials to determine effective fence designs for feral cat and fox exclusion. *Ecological Management & Restoration*, 8 (3), 193–198.
- Ross, A. K., Letnic, M., Blumstein, D. T. and Moseby, K. E., 2019. Reversing the effects of evolutionary prey naiveté through controlled predator exposure. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 56 (7), 1761–1769.
- Roycroft, E. J., Nations, J. A. and Rowe, K. C., 2020. Environment predicts repeated body size shifts in a recent radiation of Australian mammals. *Evolution*, 74 (3), 671–680.
- Ryan, S., Moseby, K. and Paton, D., 2003. Comparative foraging preferences of the greater stick-nest rat *Leporillus conditor* and the European rabbit *Oryctolagus cuniculus*: implications for regeneration of arid lands. *Australian Mammalogy*, 25 (2), 135-146.
- Saltré, F., Chadoeuf, J., Peters, K. J., McDowell, M. C., Friedrich, T., Timmermann, A., Ulm, S. and Bradshaw, C. J. A., 2019. Climate-human interaction associated with southeast Australian megafauna extinction patterns. *Nature Communications*, 10 (1), 1-9.
- Seaborn, T. and Goldberg, C. S., 2020. Integrating Genetics and Metapopulation Viability Analysis to Inform Translocation Efforts for the Last Northern Leopard Frog Population in Washington State, USA. *Journal of Herpetology*, 54 (4), 465–475.
- Seddon, P. J., 2010. From Reintroduction to Assisted Colonization: Moving along the Conservation Translocation Spectrum. *Restoration Ecology*, 18 (6), 796–802.
- Sgrò, C. M., Lowe, A. J. and Hoffmann, A. A., 2011. Building evolutionary resilience for conserving biodiversity under climate change. *Evolutionary Applications*, 4 (2), 326– 337.

- Shafer, A. B. A., Wolf, J. B. W., Alves, P. C., Bergström, L., Bruford, M. W., Brännström, I., Colling, G., Dalén, L., De Meester, L., Ekblom, R., Fawcett, K. D., Fior, S., Hajibabaei, M., Hill, J. A., Hoezel, A. R., Höglund, J., Jensen, E. L., Krause, J., Kristensen, T. N., Krützen, M., McKay, J. K., Norman, A. J., Ogden, R., Österling, E. M., Ouborg, N. J., Piccolo, J., Popović, D., Primmer, C. R., Reed, F. A., Roumet, M., Salmona, J., Schenekar, T., Schwartz, M. K., Segelbacher, G., Senn, H., Thaulow, J., Valtonen, M., Veale, A., Vergeer, P., Vijay, N., Vilà, C., Weissensteiner, M., Wennerström, L., Wheat, C. W. and Zieliński, P., 2015. Genomics and the challenging translation into conservation practice. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 30 (2), 78–87.
- Short, J., 1999. The Decline and Recovery of Australian Mammals, with Particular Emphasis on the Burrowing Bettong *Bettongia lesueur*. PhD thesis. Murdoch University, Perth.
- Short, J., Copley, P., Ruykys, L., Morris, K., Read, J. and Moseby, K., 2019. Review of translocations of the greater stick-nest rat (*Leporillus conditor*): lessons learnt to facilitate ongoing recovery. *Wildlife Research*, 46 (6), 455-475.
- Short, J., Richards, J. D. and O'Neill, S., 2018. Reintroduction of the greater stick-nest rat (*Leporillus conditor*) to Heirisson Prong, Shark Bay: an unsuccessful attempt to establish a mainland population. *Australian Mammalogy*, 40 (2), 269-280.
- Short, J., Richards, J. D. and Turner, B., 1999. Ecology of the western barred bandicoot (*Perameles bougainville*) (*Marsupialia: Peramelidae*) on Dorre and Bernier Islands, Western Australia. *Wildlife Research*, 25 (6), 567–586.
- Shulmeister, J. and Lees, B. G., 1995. Pollen evidence from tropical Australia for the onset of an ENSO-dominated climate at c. 4000 BP. *The Holocene*, 5 (1), 10–18.
- Smissen, P. J. and Rowe, K. C., 2018. Repeated biome transitions in the evolution of Australian rodents. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 128, 182–191.
- Spielman, D., Brook, B. W. and Frankham, R., 2004. Most species are not driven to extinction before genetic factors impact them. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 101 (42), 15261–15264.
- Steffen, W., Crutzen, P. J. and McNeill, J. R., 2007. The Anthropocene: Are Humans Now Overwhelming the Great Forces of Nature. *AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment*, 36 (8), 614–621.
- Taylor, S. S. and Jamieson, I. G., 2007. No evidence for loss of genetic variation following sequential translocations in extant populations of a genetically depauperate species. *Molecular Ecology*, 17 (2), 545-556.
- Thomas, C. D., 2011. Translocation of species, climate change, and the end of trying to recreate past ecological communities. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 26 (5), 216–221.
- Turney, C. S. M., Haberle, S., Fink, D., Kershaw, A. P., Barbetti, M., Barrows, T. T., Black, M., Cohen, T. J., Corrège, T., Hesse, P. P., Hua, Q., Johnston, R., Morgan, V., Moss, P., Nanson, G., van Ommen, T., Rule, S., Williams, N. J., Zhao, J.-X., D'Costa, D., Feng, Y.-X., Gagan, M., Mooney, S. and Xia, Q., 2006. Integration of ice-core, marine and terrestrial records for the Australian Last Glacial Maximum and Termination: a contribution from the OZ INTIMATE group. *Journal of Quaternary Science*, 21 (7), 751–761.
- Turvey, S. T. and Crees, J. J., 2019. Extinction in the Anthropocene. *Current Biology*, 29 (19), R982-986.
- Waldron, A., Miller, D. C., Redding, D., Mooers, A., Kuhn, T. S., Nibbelink, N., Roberts, J. T., Tobias, J. A. and Gittleman, J. L., 2017. Reductions in global biodiversity loss predicted from conservation spending. *Nature*, 551 (7680), 364–367.

- Warnecke, L., Cooper, C. E., Geiser, F. and Withers, P. C., 2010. Environmental physiology of a small marsupial inhabiting arid floodplains. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology*, 157 (1), 73–78.
- Watson, J., 2016. Bring climate change back from the future. Nature, 534 (7608), 437-437.
- Watts, C. H. S. and Kemper, C. M., 1989. 47. Muridae. In: *Fauna of Australia Volume 1B Mammalia*. AGPS Canberra.
- West, R., Letnic, M., Blumstein, D. T. and Moseby, K. E., 2018. Predator exposure improves anti-predator responses in a threatened mammal. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 55 (1), 147–156.
- White, L. C., Saltré, F., Bradshaw, C. J. A. and Austin, J. J., 2018. High-quality fossil dates support a synchronous, Late Holocene extinction of devils and thylacines in mainland Australia. *Biology Letters*, 14 (1), 20170642.
- White, L. C., Thomson, V. A., West, R., Ruykys, L., Ottewell, K., Kanowski, J., Moseby, K. E., Byrne, M., Donnellan, S. C., Copley, P. and Austin, J. J., 2020. Genetic monitoring of the greater stick-nest rat meta-population for strategic supplementation planning. *Conservation Genetics*, 21 (5), 941-956.
- Whitelaw, M. J., 1991. Magnetic polarity stratigraphy of Pliocene and Pleistocene fossil vertebrate localities in southeastern Australia. *Geological Society of America Bulletin*, 103 (11), 1493–1503.
- Whiteley, A. R., Fitzpatrick, S. W., Funk, W. C. and Tallmon, D. A., 2015. Genetic rescue to the rescue. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 30 (1), 42–49.
- Willis, K. J., Araújo, M. B., Bennett, K. D., Figueroa-Rangel, B., Froyd, C. A. and Myers, N., 2007. How can a knowledge of the past help to conserve the future? Biodiversity conservation and the relevance of long-term ecological studies. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 362 (1478), 175–187.
- Willis, K. J. and Birks, H. J. B., 2006. What Is Natural? The Need for a Long-Term Perspective in Biodiversity Conservation. *Science*, 314 (5803), 1261–1265.
- Wilson, E. O., 2010. The diversity of life. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Withers, P. C., Cooper, C. E. and Buttemer, W. A., 2004. Are day-active small mammals rare and small birds abundant in Australian desert environments because small mammals are inferior thermoregulators? *Australian Mammalogy*, 26 (2), 117–124.
- Woinarski, J. C. Z., Braby, M. F., Burbidge, A. A., Coates, D., Garnett, S. T., Fensham, R. J., Legge, S. M., McKenzie, N. L., Silcock, J. L. and Murphy, B. P., 2019. Reading the black book: The number, timing, distribution and causes of listed extinctions in Australia. *Biological Conservation*, 239, 108261.
- Woinarski, J. C. Z., Burbidge, A. A. and Harrison, P. L., 2015. Ongoing unraveling of a continental fauna: Decline and extinction of Australian mammals since European settlement. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112 (15), 4531–4540.
- Woinarski, J. C. Z., Garnett, S. T., Legge, S. M. and Lindenmayer, D. B., 2017. The contribution of policy, law, management, research, and advocacy failings to the recent extinctions of three Australian vertebrate species: Extinction Contributing Factors. *Conservation Biology*, 31 (1), 13–23.
- Woinarski, J. C. Z., Legge, S., Fitzsimons, J. A., Traill, B. J., Burbidge, A. A., Fisher, A., Firth, R. S. C., Gordon, I. J., Griffiths, A. D., Johnson, C. N., McKenzie, N. L., Palmer, C., Radford, I., Rankmore, B., Ritchie, E. G., Ward, S. and Ziembicki, M., 2011. The disappearing mammal fauna of northern Australia: context, cause, and response. *Conservation Letters*, 4 (3), 192–201.
- WWF, 2020. Living Planet Report 2020 Bending the curve of biodiversity loss. Gland, Switzerland: WWF.

Zachos, J. C., Dickens, G. R. and Zeebe, R. E., 2008. An early Cenozoic perspective on greenhouse warming and carbon-cycle dynamics. *Nature*, 451 (7176), 279–283.

Chapter 1

Genomic Approaches for Conservation Management in Australia under Climate Change

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Genomic Approaches for	Conservation Management in Australia under Climate Change			
Publication Status	X Publis hed	Accepted for Publication			
	Submitted for Publication	Unpublished and Unsubmitted w ork w ritten in manuscript style			
Publication Details	Onley, I.R.; Moseby, K.E.; <i>A</i> Management in Australia unde	Onley, I.R.; Moseby, K.E.; Austin, J.J. Genomic Approaches for Conservation Management in Australia under Climate Change. Life 2021, 11, 653. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/life11070653			

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Isabelle Onley		
Contribution to the Paper	Isabelle drafted the manuscript and acted a	s corresp	onding author.
Overall percentage (%)	80%		
Certification:	This paper reports on original research I conduct	ed during	the period of my Higher Degree by
	Research candidature and is not subject to any	obligations	s or contractual agreements with a
	third party that would constrain its inclusion in this	thesis. Lar	n the primary author of this paper.
Signature		Date	13/09/2021

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Jeremy Austin
Contribution to the Paper	Jeremy assisted in development of ideas and editing of manuscript.
Signature	Date 18/10/21

contribution to the Paper				
	Katherine assisted in develop	Katherine assisted in development of ideas and editing of manuscript.		
gnature		Date	21/10/2021	



Review



Genomic Approaches for Conservation Management in Australia under Climate Change

Isabelle R. Onley ¹,*¹, Katherine E. Moseby ² and Jeremy J. Austin ¹

- ¹ Australian Centre for Ancient DNA (ACAD), School of Biological Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA 5000, Australia; jeremy.austin@adelaide.edu.au
- ² Centre for Ecosystem Science, School of Biological, Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW 2052, Australia; k.moseby@unsw.edu.au

* Correspondence: isabelle.onley@adelaide.edu.au

Abstract: Conservation genetics has informed threatened species management for several decades. With the advent of advanced DNA sequencing technologies in recent years, it is now possible to monitor and manage threatened populations with even greater precision. Climate change presents a number of threats and challenges, but new genomics data and analytical approaches provide opportunities to identify critical evolutionary processes of relevance to genetic management under climate change. Here, we discuss the applications of such approaches for threatened species management in Australia in the context of climate change, identifying methods of facilitating viability and resilience in the face of extreme environmental stress. Using genomic approaches, conservation management practices such as translocation, targeted gene flow, and gene-editing can now be performed with the express intention of facilitating adaptation to current and projected climate change scenarios in vulnerable species, thus reducing extinction risk and ensuring the protection of our unique biodiversity for future generations. We discuss the current barriers to implementing conservation genomic projects and the efforts being made to overcome them, including communication between researchers and managers to improve the relevance and applicability of genomic studies. We present novel approaches for facilitating adaptive capacity and accelerating natural selection in species to encourage resilience in the face of climate change.

Keywords: conservation genomics; climate change; assisted migration; genetic rescue

1. Introduction

In the time since European arrival in Australia, native plants and animals have suffered major population decline and extinction. Ten percent of endemic mammal species known to be present in the 18th century are now extinct, and many others survive only on offshore islands and fragmented habitat [1]. Further, some 38 species of vascular plants, 10 invertebrates, 4 frogs, 3 reptiles, 1 fish, and 9 bird species have been confirmed extinct since European arrival in 1788 [2]. These impacts have been attributed to a number of factors, most notably land management changes (including land clearing for cropping and grazing), alterations to fire regimes, and the introduction of feral predators, including cats (*Felis catus*) and red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*), and feral herbivores such as European rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*) [2–4]. However, extinction risk is being further exacerbated by human-induced climate change [5], with rapidly warming temperatures and increased frequency and magnitude of extreme weather events such as drought and fire resulting in phenological shifts, range contractions, and population declines in many taxa [5–7].

Since the late 20th century, the importance of genetic factors in the science of conservation biology has been well recognised; inbreeding depression and loss of genetic variation have been identified as potential drivers of extinction [8,9]. For example, an isolated population of mountain pygmy possums (*Burramys parvus*) at Mount Buller in Victoria suffered a considerable loss of fitness following a rapid population decline and subsequent



Citation: Onley, I.R.; Moseby, K.E.; Austin, J.J. Genomic Approaches for Conservation Management in Australia under Climate Change. *Life* **2021**, *11*, 653. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/life11070653

Academic Editors: Daria Sanna, Marco Casu and Fabio Scarpa

Received: 18 June 2021 Accepted: 3 July 2021 Published: 4 July 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). inbreeding [10]. Processes such as inbreeding and genetic drift, particularly in threatened species with small, isolated populations, can result in a high frequency of deleterious alleles, exacerbating extinction risk [11]. With this knowledge, genetic analyses are now a vital part of conservation biology in Australia [12–14], with several approaches currently being considered as potential strategies for maintaining, and in some cases increasing, the genetic diversity and resilience of threatened species [14,15].

With the advent of advanced DNA sequencing technologies, it is now possible to approach management of threatened species under a changing climate at the genomic level, taking into account not only genetic diversity and inbreeding effects, but fitness, gene expression, and adaptation [16,17]. The relevance and application of genetic tools to conservation have been discussed extensively in the literature [11,18–20], as have the various genomic approaches for DNA sequencing and analysis [21–23]. Here, we focus specifically on genomic approaches to conservation management under climate change in Australia—a continent with a range of climate change challenges, large latitudinal and environmental gradients, and a biota that has already suffered disproportionate rates of extinction, population fragmentation, and decline. However, the challenges presented by climate change to conservationists and the potential solutions discussed herein are applicable on a global scale. This review aims to discuss the current and expected conservation challenges associated with anthropogenic climate change, followed by the progress of conservation genomics to address these challenges. We explore some of the issues surrounding the application of such technologies to conservation and management strategies and highlight emerging opportunities to apply genomics to conservation in Australia.

2. Climate Change and Conservation Challenges

Anthropogenic climate change has caused Australia's average temperature to increase by 1 °C in the last century, and further warming is expected [24]. By the year 2090, annual average temperatures may rise by 5 °C [25]. Climate change has also been linked to an increase in extreme weather conditions [26], including more frequent and intense bushfires [27], cyclones [28], and floods [29]. These rapidly changing conditions compound the existing threats from habitat loss, fragmentation, feral predators, and competitors and are exacerbating extinction risk, all of which present new and pressing challenges for conservationists [5–7,30]. Two of the most critical issues relate to species' ability to shift their range or adapt in situ. While species may once have undergone range shifts in response to changing climates during the Late Pleistocene and Holocene [31], habitat loss and fragmentation are likely to hamper this response in the majority of species, particularly those with short dispersal distance. In the face of rapidly changing climate many species may not be able to adapt in situ due to low standing genetic variation, reduced gene flow, and/or limited phenotypic plasticity [32,33].

The initial consequences of climate change for Australian flora and fauna have been well documented in recent years and include range shifts, population declines, altered migration rates, and altered selection pressure [34–38]. Changes to the physical environment have resulted in catastrophic cascading ecosystem effects and negative feedback loops [39,40]. The impacts of climate change are evident across a range of habitats and environments, from the oceans [41] to the tropics [42] and even into the arid and alpine zones [43]. Montane species are being forced into higher altitudes as temperatures increase and will inevitably be forced "off the mountain top" [44]. Species with specific habitat and climatic tolerance ranges are predicted to be vulnerable to rising temperatures [45]; mechanistic models of future climate conditions predict a reduction in reproductive output of green sea turtles (Chelonia mydas) associated with marine heatwaves [46]. Conradie et al. [47] predict that by 2100, zebra finches (Taeniopygia guttata) will be exposed to acute lethal dehydration risk for several weeks of the year in over 50% of the species' current range. Climatic extremes have already resulted in massive diebacks of mangroves [48] and seagrass [49]. Furthermore, less resilient species with specific habitat requirements are becoming increasingly vulnerable due to shifts in their climatic niche. For example, only

30% of the current distribution of *Banksia marginata*, a highly fragmented but ecologically significant plant species, overlaps with the projected distribution under climate change by 2080 [50].

Unfortunately, despite these threats, the vast majority of management plans for threatened species do not currently include actions to improve adaptability to climate change [51].

3. Conservation Genetics in the Genomics Era

Conservation genetics is a discipline that incorporates genetic information into the planning and management of threatened species to minimise extinction risk. Genomic measures of relatedness, connectivity, and differentiation can be applied in a broad context to identify and clarify taxonomic issues and to identify evolutionarily divergent lineages within species [52]. At a local level, conservation managers can use genetic information to monitor gene flow and landscape genetics, as well as population parameters such as heterozygosity, genetic drift, and levels of inbreeding [14,53]. Genetics has also been used to inform pedigrees and breeding programs for endangered species in captivity by determining factors such as individual fitness and kinship [18,54,55].

Recent developments in high throughput DNA sequencing and its application to genomics have made genetic analysis more advanced and affordable for researchers [56]. Since 2005, DNA sequencing costs have reduced 5-fold, and the number of genetic markers available has increased by at least 2-3 orders of magnitude [57]. These genomic methods utilise high throughput sequencing technologies to sequence millions of DNA fragments in parallel, allowing thousands of genetic markers to be sequenced from hundreds of individuals in a single assay [58,59]. Previously, sequencing of mtDNA or nuclear genes or analysis of microsatellite loci limited genetic analyses to one to tens of loci and focused almost exclusively on neutral (or nearly neutral) loci [60]. While traditional methods were effective for taxonomy, phylogeography, and population genetic studies, genomic sequencing allows conservation geneticists to generate and analyse large data sets that include neutral and functional loci. The ability to assay functional variation extends the focus of conservation genetics to include processes such as natural selection and adaptation and to examine the fitness consequences of inbreeding [61,62]. Geneticists can now sequence the entire genome, use exome capture to target specific regions, or target single nucleotide polymorphisms (hereafter, SNPs) [63]. Although the massive amounts of data produced by genomic sequencing platforms necessitate advanced and diverse bioinformatics tools [58,64], such programs are constantly being improved and developed to allow genomic sequencing to reach its full potential. While there are still some uncertainties surrounding interpretation and uptake of genomic data in a management context [56], population genomics studies are increasingly being applied to conservation problems and management decision-making [65]. Genomic data have already been used to extensively study and characterise the genetic diversity of Australian wildlife, including quantifying the genetic effects of translocations in small mammal populations and identifying candidate genes associated with breeding success in marsupials [14,66–70].

The advances in genomic sequencing methods have made it an invaluable tool for conservation biologists, particularly when studying selection, adaptation, and functional diversity in threatened and economically valuable species [71,72]. For example, genomic studies of the Tasmanian devil (*Sarcophilus harrisii*) by Epstein et al. [73] revealed signals of selection in genes associated with immune function or cancer risk in three populations decimated by facial tumour disease, likely the result of an evolutionary response to the illness. This discovery has the potential to inform future selective breeding in the species, enhancing the prevalence of these resistant genotypes in insurance populations for the ongoing persistence of Tasmanian devils. SNP analysis of commercially important abalone (*Haliotis rubra*) identified genotype associations with several variable aspects of marine habitat, including sea surface temperature and ocean current, providing important insight into species resilience under fluctuating marine climates [74]. Genomic sequencing has also been used to identify local adaptation in gimlet trees (*Eucalyptus salubris*) [75] and potential

selection in response to sea surface temperatures in seaweed (*Phyllospora comosa*) [76]. SNP genotyping performed on degraded samples seized from the wildlife trade has even been used to identify population structure and differentiation of threatened species [77].

4. Application of Conservation Genomics to Climate Change Challenges

Genomics can provide critical new data to inform conservation management of threatened species under climate change in two key ways. Neutral variants-changes to the DNA sequence that have no effect on the viability of the individual—can be analysed to understand population processes such as gene flow, changes in population size, and population structure. Meanwhile, functional variants—DNA sequence changes that have fitness consequences—can be analysed to identify genetic diversity and patterns of local adaptation across potential source populations. Such knowledge may contribute to facilitating assisted range shifts, identifying suitable source populations for translocations and restoration carrying genotypes adapted to conditions at the recipient site [15], and enhancing local adaptation to climate change stress. An important application of conservation genomics is to inform species translocations, the facilitated movement of a species to an area within its historical range or to a new location with a suitable current or projected climate and habitat [78]. Traditionally, conservation managers conduct translocations to establish insurance populations, increase population size, and encourage heterogeneity [79,80]. However, Sgro et al. [81] argue that translocation should be considered not only as a method of increasing population sizes in threatened species but also as a means of creating "evolutionary resilience" to climate change. Assisted migration and genetic rescue are types of species translocation that may have the potential to offset the effects of climate change [82,83]. Furthermore, evolutionary rescue via processes such as targeted gene flow, another type of translocation, and gene editing, the process of altering DNA coding sequences to remove deleterious/insert advantageous alleles, may provide conservation solutions in the face of anthropogenic environmental shifts by quickly and efficiently improving the resilience of a population to external stressors [84–86]. These techniques are summarised in Figure 1. It is important to note that many of these technologies and approaches are still in the early stages of development, and while their potential uses are promising, limitations remain that are discussed further in subsequent sections of this review.



Figure 1. A summary of the conservation approaches discussed in this review that may be informed by genomics.
4.1. Assisted Migration

Assisted migration (or assisted colonisation) is the intentional movement of species to areas where habitat is predicted to become suitable as the climate changes (Figure 1) [87]. This usually refers to translocation of individuals outside their historical range but may include reintroductions to climatically suitable locations within the former range for species that have suffered large historical range contractions. Due to habitat fragmentation, many species that once encompassed large ranges no longer exist along an environmental gradient or have the capacity to disperse in response to climate change threats and stressors. In such scenarios, assisted migration may prove effective, particularly for sessile species or those with low dispersal ability [88].

Gallagher et al. [82] summarised the traits associated with species most likely to be affected by climate change and in need of assisted migration. Of most relevance to genomic applications to conservation are species with reduced adaptive capacity (poor ability to evolve in situ or disperse), small effective population size, and reduced genetic diversity. These features may be a result of recent population declines, long term effects of narrow ranges (narrow endemics) or niche specialisation, meta-population structure (new or existing barriers to gene flow), and distribution (for example, species in the tropics may have less adaptive capacity for temperature stress due to limited thermal seasonality). Examples of assisted migration outside a species' historical range are rare; however, Supple et al. [89] examined genomic variation in remnant populations of critically endangered yellow box (*Eucalyptus melliodora*) to inform restoration plantings in this species that has been reduced to less than 5% of its original range. By combining genomic data with environmental variables and climate predictions, they were able to identify sites for assisted migration and suitable source populations containing genetic variation adapted to future climate predictions.

4.2. Genetic Rescue

Translocation may also be used as a method of genetic rescue, whereby new individuals (and subsequently new genetic material) are introduced into an existing population with the aim of increasing population fitness and adaptive potential by increasing heterozygosity and adaptive capacity, masking deleterious alleles, countering the effects of inbreeding depression, and reducing genetic load (Figure 1) [15,83,86,90–93]. A well-known example of genetic rescue involves the mountain pygmy possum (Burramys parvus); an isolated population at Mount Buller was supplemented twice with genetically divergent males from larger populations, resulting in increased fitness and fecundity in the subsequent hybrids [10]. Genetic rescue can be applied to any taxa; experimental crosses between populations of a rare perennial daisy (*Rutidosis leptorrhynchoides*) resulted in similar or increased levels of heterosis across three generations [94]. Advances in genomics have given managers the ability to refine the science of genetic rescue further by testing for the presence of inbreeding depression in target populations, to predict the likelihood of gene flow causing outbreeding depression, to identify adaptive variation, and to closely monitor the results of population admixture for genetic rescue [95,96]. Emerging genomic technologies may even be used to predict the fitness consequences of alleles in a population, although some uncertainty remains around this method [93]. Genetic rescue is likely to become increasingly important under climate change, particularly given the tendency for environmental stress to increase inbreeding depression [97,98].

4.3. Evolutionary Rescue

A more specific variation of genetic rescue is evolutionary rescue, wherein adaptive evolutionary change is introduced to a population rather than overall genetic diversity [84]. One method of evolutionary rescue is targeted gene flow, a form of translocation that involves the introduction of new individuals with particular traits into an existing population with the aim of increasing a population's evolutionary resilience (Figure 1). In terms of climate change threats, individuals from a population with favourable alleles, e.g.,

resilience to high temperatures, could be translocated to another population of the same species that is not adapted to the threat, thereby increasing the resilience of the overall population within a few generations [99]. An example of how targeted gene flow can enhance evolutionary resilience was presented in a pioneering study by Kelly and Phillips (2019) [100], who suggested that the introduction of northern quolls (*Dasyurus hallucatus*) that avoided eating poisonous and invasive cane toads (*Rhinella marina*) to a quoll group naïve to the risks of eating the toads could result in a rapid adaptive response and, ultimately, a more resilient population. Hybrid offspring of toad-exposed and toad-naïve parents showed similar phenotypic responses to offspring of toad-exposed parents only, suggesting the presence of a dominant heritable trait for "toad-smart" behaviour. Although yet to be tested on a real-world population, the results of this study indicate that it is possible to introduce an adaptive response to a threat in a population through targeted gene flow. For targeted gene flow to be successful, however, knowledge of trait variation, heritability, and the underlying genetic variants linked to the trait are needed in order to identify suitable individuals to translocate.

Within a single species, certain populations may be better adapted to environmental stressors than others. For example, genomic sequencing has revealed within-species variation in heat stress response in both animals and plants [101-103]. This has important implications for species management under climate change. Recently, Cummins et al. [104] used the commercial genomic sequencing platform Diversity Arrays to conduct a genomewide analysis of the Australian crawling frog (*Pseudophryne guentheri*), which revealed signals of local adaptation and limited gene flow between populations. While individuals living in the hotter, drier regions of the species' range were better adapted to predicted conditions in Australia under climate change, the more mesic individuals were not. Similarly, a study on greenlip abalone (Haliotis laevigata) revealed adaptive divergence across ~800 km of coastline that was strongly linked to minimum sea surface temperature and oxygen concentration [105]. In both cases, targeted gene flow between populations may encourage viability in the face of rising temperatures and other environmental shifts associated with climate change. Varied resilience to high temperatures has also been observed in coral reefs across natural temperature mosaics, with corals from warmer locations exhibiting mild selection in response to heat stress events [106,107]. A recent study by Quigley et al. [108] modelled the spread of temperature tolerant loci in corals in the Great Barrier Reef under natural and assisted scenarios. They concluded that adaptive variants are unlikely to spread fast enough to combat current rates of warming without human intervention. Targeted gene flow has therefore been flagged as a potential strategy to combat coral bleaching under climate change [109]. Further, Jordan et al. [110] identified 81 adaptive SNPs in the genome of mottlecah trees (Eucalyptus acrocarpa), many of which were associated with variables of aridity, temperature, and rainfall, while Steane et al. [111] studied the genomes of a forest tree species, *Eucalyptus tricarpa*, across an area encompassing significant variation in aridity. Genomic divergence was found to be strongly correlated with temperature and moisture availability, evidence of local adaptation to environmental stressors associated with climate change predictions. The authors suggest that such information on the adaptive capacity of the species could be used to inform assisted migration in order to fix beneficial alleles and safeguard vulnerable populations against climate change.

Another underexplored genetic approach to addressing climate change impacts through evolutionary rescue is gene-editing. Already used extensively in agriculture, gene-editing involves the use of functional proteins to target a location in the genome and alter the gene's coding sequence or activity (Figure 1) [112]. Commonly, the RNA-guided Cas9 enzyme (isolated from CRISPR acquired immune systems in bacteria) is used to target and cut the DNA sequence, enabling insertion, deletion, and replacement [113]. Once considered impractical for wild populations, gene-editing technology has recently become much more accessible to conservation biologists [114]. Although research to date has focussed predominantly on the application of gene-editing to disease prevention and the suppression of invasive species, with the new capacity of genomic sequencing technology

to identify adaptive alleles associated with environmental stressors [115], it follows that the isolation, introduction, and fixation of these in a population would be possible via gene-editing [116,117].

In particular, CRISPR technology has the potential to be used for gene drives, wherein a beneficial trait is introduced and fixed in a population far more rapidly than natural selection allows [118]. For example, populations of American chestnut trees (Castanea dentata) have been decimated by the invasive pathogen chestnut blight fungus (Cryphonectria *parasitica*) since the early 20th century [119]. Researchers recently succeeded in developing transgenic American chestnut trees that demonstrate tolerance to the fungus by inserting a gene from wheat into the genome [117]. Gene editing could also be used to introduce deleterious alleles to populations of invasive species in order to reduce fitness and/or fecundity [114,118]. Johnson et al. [120] champion the applications of gene-editing technology for conservation, including the possibility of removing genetic disorders from a population, increasing genetic diversity following a bottleneck, or controlling the spread of invasive species. It represents a method of introducing beneficial alleles to a population that is threatened by climate change, particularly in situations where translocations are not possible [112]. In some systems, such as coral reefs, the introduction of natural or synthetic genes may aid in increasing resilience of species vulnerable to climate change effects [121]. Zafar et al. [122] discuss the possibility of using CRISPR technologies to develop novel quantitative trait loci in plants to increase resilience to abiotic environmental stressors including drought, temperature, and salinity. Further, CRISPR microinjection performed on larvae of the reef-building coral species Acropora millepora resulted in a ~50% mutation rate on all three target genes [123]. All target genes were putatively responsive to environmental stressors.

5. Overcoming Barriers to the Application of Genomics for Conservation Management under Climate Change

There are some barriers to the application of conservation genomics to management practices in Australia. A detailed discussion of the technical challenges associated with population genomics is beyond the scope of this paper (but see [86,124,125])—here, we aim instead to highlight the difficulties associated with the implementation of conservation genomics in management and how they can be overcome. First, the link between research and conservation practitioners must be strengthened to allow managers to set goals, make informed decisions, and integrate the findings of conservation geneticists with on-ground management practices in real-time [56,126,127]. A recent survey of 148 conservation practitioners in New Zealand indicated that although collaboration with geneticists was desired, managers did not know how to reach them [128]. Furthermore, Cook and Sgro (2017) [129] highlight the need for increased presence and engagement of evolutionary biologists in the conservation space, while Shafer et al. [56] observe that encouraging genome researchers to communicate directly with practitioners about the decreasing costs and potential uses for genomic technology, as well as its limitations, would be a step towards resolving the disconnect between scientists and stakeholders. Kadykalo et al. [130] identify the need for an interface that allows researchers to engage and connect with conservation managers, who, in turn, may communicate what types of genomic data would be helpful and applicable in the field.

Although many practitioners have been historically averse to admixture as a conservation strategy [131], a cultural shift has recently taken place. There have been a number of cases of successful collaboration between genetic researchers and conservation practitioners in Australia, such as the "devil tools & tech" umbrella framework implemented by the Save the Tasmanian Devil Program [126] and various provenance-related research projects to facilitate ecological restoration [69,132,133]. Indeed, the inclusion of non-academic co-authors in conservation genetics and genomics studies (e.g., [134,135]) has been shown to increase the likelihood of a specific solution- or policy-orientated outcome by up to 250% [136]. Garner et al. [75] note that much of the work occurring in non-academic spaces is not prioritised for publication, but it is clear that a holistic, collaborative approach with

8 of 17

open communication and engagement between stakeholders is highly beneficial. Such collaboration not only facilitates the implementation of research findings but also encourages targeted studies that are directly relevant to conservation managers and policymakers and fully utilises the potential of modern genomic technology [137,138].

Second, it must be acknowledged that the application of gene flow and gene editing as management practices carries a certain level of risk. Introducing new individuals to a population may lead to outbreeding depression [139], although the risk of outbreeding depression occurring has likely been overstated, as there is little evidence of its manifestation in wild populations [15,140]. Care must be taken to ensure that deleterious alleles are not being inadvertently introduced to populations and that locally adapted alleles are maintained [88,141]. A recent genetic rescue of Trinidadian guppies (*Poecilia reticulata*) resulted in increased fitness without swamping locally adapted alleles; however, the authors note that the results are not directly transferable to other organisms and that genetic rescue should be considered and planned case-by-case [142]. Furthermore, adaptational lags to contemporary temperature increases may mean that species are not well adapted to the conditions they are currently experiencing within their home-range, necessitating thorough and careful genomic analyses to choose an effective provenancing strategy for assisted gene flow [86,143].

Gene editing is also not without its challenges; Phelps et al. [112] note that while currently used for agricultural enhancement, such an approach would be challenging in a threatened species context due to the complex nature of adaptation and selection in ecology; traits are sometimes driven by a network of genetic responses (i.e., polygenic), rather than a single genomic region [125]. Varshney et al. [144] note that the development of stresstolerance in crops via gene-editing is difficult, as tolerance can be expressed in many ways and is often the result of many genomic mechanisms. Managers implementing evolutionary rescue in general must also consider that phenotypic expression of genotypes can be unpredictable, and as such, the introduction of a new genotype to a population or area is not guaranteed to have the desired result [86,145,146]. Incorporating phenotypic data into planning strategies may assist in predicting the persistence of species introduced to new environments. Although a significant body of work on risk assessment has emerged in recent times [19,140], there remains a need for more resources surrounding decision-making tools and guidelines for conservation managers hoping to implement conservation genetics in the planning of threatened species management strategies [147]. Careful planning and risk assessment prior to intervention using tools such as those from Rossetto et al. [148] for conservation genomics management workflow are vital if genomic data are to be routinely included in threatened species management. This not only will help prevent undesirable outcomes but also will optimise resource usage and "bridge the gap" between researchers and conservation practitioners [149].

Finally, trust and support from the general public and conservation institutions for the expansion of conservation genomics must be gained in order to provide a solid foundation for future trials and innovation. Some conservation organisations such as zoos have policies against selective breeding that were put in place to safeguard species from becoming oddities or public curiosities [54]. These policies need to be updated to allow their participation in breeding trials and genetic interventions that are conservation focussed. Such institutions also need to play a stronger role in public education regarding genetic interventions. While there are a number of inherent issues associated with captive breeding programs, including genetic risks such as inbreeding depression [150], and behavioural challenges, such as predator naivety [151], breeding establishments such as zoos, herbariums, and seed banks have been identified as potentially vital resources in conservation genomics were their policies to become more flexible, not only as sources of genetic variation and insurance populations but also through providing a controlled environment for hybridisation trials [152–154].

6. Future Opportunities and Tools to Harness Conservation Genomics in the Fight against Climate Change

Advanced genomic sequencing technology can now be incorporated into conservation management strategies through genomic analyses, targeted gene flow, assisted migration, and gene editing. These methods can all be used in breeding programs, reintroductions, revegetation programs, and translocations to encourage viability in threatened species in the face of rising temperatures and extreme climate events. We see additional opportunities for genomics methods to involve experimental studies and targeted solutions to enable better planning and management for species conservation in the face of climate change. For example, genomic data could be used to determine how phenotypic plasticity and adaptive evolution act within species across environmental gradients in order to predict species' response and vulnerability to climate change [155]. Climate change experiments, either in the field or laboratory settings, using manipulated climatic conditions and genomic data could be used to identify evolutionary responses to changes in temperature and water availability [156]. This information could then be used to guide translocations and to revise species range loss projections under different climate change scenarios [157].

Accelerating natural selection in response to current and future environmental stressors may be particularly important for the survival of species that have suffered severe range reductions, a common occurrence amongst Australian endemics. Whilst reintroduction programs are becoming common, few take into account future adaptability or, indeed, adaptive capacity of source populations [140,158,159]. Conservation practitioners now need to think seriously about the long-term viability of the populations they are managing under climate change projections. Actions could include maximising evolutionary potential by working towards increased population size, genetic variation, and gene flow in managed populations [86,153] or targeted provenancing strategies involving the selection of source individuals for translocations and reintroductions with an adaptive bias towards predicted climate change conditions [160]. Climate resilience may even be encouraged by exposing individuals to climate stressors, as per Kelly and Phillips (2019) [100]. The greater stick-nest rat (Leporillus conditor), for example, is a murid rodent that became extinct on the Australian mainland in the early 1900s, surviving only on a single offshore island [161]. The species became the focus of a number of translocation efforts beginning in the 1980s, including a reintroduction to Arid Recovery Reserve, a 12,300 hectare predatorfree enclosure in South Australia's arid zone [162,163]. Although the translocation was initially considered a success, having retained a viable population for two decades, it was observed that the stick-nest rats demonstrated spikes in mortality during extreme summer heat events [164], a selection pressure that may lead to natural selection for animals with improved physiological adaptations to heat. Comprehensive genomic analyses of the stick-nest rat population at Arid Recovery by White et al. [14] twenty years after the species' reintroduction identified six loci under putative selection in the genome when compared with founding populations, but further research is required to determine whether these genomic regions are associated with heat stress. This differentiation may be an adaptive response to heat stress experienced during the hot summer months at Arid Recovery, implying that the translocation of greater stick-nest rats has led to the establishment of a population that is better adapted to withstand hotter, drier conditions.

A number of frameworks and guidelines have recently emerged to facilitate the application of conservation genomics and genomic sequencing to wildlife management strategies (e.g., [165]). Hoffmann et al. [153] present a decision-making framework for managers that incorporates the potential and limitations of genomic approaches, as well as guidelines for inferring adaptive capacity and the significance of gene flow in a threatened species population. They note the importance of a robust reference genome (see also [166]) but also acknowledge that this resource is not always essential for detailed analysis of population structure and signals of selection associated with environmental variables, as evidenced by Grabowski et al. [167] and Wood et al. [76].

7. Conclusions

With the advent of genomic sequencing, conservation biologists now have the capacity to assess genomic data at a higher resolution than ever before. Not only can overall genetic diversity be analysed but also signals of adaptive evolution, mutations, and inbreeding can now be identified quickly and at relatively low cost. Under a rapidly changing climate, such technology has the potential to revolutionise conservation management; assisted migration, targeted gene flow, and gene-editing can now be performed from an informed perspective, encouraging adaptive capacity and selection for advantageous alleles in threatened populations to improve viability in the face of anthropogenic climate change. Conservation genomics will be of particular value in the management of threatened species with fragmented habitats that are unable to migrate or those with low genetic diversity and limited adaptive capacity. We recommend the application of novel conservation approaches discussed in this review to such taxa in the face of projected climate change. Although such strategies diverge from the traditional in situ conservation paradigm, preservationist methods alone are no longer feasible in the face of widespread climatic shifts. The humbling realisation that, in a comparatively short period of time, humans have induced irreversible changes to the global environment that will be observable in the fossil record for millennia calls for a shift in our attitude toward the world around us [168,169]. As Thomas (2011) [170] notes, "conservation under current circumstances is about managing change; retaining or restoring past community composition is no longer feasible".

While some limitations remain—species suitability, additional conservation requirements, the risk of outbreeding depression [19,171], and communication barriers between conservation practitioners and geneticists-the potential for conservation genetics utilising genomic sequencing technology must be realised if we are to actively and successfully conserve our remaining biodiversity under the threat of anthropogenic climate change. There are many examples of successful collaborations between researchers, stakeholders, and managers in Australia, such as the Pilbara northern quoll research program, a collaborative monitoring effort between multiple universities, researchers, and Indigenous groups, as well as the Western Australian state government [172] and the Genetic Rescue Project, a network of scientists and stakeholders working towards the recovery of five threatened species (e.g., [135]). Based on the success of these cooperative approaches, we reiterate previous calls [56,126,127,129–131] for practitioners and researchers to consider the ongoing genomic viability of species in the face of climate change when planning future conservation actions, to collaborate and communicate, and to harness the wealth of information that genomic sequencing provides for more informed and targeted management strategies moving forward.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, I.R.O. and J.J.A.; writing—original draft preparation, I.R.O.; writing—review and editing, I.R.O., K.E.M., and J.J.A.; supervision, K.E.M. and J.J.A.; funding acquisition, I.R.O. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by the Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship, the Nature Foundation South Australia Grand Start Grant (Grant No. 2019-07), the Biological Society South Australia/Nature Conservation Society of South Australia Conservation Biology Grant, and the Field Naturalists Society of South Australia Lirabenda Endowment Fund Research Grant.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: The authors wish to thank the Australian Centre for Ancient DNA Thesis Writing Group and Kieren Mitchell for constructive feedback on drafts of this manuscript. We thank five anonymous reviewers for comments that helped improve the manuscript. Isabelle Onley's project is supported by the University of Adelaide and funded by the following organisations and awards: Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship, Nature Foundation South Australia

Grand Start Grant (Grant No. 2019-07), Biological Society South Australia/Nature Conservation Society of South Australia Conservation Biology Grant, Field Naturalists Society of South Australia Lirabenda Endowment Fund Research Grant.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Woinarski, J.C.Z.; Burbidge, A.A.; Harrison, P. Ongoing unraveling of a continental fauna: Decline and extinction of Australian mammals since European settlement. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2015, *112*, 4531–4540. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Woinarski, J.C.Z.; Braby, M.F.; Burbidge, A.A.; Coates, D.; Garnett, S.T.; Fensham, R.J.; Legge, S.M.; McKenzie, N.L.; Silcock, J.L.; Murphy, B.P. Reading the black book: The number, timing, distribution and causes of listed extinctions in Australia. *Biol. Conserv.* 2019, 239, 108261. [CrossRef]
- 3. Morton, S. The impact of European settlement on the vertebrate animals of arid Australia: A conceptual model. *Proc. Ecol. Soc. Aust.* **1990**, *16*, 201–213.
- McKenzie, N.L.; Burbidge, A.A.; Baynes, A.; Brereton, R.N.; Dickman, C.; Gordon, G.; Gibson, L.A.; Menkhorst, P.W.; Robinson, A.C.; Williams, M.R.; et al. Analysis of factors implicated in the recent decline of Australia's mammal fauna. *J. Biogeogr.* 2007, 34, 597–611. [CrossRef]
- McKechnie, A.; Wolf, B. Climate change increases the likelihood of catastrophic avian mortality evens during extreme heat waves. *Biol. Lett.* 2010, *6*, 253–256. [CrossRef]
- Lindenmayer, D.B.; Steffen, W.; Burbidge, A.A.; Hughes, L.; Kitching, R.L.; Musgrave, W.; Smith, M.S.; Werner, P.A. Conservation strategies in response to rapid climate change: Australia as a case study. *Biol. Conserv.* 2010, 143, 1587–1593. [CrossRef]
- 7. Ogston, G.; Beatty, S.J.; Morgan, D.L.; Pusey, B.J.; Lymbery, A. Living on burrowed time: Aestivating fishes in south-western Australia face extinction due to climate change. *Biol. Conserv.* **2016**, *195*, 235–244. [CrossRef]
- 8. Frankham, R. Conservation genetics. Annu. Rev. Genet. 1995, 29, 305–327. [CrossRef]
- 9. Godwin, J.; Lumley, A.; Michalczyk, L.; Martin, O.; Gage, M. Mating patterns influence vulnerability to the extinction vortex. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 2020, 26, 4226–4239. [CrossRef]
- 10. Weeks, A.; Heinze, D.; Perrin, L.; Stoklosa, J.; Hoffmann, A.; van Rooyen, A.; Kelly, T.; Mansergh, I. Genetic rescue increases fitness and aids rapid recovery of an endangered marsupial population. *Nat. Commun.* **2017**, *8*, 1071. [CrossRef]
- 11. Hedrick, P.W. Conservation genetics: Where are we now? Trends Ecol. Evol. 2001, 16, 629–636. [CrossRef]
- 12. Eldridge, M. Marsupial Population and Conservation Genetics. In *Marsupial Genetics and Genomics*; Waters, J., Marshall, P., Graves, J., Eds.; Springer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2010; pp. 461–497.
- 13. Byrne, M. A molecular journey in conservation genetics. *Pac. Conserv. Biol.* **2018**, *24*, 235–243. [CrossRef]
- 14. White, L.; Moseby, K.; Thomson, V.; Donnellan, S.; Austin, J. Long-term genetic consequences of mammal reintroductions into an Australian conservation reserve. *Biol. Conserv.* **2018**, *219*, 1–11. [CrossRef]
- 15. Weeks, A.R.; Sgro, C.; Young, A.G.; Frankham, R.; Mitchell, N.J.; Miller, K.A.; Byrne, M.; Coates, D.J.; Eldridge, M.; Sunnucks, P.; et al. Assessing the benefits and risks of translocations in changing environments: A genetic perspective. *Evol. Appl.* **2011**, *4*, 709–725. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 16. Ouborg, N.; Pertoldi, C.; Loeschcke, V.; Bijlsma, R.; Hedrick, P. Conservation genetics in transition to conservation genomics. *Trends Genet.* **2010**, *26*, 177–187. [CrossRef]
- 17. Harrisson, K.; Pavlova, A.; Telonis-Scott, M.; Sunnucks, P. Using genomics to characterize evolutionary potential for conservation of wild populations. *Evol. Appl.* **2014**, *9*, 1008–1025. [CrossRef]
- 18. DeSalle, R.; Amato, G. The expansion of conservation genetics. Nat. Rev. Genet. 2004, 5, 702–712. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 19. Frankham, R.; Ballou, J.; Ralls, K.; Eldridge, M.; Dudash, M.; Fenster, C.; Lacy, R.; Sunnucks, P. *Genetic Management of Fragmented Animal and Plant Populations*; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2017.
- 20. Coates, D.J.; Byrne, M.; Moritz, C. Genetic Diversity and Conservation Units: Dealing with the Species-Population Continuum in the Age of Genomics. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* **2018**, *6*, 165. [CrossRef]
- Milano, I.; Babbucci, M.; Panitz, F.; Ogden, R.; Nielsen, R.; Taylor, M.; Helyar, S.; Carvalho, G.; Espiñeira, M.; Atanassova, M.; et al. Novel tools for conservation genomics: Comparing two high-throughput approaches for SNP discovery in the transcriptome of the European hake. *PLoS ONE* 2011, 6, e28008. [CrossRef]
- 22. Narum, S.; Buerkle, C.; Davey, J.; Miller, M.; Hohenlohe, P. Genotyping-by-sequencing in ecological and conservation genomics. *Mol. Ecol.* **2013**, *22*, 2841. [CrossRef]
- Meek, M.H.; Larson, W.A. The future is now: Amplicon sequencing and sequence capture usher in the conservation genomics era. Mol. Ecol. Resour. 2019, 19, 795–803. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 24. Bureau of Meteorology. *State of the Climate*; Bureau of Meteorology: Canberra, Australia, 2019. Available online: http://www.bom.gov.au/state-of-the-climate/ (accessed on 18 March 2019).
- 25. CSIRO. Climate Change in Australia: Australian Climate Futures Tool. Available online: https://www.climatechangeinaustralia. gov.au/ (accessed on 7 November 2020).
- 26. Field, C.; Barros, V.; Stocker, T.; Dahe, Q. Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation: Special Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2012.
- 27. Dowdy, A.J. Climatological Variability of Fire Weather in Australia. J. Appl. Meteorol. Clim. 2018, 57, 221–234. [CrossRef]

- 28. Walsh, K.J.E.; Ryan, B.F. Tropical Cyclone Intensity Increase near Australia as a Result of Climate Change. *J. Clim.* 2000, 13, 3029–3036. [CrossRef]
- 29. Halgamuge, M.; Nirmalathas, A. Analysis of large flood events: Based on flood data during 1985–2016 in Australian and India. *Int. J. Disaster Risk Reduct.* 2017, 24, 1–11. [CrossRef]
- 30. Ratnayake, H.U.; Kearney, M.R.; Govekar, P.; Karoly, D.; Welbergen, J.A. Forecasting wildlife die-offs from extreme heat events. *Anim. Conserv.* 2019, 22, 386–395. [CrossRef]
- 31. Hannah, L. A Global Conservation System for Climate-Change Adaptation. Conserv. Biol. 2010, 24, 70–77. [CrossRef]
- 32. Foden, W.; Mace, G.; Vié, J.; Angulo, A.; Butchart, S.; DeVantier, L.; Dublin, H.; Gutsche, A.; Stuart, S.; Turak, E. Species susceptibility to climate change impacts. In *Wildlife in a Changing World—An Analysis of the 2008 IUCN Red List of Threatened Species*; International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN): Gland, Switzerland, 2009; Volume 77.
- 33. Lee, J.R.; Maggini, R.; Taylor, M.F.J.; Fuller, R. Mapping the Drivers of Climate Change Vulnerability for Australia's Threatened Species. *PLoS ONE* **2015**, *10*, e0124766. [CrossRef]
- 34. Bond, N.; Thomson, J.; Reich, P.; Stein, J. Using species distribution models to infer potential climate change-induced range shifts of freshwater fish in south-eastern Australia. *Mar. Freshw. Res.* **2011**, *62*, 1043–1061. [CrossRef]
- Butt, N.; Seabrook, L.; Maron, M.; Law, B.; Dawson, T.; Syktus, J.; McAlpine, C. Cascading effects of climate extremes on vertebrate fauna through changes to low-latitude tree flowering and fruiting phenology. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 2015, 21, 3267–3277. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 36. Urban, M.C. Accelerating extinction risk from climate change. *Science* 2015, 348, 571–573. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hoffmann, A.A.; Rymer, P.D.; Byrne, M.; Ruthrof, K.X.; Whinam, J.; McGeoch, M.; Bergstrom, D.M.; Guerin, G.R.; Sparrow, B.; Joseph, L.; et al. Impacts of recent climate change on terrestrial flora and fauna: Some emerging Australian examples. *Austral. Ecol.* 2019, 44, 3–27. [CrossRef]
- 38. Urban, M.C. Climate-tracking species are not invasive. Nat. Clim. Chang. 2020, 10, 382–384. [CrossRef]
- Johnson, C.; Banks, S.; Barrett, N.; Cazassus, F.; Dunstan, P.; Edgar, G.; Frusher, S.; Gardner, C.; Haddon, M.; Helidoniotis, F.; et al. Climate change cascades: Shifts in oceanography, species' ranges and subtidal marine community dynamics in eastern Tasmania. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 2011, 400, 17–32. [CrossRef]
- 40. Davis, J.; Pavlova, A.; Thompson, R.; Sunnucks, P. Evolutionary refugia and ecological refuges: Key concepts for conserving Australian arid zone freshwater biodiversity under climate change. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* **2013**, *19*, 1970–1984. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wernberg, T.; Russell, B.D.; Moore, P.; Ling, S.; Smale, D.A.; Campbell, A.; Coleman, M.A.; Steinberg, P.D.; Kendrick, G.; Connell, S.D. Impacts of climate change in a global hotspot for temperate marine biodiversity and ocean warming. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 2011, 400, 7–16. [CrossRef]
- 42. Williams, S.E.; Bolitho, E.E.; Fox, S. Climate change in Australian tropical rainforests: An impending environmental catastrophe. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. B Biol. Sci.* 2003, 270, 1887–1892. [CrossRef]
- 43. Hughes, L. Climate change and Australia: Trends, projections and impacts. Austral. Ecol. 2003, 28, 423–443. [CrossRef]
- 44. Pounds, J.A.; Fogden, M.P.L.; Campbell, J.H. Biological response to climate change on a tropical mountain. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **1999**, 398, 611–615. [CrossRef]
- 45. Beaumont, L.J.; Hughes, L. Potential changes in the distributions of latitudinally restricted Australian butterfly species in response to climate change. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* **2002**, *8*, 954–971. [CrossRef]
- 46. Stubbs, J.L.; Marn, N.; Vanderklift, M.A.; Fossette, S.; Mitchell, N.J. Simulated growth and reproduction of green turtles (*Chelonia mydas*) under climate change and marine heatwave scenarios. *Ecol. Model.* **2020**, *431*, 109185. [CrossRef]
- 47. Conradie, S.R.; Woodborne, S.M.; Wolf, B.O.; Pessato, A.; Mariette, M.M.; McKechnie, A.E. Avian mortality risk during heat waves will increase greatly in arid Australia during the 21st century. *Conserv. Physiol.* **2020**, *8*, coaa048. [CrossRef]
- 48. Harada, Y.; Fry, B.; Lee, S.Y.; Maher, D.T.; Sippo, J.Z.; Connolly, R.M. Stable isotopes indicate ecosystem restructuring following climate-driven mangrove dieback. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 2020, *65*, 1251–1263. [CrossRef]
- Arias-Ortiz, A.; Serrano, O.; Masqué, P.; Lavery, P.S.; Mueller, U.; Kendrick, G.A.; Rozaimi, M.; Esteban, A.; Fourqurean, J.W.; Marbà, N.; et al. A marine heatwave drives massive losses from the world's largest seagrass carbon stocks. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 2018, *8*, 338–344. [CrossRef]
- Miller, A.D.; Nitschke, C.; Weeks, A.R.; Weatherly, W.L.; Heyes, S.D.; Sinclair, S.J.; Holland, O.J.; Stevenson, A.; Broadhurst, L.; Hoebee, S.E.; et al. Genetic data and climate niche suitability models highlight the vulnerability of a functionally important plant species from south-eastern Australia. *Evol. Appl.* 2020, *13*, 2014–2029. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 51. Butt, N.; Gallagher, R. Using species traits to guide conservation actions under climate change. *Clim. Chang.* **2018**, *151*, 317–332. [CrossRef]
- 52. Frankham, R. Challenges and opportunities of genetic approaches to biological conservation. *Biol. Conserv.* **2010**, *143*, 1919–1927. [CrossRef]
- 53. Kohn, M.H.; Murphy, W.J.; Ostrander, E.A.; Wayne, R.K. Genomics and conservation genetics. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* **2006**, 21, 629–637. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 54. Lacy, R. Should we select genetic alleles in our conservation breeding programs? Zoo Biol. 2000, 19, 279–282. [CrossRef]
- 55. Wayne, R.; Morin, P. Conservation genetics in the new molecular age. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 2004, 2, 89–97. [CrossRef]
- 56. Shafer, A.; Wolf, J.; Alves, P.; Bergström, L.; Bruford, M.; Brännström, I.; Colling, G.; Dalén, L.; De Meester, L.; Ekblom RFawcett, K. Genomics and the challenging translation into conservation practice. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* **2015**, *30*, 78–87. [CrossRef]

- 57. De Wit, P.; Pespeni, M.; Palumbi, S. SNP genotyping and population genomics from expressed sequences—Current advances and future possibilities. *Mol. Ecol.* **2015**, *24*, 2310–2323. [CrossRef]
- 58. Grada, A.; Weinbrecht, K. Next-Generation Sequencing: Methodology and Application. J. Investig. Derm. 2013, 133, e11. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 59. Soon, W.W.; Hariharan, M.; Snyder, M.P. High-Throughput sequencing for biology and medicine. *Mol. Syst. Biol.* **2013**, *9*, 640. [CrossRef]
- 60. Hunter, M.E.; Hoban, S.M.; Bruford, M.W.; Segelbacher, G.; Bernatchez, L. Next-generation conservation genetics and biodiversity monitoring. *Evol. Appl.* 2018, *11*, 1029–1034. [CrossRef]
- Gayral, P.; Melo-Ferreira, J.; Glémin, S.; Bierne, N.; Carneiro, M.; Nabholz, B.; Lourenco, J.M.; Alves, P.C.; Ballenghien, M.; Faivre, N.; et al. Reference-Free Population Genomics from Next-Generation Transcriptome Data and the Vertebrate—Invertebrate Gap. *PLoS Genet.* 2013, *9*, e1003457. [CrossRef]
- 62. Supple, M.A.; Shapiro, B. Conservation of biodiversity in the genomics era. Genome Biol. 2018, 19, 131. [CrossRef]
- 63. Georges, A.; Gruber, B.; Pauly, G.; White, D.; Adams, M.; Young, M.J.; Kilian, A.; Zhang, X.; Shaffer, H.B.; Unmack, P.J. Genomewide SNP markers breathe new life into phylogeography and species delimitation for the problematic short-necked turtles (Chelidae: Emydura) of eastern Australia. *Mol. Ecol.* **2018**, *27*, 5195–5213. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Schweizer, R.M.; Saarman, N.; Ramstad, K.M.; Forester, B.R.; Kelley, J.L.; Hand, B.K.; Malison, R.L.; Ackiss, A.S.; Watsa, M.; Nelson, T.C.; et al. Big Data in Conservation Genomics: Boosting Skills, Hedging Bets, and Staying Current in the Field. *J. Hered.* 2021. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 65. Hohenlohe, P.A.; Funk, W.C.; Rajora, O.P. Population genomics for wildlife conservation and management. *Mol. Ecol.* **2021**, *30*, 62–82. [CrossRef]
- 66. Smith, S.; Bernatchez, L.; Beheregaray, L. RNA-seq analysis reveals extensive transcriptional plasticity to temperature stress in a freshwater fish species. *BMC Genom.* **2013**, *14*, 375. [CrossRef]
- 67. Tsangaras, K.; Siracusa, M.C.; Nikolaidis, N.; Ishida, Y.; Cui, P.; Vielgrader, H.; Helgen, K.; Roca, A.; Greenwood, A.D. Hybridization Capture Reveals Evolution and Conservation across the Entire Koala Retrovirus Genome. *PLoS ONE* **2014**, *9*, e95633. [CrossRef]
- 68. Bell, N.; Griffin, P.C.; Hoffmann, A.; Miller, A.D. Spatial patterns of genetic diversity among Australian alpine flora communities revealed by comparative phylogenomics. *J. Biogeogr.* **2017**, *45*, 177–189. [CrossRef]
- White, L.C.; Thomson, V.A.; West, R.; Ruykys, L.; Ottewell, K.; Kanowski, J.; Moseby, K.E.; Byrne, M.; Donnellan, S.C.; Copley, P.; et al. Genetic monitoring of the greater stick-nest rat meta-population for strategic supplementation planning. *Conserv. Genet.* 2020, 21, 941–956. [CrossRef]
- 70. Wright, B.R.; Farquharson, K.A.; McLennan, E.A.; Belov, K.; Hogg, C.J.; Grueber, C.E. A demonstration of conservation genomics for threatened species management. *Mol. Ecol. Resour.* **2020**, *20*, 1526–1541. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 71. Morin, P.A.; Luikart, G.; Wayne, R.K. The SNP workshop group SNPs in ecology, evolution and conservation. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* **2004**, *19*, 208–216. [CrossRef]
- 72. Angeloni, F.; Wagemaker, N.; Vergeer, P.; Ouborg, J. Genomic toolboxes for conservation biologists. *Evol. Appl.* **2011**, *5*, 130–143. [CrossRef]
- 73. Epstein, B.; Jones, M.; Hamede, R.; Hendricks, S.; McCallum, H.; Murchison, E.P.; Schönfeld, B.; Wiench, C.; Hohenlohe, P.; Storfer, A. Rapid evolutionary response to a transmissible cancer in Tasmanian devils. *Nat. Commun.* **2016**, *7*, 12684. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 74. Miller, A.; Hoffmann, A.; Tan, M.; Young, M.; Ahrens, C.; Cocomazzo, M.; Rattray, A.; Ierodiaconour, D.; Treml, E.; Sherman, C. Local and regional scale habitat heterogeneity contribute to genetic adaptation in a commercially important marine mollusc (*Haliotis rubra*) from south eastern Australia. *Mol. Ecol.* **2019**, *28*, 3053–3072. [CrossRef]
- 75. Garner, B.A.; Hand, B.K.; Amish, S.J.; Bernatchez, L.; Foster, J.; Miller, K.M.; Morin, P.; Narum, S.R.; O'Brien, S.J.; Roffler, G.; et al. Genomics in Conservation: Case Studies and Bridging the Gap between Data and Application. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 2016, 31, 81–83. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 76. Wood, G.; Marzinelli, E.; Campbell, A.; Steinberg, P.; Vergés, A.; Coleman, M. Gemomic vulnerability of a dominant seaweed points to future-proofing pathways for Australia's underwater forests. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 2021, 27, 2200–2212. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 77. Natesh, M.; Taylor, R.W.; Truelove, N.K.; Hadly, E.A.; Palumbi, S.R.; Petrov, D.A.; Ramakrishnan, U. Empowering conservation practice with efficient and economical genotyping from poor quality samples. *Methods Ecol. Evol.* 2019, *10*, 853–859. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- IUCN. Guidelines for Reintroductions and Other Conservation Translocations; IUCN Species Survival Commission: Gland, Switzerland, 2013.
- 79. Seddon, P. From reintroduction to assisted colonisation: Moving along the conservation translocation spectrum. *Restor. Ecol.* **2010**, *18*, 796–802. [CrossRef]
- 80. Moseby, K.; Read, J.; Paton, D.; Copley, P.; Hill, B.; Crisp, H. Predation determines the outcome of 10 reintroduction attempts in arid South Australia. *Biol. Conserv.* 2011, 144, 2863–2872. [CrossRef]
- 81. Sgrò, C.M.; Lowe, A.; Hoffmann, A. Building evolutionary resilience for conserving biodiversity under climate change. *Evol. Appl.* **2010**, *4*, 326–337. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 82. Gallagher, R.V.; Makinson, R.O.; Hogbin, P.M.; Hancock, N. Assisted colonization as a climate change adaptation tool. *Austral. Ecol.* **2014**, *40*, 12–20. [CrossRef]
- 83. Bell, D.A.; Robinson, Z.L.; Funk, W.C.; Fitzpatrick, S.W.; Allendorf, F.W.; Tallmon, D.A.; Whiteley, A.R. The Exciting Potential and Remaining Uncertainties of Genetic Rescue. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* **2019**, *34*, 1070–1079. [CrossRef]
- Carlson, S.M.; Cunningham, C.J.; Westley, P.A. Evolutionary rescue in a changing world. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 2014, 29, 521–530.
 [CrossRef]
- 85. Bell, G. Evolutionary Rescue. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 2017, 48, 605–627. [CrossRef]
- 86. Hoffmann, A.; Miller, A.; Weeks, A. Genetic mixing for population management: From genetic rescue to provenancing. *Evol. Appl.* **2020**, *14*, 634–652. [CrossRef]
- Burbidge, A.; Byrne, M.; Coates, D.; Garnett, S.; Harris, S.; Hatward, M.; Martin, T.; McDonald-Madden, E.; Mitchell, N.; Nally SSetterfield, S. Is Australia ready for assisted colonization? Policy changes required to facilitate translocations under climate change. *Pac. Conserv. Biol.* 2011, 17, 259–269. [CrossRef]
- Breed, M.F.; Ottewell, K.M.; Gardner, M.G.; Lowe, A.J. Clarifying climate change adaptation responses for scattered trees in modified landscapes. J. Appl. Ecol. 2011, 48, 637–641. [CrossRef]
- Supple, M.A.; Bragg, J.G.; Broadhurst, L.M.; Nicotra, A.B.; Byrne, M.; Andrew, R.L.; Widdup, A.; Aitken, N.C.; Borevitz, J.O. Landscape genomic prediction for restoration of a Eucalyptus foundation species under climate change. *Elife* 2018, 7, 31835. [CrossRef]
- 90. Hedrick, P.W.; Fredrickson, R. Genetic rescue guidelines with examples from Mexican wolves and Florida panthers. *Conserv. Genet.* **2009**, *11*, 615–626. [CrossRef]
- 91. Frankham, R. Genetic rescue of small inbred populations: Meta-analysis reveals large and consistent benefits of gene flow. *Mol. Ecol.* **2015**, *24*, 2610–2618. [CrossRef]
- 92. Whiteley, A.R.; Fitzpatrick, S.W.; Funk, W.C.; Tallmon, D.A. Genetic rescue to the rescue. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 2015, 30, 42–49. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 93. Ralls, K.; Sunnucks, P.; Lacy, R.C.; Frankham, R. Genetic rescue: A critique of the evidence supports maximizing genetic diversity rather than minimizing the introduction of putatively harmful genetic variation. *Biol. Conserv.* 2020, 251, 108784. [CrossRef]
- 94. Pickup, M.; Field, D.; Rowell, D.; Young, A. Source population characteristics affect heterosis following genetic rescue of fragmented plant populations. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 2013, *280*, 20122058. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 95. Forester, B.; Lasky, J.; Wagner, H.; Urban, D. Comparing methods for detecting multilocus adaptation with multivariate genotypeenvironment associations. *Mol. Ecol.* **2018**, *27*, 2215–2233. [CrossRef]
- 96. Fitzpatrick, S.; Funk, W. Genomics for Genetic Rescue. Population Genomics: Wildlife. In *Population Genomics*; Hohenlohe, P., Rajora, O., Eds.; Springer: Cambridge, UK, 2019.
- Fox, C.; Reed, D. Inbreeding depression increases with environmental stress: An experimental study and meta-analysis. *Evolution* 2011, 65, 246–258. [CrossRef]
- 98. Nickolas, H.; Harrison, P.; Tilyard, P.; Vaillancourt, R.; Potts, B. Inbreeding depression and differential maladaptation shape the fitness trajectory of two co-occurring Eucalyptus species. *Ann. For. Sci.* **2019**, *76*, 10. [CrossRef]
- 99. Kelly, E.; Phillips, B. Targeted gene flow for conservation. Conserv. Biol. 2016, 30, 259–267. [CrossRef]
- Kelly, E.; Phillips, B.L. Targeted gene flow and rapid adaptation in an endangered marsupial. *Conserv. Biol.* 2019, 33, 112–121. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Barua, D.; Heckathorn, S.A.; Coleman, J.S. Variation in Heat-shock Proteins and Photosynthetic Thermotolerance among Natural Populations of *Chenopodium album* L. from Contrasting Thermal Environments: Implications for Plant Responses to Global Warming. J. Integr. Plant. Biol. 2008, 50, 1440–1451. [CrossRef]
- 102. Barah, P.; Jayavelu, N.D.; Mundy, J.; Bones, A.M. Genome scale transcriptional response diversity among ten ecotypes of Arabidopsis thaliana during heat stress. *Front. Plant. Sci.* 2013, *4*, 532. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sandoval-Castillo, J.; Gates, K.; Brauer, C.; Smith, S.; Bernatchez, L.; Beheregaray, L. Adaptation of plasticity to predicted climates in Australian rainbowfishes (Melanotaenia) across climatically defined bioregions. *BioRxiv* 2019, 859769. [CrossRef]
- Cummins, D.; Kennington, W.J.; Rudin-Bitterli, T.; Mitchell, N.J. A genome-wide search for local adaptation in a terrestrialbreeding frog reveals vulnerability to climate change. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 2019, 25, 3151–3162. [CrossRef]
- 105. Sandoval-Castillo, J.; Robinson, N.; Hart, A.M.; Strain, L.W.S.; Beheregaray, L.B. Seascape genomics reveals adaptive divergence in a connected and commercially important mollusc, the greenlip abalone (*Haliotis laevigata*), along a longitudinal environmental gradient. *Mol. Ecol.* 2018, 27, 1603–1620. [CrossRef]
- 106. Bay, R.A.; Palumbi, S.R. Multilocus Adaptation Associated with Heat Resistance in Reef-Building Corals. *Curr. Biol.* **2014**, *24*, 2952–2956. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 107. Board, O. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. In A Research Review of Interventions to Increase the Persistence and Resilience of Coral Reefs; National Academies Press: Washington, DC, USA, 2019.
- Quigley, K.M.; Bay, L.K.; Van Oppen, M.J.H. The active spread of adaptive variation for reef resilience. *Ecol. Evol.* 2019, 9, 11122–11135. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 109. van Oppen, M.J.H.; Oliver, J.K.; Putnam, H.; Gates, R.D. Building coral reef resilience through assisted evolution. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2015**, *112*, 2307–2313. [CrossRef]

- 110. Jordan, R.; Hoffmann, A.; Dillon, S.; Prober, S. Evidence of genomic adaptation to climate in Eucalyptus microcarpa: Implications for adaptive potential to projected climate change. *Mol. Ecol.* **2017**, *21*, 6002–6020. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 111. Steane, D.; Potts, B.; McLean, E.; Prober, S.; Stock, W.; Vaillancourt, R.; Byrne, M. Genome-wide scans detect adaptation to aridity in a widespread forest tree species. *Mol. Ecol.* **2014**, *23*, 2500–2513. [CrossRef]
- 112. Phelps, M.; Seeb, L.; Seeb, J. Transforming ecology and conservation biology through genome editing. *Conserv. Biol.* 2020, 34, 54–65. [CrossRef]
- 113. Esvelt, K.; Smidler, A.; Catteruccia, F.; Church, G. Emerging technology: Concerning RNA-guided gene drives for the alteration of wild populations. *Elife* **2014**, *3*, e03401. [CrossRef]
- 114. Champer, J.; Buchman, A.; Akbari, O.S. Cheating evolution: Engineering gene drives to manipulate the fate of wild populations. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* **2016**, *17*, 146–159. [CrossRef]
- 115. Piaggio, A.J.; Segelbacher, G.; Seddon, P.J.; Alphey, L.; Bennett, E.L.; Carlson, R.H.; Friedman, R.M.; Kanavy, D.; Phelan, R.; Redford, K.H.; et al. Is It Time for Synthetic Biodiversity Conservation? *Trends Ecol. Evol.* **2017**, *32*, 97–107. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Thomas, M.; Roemer, G.; Donlan, C.; Dickson, B.; Matocq, M.; Malaney, J. Ecology: Gene tweaking for conservation. *Nat. News* 2013, 501, 485. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 117. Zhang, B.; Oakes, A.; Newhouse, A.; Baier, K.; Maynard, C.; Powell, W. A threshold level of oxalate oxidase transgene expression reduces Cryphonectria parasitica-induced necrosis in a transgenic American chestnut (Castanea dentate) leaf bioassay. *Transgenic Res.* 2013, 22, 973–982. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kohl, P.A.; Brossard, M.; Scheufele, D.A.; Xenos, M. Public views about editing genes in wildlife for conservation. *Conserv. Biol.* 2019, 33, 1286–1295. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 119. Westbrook, J.W.; Holliday, J.A.; Newhouse, A.E.; Powell, W.A. A plan to diversify a transgenic blight-tolerant American chestnut population using citizen science. *Plants People Planet* **2019**, *2*, 84–95. [CrossRef]
- 120. Johnson, J.; Altwegg, R.; Evans, D.; Ewen, J.; Gordon, I. Is there a future for genome-editing technologies in conservation? *Anim. Conserv.* **2016**, *19*, 97–101. [CrossRef]
- 121. Anthony, K.; Bay, L.K.; Costanza, R.; Firn, J.; Gunn, J.; Harrison, P.; Heyward, A.; Lundgren, P.; Mead, D.; Moore, T.; et al. New interventions are needed to save coral reefs. *Nat. Ecol. Evol.* 2017, *1*, 1420–1422. [CrossRef]
- 122. Zafar, S.A.; Zaidi, S.S.-E.-A.; Gaba, Y.; Singla-Pareek, S.L.; Dhankher, O.P.; Li, X.; Mansoor, S.; Pareek, A. Engineering abiotic stress tolerance via CRISPR/ Cas-mediated genome editing. *J. Exp. Bot.* **2019**, *71*, 470–479. [CrossRef]
- 123. Cleves, P.A.; Strader, M.E.; Bay, L.K.; Pringle, J.R.; Matz, M.V. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome editing in a reef-building coral. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2018, 115, 5235–5240. [CrossRef]
- 124. Hoban, S.; Kelley, J.L.; Lotterhos, K.E.; Antolin, M.F.; Bradburd, G.; Lowry, D.B.; Poss, M.L.; Reed, L.K.; Storfer, A.; Whitlock, M.C. Finding the Genomic Basis of Local Adaptation: Pitfalls, Practical Solutions, and Future Directions. *Am. Nat.* 2016, 188, 379–397. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 125. Kardos, M.; Shafer, A. The Peril of Gene-Targeted Conservation. Trends Ecol. Evol. 2018, 33, 827–839. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 126. Hogg, C.; Grueber, C.; Pemberton, D.; Fox, S.; Lee, A.; Ivy, J.; Belov, K. Devil Tools & Tech: A synergy of conservation research and management practice. *Conserv. Lett.* **2017**, *10*, 133–138.
- 127. Holderegger, R.; Balkenhol, N.; Bolliger, J.; Engler, J.O.; Gugerli, F.; Hochkirch, A.; Nowak, C.; Segelbacher, G.; Widmer, A.; Zachos, F.E. Conservation genetics: Linking science with practice. *Mol. Ecol.* **2019**, *28*, 3848–3856. [CrossRef]
- Taylor, H.; Dussex, N.; van Heezik, Y. Bridging the conservation genetics gap by identifying barriers to implementation for conservation practitioners. *Glob. Ecol. Conserv.* 2017, 10, 231–242. [CrossRef]
- 129. Cook, C.N.; Sgrò, C.M. Aligning science and policy to achieve evolutionarily enlightened conservation. *Conserv. Biol.* **2017**, *31*, 501–512. [CrossRef]
- 130. Kadykalo, A.; Cooke, S.; Young, N. Conservation genomics from a practitioner lens: Evaluating the research-implementation gap in a managed freshwater fishery. *Biol. Conserv.* **2020**, *241*, 108350. [CrossRef]
- Stowell, S.M.L.; Pinzone, C.A.; Martin, A.P. Overcoming barriers to active interventions for genetic diversity. *Biodivers. Conserv.* 2017, 26, 1753–1765. [CrossRef]
- 132. Krauss, S.; Koch, J.; Vlahos, S. A novel approach for the rapid genetic delineation of provenance for minesite revegetation. *Ecol. Manag. Restor.* **2005**, *6*, 153–155. [CrossRef]
- 133. Krauss, S.; He, T. Rapid genetic identification of local provenance seed collection zones for ecological restoration and biodiversity conservation. *J. Nat. Conserv.* **2006**, *14*, 190–199. [CrossRef]
- 134. Robinson, N.; Rhoades, C.; Pierson, J.; Lindenmayer, D.; Banks, S. Prioritising source populations for supplementing genetic diversity of reintroduced southern brown bandicoots Isoodon obesulus obesulus. *Conserv. Genet.* 2021, 22, 341–353. [CrossRef]
- Rodger, Y.S.; Pavlova, A.; Sinclair, S.; Pickup, M.; Sunnucks, P. Evolutionary history and genetic connectivity across highly fragmented populations of an endangered daisy. *Heredity* 2021, 126, 846–858. [CrossRef]
- Britt, M.; Haworth, S.E.; Johnson, J.B.; Martchenko, D.; Shafer, A.B. The importance of non-academic coauthors in bridging the conservation genetics gap. *Biol. Conserv.* 2018, 218, 118–123. [CrossRef]
- 137. Haig, S.M.; Miller, M.P.; Bellinger, M.R.; Draheim, H.M.; Mercer, D.M.; Mullins, T.D. The conservation genetics juggling act: Integrating genetics and ecology, science and policy. *Evol. Appl.* **2015**, *9*, 181–195. [CrossRef]
- 138. Proft, K.M.; Jones, M.E.; Johnson, C.N.; Burridge, C.P. Making the connection: Expanding the role of restoration genetics in restoring and evaluating connectivity. *Restor. Ecol.* **2018**, *26*, 411–418. [CrossRef]

- Bucharova, A. Assisted migration within species range ignores biotic interactions and lacks evidence: Missing evidence for assisted migration. *Restor. Ecol.* 2017, 25, 14–18. [CrossRef]
- 140. Ralls, K.; Ballou, J.; Dudash, M.; Eldridge, M.; Fenster, C.; Lacy, R.; Sunnucks, P.; Frankham, R. Call for a paradigm shift in the genetic management of fragmented populations. *Conserv. Lett.* **2018**, *11*, e12412. [CrossRef]
- 141. Frankham, R. Where are we in conservation genetics and where do we need to go? Conserv. Genet. 2009, 11, 661–663. [CrossRef]
- 142. Varshney, R.K.; Bansal, K.C.; Aggarwal, P.K.; Datta, S.K.; Craufurd, P.Q. Agricultural biotechnology for crop improvement in a variable climate: Hope or hype? *Trends Plant. Sci.* 2011, *16*, 363–371. [CrossRef]
- 143. Fitzpatrick, S.W.; Bradburd, G.S.; Kremer, C.T.; Salerno, P.E.; Angeloni, L.M.; Funk, W.C. Genomic and Fitness Consequences of Genetic Rescue in Wild Populations. *Curr. Biol.* 2020, *30*, 517–522. [CrossRef]
- 144. Browne, L.; Wright, J.; Fitz-Gibbon, S.; Gugger PSork, V. Adaptational lag to temperature in valley oak (*Quercus lobate*) can be mitigated by genome-informed assisted gene flow. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2019**, *116*, 25179–25185. [CrossRef]
- 145. Reed, T.; Waples, R.; Schindler, D.; Hard, J.; Kinnison, M. Phenotypic plasticity and population viability: The importance of environmental predictability. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 2010, 277, 3391–3400. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 146. Chevin, L.; Gallet, R.; Gomulkiewicz, R.; Holt, R.; Fellous, S. Phenotypic plasticity in evolutionary rescue experiments. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* **2013**, *368*, 20120089. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 147. Liddell, E.; Cook, C.; Sunnucks, P. Evaluating the use of risk assessment frameworks in the identification of population units for biodiversity conservation. *Wildl. Res.* **2020**, *47*, 208–216. [CrossRef]
- 148. Rossetto, M.; Yap, J.-Y.S.; Lemmon, J.; Bain, D.; Bragg, J.; Hogbin, P.; Gallagher, R.; Rutherford, S.; Summerell, B.; Wilson, T.C. A conservation genomics workflow to guide practical management actions. *Glob. Ecol. Conserv.* **2021**, *26*, e01492. [CrossRef]
- 149. Ottewell, K.; Bickerton, D.; Byrne, M.; Lowe, A. Bridging the gap: A genetic assessmet framework for population-level threatened plant conservation prioritization and decision-making. *Divers. Distrib.* **2016**, *22*, 174–188. [CrossRef]
- 150. Rollinson, N.; Keith, D.; Houde, A.; Debes, P.; Mcbride, M.; Hutchings, J. Risk assessment of inbreeding and outbreeding depression in a captive-breeding program. *Conserv. Biol.* **2014**, *28*, 529–540. [CrossRef]
- 151. McPhee, M. Generations in captivity increases behavioural variance: Considerations for captive breeding and reintroduction programs. *Biol. Conserv.* 2004, 115, 71–77. [CrossRef]
- 152. Wildt, D.E. Genome resource banking for wildlife research, management, and conservation. ILAR J. 2000, 41, 228–234. [CrossRef]
- 153. Hoffmann, A.; Griffin, P.; Dillon, S.; Catullo, R.; Rane, R.; Byrne, M.; Jordan, R.; Oakeshott, J.; Weeks, A.; Joseph, L.; et al. A framework for incorporating evolutionary genomics into biodiversity conservation and management. *Clim. Chang. Responses* **2015**, *2*, 1–24. [CrossRef]
- 154. Harley, D.; Mawson, P.; Olds, L.; McFadden, M.; Hogg, C. The contribution of captive breeding in zoos to the conservation of Australia's threatened fauna. In *Recovering Australian Threatened Species: A Book of Hope*; Garnett, S., Woinarski, J., Lindenmayer, D., Latch, P., Eds.; CSIRO Publishing: Clayton, Australia, 2018; pp. 281–294.
- 155. Kelly, M. Adaptation to climate change through genetic accommodation and assimiliation of plastic phenotypes. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 2019, 274, 20180176. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 156. Bataillon, T.; Galtier, N.; Bernard, A.; Cryer, N.; Faivre, N.; Santoni, S.; Severac, D.; Mikkelsen, T.; Larsen, K.; Beier CSørensen, J. A replicated climate change field experiment reveals rapid evolutionary response in an ecologically important soil invertebrate. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 2016, 22, 2370–2379. [CrossRef]
- 157. Razgour, O.; Forester, B.; Taggart, J.B.; Bekaert, M.; Juste, J.; Ibanez, C.; Puechmaille, S.J.; Novella-Fernandez, R.; Alberdi, A.; Manel, S. Considering adaptive genetic variation in climate change vulnerability assessment reduces species range loss projections. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2019**, *116*, 10418–10423. [CrossRef]
- Laikre, L.; Allendorf, F.W.; Aroner, L.C.; Baker, C.S.; Gregovich, D.P.; Hansen, M.M.; Jackson, J.A.; Kendall, K.C.; McKelvey, K.; Neel, M.C.; et al. Neglect of Genetic Diversity in Implementation of the Convention on Biological Diversity. *Conserv. Biol.* 2010, 24, 86–88. [CrossRef]
- 159. Pierson, J.C.; Coates, D.J.; Oostermeijer, J.G.B.; Beissinger, S.R.; Bragg, J.; Sunnucks, P.; Schumaker, N.H.; Young, A.G. Genetic factors in threatened species recovery plans on three continents. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* **2016**, *14*, 433–440. [CrossRef]
- Prober, S.; Byrne, M.; McLean, E.; Steane, D.; Potts, B.; Vaillancourt, R.; Stock, W. Climate-adjusted provenancing: A strategy for climate-resilient ecological restoration. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 2015, *3*, 65. [CrossRef]
- Copley, P. Natural histories of Australia's stick-nest rats, genus Leporillus (Rodentia: Muridae). Wildl. Res. 1999, 26, 513–539.
 [CrossRef]
- 162. Moseby, K.; Bice, J. A trial re-introduction of the Greater Stick-nest Rat (*Leporillus conditor*) in arid South Australia. *Ecol. Manag. Restor.* 2004, *5*, 118–124. [CrossRef]
- Short, J.; Copley, P.; Ruykys, L.; Morris, K.; Read, J.; Moseby, K. Review of translocations of the greater stick-nest rat (Leporillus conditor): Lessons learnt to facilitate ongoing recovery. *Wildl. Res.* 2019, *46*, 455–475. [CrossRef]
- Bolton, J.; Moseby, K. The activity of Sand Goannas Varanus gouldii and their interaction with reintroduced Greater Stick-nest Rats Leporillus conditor. *Pac. Conserv. Biol.* 2004, 10, 193–201. [CrossRef]
- Flanagan, S.; Forester, B.; Latch, E.; Aitken, S.; Hoban, S. Guidelines for planning genomic assessment and monitoring of locally adaptive variation to inform species conservation. *Evol. Appl.* 2018, 11, 1035–1052. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 166. Brandies, P.; Peel, E.; Hogg, C.; Belov, K. The value of reference genomes in the conservation of threatened species. *Genes* **2019**, *10*, 846. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 167. Grabowski, P.P.; Morris, G.; Casler, M.D.; Borevitz, J. Population genomic variation reveals roles of history, adaptation and ploidy in switchgrass. *Mol. Ecol.* **2014**, *23*, 4059–4073. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 168. Zalasiewicz, J. The Earth after Us: What Legacy Will Humans Leave in the Rocks? Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2008.
- 169. Lewis, S.L.; Maslin, M. Defining the Anthropocene. Nat. Cell Biol. 2015, 519, 171–180. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 170. Thomas, C.D. Translocation of species, climate change, and the end of trying to recreate past ecological communities. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* **2011**, *26*, 216–221. [CrossRef]
- 171. Frankham, R.; Ballou, J.D.; Eldridge, M.; Lacy, R.C.; Ralls, K.; Dudash, M.R.; Fenster, C.B. Predicting the Probability of Outbreeding Depression. *Conserv. Biol.* 2011, 25, 465–475. [CrossRef]
- 172. Dunlop, J.A.; Birch, N.; Moore, H.; Cowan, M. Pilbara northern quoll research program. In *Annual Report*; Department of Parks and Wildlife: Perth, Australia, 2017.

Chapter 2

Morphological variation in skull shape and size across extinct and extant populations of the greater stick-nest rat (*Leporillus conditor*): implications for translocation

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Morphological variation in	skull shape	and siz	ze across	extinct and extant
	populations of the greater	stick-nest ra	at (<i>Lep</i>	orillus coi	nditor): implications for
	translocation				
Publication Status	Published		Accep	oted for Pu	blication
			Unnul	blichod an	d Lingubmitted work written in
	Submitted for Publication	n	manu	script style	
Publication Details	Published in Australian Mamr Jeremy J., Sherratt Emma (2) extinct and extant populations implications for translocation.	nalogy: "Onley 022) Morpholo s of the greate Australian Ma	r Isabell gical va r stick-r mmalog	e R., Mose riation in s lest rat (Le gy ,"	by Katherine E., Austin kull shape and size across porillus conditor):
Principal Author					
Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Isabelle Onley				
Contribution to the Paper	Isabelle collected and analy: author.	sed the data, o	drafted	the manus	cript and acted as corresponding
Overall percentage (%)	75%				
Certification:	This paper reports on origin Research candidature and is party that would constrain its	al research I o not subject to inclusion in th	conduct any ob iis thesi	ed during ligations or s. I am the	the period of my Higher Degree by contractual agreements with a thirc primary author of this paper.
Signature				Date	7/12/2021
Co-Author Contributions	<u> </u>				
By signing the Statement of Authorship	, each author certifies that:				
i. the candidate's stated contri	bution to the publication is accu	urate (as detai	led abo	ve);	
ii. permission is granted for the	e candidate in include the public	cation in the th	esis; ar	nd	
iii. the sum of all co-author con	tributions is equal to 100% less	the candidate	's state	d contribut	ion.
Name of Co-Author	Emma Sherratt				
Contribution to the Paper	Emma assisted with the dev development and editing of t	elopment of ic he manuscript	leas, m	ethodology	r and analysis of data, as well as
Signature				Date	8/12/2021

Name of Co-Author	Jeremy Austin	
Contribution to the Paper	Jeremy contributed ideas and assisted in the developmer	t and editing of the manuscript.

Name of Co-Author	Katherine Moseby
Contribution to the Paper	Kathenine contributed ideas and assisted in the development and editing of the manuscript.



Australian MAMMALOGY



Morphological variation in skull shape and size across extinct and extant populations of the greater stick-nest rat (Leporillus conditor): implications for translocation

Isabelle R. Onley^{A,*}, Katherine E. Moseby^B, Jeremy J. Austin^A and Emma Sherratt^C

For full list of author affiliations and declarations see end of paper

*Correspondence to: Isabelle R. Onley Australian Centre for Ancient DNA (ACAD), School of Biological Sciences, The University of Adelaide, South Australia, Adelaide, SA 5005, Australia Email: isabelle.onley@adelaide.edu.au

Handling Editor: Barry Richardson

Received: 8 December 2021 Accepted: 21 January 2022 Published: 4 March 2022

Cite this: Onley IR et al. (2022) Australian Mammalogy doi:10.1071/AM21047

© 2022 The Author(s) (or their employer(s)). Published by CSIRO Publishing on behalf of the Australian Mammal Society.

ABSTRACT

Within-species morphological variation is often observed across spatial and climatic gradients. Understanding this variation is important to conservation planning, as specialised adaptations may influence a population's persistence following translocation. However, knowing whether local adaptations are prevalent within a species can be challenging when the species has undergone range contractions. Here, we used museum specimens to study size and shape variation of the greater stick-nest rat (Leporillus conditor). We aimed to determine whether intraspecific size and shape variation previously existed within the species across its historical range, and inform on possible implications for translocations of the remaining extant population. We found significantly larger skull size in the Franklin Islands and arid populations, possibly indicating a historically continuous population experiencing similar selection pressures such as high predation pressure, competition with other large arid zone rodents or climatic extremes. Conversely, skull shape variation within the species adheres to an allometric trajectory, indicating no specific local adaptations of skull shape. This absence of local skull shape adaptation suggests that the Franklin Islands population is likely suitable for mainland translocations. However, further research into the historical phylogeography of the species is recommended to identify whether large size resulted from shared ancestry or convergent evolution.

Keywords: conserved cranial allometry, intraspecific variation, local adaptation, morphology, muridae, reintroduction biology, rodent, translocation.

Introduction

Intraspecific morphological variation can vary spatially due to phenotypic plasticity, natural selection and adaptation, or genetic drift (Price *et al.* 2003; de Abreu *et al.* 2018). This variation may be a response to spatial or temporal variation in climate, competition, predation pressure, habitat or diet (Alexander *et al.* 2006; Campbell-Tennant *et al.* 2015; Foth *et al.* 2015; Lostrom *et al.* 2015; Onley *et al.* 2020). Many Australian taxa exhibit morphological variation across their range in response to various ecological and environmental changes (Keast 1968; Lostrom *et al.* 2015); the Lakeland Downs mouse (*Leggadina lakedownensis*), for example, presents considerable morphological variation across its range, including island gigantism (Cooper *et al.* 2003). However, anthropogenic range contractions, extirpations and habitat fragmentation, are known to reduce intraspecific morphological diversity and population structure (e.g. Des Roches *et al.* 2021).

Understanding intraspecific variation in morphology is relevant to threatened species conservation for several reasons. Firstly, much of conservation biology is species-orientated and descriptions of geographic variation in morphology are important for delineating biological species and resolving taxonomic issues (Dubois 2003; Godfray *et al.* 2004). For example, morphological studies of intraspecific variation in Australian bandicoots (genus *Perameles* and *Chaeropus*) has recently resulted in the identification of

a number of new species from within what was traditionally thought to be a single species (Travouillon and Phillips 2018; Travouillon et al. 2019). At a finer scale, knowledge of intraspecific morphological variation can complement population genetic data to identify geographic population structure and intraspecific units for conservation (Arnoux et al. 2014; Hounkpèvi et al. 2020). Further, knowledge of morphological variation is critical when planning translocations that involve two or more source populations. Mixing phenotypically different populations may prevent or reduce interbreeding if pre-zygotic isolation exists (Alexandrino et al. 2005; Latch et al. 2006), which can produce offspring that are maladapted to the local environment, or can lead to non-random mating between source populations (Charlesworth and Willis 2009; Thavornkanlapachai et al. 2019). Finally, morphological studies can be used to quantify how within species diversity has changed following a bottleneck (Lovatt 2007).

Identifying the extent of morphological variation within species is a necessary, but often overlooked component in planning reintroductions and translocations. Local adaptations or plasticity in fragmented populations may be a key element for survival and persistence. Although difficult to determine from morphology alone, knowledge of whether physical variation is due to natural selection or phenotypic plasticity is critical to identify whether a population could adapt to a new environment or selective pressure in situ or following translocation (Lema and Nevitt 2006; Ficetola et al. 2016). Variation due to phenotypic plasticity may produce favourable results and improve the rate of population establishment (Haddaway et al. 2012); for example, a mainland translocation of an island population of golden bandicoot (Isoodon auratus) resulted in an increase in fecundity, skeletal size and body mass within four generations, which researchers suggested was a result of a reduction in competitive pressures (Dunlop and Morris 2018). Local adaptations, however, may result in reduced fitness following translocation if they not suited to the translocation site (Hereford 2009; Taylor et al. 2021). For example, Taylor et al. (2021) suggested that Shark Bay bandicoots (Perameles bougainville) translocated to the arid zone of Australia may not possess the necessary auditory adaptations for predator avoidance in a desert environment. Further, sock-eye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) adapted to a beach environment demonstrated reduced reproductive success when colonising a stream environment (Peterson et al. 2014). This reduction in fecundity was attributed to limitations resulting from the beachadapted salmon's larger body size, which made them more susceptible to predation and stranding, and limited their access to mates and spawning sites in shallower areas.

Rodents are exemplary for exhibiting morphological variation across wide geographical ranges and a variety of environmental conditions (Maestri *et al.* 2016; Assis *et al.* 2017). For example, species in arid habitats have larger bullae in order to detect low frequency sounds and longer nasal passages to aid respiratory water retention (Lay 1972; Alhajeri and Steppan 2018; Basso et al. 2020). These adaptations can result from factors such as changes in food availability, rainfall, primary productivity, or thermoregulatory requirements under varying climates, and can lead to functional differences between populations (Walsh et al. 2016). Therefore, when developing translocation strategies, conservationists should not assume that all populations will respond homogeneously to different environments across the species' distribution, particularly if the reintroduction site is markedly different from the source (Zaidaneen and Hasaseen 2008). However, despite being universally recognised as critical to survival (Schlichting 1986; Agrawal 2001), local morphological adaptation is rarely considered during translocation planning and assessment. This is of particular concern for species that historically had wide geographical ranges and many potential ecotypes (Mee et al. 2015) but have declined to a single habitat type or restricted areas. One such species is the greater stick-nest rat (Leporillus conditor), an endemic Australian rodent that has been the subject of multiple translocations since the 1980s. Although L. conditor has suffered a considerable range contraction in the past two centuries (Copley 1999), the species once inhabited a large geographical range encompassing many habitat types and bioregions, from mesic coastal environments to the arid zone. However, its rapid population decline has resulted in limited knowledge of the species' historic morphological variation, including potential adaptations to environmental variation such as maximum/minimum temperature, shelter sites and food and water availability. Increased mortality has also been noted in reintroduced L. conditor at an arid site during periods of extreme heat stress (Bolton and Moseby 2004), despite the site being encompassed by the species' historical range. This raises concerns for the heat tolerance thresholds of this population, having been sourced from the southernmost, and most mesic, point of the species' range and translocated to the arid zone.

In this study, we use morphometric analyses of museum specimens to identify patterns of morphological variation in skull shape and size across the species' former range. We aim to determine whether intraspecific variation existed across the historic distribution of L. conditor as a result of adaptations to environmental niches, and inform on possible implications for the conservation management of the species. Given that populations isolated on islands often display divergent phenotypes in comparison to their mainland counterparts (e.g. island gigantism/dwarfism) (Case 1978), it is expected that the single extant population of L. conditor will differ in size (and associated allometric shape variation) compared with the extinct mainland populations. Further, given the variety of habitat types encompassed (e.g. desert, plains), some morphological diversity is expected among the mainland populations in response to environmental gradients such as climate and vegetation.

Methods

Study species

Following European arrival and the introduction of feral predators and herbivores, as well as land use changes, L. conditor was extirpated from its entire mainland Australian range, with just a single population surviving on the Franklin Islands, off the coast of Ceduna, South Australia by the early 1900s (Copley 1999). This population was briefly classified as a separate species, L. jonesi, but has since been synonymised with L. conditor (Thomas 1921; Copley 1999). What little is known about the historical range of this murid rodent has been gathered from subfossils, nest remains, sightings by early naturalists, and voucher specimens in natural history collections (Copley 1999). In the mid-1980's, after an extensive ecological study of the Franklin Island populations, a captive breeding program began and was shortly followed by multiple translocation efforts to Reevesby and St Peters Islands, as well as several fenced reserves (Van Dyck et al. 2008; Short et al. 2019). While some reintroduction efforts have been successful, such as those at Salutation Island and the Arid Recovery Reserve, others, including translocations to reserves at Venus Bay and Faure Island, failed due to predation by species such as feral cats and raptors (Woinarski and Burbidge 2016; Short et al. 2019).

Samples

A total of 199 partial and whole skulls (preserved as skeletal material) of Leporillus conditor from 34 locations across the species' historic range were sourced from the Mammal and Palaeontology collections at the South Australian Museum, Adelaide (SAM), the Western Australian Museum, Perth (WAM) and Museum Victoria, Melbourne (MV) (Table 1, Supplementary Table S1). In addition, morphometric data recorded in Tate (1951) of the type specimen of L. jonesi and of a L. conditor specimen collected at Ooldea, South Australia by E. Troughton were included. To assess environmental variation across the geographic range of *L. conditor*, individuals were grouped according to the Interim Biogeographic Regionalisation for Australia (IBRA) classification system (Table 1, Fig. 1). IBRA regions separate Australia's landscapes into 89 geographically distinct bioregions characterised by common vegetation, habitat, geology and climate (Thackway and Cresswell 1995; Environment Australia 2000).

Cranial and dental measurements

Fifteen linear measurements of the cranium and mandible (Fig. 2, Table 2) were taken using iGaging Absolute Origin digital calipers developed from common linear morphometrics used in past studies of rodents, including features associated with climatic variation such as rostra length and

Table I.Sample sizes of Leporillus conditor skulls collected in eachIBRA region.

IBRA Region	n
Carnarvon	13
Yalgoo	44
Murchison	L
Coolgardie	11
Hampton	12
Nullarbor	70
Eyre Yorke Block	30
Stony Plains	I
Simpson Strzelecki Dunefields	5
Flinders Lofty Block	10
Riverina	L
Darling Riverine Plains	3

width (Musser and Piik 1982; Voss 1988; Mortelliti et al. 2012; Fabre et al. 2013; Alhajeri and Steppan 2018). Although bullae were measured during data collection as a point of interest of adaptation to aridity, these features were not available for the majority (86%) of the samples, and were therefore excluded from the final analysis. Cranial material was chosen for this study over skins, as shrinkage of skins can distort physical features and may confound morphological studies (Horie 1990; Shu et al. 2017). Where one side of the mandible was available, measurements were taken from that side; where both were available, a side was chosen at random. Where only part of the skull was available, measurements were only recorded for features that were not broken or damaged. Specimen age was determined by examining the tooth wear of the individual, as well as the ossification of the cranial plates and of the suture between the basioccipital and basisphenoid bones (Gustafson and Malmö 1950; Morris 1972; Pankakoski 1980). In cases where a specimen was identified as juvenile, no cranial measurements were taken. With the exception of the Tate and Troughton specimens, all measurements were taken by one researcher (I.R.O) to minimise observer error. As a measure of repeatability, a subset of measurements was used to determine the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) using the R package 'ICC' (version 2.3.0).

Data analysis

All analyses were completed using the R Statistical Environment (version 4.0.2) (R Core Team 2021, R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Available from: https://www.R-project.org/). Due to the poor condition of some of the cranial material 53% of the measurements were missing from the full dataset. In order



IBRA Region

Fig. 1. Skull size (geometric mean of linear variables) of *Leporillus conditor* per IBRA region, corresponding to a map of collection locations across the historic range of the species (represented by grey hashed area). Size of points on the map reflect the size of individuals from that location. Dotted horizontal line indicates overall mean skull size. See also Table 3a.



Fig. 2. Morphological measurements of *Leporillus conditor* cranial material (Image redrawn from Watts and Aslin 1981). Abbreviations are shown in Table 2.

 Table 2.
 Definitions of abbreviations of the measurements

 depicted in Fig 2.

Abbreviation	Measurement
GLS	Greatest length of skull
CBL	Condylo-basal length
PPM	Parietal to pre-maxillary length
ZB	Zygomatic breadth
IZL	Internal zygomatic length
BB	Breadth of braincase
НВ	Height of braincase
IB	Interorbital breadth
RB	Breadth of rostrum
RL	Length of rostrum (nasal bone)
LIF	Length of incisive foramina
BIF	Breadth of incisive foramina
MTR	Maxillary tooth row length
mTR	Mandibular tooth row length
MH	Mandibular height

to maximise the sample size among localities, missing values were imputed using the *mice* function in R package 'mice' (version 3.12.0), that creates multiple imputations for

missing data based on fully conditional specification (Buuren and Groothuis-Oudshoorn 2011; Clavel *et al.* 2014). This method was chosen over single imputation procedures, as it takes into account the uncertainty of missing value estimation (Zhang 2016). The model was trained on existing measurements in the dataset, that then informed the imputation of the missing data over 100 iterations.

Skull size and shape were treated separately for analysis, but the relationship between the two (allometry) was also examined (Mosimann 1970). Skull size was calculated as the geometric mean of all variables in the imputed dataset, and taken to be a proxy for body size (Mosimann 1970; Meachen-Samuels and Van Valkenburgh 2009). This allowed for a conservative estimate of size without confounding by shape variation in individual measurements, but was supported by tests using three other common indicators of body size, greatest length of the skull (GLS) and upper and lower molar tooth row length (MTR/mTR) (Millien and Bovy 2010; Freudenthal and Martín-Suárez 2013; Bertrand et al. 2015). Skull shape was calculated using the log-shape ratio approach to standardise for isometric scaling differences, where the imputed linear variables were divided by the skull size of all variables and log-transformed (Mosimann and James 1979).

To determine if there were differences in skull size between rats sampled from different IBRA regions, the skull sizes of individuals in each region were compared using a non-parametric one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA; Kruskal–Wallis test), followed by a pairwise Wilcoxon rank sum test to identify which groups were significantly different, implemented in the R package 'stats' (version 4.1.0). This approach was used as the data were not normally distributed, even when a log transformation was applied. Box plots were used to visualise cranial size variation within and among regions.

To determine if there were differences in skull shape among IBRA regions, a non-parametric ANOVA for multivariate data was implemented using the procD.lm function in the R package 'geomorph' (version 3.3.2). Here the model included log-transformed skull size as a covariate to calculate the proportion of variance in the dataset that was due to allometry (the size term), while the proportion due to regional differences was provided by the size:region interaction term. To ensure that the imputation method was consistent and reliable, a loop was created that completed 100 iterations of the above process, and the mean and standard deviations of the coefficient of determination (R^2) and P-values were inspected. For graphical representation of the results, a multivariate regression analysis was applied to visualise the allometric shape variation, using the regression score approach (Drake and Klingenberg 2008), and a principal components analysis of the regression residuals was performed to visualise the non-allometric shape variation among IBRA regions.

Finally, to test whether morphological variation was correlated with environmental variables, we ran linear regressions between morphological measurements and two key climate variables (mean annual temperature and mean annual precipitation), as well as latitude and longitude. Climate data were extracted from the Atlas of Living Australia's Spatial Portal (https://spatial.ala.org.au/) using the following layers: CSIRO Ecosystem Sciences mean annual temperature (°C) and mean annual rainfall (mm).

Results

Of the 201 individuals in the dataset, 13 had no missing data, 26 had 1–25% missing data, 64 had 26–50% missing data, and 98 had more than 50% missing data. Across all samples there was a total of 53% missing data. Multiple imputation has been found to remain unbiased to ~50% missingness, and so this proportion of missing data was considered acceptable (Marshall *et al.* 2010; Lee and Carlin 2012; Haji-Maghsoudi *et al.* 2013). Following ICC analysis of a subset of measurements to determine repeatability, the ICC value was determined to be >0.9, indicating excellent reliability of measurements (Wolak 2015; Koo and Li 2016).

Skull size and shape variation

IBRA regions accounted for 40% (mean $R^2 = 0.3976$) of size variation (Table 3a) among all individuals (*P*-value < 0.001).

 Table 3.
 Analysis of variance model results for Leporillus conditor

 skull size (log-transformed geometric mean) against IBRA region, and
 skull shape (log-shape ratios) against size and region.

(a) Size vs IBF	RA region		
	F	R ²	P-value
Mean (±s.d.)	11.40 (±1.3289)	0.3976 (±0.0283)	0.001 (±0)
Min	8.321	0.3263	0.001
Median	11.360	0.3980	0.001
Max	14.580	0.4590	0.001
(b) Shape vs s	ize		
	F	R ²	P-value
Mean (±s.d.)	37.20 (±3.9172)	0.1411 (±0.0129)	0.001 (±0)
Min	27.15	0.1108	0.001
Median	37.46	0.1409	0.001
Max	46.08	0.1723	0.001
(c) Shape vs II	BRA region		
	F	R ²	P-value
Mean (±s.d.)	4.592 (±0.2907)	0.2107 (±0.0105)	0.001 (±0)
Min	3.963	0.1874	0.001
Median	4.559	0.2097	0.001
Max	5.483	0.2419	0.001
(d) Shape vs s	ize: IBRA region		
	F	R ²	P-value
Mean	1.3495	0.0410	0.1333
(±s.d.)	(±0.2282)	(±0.0066)	(±0.1286)
Min	0.8037	0.0251	0.0030
Median	1.3273	0.0401	0.0975
Max	2.4139	0.0722	0.8120

Test statistics (F), coefficients of determination (R^2) and P-values are provided with standard deviations from the 100 iterations of 'mice' missing data imputation.

Pairwise comparisons using the Wilcoxon rank sum test revealed that the individuals that differ most from all others were those from the Eyre Yorke Block and Simpson Strzelecki Dunefields (although they were not significantly different from each other) (Supplementary Table S2). Skulls from individuals from these two regions were the largest in the dataset (Fig. 1). Tests using the standard size-proxy linear variables GLS, MTR and mTR corroborated this pattern (Supplementary Fig. S1).

For skull shape, size accounted for 14% (mean $R^2 = 0.1411$; Table 3b) and IBRA regions accounted for 21% (mean $R^2 = 0.2107$; Table 3c) of the variation among individuals (both *P*-value < 0.001). Samples followed a global allometric trajectory (Fig. 3*a*), and while some regional groups were separated along this trajectory there was clear overlap of groups spanning the size distribution. Only 4% (mean $R^2 = 0.041$) of shape variation was due to



Fig. 3. (a) Multivariate regression analysis of *Leporillus conditor* skull size (log-transformed geometric mean) against skull shape and (b) the first two axes of a principal components analysis of the regression residuals. Size accounts for 14% (mean $R^2 = 0.1411$) of the shape variation (see Table 3a). Points represent individuals, coloured by IBRA region, and 95% confidence ellipses for each region are drawn in b.

regional size differences, and these differences were not statistically significant (mean *P*-value 0.1333) (Table 3d). No differences among groups were found in the skull shape regression residuals (Fig. 3b). This indicates that there is skull shape variation between regional groups, but this is mostly due to allometric differences corresponding to the observed size variation (Fig. 1) and not specific local adaptation acting on skull shape. No individual areas of the skull emerged as having noticeable shape variation across the IBRA regions, and so further study into individual linear variables was not deemed necessary. Individuals from the Eyre Yorke Block and Simpson Strzelecki Dunefields clustered at the larger end of the spectrum, indicating a larger skull size and inferred body size.

Spatial and climatic correlations

Given that skull size emerged as the dominant morphological trait varying among IBRA regions, we tested for spatial and climatic correlations in skull size variables only. Significant positive correlations were apparent between skull size and annual mean precipitation (*P*-value = 0.0042), latitude (degrees south) (*P*-value < 0.001) and longitude (*P*-value < 0.001). There was a significant negative correlation between skull size and annual mean temperature (*P*-value < 0.001). However, all but one model had considerable outliers, as evidenced by their low R^2 values (Fig. 4). Longitude produced the best fit, with an R^2 value of 0.25. *L. conditor* individuals increased in size as longitude increased (i.e. from west to east).

Discussion

Morphometric analysis of L. conditor skull size and shape revealed considerable size differences between sampled locations and predictable shape variation across its historical distribution. Allometric shape (the component proportional to size) dominated the variation among individuals of L. conditor, indicating that apparent skull diversity is due to body size differences and does not suggest local adaptation acting on skull shape. This is a common observation in Australian rodents; a study by Marcy et al. (2020) of 38 Australian rodent species found low variation in skull shape across all taxa, with size explaining the majority of the variation. The authors suggested that this universal skull shape is an evolutionary adaptation dating back over ten million years and is the secret to rodents' success in a variety of habitats. It is therefore unsurprising that little shape variation is present in historical populations of L. conditor, despite the variety of environmental conditions the species encompassed.

Skull size, a proxy for body size, varied significantly across the historical range. Our analyses indicate that individuals from the Eyre Yorke Block IBRA region (containing the Franklin Islands and a population translocated to



Fig. 4. Linear regression analysis of *Leporillus conditor* skull size (log-transformed geometric mean) against climate and spatial variables. Points represent individuals and are coloured by IBRA region. Note that latitude is displayed as degrees south rather than negative values.

Reevesby Island from the Franklins) and individuals from the Simpson Strzelecki Dunefields are significantly larger than all other sampled locations. While our models using climate variables did not reveal a clear correlation with skull size, there are several possible ecological explanations for these observations. As no other major herbivores inhabit the Franklin Islands (Copley 1999), the observed size increase in individuals belonging to the Franklin Island populations may be due to predation pressure from black tiger snakes (Notechis ater niger) and barn owls (Tyto alba) that regularly prey on juvenile *L. conditor* (and likely smaller adults) (Robinson 1975; Read 1984; Copley 1988, 1999). The equally large size of individuals from central arid Australia (Simpson-Strzelecki Dunefields) (all of which were collected in close proximity to the Lake Eyre Basin but were not collected following a flood year) may be due to similar predation pressures from desert reptiles such as snakes and goannas (Bolton and Moseby 2004). Indeed, the similarity in size between these populations of L. conditor and their geographical proximity suggest that these larger individuals may once have belonged to a continuous population that became separated by rising sea levels ~8000 years ago

(Robinson *et al.* 1996). Genetic analysis of historical specimens would further inform on this possibility.

An alternative explanation for the large body size of the arid L. conditor may be character displacement, or ecological release, intensified by limited resources in a desert environment (Brown and Wilson 1956; Grant 1972; Strong et al. 1979; Herrmann et al. 2021). Species that are closely related and of similar size often compete more intensely than those of disparate size (Larsen 1986; Violle et al. 2011). Increased competition with other rodents such as the long-haired rat (Rattus villosissimus) in the arid zone may therefore have resulted in the evolution of larger body size in the northern population of L. conditor, in order to expand its niche and access alternative resources in a competitive environment (Bowers and Brown 1982; Bolnick et al. 2010). Another alternative selection pressure that should be considered is that smaller animals can be more sensitive to extreme temperatures as they have a larger surface area to volume ratio and a narrower thermal neutral zone, meaning that thermoregulatory costs are lower for larger animals when temperatures are highly variable (Grodzinski and Weiner 1984; Degen et al. 1997). As daily

temperature ranges of 15–20°C are typical in the Australian desert (Trewin 2006), climate extremes may have acted as a selection pressure for larger body size in *L. conditor*. Support for this comes from a study of fat sand rats (*Psammomys obesus*), where under extreme ambient temperatures body mass of adults correlated positively with time spent foraging, suggesting that larger size allows for better thermoregulation in a desert environment (Haim *et al.* 2006).

Individuals from the easternmost region, the Darling Riverine Plains, straddled the margin between the two apparent size morphotypes in the dataset. Although not significantly larger than the other mainland populations, individuals in this region were not significantly smaller than the larger morphotypes, either. This pattern may be consistent with a west-east size gradient. Indeed, of our climate and spatial correlation analyses, longitude was found to be the variable of best fit to skull size. There are several examples of east-west variation in other Australian taxa, such as the Hooded Plover, (Weston et al. 2020); however, in many cases genetic studies have determined this variation to represent multiple species, with the Nullarbor Plain acting as a driver of speciation (Rix et al. 2015). Evidence of east-west vicariance has been observed in many taxa, including phascogales (Spencer et al. 2001), pygmy perch (Buckley et al. 2018), aquatic beetles (Hawlitschek et al. 2011), and eucalypts (Ladiges et al. 2010). The individual from the Riverina, however, did not adhere to this pattern, but with a sample size of one we cannot make sound inferences for this region. Indeed, our small sample size and sparse spatial distribution overall prevents any robust conclusions here, but molecular phylogeographic studies would provide further insight.

Limitations

Due to the incomplete preservation of many of the skulls used in this study, our dataset had a high degree of missing values (53%). Although imputations using the 'mice' R package produced consistent results, the uncertainty associated with this amount of missing data must be acknowledged as a caveat. Another limitation that must be considered is the small sample size and patchy representation across *L. conditor*'s former range. As the species became extinct on the mainland almost a century ago, very little material is available that characterises its historic distribution. Here we have attempted to obtain a representative sample of the variety of habitat types and environmental conditions experienced by the species, but acknowledge that the sample sizes are not equal between regions, and there remains much that we do not know about *L. conditor*'s former life history.

Implications for translocation

Leporillus conditor has been used in several translocation programs in recent decades, with the Franklin Islands

population acting as the primary source (Pedler and Copley 1993; White *et al.* 2018; Short *et al.* 2018, 2019). Our analyses show that these individuals are likely larger than their extinct counterparts in most mainland locations, with the exception of central Australia. Whether this morphological variation has an impact on fitness when translocating Franklin Island individuals to other areas of Australia is difficult to determine, as the relationship between form and function is highly complex and context-dependent (Koehl 1996). Small morphological changes may have considerable consequences for some species, such as Darwin's finches (Grant and Grant 2002; Herrel *et al.* 2005), while in other cases phenotypic variation has no influence on performance (Warner and Shine 2006).

Encouragingly, however, the lack of non-allometric shape variation in L. conditor among regions indicates that the species likely conforms to the universally well-adapted cranial form observed in many Australian rodent species, and may be capable of simply scaling its body size when necessary to adapt to an ecological niche (Marcy et al. 2020). Further studies on body size changes over time in relation to community composition in translocated L. conditor populations would provide more clarity here. In addition, genetic analysis of historic populations of L. conditor would provide insight as to genetic spatial variation and phylogeography within the species prior to its mainland extinction, as well as determining whether the large size of some L. conditor populations is the result of phenotypic plasticity or variation in genetic structure. Morphological studies of species that have undergone significant declines and range contractions are encouraged prior to conducting reintroductions, as this information may assist with population establishment.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material is available online.

References

- Agrawal, A. A. (2001). Phenotypic Plasticity in the Interactions and Evolution of Species. *Science* 294(5541), 321–326. doi:10.1126/ science.1060701
- Alexander, H. J., Taylor, J. S., Wu, S. S.-T., and Breden, F. (2006). Parallel evolution and vicariance in the guppy (*Poecilia reticulata*) over multiple spatial and temporal scales. *Evolution; International Journal of Organic Evolution* **60**(11), 2352–2369. doi:10.1111/j. 0014-3820.2006.tb01870.x
- Alexandrino, J., Baird, S. J. E., Lawson, L., Macey, J. R., Moritz, C., and Wake, D. B. (2005). Strong selection against hybrids at a hybrid zone in the Ensatina ring species complex and its evolutionary implications. *Evolution; International Journal of Organic Evolution* 59(6), 1334–1347. doi:10.1554/04-156
- Alhajeri, B. H., and Steppan, S. J. (2018). A phylogenetic test of adaptation to deserts and aridity in skull and dental morphology across rodents. *Journal of Mammalogy* **99**(5), 1197–1216. doi:10.1093/jmammal/gyy099
- Arnoux, E., Eraud, C., Navarro, N., Tougard, C., Thomas, A., Cavallo, F., Vetter, N., Faivre, B., and Garnier, S. (2014). Morphology and genetics reveal an intriguing pattern of differentiation at a very small

geographic scale in a bird species, the forest thrush *Turdus lherminieri*. *Heredity* **113**(6), 514–525. doi:10.1038/hdy.2014.56

- Assis, A. P. A., Rossoni, D. M., Patton, J. L., and Marroig, G. (2017). Evolutionary processes and its environmental correlates in the cranial morphology of western chipmunks (*Tamias*). *Evolution* **71**(3), 595–609. doi:10.1111/evo.13137
- Basso, A. P., Sidorkewicj, N. S., Casanave, E. B., and Mason, M. J. (2020). The middle ear of the pink fairy armadillo *Chlamyphorus truncatus* (*Xenarthra, Cingulata, Chlamyphoridae*): comparison with armadillo relatives using computed tomography. *Journal of Anatomy* **236**(5), 809–826. doi:10.1111/joa.13146
- Bertrand, O., Schillaci, M., and Silcox, M. (2015). Cranial dimensions as estimators of body mass and locomotor habits in extant and fossil rodents. *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology* **36**, 1–10.
- Bolnick, D. I., Ingram, T., Stutz, W. E., Snowberg, L. K., Lau, O. L., and Paull, J. S. (2010). Ecological release from interspecific competition leads to decoupled changes in population and individual niche width. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 277(1689), 1789–1797.
- Bolton, J., and Moseby, K. (2004). The activity of Sand Goannas *Varanus gouldii* and their interaction with reintroduced Greater Stick-nest Rats *Leporillus conditor*. *Pacific Conservation Biology* **10**(3), 193–201. doi:10.1071/PC040193
- Bowers, M. A., and Brown, J. H. (1982). Body Size and Coexistence in Desert Rodents: Chance or Community Structure? *Ecology* 63(2), 391–400. doi:10.2307/1938957
- Brown, W., and Wilson, E. (1956). Character displacement. *Systematic Zoology* 5(2), 49–64. doi:10.2307/2411924
- Buckley, S. J., Domingos, F. M., Attard, C. R., Brauer, C. J., Sandoval-Castillo, J., Lodge, R., Unmack, P. J., and Beheregaray, L. B. (2018). Phylogenomic history of enigmatic pygmy perches: implications for biogeography, taxonomy and conservation. *Royal Society Open Science* 5(6), 172125. doi:10.1098/rsos.172125
- Buuren, S. V., and Groothuis-Oudshoorn, K. (2011). mice: Multivariate Imputation by Chained Equations in R. *Journal of Statistical Software* **45**(1), 1–67. doi:10.18637/jss.v045.i03
- Campbell-Tennant, D. J. E., Gardner, J. L., Kearney, M. R., and Symonds, M. R. E. (2015). Climate-related spatial and temporal variation in bill morphology over the past century in Australian parrots. *Journal of Biogeography* **42**(6), 1163–1175. doi:10.1111/ jbi.12499
- Case, T. J. (1978). A General Explanation for Insular Body Size Trends in Terrestrial Vertebrates. *Ecology* 59(1), 1–18. doi:10.2307/1936628
- Charlesworth, D., and Willis, J. H. (2009). The genetics of inbreeding depression. *Nature Reviews Genetics* **10**(11), 783–796. doi:10.1038/nrg2664
- Clavel, J., Merceron, G., and Escarguel, G. (2014). Missing Data Estimation in Morphometrics: How Much is Too Much? Systematic biology 63, 203–218. doi:10.1093/sysbio/syt100
- Cooper, N. K., Adams, M., Anthony, C., and Schmitt, L. (2003). Morphological and genetic variation in *Leggadina* (Thomas, 1910) with special reference to Western Australian populations. *Records of the Western Australian Museum* 21, 333–351. doi:10.18195/issn. 0312-3162.21(4).2003.333-351
- Copley, P. B. (1988) The stick-nest rats of Australia: a final report to World Wildlife Fund (Australia). National Parks and Wildlife Service, Dept. of Environment and Planning. Adelaide, South Australia.
- Copley, P. (1999). Natural histories of Australia's stick-nest rats, genus *Leporillus* (*Rodentia*: *Muridae*). *Wildlife Research* **26**(4), 513. doi:10.1071/WR97056
- de Abreu, F. H. T., Schietti, J., and Anciães, M. (2018). Spatial and environmental correlates of intraspecific morphological variation in three species of passerine birds from the Purus–Madeira interfluvium, Central Amazonia. *Evolutionary Ecology* **32**(2), 191–214. doi:10.1007/s10682-018-9929-4
- Degen, A. A., Khokhlova, I. S., Kam, M., and Nagy, K. A. (1997). Body size, granivory and seasonal dietary shifts in desert gerbilline rodents. *Functional Ecology* 11(1), 53–59. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2435.1997. 00059.x
- Des Roches, S., Pendleton, L. H., Shapiro, B., and Palkovacs, E. P. (2021). Conserving intraspecific variation for nature's contributions to people. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 5, 574–582. doi:10.1038/ s41559-021-01403-5

- Drake, A. G., and Klingenberg, C. P. (2008). The pace of morphological change: historical transformation of skull shape in St Bernard dogs. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **275**(1630), 71–76. doi:10.1098/rspb.2007.1169
- Dubois, A. (2003). The relationships between taxonomy and conservation biology in the century of extinctions. *Comptes Rendus Biologies* **326**, 9–21. doi:10.1016/S1631-0691(03)00022-2
- Dunlop, J., and Morris, K. (2018). Environmental determination of body size in mammals: Rethinking 'island dwarfism' in the golden bandicoot. Austral Ecology 43(7), 817–827. doi:10.1111/ aec.12624
- Environment Australia (2000) 'Revision of the Interim Biogeographic Regionalisation of Australia (IBRA) and the Development of Version 5.1 - Summary Report.' (Department of Environment and Heritage: Canberra, Australia.)
- Fabre, P.-H., Pagès, M., Musser, G. G., Fitriana, Y. S., Fjeldså, J., Jennings, A., Jønsson, K. A., Kennedy, J., Michaux, J., Semiadi, G., Supriatna, N., and Helgen, K. M. (2013). A new genus of rodent from Wallacea (*Rodentia: Muridae: Murinae: Rattini*), and its implication for biogeography and Indo-Pacific Rattini systematics. *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society* 169(2), 408–447. doi:10.1111/zoj. 12061
- Ficetola, G. F., Colleoni, E., Renaud, J., Scali, S., Padoa-Schioppa, E., and Thuiller, W. (2016). Morphological variation in salamanders and their potential response to climate change. *Global Change Biology* 22(6), 2013–2024. doi:10.1111/gcb.13255
- Foth, C., Bona, P., and Desojo, J. B. (2015). Intraspecific variation in the skull morphology of the black caiman *Melanosuchus niger* (*Alligatoridae, Caimaninae*). *Acta Zoologica* **96**(1), 1–13. doi:10.1111/azo.12045
- Freudenthal, M., and Martín-Suárez, E. (2013). Estimating body mass of fossil rodents. *Scripta Geologica* 145, 1–513.
- Godfray, H. C. J., Knapp, S., and Mace, G. M. (2004). The role of taxonomy in species conservation. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences* **359**(1444), 711–719. doi:10.1098/rstb.2003.1454
- Grant, P. R. (1972). Convergent and divergent character displacement. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 4(1), 39–68. doi:10.1111/j. 1095-8312.1972.tb00690.x
- Grant, P. R., and Grant, B. R. (2002). Adaptive radiation of Darwin's finches: Recent data help explain how this famous group of Galapagos birds evolved, although gaps in our understanding remain. *American Scientist* **90**(2), 130–139. doi:10.1511/2002.2.130
- Grodzinski, W., and Weiner, J. (1984). Energetics of small and large mammals. Acta Zoological Fennica 172, 7–10.
- Gustafson, G., and Malmö, D. O. (1950). Age Determinations on Teeth. The Journal of the American Dental Association 41(1), 45–54. doi:10.14219/jada.archive.1950.0132
- Haddaway, N. R., Mortimer, R. J. G., Christmas, M., Grahame, J. W., and Dunn, A. M. (2012). Morphological diversity and phenotypic plasticity in the threatened British white-clawed crayfish (Austropotamobius pallipes). Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 22(2), 220–231. doi:10.1002/aqc.2225
- Haim, A., Alma, A., and Neuman, A. (2006). Body mass is a thermoregulatory adaptation of diurnal rodents to the desert environment. Second International Meeting on Physiology and Pharmacology of Temperature Regulation 31(1), 168–171.
- Haji-Maghsoudi, S., Haghdoost, A.-A., Rastegari, A., and Baneshi, M. R. (2013). Influence of Pattern of Missing Data on Performance of Imputation Methods: An Example from National Data on Drug Injection in Prisons. *International Journal of Health Policy and Management* 1(1), 69–77. doi:10.15171/ijhpm.2013.11
- Hawlitschek, O., Porch, N., Hendrich, L., and Balke, M. (2011). Ecological niche modelling and nDNA sequencing support a new, morphologically cryptic beetle species unveiled by DNA barcoding. *PLoS One* **6**(2), e16662. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0016662
- Hereford, J. (2009). A Quantitative Survey of Local Adaptation and Fitness Trade-Offs. *The American Naturalist* **173**(5), 579–588. doi:10.1086/597611
- Herrel, A., Podos, J., Huber, S. K., and Hendry, A. P. (2005). Evolution of bite force in Darwin's finches: a key role for head width. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* **18**(3), 669–675. doi:10.1111/j.1420-9101. 2004.00857.x

- Herrmann, N. C., Stroud, J. T., and Losos, J. B. (2021). The Evolution of 'Ecological Release' into the 21st Century. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **36**(3), 206–215. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2020.10.019
- Horie, C. (1990). Deterioration of skin in museum collections. *Polymer Degradation and Stability* **29**(1), 109–133. doi:10.1016/0141-3910(90)90025-3
- Hounkpèvi, A., Salako, V. K., Donhouédé, J. C. F., Daï, E. H., Tovissodé, F., Kakaï, R. G., and Assogbadjo, A. E. (2020). Natural intraspecific trait variation patterns of the wild soursop Annona senegalensis (Annonaceae) along a climatic gradient in Benin, West Africa. Plant Ecology and Evolution 153(3), 455–465. doi:10.5091/plecevo. 2020.1576
- Keast, A. (1968). Competitive Interactions and the Evolution of Ecological Niches as Illustrated by the Australian Honeyeater Genus *Melithreptus (meliphagidae). Evolution* 22(4), 762–784. doi:10.1111/ j.1558-5646.1968.tb03476.x
- Koehl, M. A. R. (1996). When does morphology matter? Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 27(1), 501–542. doi:10.1146/annurev. ecolsys.27.1.501
- Koo, T. K., and Li, M. Y. (2016). A Guideline of Selecting and Reporting Intraclass Correlation Coefficients for Reliability Research. *Journal of Chiropractic Medicine* 15(2), 155–163. doi:10.1016/j.jcm.2016. 02.012
- Ladiges, P. Y., Bayly, M. J., Nelson, G. J., Williams, D. M., and Knapp, S. (2010) East-west continental vicariance in Eucalyptus subgenus Eucalyptus. In 'Beyond cladistics: the branching of a paradigm'. (Eds D. M. Williams and S. Knapp.) pp. 267–302. (The Regents of the University of California: Berkeley, California.) https://doi.org/10. 1525/9780520947993-017
- Larsen, E. (1986). Competitive release in microhabitat use among coexisting desert rodents: a natural experiment. *Oecologia* 69(2), 231–237. doi:10.1007/BF00377627
- Latch, E. K., Harveson, L. A., King, J. S., Hobson, M. D., and Rhodes Jr, O. E. (2006). Assessing Hybridization in Wildlife Populations Using Molecular Markers: A Case Study in Wild Turkeys. *The Journal of Wildlife Management* **70**(2), 485–492. doi:10.2193/0022-541X (2006)70[485:AHIWPU]2.0.CO;2
- Lay, D. M. (1972). The anatomy, physiology, functional significance and evolution of specialized hearing organs of gerbilline rodents. *Journal* of Morphology 138(1), 41–120. doi:10.1002/jmor.1051380103
- Lee, K. J., and Carlin, J. B. (2012). Recovery of information from multiple imputation: a simulation study. *Emerging Themes in Epidemiology* **9**(1), 3. doi:10.1186/1742-7622-9-3
- Lema, S. C., and Nevitt, G. A. (2006). Testing an ecophysiological mechanism of morphological plasticity in pupfish and its relevance to conservation efforts for endangered Devils Hole pupfish. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 209(18), 3499–3509. doi:10.1242/jeb.02417
- Lostrom, S., Evans, J. P., Grierson, P. F., Collin, S. P., Davies, P. M., and Kelley, J. L. (2015). Linking stream ecology with morphological variability in a native freshwater fish from semi-arid Australia. *Ecology and Evolution* 5(16), 3272–3287. doi:10.1002/ece3.1590
- Lovatt, F. M. (2007) A study of the impact of population bottlenecks on the genetics and morphology of reindeer (*Rangifer tarandus tarandus*) on the island of South Georgia. Doctoral thesis. Durham University. Available at http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/2315/ [Accessed 18 March 2021]
- Maestri, R., Fornel, R., Gonçalves, G. L., Geise, L., Freitas, T., and Carnaval, A. (2016). Predictors of intraspecific morphological variability in a tropical hotspot: comparing the influence of random and non-random factors. *Journal of Biogeography* **43**(11), 2160–2172. doi:10.1111/JBI.12815
- Marcy, A. E., Guillerme, T., Sherratt, E., Rowe, K. C., Phillips, M. J., and Weisbecker, V. (2020). Australian Rodents Reveal Conserved Cranial Evolutionary Allometry across 10 Million Years of Murid Evolution. *The American Naturalist* **196**(6), 755–768. doi:10.1086/711398
- Marshall, A., Altman, D. G., Royston, P., and Holder, R. L. (2010). Comparison of techniques for handling missing covariate data within prognostic modelling studies: a simulation study. *BMC Medical Research Methodology* 10(1), 1–16. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-10-7
- Meachen-Samuels, J., and Van Valkenburgh, B. (2009). Craniodental indicators of prey size preference in the *Felidae*. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **96**(4), 784–799. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8312.2008. 01169.x

- Mee, J. A., Bernatchez, L., Reist, J. D., Rogers, S. M., and Taylor, E. B. (2015). Identifying designatable units for intraspecific conservation prioritization: a hierarchical approach applied to the lake whitefish species complex (*Coregonus* spp.). *Evolutionary Applications* **8**(5), 423–441. doi:10.1111/eva.12247
- Millien, V., and Bovy, H. (2010). When Teeth and Bones Disagree: Body Mass Estimation of a Giant Extinct Rodent. *Journal of Mammalogy* 91, 11–18. doi:10.1644/08-MAMM-A-347R1.1
- Morris, P. (1972). A review of mammalian age determination methods. *Mammal Review* **2**(3), 69–104. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2907.1972. tb00160.x
- Mortelliti, A., Castiglia, R., Amori, G., Maryanto, I., and Musser, G. G. (2012). A new species of Margaretamys (Rodentia: Muridae: Murinae: Rattini) from Pegunungan Mekongga, southeastern Sulawesi, Indonesia. Tropical Zoology 25(2), 74–107. doi:10.1080/03946975. 2012.696439
- Mosimann, J. E. (1970). Size allometry: size and shape variables with characterizations of the lognormal and generalized gamma distributions. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* **65**(330), 930–945. doi:10.1080/01621459.1970.10481136
- Mosimann, J. E., and James, F. C. (1979). New statistical methods for allometry with application to Florida red-winged blackbirds. *Evolution; International Journal of Organic Evolution* **33**(1Part2), 444–459.
- Musser, G. G., and Piik, E. (1982). A new species of Hydromys (Muridae) from western New Guinea (Irian Jaya). Zoologische Mededelingen 56, 153–166.
- Onley, I. R., Gardner, J. L., and Symonds, M. R. E. (2020). Spatial and temporal variation in morphology in Australian whistlers and shrikethrushes: is climate change causing larger appendages? *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 130(1), 101–113. doi:10.1093/ biolinnean/blaa028
- Pankakoski, E. (1980). An improved method for age determination in the muskrat, Ondatra zibethica (L.). Annales Zoologici Fennici 17(2), 113–121.
- Pedler, L., and Copley, P. (1993) ' Re-introduction of stick-nest rats to Reevesby Island, South Australia.' (South Australian Department of Environment and Land Management: Biological Conservation Branch: Adelaide, South Australia.)
- Peterson, D. A., Hilborn, R., and Hauser, L. (2014). Local adaptation limits lifetime reproductive success of dispersers in a wild salmon metapopulation. *Nature Communications* 5(1), 3696. doi:10.1038/ ncomms4696
- Price, T. D., Qvarnström, A., and Irwin, D. E. (2003). The role of phenotypic plasticity in driving genetic evolution. *Proceedings of* the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 270(1523), 1433–1440. doi:10.1098/rspb.2003.2372
- Read, V. T. (1984) 'The Stick-nest Rats of Australia: a preliminary report.' (South Australian National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Environment and Planning: Adelaide.)
- Rix, M. G., Edwards, D. L., Byrne, M., Harvey, M. S., Joseph, L., and Roberts, J. D. (2015). Biogeography and speciation of terrestrial fauna in the south-western Australian biodiversity hotspot. *Biological Reviews* **90**(3), 762–793. doi:10.1111/brv.12132
- Robinson, A. C. (1975). The Sticknest Rat, *Leporillus conditor*, on Franklin Island, Nuyts Archipelago, South Australia. *Australian Mammalogy* **1**(4), 319–327.
- Robinson, A., Canty, P., Mooney, T., and Rudduck, P. (1996) 'South Australia's Offshore Islands.' (Australian Government Publishing Service: Canberra, New South Wales.)
- Schlichting, C. D. (1986). The evolution of phenotypic plasticity in plants. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* **17**(1), 667–693. doi:10.1146/annurev.es.17.110186.003315
- Short, J., Richards, J. D., and O'Neill, S. (2018). Reintroduction of the greater stick-nest rat (*Leporillus conditor*) to Heirisson Prong, Shark Bay: an unsuccessful attempt to establish a mainland population. *Australian Mammalogy* **40**(2), 269–280. doi:10.1071/AM17046
- Short, J., Copley, P., Ruykys, L., Morris, K., Read, J., and Moseby, K. (2019). Review of translocations of the greater stick-nest rat (*Leporillus conditor*): lessons learnt to facilitate ongoing recovery. *Wildlife Research* **46**(6), 455–475. doi:10.1071/WR19021
- Shu, G., Gong, Y., Xie, F., Wu, N. C., and Li, C. (2017). Effects of longterm preservation on amphibian body conditions: implications for

historical morphological research. PeerJ 5, e3805. doi:10.7717/ peerj.3805

- Spencer, P. B. S., Rhind, S. G., and Eldridge, M. D. B. (2001). Phylogeographic structure within *Phascogale (Marsupialia: Dasyuridae)* based on partial cytochrome b sequence. *Australian Journal of Zoology* **49**(4), 369–377. doi:10.1071/ZO00080
- Strong, D. R., Szyska, L. A., and Simberloff, D. S. (1979). Test of community-wide character displacement against null hypotheses. *Evolution* 897–913. doi:10.2307/2407653
- Tate, G. H. H. (1951). Results of the Archbold Expeditions. No. 65. The rodents of Australia and New Guinea. *Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History* **97**, 183–430.
- Taylor, M. C., Travouillon, K. J., Andrew, M. E., Fleming, P. A., and Warburton, N. M. (2021). Keeping an ear out: size relationship of the tympanic bullae and pinnae in bandicoots and bilbies (*Marsupialia: Peramelemorphia*). Current Zoology zoab055. doi:10.1093/cz/ zoab055
- Thackway, R. and Cresswell, I. D. (1995) 'An interim biogeographic regionalisation for Australia: a framework for setting priorities in the National Reserves System Cooperative Program.' (Australian Nature Conservation Agency, Reserve Systems Unit: Canberra.)
- Thavornkanlapachai, R., Mills, H. R., Ottewell, K., Dunlop, J., Sims, C., Morris, K., Donaldson, F., and Kennington, W. J. (2019). Mixing Genetically and Morphologically Distinct Populations in Translocations: Asymmetrical Introgression in A Newly Established Population of the Boodie (*Bettongia lesueur*). Genes 10(9), 729. doi:10.3390/genes10090729
- Travouillon, K. J., and Phillips, M. J. (2018). Total evidence analysis of the phylogenetic relationships of bandicoots and bilbies (*Marsupialia: Peramelemorphia*): reassessment of two species and description of a new species. Zootaxa 4378(2), 224. doi:10.11646/zootaxa. 4378.2.3
- Thomas, O. (1921). LXII.-On three new Australian rats. Journal of Natural History 8(48), 618–622. doi:10.1080/00222932108632627
- Travouillon, K. J., Simões, B. F., Miguez, R. P., Brace, S., Brewer, B., Stemmer, D., Price, G. J., Cramb, J., and Louys, L. (2019). Hidden in plain sight: reassessment of the pig-footed bandicoot, *Chaeropus* ecaudatus (*Peramelemorphia, Chaeropodidae*), with a description of a new species from Central Australia, and use of the fossil record to trace its past distribution. *Zootaxa* 4566(1), 1–69. doi:10.11646/ zootaxa.4566.1.1
- Trewin, D. (2006) 'Year Book Australia.' (Australian Bureau of Statistics: Canberra, Australia.)

- Van Dyck, S., Strahan, R., Museum, Q., Van Dyck, S., and Strahan, R. (2008) 'The mammals of Australia.' (New Holland Publishers: Sydney, Australia.)
- Violle, C., Nemergut, D. R., Pu, Z., and Jiang, L. (2011). Phylogenetic limiting similarity and competitive exclusion. *Ecology Letters* 14(8), 782–787. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01644.x
- Voss, R. S. (1988). Systematics and Ecology of the icthyomyine rodents (*Muroidea*): patterns of morphological evolution in a small adaptive radiation. *Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History* **188**, 259–493.
- Walsh, R. E., Assis, A. P. A., Patton, J. L., Marroig, G., Dawson, T. E., and Lacey, E. A. (2016). Morphological and dietary responses of chipmunks to a century of climate change. *Global Change Biology* 22(9), 3233–3252. doi:10.1111/gcb.13216
- Warner, D., and Shine, R. (2006). Morphological variation does not influence locomotor performance within a cohort of hatchling lizards (*Amphibolurus muricatus, Agamidae*). Oikos 114(1), 126–134. doi:10.1111/j.2006.0030-1299.14761.x
- Weston, M. A., Clarke, K., Maguire, G. S., and Sumner, J. (2020). Morphological and molecular evidence of population divergence in a widespread shorebird across its southern mainland Australian distribution. *Conservation Genetics* **21**(4), 757–770. doi:10.1007/ s10592-020-01286-2
- Watts, C. H., and Aslin, H. J. (1981). 'The rodents of Australia.' (Angus & Robertson.)
- White, L. C., Moseby, K. E., Thomson, V. A., Donnellan, S. C., and Austin, J. J. (2018). Long-term genetic consequences of mammal reintroductions into an Australian conservation reserve. *Biological Conservation* 219, 1–11. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2017.12.038
- Woinarski, J. C. Z., Burbidge, A. A. (2016) Leporillus conditor. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species.
- Wolak, M. E. (2015) ICC: Facilitating Estimation of the Intraclass Correlation Coefficient. Available at http://github.com/matthew wolak/ICC
- Zaidaneen, J. A., and Hasaseen, A. A. A. (2008) 'Re-introduction of Arabian oryx into Wadi Rum Protected Area, Jordan. In: Global re-introduction perspectives: Re-introduction case studies from around the globe.' pp. 181–184. (IUCN/SSC Re-introduction Specialist Group and Environment Agency Abu Dhabi.)
- Zhang, Z. (2016). Multiple imputation with multivariate imputation by chained equation (MICE) package. Annals of Translational Medicine 4(2), 30–30. doi:10.1186/s12967-016-0788-x

Data availability. Data used to generate these results are contained in the supplementary material and are available at the University of Adelaide FigShare (https://doi.org/10.25909/18319349).

Conflicts of interest. The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Declaration of funding. This research was supported by the University of Adelaide and funded by the following organisations and awards: Arid Recovery, Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship, Nature Foundation South Australia Grand Start Grant (Grant No. 2019-07), Biological Society South Australia/Nature Conservation Society of South Australia Conservation Biology Grant, Field Naturalists Society of South Australia Lirabenda Endowment Fund Research Grant. ES was supported by an Australian Research Council Future Fellowship (FT190100803).

Acknowledgements. The authors would like to thank the following curators and institutions for their support of this research; Graham Medlin and David Stemmer (South Australian Museum), Karen Roberts (Museums Victoria), Kenny Travouillon, Alex Baynes and Mikael Siversson (Western Australian Museum). The authors also acknowledge and thank Kris Helgen for his assistance with the research and two anonymous reviewers for their kind and considerate comments on a previous version of the manuscript.

Author affiliations

^AAustralian Centre for Ancient DNA (ACAD), School of Biological Sciences, The University of Adelaide, South Australia, Adelaide, SA 5005, Australia. ^BCentre for Ecosystem Sciences, Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW 2035, Australia.

 $^{ ext{C}}$ School of Biological Sciences, The University of Adelaide, South Australia, Adelaide, SA 5005, Australia.

1 Supplementary Information 1

- 2 Metadata of individual *Leporillus conditor* specimens measured. SAM = South Australian Museum, MV = Museums Victoria, WAM = Western
- 3 Australian Museum, AM = Australian Museum, BMNH = British Museum of Natural History. All measurements are in millimetres (mm).

Catalogue	Collecti	Locality	Year	Latitude	Longitud	IBRA 7 Regions	GLS	CBL	PP	ZB	IZL	BB	HB	IB	RB	RL	LIF	BIF	MT	mT	МН
Number	on				е				м										R	R	<u> </u>
M14051	SAM	Tieyon	1986	-26.1667	134.25	Stony Plains	46.6	44.3	40.8		15.6	18.9	13.4	6.0	7.2		9.78	3.2	9.12		1
		Homestead					2	2	8		8	2	8	4	9			5			
M4377	SAM	Lake Eyre	1907	-28.5	137	Simpson Strzelecki	45.1	42.1	39.1	21.0		17.3	13.4	5.6		16.5	7.82	3.4	10.1	9.0	13.2
						Dunefields	6	9	6	7		5	9	8		5		5	2	3	
M4372	SAM	Lake Eyre	1907	-28.5	137	Simpson Strzelecki	47.1	45.2	41.6	22.2	15.8	18.4	13.8	5.0	7.8	17.7	9.98	2.9	10.0	9.1	13.7
						Dunefields	5		3	4	5	4	1	1					9	9	5
M4371	SAM	Lake Eyre	1907	-28.5	137	Simpson Strzelecki	47.3	43.8	42.9	22.8	16.0	19.0	14.3	5.4		18.6	10.6		9.56	9.1	14.1
						Dunefields	2	7	1	5	1	5	3	4			1				7
CHG613.2.3	SAM	Chambers Gorge	1976	-30.97	139.28	Flinders Lofty Block			38.1	20.4	14.9	17.1	13.0	5.5	7.6		8.68	3.0	8.7		1
									1	5	1	1	7	3	4			4			
CHG613.2.1	SAM	Chambers Gorge	1978	-30.97	139.28	Flinders Lofty Block			38.6	21.2	15.5	17.7	11.9	5.4	7.3		9.89	3.4	9.57		1
									5	1	1	4	6	9	7			1			1
CHG613.3.5	SAM	Chambers Gorge	1978	-30.97	139.28	Flinders Lofty Block			38.9	20.8	14.3			5.9			8.99	3.5	9.09		
									7	2	9			6				1			1
CHG613.2.2	SAM	Chambers Gorge	1978	-30.97	139.28	Flinders Lofty Block			39.2		15.5	16.5	12.4	5.2			8.55	3.6	9.58		[
											3	5	1	1				8			
CHG613.3.3	SAM	Chambers Gorge	1978	-30.97	139.28	Flinders Lofty Block											9.51	3.3	9.73		[
																		2			
CHG613.3.2	SAM	Chambers Gorge	1978	-30.97	139.28	Flinders Lofty Block				19.8				5.7			8.57	3.2	9.15		1
										8				6				7			
CHG613.2.5	SAM	Chambers Gorge	1978	-30.97	139.28	Flinders Lofty Block													8.9		1
																					<u> </u>
CHG613.3.1	SAM	Chambers Gorge	1978	-30.97	139.28	Flinders Lofty Block				20.6	15.7			5.7			9.02	3.1	9.19		1
											3			2							<u> </u>
CHG613.3.4	SAM	Chambers Gorge	1978	-30.97	139.28	Flinders Lofty Block													9.26		1
CHG613.2.4	SVW	Chambers Gorge	1078	-30.97	130.28	Elinders Lofty Block				20.0	1/1 0	18.7		63			8 2/	3.2	8 96		<u> </u>
010013.2.4	37111	chambers dorge	1570	30.57	155.20	Thinders Lorty Diock				20.0	14.5	20.7		6			0.24	3.2	0.50		1
NSB1 1	SAM	Number 6 Bore	1989	-31.2	131.2	Nullarbor	-		38.0	21.1	15.5	173	12.8	56			9.04	34	8 88		
11301.1	57 (11)	Number o Bore	1505	51.2	101.2	i tuliar bol			30.0	8	10.0	17.5	12.0	9.0 Q			5.04	1	0.00		1
NSB1 2	SAM	Number 6 Bore	1989	-31.2	131.2	Nullarbor			39.2	21.6	15 5	173	13.1	59	77		9 2 9	34	91		<u> </u>
11301.2	57 (11)	Number o Bore	1505	51.2	101.2	i tuliar bol			55.2	21.0	13.5	3	10.1	2.5	7.7		5.25	1	5.1		1
IVC 2 1	SAM	lvv Cave	2011	-31 417	130 827	Nullarbor			377	21.3	15.8	18.1	13.0	59	6.8		8 26	34	8 4 5		
	0,	ing care		011117	1001027	i tunui bol			2	6	1	1	1	8	0.0		0.20	5	0110		1
	SAM	lvv Cave	2011	-31 417	130 827	Nullarbor			38.2	22.1	16.1	17.2	13.1	60	79		9 1 9	36	9 96		<u> </u>
	57 111	, care	2011	51.41/	100.027				2	9	2	7	5	6	1		5.15	3	5.55		i –
IVC.2.3	SAM	lvv Cave	2011	-31,417	130.827	Nullarbor	45.5	42.2	39.5	20.0	15.5	17.5	12.2	5.7	6.6		8.47	3.2	8.46	l	<u> </u>
	2,	,		01.11/	100.027		1	3	8	8	3	8	7	1	8		0	2	00		1

IVC.2.4	SAM	Ivy Cave	2011	-31.417	130.827	Nullarbor			38.4		14.9	17.2	12.7	5.8	6.5		8	3.1	8.15		
									1		2		7		9			1	L		L
IVC.2.5	SAM	Ivy Cave	2011	-31.417	130.827	Nullarbor	45.4	43.6	39.7	22.8	15.9	18.5	13.3	6.1	7.4	17.0	8.67	3.5	9.13		I
							5	5	7		6	4				7		6			I
IVC.2.6	SAM	Ivy Cave	2011	-31.417	130.827	Nullarbor			37.3	19.4	15.3		12.4	5.9	6.5		8.1	3.2	8.84		1
		,							9	8	3		7	3				8			I
M6308.006	SAM	New Cave	1960	-31 3333	130.9	Nullarbor			36.3	20.7	14.6	173	12.8	5.9	6.4		8 5 5	3.0	9.03		
100000.000	3411	New cave	1500	51.5555	150.5	Nullarbol			50.5	20.7	14.0	17.5	12.0	3.5	5		0.55	3.0	5.05		I
146200.004	CANA	Nov. Cours	1000	24 2222	120.0	Nullaukau	-		27.4	20.0	45.7	17.0	12.0	5	74	<u> </u>	0.50	2	0.57		
1016308.004	SAIVI	New Cave	1960	-31.3333	130.9	Nullarbor			37.4	20.0	15.7	17.8	12.0	5.7	/.1		8.58	3.1	8.57		1
							_		9	2	1	2	8	5	5			9	L		
M6308.001	SAM	New Cave	1960	-31.3333	130.9	Nullarbor			38.8	19.7	15.9	17.8	13.3	5.9	6.7		8.9	3.0	9.16		1
									4	3	3	4	1	1	3			3			1
M6308.003	SAM	New Cave	1960	-31.3333	130.9	Nullarbor			39.2	19.9	16.0	18.9	13.6	6.8			9.73	3.2	9.9		1
									6	8	1			8				1			I
M6308.005	SAM	New Cave	1960	-31,3333	130.9	Nullarbor			39.9	22.2	15.5	18.4	13.6	5.8			9.34	3.4	9.44		
	0,		1000	01.0000	10010				4	4	Q	7	10.0	2			5.5.	0	5		I
MC208.007	CANA	New Ceue	1000	21 2222	120.0	Nullarhar			4	4	5	,		- <u>-</u>		10.0	0.00	2.0	0.01		
IVI6308.007	SAIVI	New Cave	1960	-31.3333	130.9	Nullarbor								5.9		16.9	8.99	2.9	9.01		I
	-													5		1		9	<u> </u>		
MUC.1.2.1	SAM	Murrawijinie	1989	-31.365	130.875	Nullarbor	44.7	42.8	39.0	21.5	15.0	17.4	12.6	6.0	7.1	16.6	10.1	3.4	8.73		1
		Cave					5	4	8	8	5			8	1	5	9	9			1
MUC.1.2.2	SAM	Murrawijinie	1989	-31.365	130.875	Nullarbor			38	20.5	14.9	17.3	13.1	5.7	6.2		8.68	3.2	8.67		1
		Cave								5	3	2	9	8	4			1			I
MUC 1.2.3	SAM	Murrawijinie	1989	-31,365	130.875	Nullarbor			38.4	21.4	15	17.4	12.7	5.2	6.9		8.83	3.1	9.01		
	0,	Cave	1909	01.000	1001070				5	2	10		7	0. <u>_</u>	0.5		0.00	6	5.01		1
MUC 1 1 1	5 4 1 4	Murrowijinio	1000	21.265	120.975	Nullarbor			20 1	20.7	15.6	17.0	12.6	6.0	6.6		0.04	22	0.42		
WIUC.1.1.1	SAIVI	wurrawijine	1909	-51.505	150.875	Nullarbol			56.1	20.7	15.0	17.9	12.0	0.0	0.0		9.04	5.5	9.45		1
	-	Cave		-	-				5	3	1	9	1	3	5			ļ!	 		
MUC.1.1.2	SAM	Murrawijinie	1989	-31.365	130.875	Nullarbor	44.5	43.2	39.0	20.6	15.8	17.2	13.0	5.4	6.9		8.9	3.2	8.48		I
		Cave					7	1	3	1		5	8	1	1			2			
MUC.1.1.3	SAM	Murrawijinie	1989	-31.365	130.875	Nullarbor			37.0		15.1			5.7	6.9		8.72	3.3	8.73		I
		Cave							7		3			6	9			2			1
MUC.1.1.4	SAM	Murrawijinie	1989	-31.365	130.875	Nullarbor								6.0	7.1		8.79	3.1	9.05		
		Cave												6	2			8			1
M6307 002	SAM	Koonalda Cave	1960	_31 /	120 8333	Nullarbor			38.0		16.1	18/	13.6	63			٩		0.55		
100007.002	34111	Roonalda cave	1500	51.4	125.0555	Nullarbol			30.0		10.1 C	10.4	15.0	0.5			5		5.55		1
NAC207 001	CANA	Kanadala Caus	1000	21.4	120 0222	Nullaukau			20.2	21.1	0	0	0	9	7.5	<u> </u>	0.20	2.2	0.00		
M6307.001	SAM	Koonalda Cave	1960	-31.4	129.8333	Nullarbor			38.3	21.1	14.9			6.2	7.5		9.39	3.2	8.89		1
									6	8	8			4				3			L
M6306.005	SAM	Weekes Cave	1960	-31.5	129.9167	Nullarbor			37.4	22.2	15.5	17.4	13.4	5.7	6.9		9.2	3.4	9.13		1
									9	3	9	7	1	1	8			5			1
M6306.004	SAM	Weekes Cave	1960	-31.5	129.9167	Nullarbor			38.1	21.7	15.9	17.2	12.4	5.7	6.9		8.83	3.3	9		
	-									1	5	1	4	5	8			5	_		1
M6306.002	SAM	Weekes Cave	1960	-21 5	120 0167	Nullarbor			30.2	22.6	15.3	1.0 1	12.2	61	-				8 00		
1010300.002	SAIVI	Weekes Cave	1900	-51.5	129.9107	Nullarbol			35.2	22.0	13.5	10.1	12.2	0.1					0.99		1
	C 4 4 4		1000		120.0167	N. 11. 1			0	2		0	3			<u> </u>	0.00		0 77		
NI6306.006	SAM	weekes Cave	1960	-31.5	129.9167	Nullarbor		1	40.4			18.3	13.1	5.8	7.4		9.23	3.5	8.77		1
									8			5	9	5	3			6	\square		
M11959	SAM	West Franklin	1982	-32.4333	133.65	Eyre Yorke Block	45.5	43.4	39.6	22.3		17.8	13.8	5.4		17.1	8.76	3.4	9.61	9.4	13.8
	1	Island	1			1	2	7	8	2		5	3	4		9		7	1	5	l

M7860	SAM	East Franklin	1969	-32.4431	133.6694	Eyre Yorke Block	45.6	44.0	38.9	21.8	15.9	16.6	12.4	5.4	7.9	16.2	8.88	3.6	9.59	9.0	13.2
		Island						2	6	9	4	6	9	9	1	6				5	8
M7859	SAM	East Franklin	1969	-32.4431	133.6694	Eyre Yorke Block	45.8	43.5	39.7	21.8	15.8	17.1	13.2	5.0	8.4	16.4	9.18	3.2	9.58	9.2	13.6
		Island					4	9	4		9	2	9	6	8			5		5	9
M8607	SAM	Franklin Islands	1970	-32.45	133.6667	Eyre Yorke Block	45.7	43.2	38.7	21.8		16.9	12.9	5.8	7.6	17.1	8.51	3.4	9.5	9.4	13.2
						,	8		1	3		1		9	6	6		4			5
M8182	SAM	Franklin Islands	1970	-32.45	133.6667	Eyre Yorke Block	45.0	42.1	38.9	20.5			12.9	5.8		15.7	7.96	3.3	9.82	9.2	12.7
						,	4	8	3	9			5	6				3		2	9
M9509	SAM	Franklin Islands	1970	-32.45	133.6667	Evre Yorke Block	45.7	43.6	39.3	21.7		17.6	12.9	5.6	8.1	17.3	8.81	3.5	9.88	9.7	13.4
	-					,	6	8	9	4		-	8	4	6	4		6		7	5
M7862	SAM	Franklin Islands	1969	-32.45	133.6667	Evre Yorke Block	45.6	43.1	39.9	22.1		17.4	13.7	5.7	8.2	17.2	8.45	3.4	9.69	9.5	13.2
						-,	6	6	1	4		5	4	2	2	9		3		2	4
M7858	SAM	Franklin Islands	1969	-32.45	133.6667	Evre Yorke Block	46.3	44.3	39.9	22.2		17.9	14.1	5.3	7.5	17.1	8.72	3.2	9.73	9.2	13.4
						_,	5	6	3	6					7	8		4		3	1
M7863	SAM	Franklin Islands	1969	-32.45	133,6667	Evre Yorke Block	46.6	44.1	40.0	21.9		17.8	14.7	5.4	7.7	17.2	8.97	3.3	9.69	9.6	14.1
						_,	2	2	8	9		4		2	1	4				1	5
M21372	SAM	Franklin Islands	1985	-32 45	133.67	Evre Yorke Block	46.9	44.7	40 1	22.4	15.6	17.4	13.7	55	83	17.2	8 3 9	31	9 74	9.0	13.3
11121372	57 111	i runkin islands	1505	52.45	155.07	Lyre forke block	40.5	6	8	7		27.4	5	5.5	0.5	5	0.55	1	5.74	8	10.0
M7861	SAM	Franklin Islands	1969	-32.45	133 6667	Evre Vorke Block	47.2	44.6	40.4	22.7	Ŭ	171	13.6	55	84	177	8 89	37	10.1	95	13.8
1417001	5/11	i rankin isianas	1505	52.45	135.0007	Lyre forke block	-7.2	44.0	1	5		6	13.0	5.5	2	1	0.05	5.7	9	J.J 4	13.0
M9508	SAM	Franklin Islands	1969	-32.45	133 6667	Evre Vorke Block	47.0	45.2	40.4	22.8	15.3	177	13.7	57	84	17.0	931	36	9.83	95	13.9
1415500	5/11	i rankin isianas	1505	52.45	135.0007	Lyre forke block	۰. ۹		40.4 8	9	10.0	2	15.7	J./	2	7	5.51	5.0	5.05	1	13.5
M15747	SAM	Franklin Islands	1071	-32 /15	133.67	Evre Vorke Block	16.7	11.2	40.5	22.2	16.7	171	13	55	7.8	16.6	0.34	36	10.1	03	13.7
10113747	5/11	i rankin islands	1371	52.45	155.07	Lyre forke block	-0.7	5	3	7	10.7	17.1 Q	15	3.5 8	7.0	10.0	5.54	9.0 8	10.1 Q	1	13.7
M7865	SAM	Franklin Islands	1969	-32.45	133 6667	Evre Vorke Block	48.0	45.0	40.8	22.6	16.9	18.0	13.7	54	85	171	9.04	39	9.81	9.8	, 14.0
117005	5/ 11/1	i runkin islands	1505	52.45	155.0007	Lyre forke block	3	45.0	3	22.0	7	10.0	10.7	5.4	9	6	5.04	2	5.01	2.0	5
M8183	SAM	Franklin Islands	1970	-32.45	133 6667	Evre Vorke Block	473	44.3	40.8	22.9	,	177	13.7	57	5	177	9 24	36	10.1	96	12.8
1010105	57 111	i runkin islands	1570	52.45	155.0007	Lyre forke block		5	7	22.5		17.7 4	8	6		5	5.24	7	8	1	12.0
M21396	SAM	Franklin Islands	1985	-32 45	133.67	Evre Yorke Block	47.6	44.9	41.2	22.8	16.9	18.0	13.7	51	8.0	173	8 74	35	10.1	92	14.6
	0,		1000	02110	200107	Lifte forme broom	8		9	1	6	1	6	5	6	7	0.7 1	6	9	5.2	1.10
M7864	SAM	Franklin Islands	1969	-32.45	133.6667	Evre Yorke Block	48.0	45.6	41.4	22.2		17.8	14.1	5.9	8.4	17.4	9.31	3.6	9.4	9.0	14.7
	-					,	8	8		5		3	3	4	2	4		2	-	3	7
M7850	SAM	West Franklin	1969	-32.4569	133.6375	Evre Yorke Block	44.3	42.2	38.7	19.5	15.0	17.0	13.0	5.2	6.9		8.61	3.3	9.42	9.4	11.9
	-	Island				,	9	5	9	6	2	9	9	6	5				-	4	8
M8617	SAM	West Franklin	1970	-32.4569	133.6375	Evre Yorke Block	45.6	43.1	39.1	22.0		17.4	13.2	5.4		16.2	8.46	3.4	9.42	9.1	12.9
	-	Island				,	7	6		3		6	8	8		5		2	-	-	4
M7851	SAM	West Franklin	1969	-32.4569	133.6375	Evre Yorke Block	45.4		39.2	20.9	16.0	17.3	13.8	5.6					9.6	9.6	13.2
	-	Island				,	9		9	4	3	5	7	8						5	
M8616	SAM	West Franklin	1970	-32.4569	133.6375	Evre Yorke Block	45.7	43.7	39.5	21.8		17.3	12.6	5.0	7.4	16.8	8.51	3.4	9.56	9.2	13.0
	-	Island				,	5	5	4	7		6	_	5	4	7		7		-	4
M8619	SAM	West Franklin	1970	-32.4569	133.6375	Evre Yorke Block	46.1	43.1	40.0	22.3		18.0	13.6	5.8	8.3	16.8	8.83	3.9	9.88	9.1	13.9
	-	Island				,	_	2	4	_		8	2	1	1	9		9		5	3
M8618	SAM	West Franklin	1970	-32.4569	133.6375	Eyre Yorke Block												1	8.82	8.6	
	-	Island				,														3	ł
M16410	SAM	Reevesby Island	1990	-34.53	136.28	Eyre Yorke Block			38.7	21.3	15.8	17.4	13.9	5.3	7.7		9.04	3.6	9.6	9.3	12.9
		,							5	8	6	2	6		4			3			6

M21156	SAM	Reevesby Island	1999	-34.53	136.28	Eyre Yorke Block	46.1	43.5	39.7	20.6	16.0	17.5	12.9	5.4	7.3	17.0	8.93	3.3	9.31	9.0	13.2
							6	1	4	6	5	6	8		8	1		8		2	1
M16590	SAM	Reevesby Island	1990	-34.53	136.28	Eyre Yorke Block	45.8	44.0	39.9	21.3	15.8	17.9	14.3	5.5	8.1	17.6	8.92	3.5	9.84	9.4	13.3
							9	1	5	2	6	3	8	6	7	1		8		8	7
M16402	SAM	Reevesby Island	1991	-34.53	136.28	Eyre Yorke Block	47.7	45.5	40.7	22.8	15.6	17.6	14.0	5.2	8.4	17.4	9.67	3.6	10.0	9.7	14.5
							8	7	9	7	9	2	5		6	5		7	5		3
M16591	SAM	Reevesby Island	1991	-34.53	136.28	Eyre Yorke Block	47.7	45.0	41.5	23.3	16.4	17.9	14.2	5.9	8.6	17.2	8.87	3.5	9.94	9.4	12.8
							2	4	1	3		7	2	4	3	5		3		3	5
NMV:C.101	MV	Murray and	1857	-34.112	141.922	Riverina			38.0	19.8	15.2			5.8	6.5	15.5	8.09	2.8	8.99	8.7	
		Darling Rivers							2	3				9	3	2		5		2	
		Junction																			
NMV:C.3383	MV	Cooper Creek		-28.38	137.68	Simpson Strzelecki	47.1	44.1	40.9	21.8		17.8	13.7	5.9	8.5	17.5	8.98	3.4	9.62	9.2	13.3
0						Dunefields	9	4	5	4		5	1	5	7	3		8		2	2
NMV:C.3383	MV	Cooper Creek		-28.38	137.68	Simpson Strzelecki	45.7	43.2	39.5	20.7		17.7	12.9	5.7	7.7	16.7	8.72	3.2	9.4	9.3	13.5
1						Dunefields	8	2	5	9		1	6	2		8		5		1	4
M829	WAM	Franklin Islands	1926	-32.45	133.6667	Eyre Yorke Block	46.9	45.3	41.2	22.6	16.8	17.6	13.3	5.3	7.7	17.8	8.8	3.4	9.78	9.3	14.1
							8	1	6	2	2	4			3	9				5	8
M63287.01	WAM	Mundrabilla	2018	-31.866	127.821	Hampton			36.9	19.3	15.6	17.7	12.9	6.3	6.1		8.32	3.0	9.08		
		Station								2	4	9	2					5			
78.1.61.1	WAM	Dirk Hartog	1979	-25.75	112.95	Yalgoo	41.8	40.3	37.2	19.5	14.4	16.6	12.1	4.8	6.8		8.84	3.3	8.32		
		Island					5		1	6	4	5	7	3	5						
78.1.61.2	WAM	Dirk Hartog	1979	-25.75	112.95	Yalgoo													8.9		
		Island																			
78.1.61.3	WAM	Dirk Hartog	1979	-25.75	112.95	Yalgoo														8.0	13.3
		Island																		2	4
71.7.59.1	WAM	Edel Land	1970	-26.4	113.3	Yalgoo														8.4	12.9
																				6	2
71.7.59.2	WAM	Edel Land	1970	-26.4	113.3	Yalgoo														7.9	13.4
																				9	7
71.7.59.3	WAM	Edel Land	1970	-26.4	113.3	Yalgoo														9.0	
																				9	
71.7.24.1	WAM	Edel Land	1970	-26.6	113.68	Carnarvon														8.4	
																				9	
71.7.24.2	WAM	Edel Land	1970	-26.6	113.68	Carnarvon														8.5	
																				8	
73.1.218	WAM	Weld Range	1963	-26.917	117.7	Murchison														8.3	
																				3	
67.4.42	WAM	Coolgardie	1967	-30.896	121.331	Coolgardie														8.4	14.2
																				1	
68.11.99	WAM	Menindee	1967	-32.636	142.015	Darling Riverine Plains														8.5	
																				2	
68.11.100	WAM	Menindee	1967	-32.636	142.015	Darling Riverine Plains														8.3	
																				6	
68.11.101	WAM	Menindee	1967	-32.636	142.015	Darling Riverine Plains														9.1	
																				2	
GJGS84.1	WAM	Tallering Gorge	2003	-28.094	115.659	Yalgoo														7.5	
																				4	

GJGS84.2	WAM	Tallering Gorge	2003	-28.094	115.659	Yalgoo													8.7	
GJGS84.3	WAM	Tallering Gorge	2003	-28.094	115.659	Yalgoo													8.6	
WGS84.1	WAM	Tallering Gorge	2003	-28.094	115.659	Yalgoo		37.9 7	19.6 2	15.4 8	17.4 2	13.2 2	5.1 1	5.9 1	15.0 2	8.61	3.3 2	8.99		
WGS84.3	WAM	Tallering Gorge	2003	-28.094	115.659	Yalgoo										8.52	3.4 7	7.91		
WGS84.4	WAM	Tallering Gorge	2003	-28.094	115.659	Yalgoo		37.2	19.7 1	15.2 4	17.4 1	12.6 9	5.4 6	6.7 2	15.5 4	8.41	3.3 7	8.7		
WGS84.5	WAM	Tallering Gorge	2003	-28.094	115.659	Yalgoo			18.2 7	13.9 3	-		5.1				-	8.4		
WGS84.6	WAM	Tallering Gorge	2003	-28.094	115.659	Yalgoo													7.8 7	12.6 6
WGS84.7	WAM	Tallering Gorge	2003	-28.094	115.659	Yalgoo													7.7	12.9 1
WGS84.8	WAM	Tallering Gorge	2003	-28.094	115.659	Yalgoo													7.6	12.7 9
WGS84.9	WAM	Tallering Gorge	2003	-28.094	115.659	Yalgoo													8.5 4	12.5 8
WGS84.10	WAM	Tallering Gorge	2003	-28.094	115.659	Yalgoo													7.8 3	
WGS84.11	WAM	Tallering Gorge	2003	-28.094	115.659	Yalgoo		35.9 3	18.3 5	14.7 5			5.4 4	6.3 3		7.54	3.0 3	8.04		
WGS84.12	WAM	Tallering Gorge	2003	-28.094	115.659	Yalgoo			19.5 5	14.0 6			5.3 6					8.69		
WGS84.13	WAM	Tallering Gorge	2003	-28.094	115.659	Yalgoo			18.6 6	13.4 9			5.6 7	6.1 4	13.8 3	7.95	2.8 1	8.33		
ABRS115/2. 1	WAM	Tallering Hill	1985	-28.117	115.62	Yalgoo													8.3	12.2 7
ABRS115/2. 2	WAM	Tallering Hill	1985	-28.117	115.62	Yalgoo													7.8 5	12.3 1
ABRS124/3. 1	WAM	Yaringa Station	1985	-25.987	114.297	Carnarvon												8.49		
ABRS124/3. 2	WAM	Yaringa Station	1985	-25.987	114.297	Carnarvon													8.1 3	
ABRS125/2. 1	WAM	Peron Peninsula	1985	-25.643	113.585	Carnarvon													8.0 5	12.6 8
ABRS125/2. 2	WAM	Peron Peninsula	1985	-25.643	113.585	Carnarvon													8.1 5	
ABRS125/2. 3	WAM	Peron Peninsula	1985	-25.643	113.585	Carnarvon													7.8 6	11.6 6
ABRS125/2. 4	WAM	Peron Peninsula	1985	-25.643	113.585	Carnarvon													7.8 9	
ABRS125/2. 5	WAM	Peron Peninsula	1985	-25.643	113.585	Carnarvon												8.55		
MEE.1	WAM	Cocklebiddy	1985	-32	126	Nullarbor		35.4 5	18.5 4	14.8 6	16.8 5	11.7 2	5.2 9			7.98	2.8 4	7.21		

MEE.2	WAM	Cocklebiddy	1985	-32	126	Nullarbor		37.2 4	20.7 4	15.0 5	16.9 7	12.6 6	5.9	6.2 2		8.19	3.1 5	8.9		
MEE.3	WAM	Cocklebiddy	1985	-32	126	Nullarbor		38.1 4	20.6 3	15.7	17.8 1	12.6 1	5.9 7	6.6		8.59	3.4 1	9.11		
MEE.4	WAM	Cocklebiddy	1985	-32	126	Nullarbor												9.07		
MEE.5	WAM	Cocklebiddy	1985	-32	126	Nullarbor													8.0 6	
MEE.6	WAM	Cocklebiddy	1985	-32	126	Nullarbor			19.6 5	14.5 9			5.4 6	6.4 9	14.3 7	8.62	2.9 9	8.95		
MEE.7	WAM	Cocklebiddy	1985	-32	126	Nullarbor								-			-		8.5 4	12.9 4
MEE.8	WAM	Cocklebiddy	1985	-32	126	Nullarbor													8.1	13.0 7
MEE.9	WAM	Cocklebiddy	1985	-32	126	Nullarbor													8.8 0	
MEE.10	WAM	Cocklebiddy	1985	-32	126	Nullarbor													6.9 7	10.6
MEE.11	WAM	Cocklebiddy	1985	-32	126	Nullarbor		37.8 8	20.4	15.2 9	17.1	12.5	5.6	6.8 3		8.72	3.4	8.89	,	
68.3.81.1	WAM	Eucla Basin	1966	-31.892	127.583	Hampton		0	20.4	14.6	18.4	12.3	5.6	5				9.46		
68.3.81.2	WAM	Eucla Basin	1966	-31.892	127.583	Hampton							,						8.0	13.3
68.3.81.3	WAM	Eucla Basin	1966	-31.892	127.583	Hampton													8.3 E	13.4
68.7.50	WAM	Eucla Basin	1966	-31.892	127.583	Hampton		37.9		15.1	18.0	12.6	5.7	6.8		9.71	3.7	9.51	5	
68.7.51	WAM	Eucla Basin	1966	-31.892	127.583	Hampton		38.0	21.7	15.6	18.5	12.6	6.3	6.5 0		9.21	3.0	8.95		
68.2.301	WAM	Eucla Basin		-31.967	125.918	Nullarbor		37.9	21.0	9 16.0	18.6	0 13.1	6.0	7.1		9.41	3.5	9.14		
68.2.302	WAM	Eucla Basin		-31.967	125.918	Nullarbor		39.3	21.8	6 16.3	17.0	13.2	5.8 o	7.0		9.35	3.5	9.2		
68.2.303	WAM	Eucla Basin		-31.967	125.918	Nullarbor			20.2	0	0		5.6	6.8	15.8	8.51	3.2	9.02		
68.2.304	WAM	Eucla Basin		-31.967	125.918	Nullarbor			18.9				5.5	0	0	8.41	3.0	8.87		
68.2.305	WAM	Eucla Basin		-31.967	125.918	Nullarbor		37.6	20.0	15.4	16.2	11.6	, 5.5 o	6.2		9.02	3.1	8.78		
68.2.306	WAM	Eucla Basin		-31.967	125.918	Nullarbor		ر ا		U	3	0	0	3					8.2	12.0
68.2.307	WAM	Eucla Basin		-31.967	125.918	Nullarbor													8.3 6	12.3
69.7.753	WAM	Eucla Basin		- 31.8890 39	127.8890 36	Hampton		39.4 5	20.6 5	14.6 9	17.6 5	13.1 3	5.5 3	6.9 1	16.1 5	9.5	3.5 1	9.09	0	

73.1.100	WAM	Eucla Basin	1967	-	127.8890	Hampton		37.8	21.9	15.2	17.7		5.8	6.5	9.38	3.1	8.77		
				31.8890	36			6	1	9	4		1	9		6			Ì
				39															
67.4.178	WAM	Eucla Basin	1966	-31.125	127.243	Nullarbor				15.6			5.8				8.93		1
										4									
67.4.179	WAM	Eucla Basin	1966	-31.125	127.243	Nullarbor				15.3			6.0				8.66		
										3			7						1
67.4.180	WAM	Eucla Basin	1966	-31.125	127.243	Nullarbor							6.0						
													8						1
67.4.181	WAM	Eucla Basin	1966	-31.125	127.243	Nullarbor		39.4	20.2	16.5	17.7	13.2	5.8	6.9	8.37	3.2	9.73		
									8	4	3	9	6	7		9			1
67.4.189	WAM	Eucla Basin	1966	-31.125	127.243	Nullarbor			19.7				5.6		8.56	3.2	8.77		
									9							3			ĺ
67.4.295	WAM	Nullarbor Plain	1966	-31.65	127.43	Nullarbor			21.7	15.5	18.2	13.1	5.9				9.55		
									1	4	6	9	4						1
67.4.296	WAM	Nullarbor Plain	1966	-31.65	127.43	Nullarbor							6.3	7.0	9.19	3.3	9.2		
													2	5		6			ĺ
67.4.297	WAM	Nullarbor Plain	1966	-31.65	127.43	Nullarbor			22.2	15.4	17.0	12.5	5.8				9.23		
									4	3	2	7	8						1
67.4.298	WAM	Nullarbor Plain	1966	-31.65	127.43	Nullarbor		38.3	20.1	15.2	16.8	12.1	5.7	6.6	9	3.3	9.41		
07111250			1000	01.00	127710			1	5	8	9	7	9	9	5	4	52		1
67 4 299	ΜΔΜ	Nullarbor Plain	1966	-31 65	127.43	Nullarbor		39.2	21.8	15.1	,	, 13.2	62	5	9.61	31	8 93		
07.4.255	VV/AIVI	Nullarbor Flain	1500	51.05	127.45	i vullar bol		55.2	21.0	13.1		13.2	0.2		5.01	5.1	0.55		1
67 4 200	\A/AN4	Nullarbor Blain	1066	21.65	127 /2	Nullarbor		5	-	2		2				,		01	
07.4.300	VV AIVI		1900	-31.05	127.45	Nullarbor												0.1	ĺ
67 4 201	14/4 5.4	Nullarbor Diain	1066	21.65	127.42	Nullarhor												9	17.0
07.4.501	WAW		1900	-51.05	127.45	Nullarbor												0.4 E	12.8
67.4.202	14/4.5.4	Nullarhar Diain	1000	21.05	127.42	Nullarbar												70	9
67.4.302	WAW	Nullarbor Plain	1966	-31.05	127.43	Nullarbor												7.9	1
67.4.202	14/48.4	Nullaukan Disin	1000	21.05	407.40	Nullanda an												3	12.0
67.4.303	WAW	Nullarbor Plain	1966	-31.05	127.43	Nullarbor												8.3 C	13.8
72.4.002	14/484	Nullaukan Diain		24.65	427.42	Nullauk au											0.52	6	8
72.1.882	WAW	Nullarbor Plain		-31.65	127.43	Nullarbor											8.52		ĺ
72 1 697	WAM	Nullarbor Plain		-31 65	127 43	Nullarbor											9 5 2		
72.1.057	•••			51.05	127.45	i tuliui bol											5.52		ĺ
72.1.696	WAM	Nullarbor Plain		-31.65	127.43	Nullarbor											8.38		
72.1.1114	WAM	Nullarbor Plain		-31.65	127.43	Nullarbor		37.8	21.5	15.7	17.2	12.5	5.7		8.47	3.1	8.89		ĺ
								2		8	6	9	2			4			
WAM1	WAM	3 Bays Island	2013	-26.55	113.65	Yalgoo		37.1	19.4	15.1	17.6	11.7	5.1		9.2	3.3	9.15		
								4	3	3	5	4	5			9			ĺ
WAM2	WAM	3 Bays Island	2013	-26.55	113.65	Yalgoo		39.1	21.4	16.1	18.5	12.9	5.4	7.6	9.63	3.5	8.5		
		-						8	8	3	4	2	4	3		7			1
WAM3	WAM	3 Bays Island	2013	-26.55	113.65	Yalgoo			20.8	15.5			5.2	6.8	9.52	3.3	7.94		
						-			1	5			1	1		6			1
WAM4	WAM	3 Bays Island	2013	-26.55	113.65	Yalgoo		36.9	19.3	14.5	17.3	11.8	5.0	7.5	8.79	3.6	8.42		
		-						4	1	2	1	1	2	1		5			1

WAM5	WAM	3 Bays Island	2013	-26.55	113.65	Yalgoo		40.4	20.9	16.1	18.0	12.7	5.1	7.1	15.8	9.16	3.5	9.52			
								4	2	5	2		6	6	2		3				
WAM6	WAM	3 Bays Island	2013	-26.55	113.65	Yalgoo			20.1	15.1			5.2	6.7		8.52	3.0	8.78			
										5			1	7			9				
WAM7	WAM	3 Bays Island	2013	-26.55	113.65	Yalgoo		37.7	19.6	14.6	17.9	12.8	5.5	6.7		8.34	3.2	8.36			
								9	9	4	6	8	1	2			6				
WAM8	WAM	3 Bays Island	2013	-26.55	113.65	Yalgoo			19.8	15.1	17.7		5.2	6.1		8.75	3.4	8.56			
									5	8	4		3	6			3				
WAM9	WAM	3 Bays Island	2013	-26.55	113.65	Yalgoo		37.3	20.5	14.9	18.1	12.0	5.4			9.1	3.2	8.49			
								9	6	8	3	3	5				5				
WAM10	WAM	3 Bays Island	2013	-26.55	113.65	Yalgoo			19.8				5.2	6.7		8.71	3.0	8.48			
													2	3			4				
WAM11	WAM	3 Bays Island	2013	-26.55	113.65	Yalgoo													7.6	13.2	
						-													6	8	
WAM12	WAM	3 Bays Island	2013	-26.55	113.65	Yalgoo													8.0	13.2	
		,				0													7	1	
WAM13	WAM	3 Bays Island	2013	-26.55	113.65	Yalgoo													8.4	12.7	
																			7	5	
WAM14	WAM	3 Bays Island	2013	-26.55	113.65	Yalgoo		1											8.0	13.9	
																			2	8	
WAM15	WAM	3 Bays Island	2013	-26 55	113 65	Yalgoo													78	12.3	
		o buyo islana	2010	20.00	110.00	. u.Boo													7	3	
WAM16	WAM	3 Bays Island	2013	-26 55	113 65	Yalgoo													8.0	13 3	
	•••	5 Days Island	2015	20.55	115.05	Tuiboo													1	10.0	
W/AM17	ΜΑΜ	3 Bays Island	2013	-26 55	113 65	Valgoo	-												80	12.4	
	W AIVI	5 Days Island	2015	20.55	115.05	Taigoo													0.0	12.4	
\A/AN/19	\A/AN4	2 Pays Island	2012	26 55	112.65	Valgoo													2 0 1	12.2	
VVAIVI10	VVAIVI	5 Days Islallu	2015	-20.55	115.05	raiguu													6.1	13.2	
W/AM10	\A/AN4	2 Pays Island	2012	26 55	112.65	Valgoo													<u> </u>	125	
VVAIVI19	VVAIVI	5 Days Islallu	2015	-20.55	115.05	raiguu													8.0 7	12.5	
WAM20	\A/AN4	2 Pays Island	2012	26 55	112.65	Valgoo													02	12.6	
WAIVI20	VVAIVI	5 Days Islallu	2015	-20.55	115.05	raiguu													0.5	12.0	
14/41/22	14/4.5.4	2 Devis Jaland	2012	26.55	112.05	Valaaa	-		20.7				-		15.0	0.20	2.0	0.11	2	9	
WAIVI25	WAW	5 Days Islanu	2015	-20.55	115.05	raiguu			20.7				5		15.9	9.50	5.0	9.11			
ADDC121/2	14/4 5.4	Quebba Station	1095	24 110	112 425	Companyon	-		5	-					9		2		0.7		
ADR3121/2.	WAW		1902	-24.119	115.455	Carriarvon													0.2		
1	14/48.4	Quality Chatian	1005	24.110	112 125	C												0.62	0		
ADR3121/2.	WAW		1965	-24.119	115.455	Carnarvon												0.02			
2	14/48.4	Canalahia	1007	22.104	112.004	C												0.10			
CARDI	WAW	Cardabia	1987	-23.104	113.804	Carnarvon												9.18			
0.01	14/48.4	Homestead		21.007	111.000	C												0.01			
QCI	WAW	Cape каnge		-21.997	114.096	Carnarvon												8.91			
68 7 50	W/AM	Fucla Basin	1966	-31 892	127 582	Hampton		37 9	1	15.2	17.8	12.4	5 8	65		917	35	9.67		<u> </u>	
00.7.50			1500	51.052	127.303	nampton		57.5		13.2	1/.3	5	ג. ג	5		5.12	2.5	5.07			
68 7 51	\A/AN4	Eucla Basin	1966	-31 802	127 582	Hampton		37.2	21.6	15 /	18.7	12 5	62	63		80	20	9 0 2		<u> </u>	
00.7.51	VV/~\IVI		1300	-31.092	127.303	nampton		57.8	6	1J.4 Q	10.7	2.21 Q	5	5		0.9	2.5	5.00			
70 4 241	\A/AN4	Mundrabilla	1966	-31 866	127 821	Hampton			10.2	15.2	17 /	12 5	5 2	64		8 2	20	8 07			
/0.4.241		Station	1900	-21.000	127.021	nampton			5.5	13.5	17.4	12.5	ס.כ ר	U.4 E		0.5	J.Z 2	0.57			
	1	Jiation	1		I		1	1		1	0		۷ ک	J	1		5	1	1	I	
BAL1	WAM	Eucla Basin	1971	-32.472	123.862	Coolgardie	45.7	43.3	39.4	20.7	15.3	18.4	13.3	5.9	7.0	16.2	9.31	3.2	9.1		
---------------	------------------	------------------	------	---------	----------	------------------	------	------	-----------	------	-----------	-----------	------	----------	----------	------	-------	-----	-------	-----	-------------
							5	4	2	8	3	5	7	6	8	7		7			1
BAL2	WAM	Eucla Basin	1971	-32.472	123.862	Coolgardie			38.9		15.6	18.1	12.2	5.4	7.0		9.38	3.4	9.37		[
											8	4	8	3	1			5			1
BAL3	WAM	Eucla Basin	1971	-32.472	123.862	Coolgardie								5.7	6.7		8.21	3.3	8.9		
						-								9	7			2			1
BAL4	WAM	Eucla Basin	1971	-32.472	123.862	Coolgardie														8.3	
																				4	1
BAL5	WAM	Eucla Basin	1971	-32.472	123.862	Coolgardie														8.5	
																				7	1
NR1	WAM	Nullarbor Plain	1989	-31.45	130.896	Nullarbor				21.6	15.9	17.4		5.6	6.8		9.25	3.1	9.85		
										1		5		7	5			9			1
NR2	WAM	Nullarbor Plain	1989	-31.45	130.896	Nullarbor			39.7	21.4	16.0	18.0	12.4	5.4	7.1		8.79	3.2	9.64		· · · · · ·
									2	7	8	1	6	4	9			1			1
NR3	WAM	Nullarbor Plain	1989	-31.45	130.896	Nullarbor			39.0	21.5	15.8	17.9	13.3	6.1	7.0		9.3	3.5	9.55		<u> </u>
									2	3	3		3	9	5			1			1
NR4	WAM	Nullarbor Plain	1989	-31.45	130,896	Nullarbor		45.0	39.6	22.7	16.5	17.2	13.3	5.5	7.7		9.39	3.7	9.29		<u> </u>
	•••		1505	51.45	130.050	i unui boi			8	5	20.5	2	4	1	1		5.55	5.7	5.25		1
73 1 85	WAM	Cocklebiddy		-32	126	Hampton		5		20.5	14.5	17.6	12.7	61	-				89		<u> </u>
75.1.05	•••	coefficiency		52	120	numpton				20.5	8	27.0	12.7	1					0.5		1
68 5 58	ΜΑΜ	Rawlinna		-31 024	125 33	Nullarbor			40.0	21.9	16.3	175	12.6	56			8 7 2	35	9 93		<u> </u>
00.5.50	•••			51.024	125.55	i una boi			40.0	21.5	10.5	5	12.0	2.0 2			0.72	5.5	5.55		1
69 7 583	WAM	Eucla Basin	1962	-32 043	126.096	Coolgardie			373	20.3	16.0		12.6	63	65		92	31	9 1 8		<u> </u>
05.7.505	•••	Euclu Busin	1502	52.045	120.050	coolBaraic			27.5 8	20.5	10.0		6	0.5	0.5		5.2	6	5.10		1
69 7 584	ΜΑΜ	Eucla Basin	1962	-32 043	126.096	Coolgardie			36.6	20.3	15.4	17.2	12.4	53	69		8 89	32	8 84		
05.7.504	W AIVI		1502	52.045	120.050	coolgaraic			50.0	20.5	15.4	17.2 Q	12.4	3.5	0.5 8		0.05	5.2	0.04		1
60 7 501	\A/AN4	Eucla Pacin	1062	22.042	126.006	Coolgardio				5		5	0	5	0					0.2	12.0
05.7.551			1502	-32.043	120.090	coolgalule														0.5	13.0
60 7 502	\A/AN4	Eucla Pasin	1062	22.042	126.006	Coolgardio														95	12.0
09.7.393	VVAIVI		1902	-32.043	120.090	coolgalule														0.5	13.9
4005220	14/4 5.4	Eucla Basin	1094	22 407	124 625	Coolgordio				20.2	15.4	177	12.2	E C	75		0.26	2.4	0 E 0	3	·
ADK352D	WAW	EUCIA DASIII	1964	-52.497	124.055	Coolgalule				20.2	15.4	17.7	15.5	5.0	7.5		9.50	5.4	0.59		1
67.40.04	14/48.4	Fuels Desig	1067	24 700	427.0400	Nullashaa	45.2	40.7	20.2	22	2 45 7	9	4	5	7.4	10.0	0.45	2.2	0.10		<u> </u>
67.10.94	WAW	Eucla Basin	1967	-31.769	127.0198	Nullarbor	45.3	42.7	39.3	22.5	15.7	17.4	12.9	5.5	7.4	16.8	8.15	3.3	9.12		1
	D A A A A	- 18 11 1	1020	22.45	400.0007		5	6	5	1	5	1	6	3	2	3	0.5	6	0.5		
L jonesi Type	BIMINH	Franklin Islands	1920	-32.45	133.6667	Eyre Yorke Block	45.9			23.1				5.6			8.5		9.5		1
(B.M.21.7.3.																					i i
2)			100		101.07													L			I
M.3062	AM	Ooldea	1921	-30.45	131.68	Nullarbor	45.4			20.4							9.2		9.3		i i
(measured																					i i
by																					i i
Troughton)	1		1				1														i i

5 Supplementary Information 2

6 Wilcoxon rank sum test pairwise comparison of skull size (geometric mean) per IBRA Region. Significant p-values are indicated in bold.

	Carnarvon	Coolgardie	Darling Riverine Plains	Eyre Yorke Block	Flinders Lofty Block	Hampton	Murchison	Nullarbor	Riverina	Simpson Strzelecki Dunefields	Stony Plains
Coolgardie	0.49530957	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Darling Riverine Plains	0.15252101	0.25226947	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Eyre Yorke Block	4.82E-05	2.64E-05	0.59747546	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Flinders Lofty Block	0.15816205	0.34375	0.4852071	0.00157834	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Hampton	0.7806597	0.7806597	0.15816205	1.32E-05	0.15816205	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Murchison	0.75428571	0.78571429	1	0.37010709	1	0.77484277	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Nullarbor	0.34375	0.77075623	0.25226947	4.97E-08	0.59747546	0.37010709	0.94015885	NA	NA	NA	NA
Riverina	0.4852071	0.34375	0.6875	0.34375	0.36363636	0.49530957	1	0.34375	NA	NA	NA
Simpson Strzelecki Dunefields	0.01540616	0.01208791	0.75428571	1	0.03767661	0.00237018	0.51162791	0.02172944	0.51162791	NA	NA
Stony Plains	0.4852071	0.34375	1	0.82173175	0.54545455	0.34375	1	0.34375	1	1	NA
Yalgoo	0.4852071	0.11537346	0.05535615	1.90E-11	0.01455582	0.34375	0.68652482	0.00204808	0.77484277	0.00048456	0.15816205

- 11 Supplementary Information 3
- 12
- 13 Comparisons of specimens from each IBRA Region using greatest length of the skull (GLS)
- 14 (A), upper (MTR) (B) and lower (mTR) (C) tooth rows as proxies for body size.
 - А



IBRA Region

16	
17 18	Chapter 3
10	Sourcesise ment in a new model encourism in the channel of field mean device a Discouries.
19	Sex assignment in a non-model organism in the absence of field records using Diversity
20	Arrays Technology (DArT) data
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Sex assignment in a non-r using Diversi	nodel organism in the absence of field records ty Arrays Technology (DArT) data
Publication Status	x Published	Accepted for Publication
	Submitted for Publication	Unpublished and Unsubmitted w ork w ritten in manuscript style
Publication Details	Onley, I.R., Austin, J.J. & Mitche absence of field records using E Genet Resour 13, 255–260 (;	II, K.J. Sex assignment in a non-model organism in the Diversity Arrays Technology (DArT) data. Conservation 2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12686-021-01203-w

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Isabelle Onley		
Contribution to the Paper	Isabelle coordinated submis analysed data, drafted the abstr discussion, and acted as	sion of sa ract, intro correspo	amples to DArT, duction, results and nding author.
Overall percentage (%)	70%		
Certification:	This paper reports on original research I conduct Research candidature and is not subject to any third party that would constrain its inclusion in this	ted during obligation thesis. I a	the period of my Higher Degree by s or contractual agreements with a m the primary author of this paper.
Signature		Date	13/09/2021

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Kieren Mitchell			
Contribution to the Paper	Kieren analys figures and	ed the data, drafted the ma d provided feedback on the	aterials, n e final ma	nethods and nuscript.
Signature			Date	14/09/2021

Name of Co-Author	Jeremy Austin			
Contribution to the Paper	Jeremy coordina provided feed	ated the submissior dback and editing o	n of samp in the fina	les to DArT, and I manuscript.
Signature			Date	18/10/21
Please cut and paste additional co-author	or panels here as required.			

METHODS AND RESOURCES ARTICLE



Sex assignment in a non-model organism in the absence of field records using Diversity Arrays Technology (DArT) data

Isabelle R. Onley¹ · Jeremy J. Austin¹ · Kieren J. Mitchell^{1,2}

Received: 20 November 2020 / Accepted: 1 March 2021 / Published online: 9 March 2021 © The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Springer Nature B.V. 2021

Abstract

Conservation genomics research often relies on accurate sex information to make inferences about species demography, dispersal, and population structure. However, field determined sex data are not always available and can be subject to human error, while laboratory sex assignment methods such as PCR assays can often be costly and challenging for non-model species. Conservation genomics programs increasingly use reduced-representation genome sequencing to assess neutral and functional genetic diversity, population structure, gene flow and pedigrees in threatened species. Here we demonstrate that sex can be determined from reduced-representation sequencing data produced by the increasingly popular Diversity Arrays Technology sequencing workflow (DArT-seq) using a program originally designed for application to shotgun data. This program—*sexassign*—compares the "dosage" of sequencing reads mapping to autosomes versus the X chromosome. In the present study, *sexassign* was used to identify the sex of 60 field-collected Greater Stick-Nest Rat (*Leporillus conditor*) samples, despite the absence of an annotated reference genome for the species. This "read-dosage" approach is not only more accurate and affordable than traditional sex assignment methods, but can be applied to any diploid organism with a heterogametic sex determination system—including non-model and understudied species of conservation importance—by using FASTQs generated by DArT.

Keywords Conservation genomics · Sex assignment · Bioinformatics · DArT-seq

Introduction

Accurate sex assignment is an integral aspect of conservation genomics research, particularly when studying parameters such as relatedness, dispersal, and philopatry. Sexing of individuals used in conservation genomics studies typically takes place in the field at the time of collection. However, sex assignments recorded in the field are not always reliable and there is a wide margin for human error, particularly for species that do not demonstrate sexual dimorphism or when researchers are working in difficult conditions. Further, field records can easily be lost or incorrectly transcribed during

☑ Isabelle R. Onley isabelle.onley@adelaide.edu.au

¹ Australian Centre for Ancient DNA (ACAD), School of Biological Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia

² ARC Centre of Excellence for Australian Biodiversity and Heritage (CABAH), School of Biological Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia trapping and monitoring. Genetic sex assignment is a favourable alternative or complement to field identification, as it is an objective, highly standardised, and accurate approach that eliminates the possibility of upstream sex misidentification confounding genomic studies (Hrovatin and Kunej 2017).

While PCR-based sex identification methods have been used for several decades to identify and amplify sex chromosomes in individual samples (Akane et al. 1992; Clapcote and Roder 2005; McFarlane et al. 2013), such processes can be time consuming and expensive. In addition, they require taxon-specific primers that are not always available or applicable to the target species. With the advent of highthroughput sequencing (HTS) technology it is now possible to produce high-resolution genomic data that may allow researchers to determine the sex of sequenced individuals bioinformatically. For example, single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the genome can often be linked to the sex chromosomes in model organisms, allowing sex to be determined on chromosomal presence-absence basis (Fowler and Buonaccorsi 2016; Lambert et al. 2016). For non-model organisms where a well-assembled and well-annotated

reference genome is unavailable, the overall "dosage" of sequencing reads mapping to the sex chromosomes can be assessed to determine whether the individual is heterogametic or homogametic and thus to identify the sex (Bover et al. 2018; Gamble 2016; Gower et al. 2019; Pečnerová et al. 2017).

Read-dosage-based approaches to sex assignment have only been applied using shotgun sequencing data, where molecules are randomly sampled and sequenced (Flamingh et al. 2020; Motahari et al. 2013; Skoglund et al. 2013). However, many conservation programs employ reducedrepresentation sequencing approaches (e.g. RADseq), where sequenced molecules belong to a subset of genomic loci. One commercial provider of reduced-representation sequencing that is growing in popularity in the conservation genomics field is Diversity Arrays Technology (DArT) (Cummins et al. 2019; Ewart et al. 2019; Pazmiño et al. 2018; Sansaloni et al. 2011; Schultz et al. 2018; van Deventer et al. 2020). The DArT workflow uses restriction enzymes to reduce genomic complexity, allowing identification of informative markers that are subsequently sequenced for all submitted samples (Kilian et al. 2012). However, despite the growing popularity of DArT for conservation genomics projects, no simple and widely applicable sex-assignment framework has emerged that can be applied to DArT data. In the present study we apply a read-dosage sex-determination approach to DArT data from an Australian rodent, the Greater Stick-Nest Rat (Leporillus conditor), and demonstrate that-despite being originally designed for application to shotgun datathis method remains robust when applied to FASTQ files generated as part of the DArT workflow.

Materials and methods

DNA submitted to DArT was extracted from 60 L. condi*tor* tissue samples collected by staff during routine trapping events at Arid Recovery Reserve, South Australia, between 1999 and 2003. DNA extraction was completed following the methods described by Barclay et al. (2006) and samples were subsequently stored at -20 °C prior to sequencing by DArT. Following library preparation and sequencing by DArT using their proprietary workflow, we obtained the raw Illumina data in FASTQ format. We used the Paleomix v1.2.14 pipeline to process these data: AdapterRemoval2 v2.3.1 was used to trim residual adapter sequences (using default parameters) and filter reads shorter than 30 bp, after which all remaining reads were mapped against the repeatmasked house mouse genome assembly (GRCm38) using BWA v0.7.17 mem algorithm. We then used the idxstats command in SAMtools v1.10 to extract the number of reads mapping to each scaffold of the reference assembly.

To determine the sex of the Greater Stick-Nest Rat samples we used Gower et al.'s (2019) python script sexassign (https://github.com/grahamgower/sexassign), which uses a likelihood ratio test to assign samples to either male or female on the basis of the observed ratio of reads mapping to the X chromosome versus the autosomes. Following Gower et al. (2019), X chromosome read-dosage is used in preference to the Y chromosome because references for the latter are either unavailable or poorly assembled for most species (Janečka et al. 2018). However, sexassign assumes that the X chromosome in homogametes (females, in this case) should receive the same read-dosage as an autosome of the same length (i.e. read dosage of ~1X versus ~0.5Xin heterogametic males), so we first checked that our data conformed to this assumption by visualising read-dosage (proportion of total reads mapped versus scaffold length) for each sample using RStudio v1.3.1073 (Fig. 1). We observed that the mean proportion of reads mapping to the X chromosome (length = 171,031,299 bp) for the putatively female samples (0.0308) was substantially lower than the expectation (0.0656) based on the relationship between the proportion of reads mapped and scaffold length inferred from the autosomes, perhaps due to the DArT marker-selection and filtering process or a depletion of the restriction motif on the X chromosome. Consequently, before proceeding with analysis using *sexassign* we first multiplied the number of reads mapping to the X chromosome for all samples (regardless of putative sex) by a factor of 2.12 (the expected readdosage for the X chromosome in a female, 0.0656, divided by the observed mean read-dosage for the X chromosome in the putatively female samples, 0.0308).

Results

The proportion of reads mapping to each of the autosomes was highly consistent between samples (Fig. 1). Further, autosomal read-dosage appeared to be positively correlated with scaffold length, as expected if restriction motifs are randomly distributed. We tested this correlation by performing a linear regression in RStudio (proportion of reads ~ scaffold length), which resulted in a slope coefficient of $3.833e^{-10}$ (adjusted $R^2 = 0.7$, p < $2e^{-16}$). Unlike the autosomes, values for the proportion of reads mapping to the X chromosome formed two clusters, putatively representing females (with higher read-dosage values) and males (with lower read-dosage values).

The read-dosage sex-assignment program (*sexas-sign*) allowed us to successfully assign all individuals in the dataset as either male (heterogametic, XY; X read-dosage = ~ 0.5 X) or female (homogametic, XX; X read-dosage = ~ 1 X, Fig. 2, Table 1). Of the 60 individuals sequenced, 33 were determined to be female and 27 to be

Fig. 1 Proportion of reads mapped to autosomes and the X chromosome in the *L. conditor* DArT dataset. Colour/symbol combinations represent different individuals. Read dosage of autosomes was positively correlated with scaffold length, while reads for the X chromosome form two distinct "dosage" clusters indicative of homogametic (XX) and heterogametic (XY) individuals



male, consistent with the typical sex ratio in rodent populations under normal conditions (Labov et al. 1986; Rosenfeld et al. 2003). Genetic sex assignment had a ~94% concurrence rate with field determined sex, a typical human error margin considering the lack of obvious sexual dimorphism within the species and the difficulty of accurately sexing rodents in the field, particularly during non-reproductive periods (Hoffmann et al. 2010; Jacques et al. 2015).

Discussion

Our results demonstrate that the FASTQ-formatted data routinely generated by Diversity Arrays Technology (DArT) as an intermediate step in their workflow can reliably be used to determine the sex of samples from nonmodel organisms, confirming or replacing field-based sex identification and eliminating the need for additional costly laboratory sexing analyses. Importantly, a reference genome from the species of interest does not appear to be necessary, as we obtained robust results by mapping our data to the reference assembly for the house mouse (*Mus* *musculus*), which shared a common ancestor with *L. conditor* 10 million years ago (Steppan and Schenk 2017). While the house mouse genome is assembled to the chromosome-level, making identification of reads mapping to the X chromosome straightforward, this approach should also work with scaffold-level reference assemblies.

Gower et al. (2019) identified X-linked scaffolds in the polar bear genome (UrsMar1.0) by first mapping all scaffolds against the chromosome-level dog reference assembly (CanFam3.1), then applied *sexassign* to shotgun sequencing data from a third species—brown bears (*Ursus arctos*)—that they mapped to the putative polar bear X-linked scaffolds. Given that scaffold-level assemblies are increasingly available for a wide range of taxa, our results suggest that most DArT end-users working on mammals should be able use their FASTQ data to determine the sex of their samples. Indeed, the read-dosage approach to sex assignment should be applicable to any diploid organism with a heterogametic sex-determination system, such as birds, lizards, and many invertebrates, regardless of which sex is homogametic.



Fig. 2 Plot of X chromosome read dosages for all sequenced *L. conditor* individuals, with confidence intervals for male heterogametes (red) and female homogametes (blue)

 Table 1
 Results of DNA-based sex assignment using sexassign compared to sex determined in the field for 60 greater stick-nest rats

ET002nd0.474M26,392802,947ET101nd0.962F23,290349,580ET102nd0.480M12,663380,070ET103nd0.953F25,446385,924ET106M0.515M12,856359,385ET119F0.930F60,581941,980ET133F0.963F26,462396,880ET146M0.517M8416234,263ET147F0.979F26,407388,782ET147Bnd0.976F12,858190,022ET148M0.507M14,526412,334ET151F0.975F24,507362,393ET152F1.002F28,024402,617ET153nd0.970F26,335391,810ET154nd0.946F25,894395,471ET155nd0.482M14,054420,275ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121<	ID^\dagger	Field sex	M_X^{\ddagger}	Sex	$N_X^{\$}$	N_A^{\P}
ET101nd0.962F23,290349,580ET102nd0.480M12,663380,070ET103nd0.953F25,446385,924ET106M0.515M12,856359,385ET119F0.930F60,581941,980ET133F0.963F26,462396,880ET146M0.517M8416234,263ET147F0.979F26,407388,782ET147Bnd0.976F12,858190,022ET148M0.507M14,526412,334ET151F0.975F24,507362,393ET152F1.002F28,024402,617ET153nd0.970F26,335391,810ET154nd0.946F25,894395,471ET155nd0.482M14,054420,275ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163nd0.473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121<	ET002	nd	0.474	М	26,392	802,947
ET102nd0.480M12,663380,070ET103nd0.953F25,446385,924ET106M0.515M12,856359,385ET119F0.930F60,581941,980ET133F0.963F26,462396,880ET146M0.517M8416234,263ET147F0.979F26,407388,782ET147Bnd0.976F12,858190,022ET148M0.507M14,526412,334ET149F1.020F29,618417,327ET151F0.975F24,507362,393ET152F1.002F28,024402,617ET153nd0.970F26,335391,810ET154nd0.946F25,894395,471ET155nd0.482M14,054420,275ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163nd0.942F58,158892,183ET177F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121 <tr<< td=""><td>ET101</td><td>nd</td><td>0.962</td><td>F</td><td>23,290</td><td>349,580</td></tr<<>	ET101	nd	0.962	F	23,290	349,580
ET103nd0.953F25,446385,924ET106M0.515M12,856359,385ET119F0.930F60,581941,980ET133F0.963F26,462396,880ET146M0.517M8416234,263ET147F0.979F26,407388,782ET147F0.979F26,407388,782ET147R0.976F12,858190,022ET148M0.507M14,526412,334ET149F1.020F29,618417,327ET151F0.975F24,507362,393ET152F1.002F28,024402,617ET153nd0.970F26,335391,810ET154nd0.946F25,894395,471ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163Bnd0.473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET102	nd	0.480	М	12,663	380,070
ET106M0.515M12,856359,385ET119F0.930F60,581941,980ET133F0.963F26,462396,880ET146M0.517M8416234,263ET147F0.979F26,407388,782ET147F0.976F12,858190,022ET148M0.507M14,526412,334ET149F1.020F29,618417,327ET151F0.975F24,507362,393ET152F1.002F28,024402,617ET153nd0.970F26,335391,810ET154nd0.946F25,894395,471ET155nd0.482M14,054420,275ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163Bnd0.473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET103	nd	0.953	F	25,446	385,924
ET119F0.930F60,581941,980ET133F0.963F26,462396,880ET146M0.517M8416234,263ET147F0.979F26,407388,782ET147R0.976F12,858190,022ET148M0.507M14,526412,334ET149F1.020F29,618417,327ET151F0.975F24,507362,393ET152F1.002F28,024402,617ET153nd0.970F26,335391,810ET154nd0.946F25,894395,471ET155nd0.482M14,054420,275ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163nd0.942F58,158892,183ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET106	М	0.515	М	12,856	359,385
ET133F0.963F26,462396,880ET146M0.517M8416234,263ET147F0.979F26,407388,782ET147Bnd0.976F12,858190,022ET148M0.507M14,526412,334ET149F1.020F29,618417,327ET151F0.975F24,507362,393ET152F1.002F28,024402,617ET153nd0.970F26,335391,810ET154nd0.946F25,894395,471ET155nd0.482M14,054420,275ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163nd0.473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET119	F	0.930	F	60,581	941,980
ET146M0.517M8416234,263ET147F0.979F26,407388,782ET147Bnd0.976F12,858190,022ET148M0.507M14,526412,334ET149F1.020F29,618417,327ET151F0.975F24,507362,393ET152F1.002F28,024402,617ET153nd0.970F26,335391,810ET154nd0.946F25,894395,471ET155nd0.482M14,054420,275ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163Rd0.9473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926 </td <td>ET133</td> <td>F</td> <td>0.963</td> <td>F</td> <td>26,462</td> <td>396,880</td>	ET133	F	0.963	F	26,462	396,880
ET147F0.979F26,407388,782ET147Bnd0.976F12,858190,022ET148M0.507M14,526412,334ET149F1.020F29,618417,327ET151F0.975F24,507362,393ET152F1.002F28,024402,617ET153nd0.970F26,335391,810ET154nd0.946F25,894395,471ET155nd0.482M14,054420,275ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163Bnd0.947M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET146	М	0.517	М	8416	234,263
ET147Bnd0.976F12,858190,022ET148M0.507M14,526412,334ET149F1.020F29,618417,327ET151F0.975F24,507362,393ET152F1.002F28,024402,617ET153nd0.970F26,335391,810ET154nd0.946F25,894395,471ET155nd0.482M14,054420,275ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163Bnd0.473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET147	F	0.979	F	26,407	388,782
ET148M0.507M14,526412,334ET149F1.020F29,618417,327ET151F0.975F24,507362,393ET152F1.002F28,024402,617ET153nd0.970F26,335391,810ET154nd0.946F25,894395,471ET155nd0.482M14,054420,275ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163Bnd0.473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET147B	nd	0.976	F	12,858	190,022
ET149F1.020F29,618417,327ET151F0.975F24,507362,393ET152F1.002F28,024402,617ET153nd0.970F26,335391,810ET154nd0.946F25,894395,471ET155nd0.482M14,054420,275ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163Bnd0.473M14,299436,150ET177F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET148	М	0.507	М	14,526	412,334
ET151F0.975F24,507362,393ET152F1.002F28,024402,617ET153nd0.970F26,335391,810ET154nd0.946F25,894395,471ET155nd0.482M14,054420,275ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163Bnd0.473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET149	F	1.020	F	29,618	417,327
ET152F1.002F28,024402,617ET153nd0.970F26,335391,810ET154nd0.946F25,894395,471ET155nd0.482M14,054420,275ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163Bnd0.473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET151	F	0.975	F	24,507	362,393
ET153nd0.970F26,335391,810ET154nd0.946F25,894395,471ET155nd0.482M14,054420,275ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163Bnd0.473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET152	F	1.002	F	28,024	402,617
ET154nd0.946F25,894395,471ET155nd0.482M14,054420,275ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163Bnd0.473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET153	nd	0.970	F	26,335	391,810
ET155nd0.482M14,054420,275ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163Bnd0.473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET154	nd	0.946	F	25,894	395,471
ET157M1.026F28,484399,170ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163Bnd0.473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET155	nd	0.482	М	14,054	420,275
ET158nd0.950F26,525403,485ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163Bnd0.473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET157	М	1.026	F	28,484	399,170
ET162nd0.503M13,867397,200ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163Bnd0.473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET158	nd	0.950	F	26,525	403,485
ET163nd0.946F24,215370,137ET163Bnd0.473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET162	nd	0.503	М	13,867	397,200
ET163Bnd0.473M14,299436,150ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET163	nd	0.946	F	24,215	370,137
ET17F0.942F58,158892,183ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET163B	nd	0.473	М	14,299	436,150
ET173F0.956F27,789419,868ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET17	F	0.942	F	58,158	892,183
ET176F0.938F22,451346,121ET177nd0.952F26,275398,926	ET173	F	0.956	F	27,789	419,868
ET177 nd 0.952 F 26,275 398,926	ET176	F	0.938	F	22,451	346,121
	ET177	nd	0.952	F	26,275	398,926
ET18 F 0.905 F 39,676 635,045	ET18	F	0.905	F	39,676	635,045
ET183 nd 0.495 M 13,220 384,279	ET183	nd	0.495	М	13,220	384,279
ET184 nd 0.487 M 32,640 966,813	ET184	nd	0.487	М	32,640	966,813
ET185 F 1.010 F 26,952 384,146	ET185	F	1.010	F	26,952	384,146
ET186 nd 0.473 M 28,294 863,292	ET186	nd	0.473	М	28,294	863,292
ET187 nd 0.996 F 25,964 375,434	ET187	nd	0.996	F	25,964	375,434
ET188 nd 0.503 M 12,563 359,345	ET188	nd	0.503	М	12,563	359,345
ET189 nd 0.972 F 22,913 339,929	ET189	nd	0.972	F	22,913	339,929
ET192 M 0.500 M 14,444 416,297	ET192	М	0.500	Μ	14,444	416,297
ET193 M 0.489 M 13,108 386,485	ET193	М	0.489	Μ	13,108	386,485
ET195 nd 0.960 F 25,194 378,761	ET195	nd	0.960	F	25,194	378,761
ET196 F 0.977 F 27,030 398,915	ET196	F	0.977	F	27,030	398,915
ET198 M 0.512 M 28,970 813,496	ET198	М	0.512	Μ	28,970	813,496
ET198B nd 0.484 M 12,733 378,965	ET198B	nd	0.484	М	12,733	378,965
ET203 M 0.475 M 11,469 348,138	ET203	М	0.475	М	11,469	348,138
ET209 F 0.971 F 25,533 379,373	ET209	F	0.971	F	25,533	379,373
ET217 M 0.480 M 13,460 404,344	ET217	М	0.480	М	13,460	404,344
ET231 nd 0.493 M 12,745 372,720	ET231	nd	0.493	М	12,745	372,720
ET233 nd 0.480 M 12,353 370,852	ET233	nd	0.480	М	12,353	370,852
ET255 F 0.952 F 24,282 368,459	ET255	F	0.952	F	24,282	368,459
ET259 M 0.478 M 11,357 342,534	ET259	М	0.478	М	11,357	342,534
ET261 F 0.958 F 26,557 400,394	ET261	F	0.958	F	26,557	400,394
ET277 M 0.488 M 29,029 857,827	ET277	М	0.488	М	29,029	857,827

Table 1 (c	ontinued)				
ID^\dagger	Field sex	M_X^{\ddagger}	Sex	$N_X^{\$}$	NA
ET29	F	0.939	F	30,250	465,742
ET29B	nd	0.959	F	23,511	354,200
ET3	F	0.991	F	27,316	397,077
ET32	М	0.509	М	13,059	369,309
ET37	Μ	0.467	М	26,816	828,029
ET5	Μ	0.491	М	27,564	809,456
ET50	F	0.485	М	11,802	350,729
ET50.2	nd	0.981	F	23,708	348,582
ET5967	nd	0.958	F	26,131	393,719
ET61	М	0.491	М	7566	222,226
ET62	F	0.987	F	36,015	526,076

The length of the X chromosome was 171,031,299 bp and the total length of the autosomes was 2,462,745,373 bp (Gower 2019)

[†]ID = ear tag number for *L. conditor* individual, *nd* not determined [‡]M_X = read dosage on X chromosome

 ${}^{\$}N_{X}$ = count of reads mapped to the X chromosome (after multiplying by 2.12)

 ${}^{\P}N_{A}$ = count of reads mapped to the autosome

Acknowledgements The authors wish to acknowledge and thank Dr Katherine Moseby, Shaun Barclay, Professor Bill Sherwin, and the staff of Arid Recovery Reserve for supplying the field data and samples used in this study.

Author contributions IRO and JJA coordinated submission of samples to DArT. IRO and KJM analysed the data. IRO drafted the abstract, introduction, results, and discussion. KJM drafted the materials and methods and figures. All authors contributed to the interpretation of results and provided feedback on the final manuscript.

Funding This research was supported by the University of Adelaide and funded by the following organisations and awards; Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship, Nature Foundation South Australia Grand Start Grant (Grant No. 2019–07), Biological Society South Australia/Nature Conservation Society of South Australia Conservation Biology Grant, Field Naturalists Society of South Australia Lirabenda Endowment Fund Research Grant.

Data availability The reads generated for this study have been deposited at the Sequence Read Archive (NCBI) with BioProject ID PRJNA702840 (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/bioproject/702840).

Code availability The original code can be found on Dr Graham Gower's GitHub repository https://github.com/grahamgower/sexassign.

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflict of interest The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Ethical approval Live animal trapping and sampling at Arid Recovery was conducted under South Australian Wildlife Ethics Committee permit numbers 27/98, 4/99, 22/99, 2/2000, 19/2000, and 18/2000.

Consent to publish The authors give consent for the publication of this manuscript.

References

- Akane A, Seki S, Shiono H, Nakamura H, Hasegawa M, Kagawa M, Matsubara K, Nakahori Y, Nagafuchi S, Nakagome Y (1992) Sex determination of forensic samples by dual PCR amplification of an X-Y homologous gene. Forensic Sci Int 52(2):143–148. https ://doi.org/10.1016/0379-0738(92)90102-3
- Barclay SD, Costello B, Sherwin WB (2006) Limited cross-species microsatellite amplification and the isolation and characterization of new microsatellite markers for the greater stick-nest rat (*Leporillus conditor*). Mol Ecol Notes 6(3):882–885
- Bover P, Llamas B, Thomson VA, Pons J, Cooper A, Mitchell KJ (2018) Molecular resolution to a morphological controversy: the case of North American fossil muskoxen bootherium and symbos. Mol Phylogenet Evol 129:70–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev .2018.08.008
- Clapcote SJ, Roder JC (2005) Simplex PCR assay for sex determination in mice. Biotechniques 38(5):702–706. https://doi. org/10.2144/05385BM05
- Cummins D, Kennington WJ, Rudin-Bitterli T, Mitchell NJ (2019) A genome-wide search for local adaptation in a terrestrial-breeding frog reveals vulnerability to climate change. Glob Change Biol 25(9):3151–3162. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14703
- Ewart KM, Johnson RN, Ogden R, Joseph L, Frankham GJ, Lo N (2019) Museum specimens provide reliable SNP data for population genomic analysis of a widely distributed but threatened cockatoo species. Mol Ecol Resour 19(6):1578–1592. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.13082
- Flamingh de A, Coutu A, Roca AL, Malhi RS (2020) Accurate sex identification of ancient elephant and other animal remains using low-coverage DNA shotgun sequencing data. Genes Genom Genet 10(4):1427–1432. https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.119.400833
- Fowler BLS, Buonaccorsi VP (2016) Genomic characterization of sex-identification markers in *Sebastes carnatus* and *Sebastes chrysomelas* rockfishes. Mol Ecol 25(10):2165–2175. https://doi. org/10.1111/mec.13594
- Gamble T (2016) Using RAD-seq to recognize sex-specific markers and sex chromosome systems. Mol Ecol 25(10):2114–2116. https ://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13648
- Gowe G (2019) Inferring the charactersitics of ancient populations using bioinformatic analysis of genome-wide DNA sequencing data [doctoral dissertation]. University of Adelaide
- Gower G, Fenderson LE, Salis AT, Helgen KM, van Loenen AL, Heiniger H, Hofman-Kamińska E, Kowalczyk R, Mitchell KJ, Llamas B, Cooper A (2019) Widespread male sex bias in mammal fossil and museum collections. Proc Natl Acad Sci 116(38):19019– 19024. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1903275116
- Hoffmann A, Decher J, Rovero F, Schaer J, Voigt C, Wibbelt G (2010)Field methods and techniques for monitoring mammals. ManField Rec Tech Protoc All Taxa Biodivers Invent 8:482–529
- Hrovatin K, Kunej T (2017) Genetic sex determination assays in 53 mammalian species: literature analysis and guidelines for reporting standardization. Ecol Evol 8(2):1009–1018. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.3707
- Jacques M-E, McBee K, Elmore D (2015) Determining sex and reproductive status of rodents. Cooperative Extension Service, Oklahoma
- Janečka JE, Davis BW, Ghosh S, Paria N, Das PJ, Orlando L, Schubert M, Nielsen MK, Stout TAE, Brashear W, Li G, Johnson CD, Metz RP, Zadjali AMA, Love CC, Varner DD, Bellott DW, Murphy WJ, Chowdhary BP, Raudsepp T (2018) Horse Y chromosome assembly displays unique evolutionary features and putative stallion fertility genes. Nat Commun 9(1):2945. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-018-05290-6

- Kilian A, Wenzl P, Huttner E, Carling J, Xia L, Blois H, Caig V, Heller-Uszynska K, Jaccoud D, Hopper C, Aschenbrenner-Kilian M, Evers M, Peng K, Cayla C, Hok P, Uszynski G (2012) Diversity arrays technology: a generic genome profiling technology on open platforms. In: Pompanon F, Bonin A (eds) Data production and analysis in population genomics: methods and protocols. Humana Press, Totowa, pp 67–89. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-61779 -870-2_5
- Labov JB, William Huck U, Vaswani P, Lisk RD (1986) Sex ratio manipulation and decreased growth of male offspring of undernourished golden hamsters (*Mesocricetus auratus*). Behav Ecol Sociobiol 18(4):241–249. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00300000
- Lambert MR, Skelly DK, Ezaz T (2016) Sex-linked markers in the North American green frog (Rana clamitans) developed using DArTseq provide early insight into sex chromosome evolution. BMC Genom 17(1):844. https://doi.org/10.1186/s1286 4-016-3209-x
- McFarlane L, Truong V, Palmer JS, Wilhelm D (2013) Novel PCR assay for determining the genetic sex of mice. Sex Dev 7(4):207– 211. https://doi.org/10.1159/000348677
- Motahari AS, Bresler G, Tse DNC (2013) Information Theory of DNA shotgun sequencing. IEEE Trans Inf Theory 59(10):6273–6289. https://doi.org/10.1109/TIT.2013.2270273
- Pazmiño DA, Maes GE, Green ME, Simpfendorfer CA, Hoyos-Padilla EM, Duffy CJA, Meyer CG, Kerwath SE, Salinas-de-León P, van Herwerden L (2018) Strong trans-Pacific break and local conservation units in the Galapagos shark (*Carcharhinus galapagensis*) revealed by genome-wide cytonuclear markers. Heredity 120(5):407–421. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41437-017-0025-2
- Pečnerová P, Díez-del-Molino D, Dussex N, Feuerborn T, von Seth J, van der Plicht J, Nikolskiy P, Tikhonov A, Vartanyan S, Dalén L (2017) Genome-based sexing provides clues about behavior and social structure in the woolly mammoth. Curr Biol 27(22):3505-3510.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.09.064
- Rosenfeld CS, Grimm KM, Livingston KA, Brokman AM, Lamberson WE, Roberts RM (2003) Striking variation in the sex ratio of pups born to mice according to whether maternal diet is high in fat or carbohydrate. Proc Natl Acad Sci 100(8):4628–4632. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.0330808100
- Sansaloni C, Petroli C, Jaccoud D, Carling J, Detering F, Grattapaglia D, Kilian A (2011) Diversity arrays technology (DArT) and next-generation sequencing combined: genome-wide, high throughput, highly informative genotyping for molecular breeding of Eucalyptus. BMC Proc 5(7):1–2. https://doi. org/10.1186/1753-6561-5-S7-P54
- Schultz AJ, Cristescu RH, Littleford-Colquhoun BL, Jaccoud D, Frère CH (2018) Fresh is best: accurate SNP genotyping from koala scats. Ecol Evol 8(6):3139–3151. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ece3.3765
- Skoglund P, Storå J, Götherström A, Jakobsson M (2013) Accurate sex identification of ancient human remains using DNA shotgun sequencing. J Archaeol Sci 40(12):4477–4482. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jas.2013.07.004
- Steppan SJ, Schenk JJ (2017) Muroid rodent phylogenetics: 900-species tree reveals increasing diversification rates. PLoS ONE 12(8):e0183070. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183070
- van Deventer R, Rhode C, Marx M, Roodt-Wilding R (2020) The development of genome-wide single nucleotide polymorphisms in blue wildebeest using the DArTseq platform. Genomics 112(5):3455–3464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygeno.2020.04.032

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

50	Chapter 4
51	
52	Understanding dispersal patterns can inform future translocation strategies: a case study of
53	the threatened greater stick-nest rat (Leporillus conditor)
54	

Statement	of	Authorship
Statement		Authorship

Tille of Paper	Understanding dispersal patte threatened greater stick-nest	erns can inform future rat (Leporillus condito	e translocat Dr)	ion strategies: A case study of the			
Publication Status	X Published Accepted for Publication						
	Submitted for Publicati	Unpu mane	ubliished au uscriipt styl	nd Unsubmitted work written in le			
Publication Details	Onley, LR., Austin, J.J., Mitch patterns can inform future trai nest rat (Leporillus conditor). /	ell, K.J. and Moseby, islocation strategies: Austral Ecology. http:	, K.E. (202 A case stu s://doi.org/1	1), Understanding dispersal ady of the threatened greater stick- 10.1111/aec.13100			
Principal Author							
Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Isabelle Onley						
Contribution to the Paper	Isabelle developed the mett and acted as corresponding	nodology, collected a author.	nd analyse	d the data, draited the manuscript			
Overall percentage (%)	80%						
Certification:	This paper reports on origin Research candidature and is party that would constrain its	al research I conduc a not subject to any of a inclusion in this thes	cted during bligations o sis. Lam the	the period of my Higher Degree by r contractual agreements with a third e primary author of this paper.			
Signature			Date	13/09/2021			
By signing the Statement of Authorship i. the candidate's stated contr ii. permission is granted for th iii. the sum of all co-author con), each author certifies that: ribution to the publication is acc e candidate in include the publi ntributions is equal to 100% less	urate (as detailed ab cation in the thesis; a s the candidate's stat	ove); ind ied contribu	ition.			
Name of Co-Author	Jeremy Austin						
Contribution to the Paper	Jeremy supervised the colle editing of the manuscript.	ection and analysis of	fdata and d	contributed to the development and			
Signature			Date	18/10/21			
Name of Co-Author	Katherine Moseby						
Contribution to the Paper	Katherine provided access editing and development of	to data, supported the he manuscript.	e analysis o	of the data and assisted with the			

Name of Co-Author	Kieren Mitchell
Contribution to the Paper	Kieren assisted with data analysis and development of the manuscript.
Signature	Date 14/09/2021

Austral Ecology (2022) 47, 203-215

Understanding dispersal patterns can inform future translocation strategies: A case study of the threatened greater stick-nest rat (*Leporillus conditor*)

ISABELLE R. ONLEY,*¹ D JEREMY J. AUSTIN,¹ KIEREN J. MITCHELL^{1,2} AND KATHERINE E. MOSEBY³ D

¹School of Biological Sciences, Australian Centre for Ancient DNA (ACAD), University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia, 5005 (Email: isabelle.onley@adelaide.edu.au); ²School of Biological Sciences, ARC Centre of Excellence for Australian Biodiversity and Heritage (CABAH), University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia; and ³Centre for Ecosystem Sciences, Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of New South Wales, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia

Abstract Dispersal behaviour and sociality are significant factors influencing survival at both the individual and population levels. In translocation and breeding programmes, social structure and sex-biased philopatry and dispersal should be considered in order to maximise population viability and conservation outcomes. Here, we use the greater stick-nest rat (Leporillus conditor), a native Australian rodent, as a case study to understand how knowledge of social structure and dispersal can inform conservation and translocation programmes. We combine high-throughput DNA sequencing with field trapping data from a translocated population of greater stick-nest rats at Arid Recovery Reserve, South Australia, to provide the first empirical evidence of female philopatry and male-biased dispersal in this species. Males were found to disperse, on average, 1.5 km from the natal nest, while females typically did not disperse beyond 500 m. Further, recapture data showed that females demonstrated a higher degree of nest fidelity than males over time. Based on these findings, we make two key recommendations for future translocations of the species. Firstly, founders should be harvested in small groups at adjacent nest sites with groups separated by a minimum of 1.5 km allowing family group structure to be retained during translocation while simultaneously maximising genetic diversity. Secondly, translocated individuals should be released in family cohorts into patches of optimal habitat that contain adequate shelter substrates interspersed over short distances (~300-500 m, the maximum dispersal distance of females found in this study), thereby facilitating nest establishment and maintenance of family groups. The results of this study have implications for conservation and reintroduction biology as a whole; we highlight the importance of considering spatial genetic structure during all stages of translocations to improve outcomes, and the value of combining genetic and field data to better understand species' social and spatial preferences.

Key words: conservation genetics, ecology, reintroduction biology, spatial genetics.

INTRODUCTION

Sociality in mammals has many benefits at both the individual and population levels, particularly in regard to female fitness (Silk 2007). A common observation in mammalian social systems is that males will disperse from their natal territory, while females will demonstrate philopatric behaviour and remain close to their place of birth (Greenwood 1980). This pattern typically results in distinct local matrilines, with daughters inheriting territories, warrens or nests from their mothers or other female relatives (Holekamp & Sawdy 2019). Female philopatry can have a number of benefits, including sharing of knowledge about food distribution and landscape cover for predator avoidance, as well as

*Corresponding author.

Accepted for publication July 2021.

© 2021 Ecological Society of Australia.

kin-selected social behaviours such as cooperative care of young (Hamilton 1964; Clutton-Brock & Lukas 2012). Female philopatry may also be advantageous when shelter sites are limited or require considerable investment, as female offspring can inherit a shelter site from their mother. Male-biased dispersal, which is often the counterpart to female philopatry, aids in inbreeding avoidance (Dobson et al. 1997; Liebgold et al. 2011). There are genetic consequences of sex-biased dispersal (Goudet et al. 2002; Peakall et al. 2003; Matoca 2004; Banks & Peakall 2012; Shaw et al. 2018); for example, potential outcomes of female philopatry include mitochondrial DNA-specific population structure, wherein reduced movement of females results in genetic differentiation visible only in the mitochondrial genome (Ruppell et al. 2003), and increased pairwise relatedness between females within territories (Hazlitt et al. 2004).



In translocation and breeding programmes, social structure and sex-biased philopatry and dispersal should be considered in order to maximise population viability and conservation outcomes (Kleiman 1989; Gouar et al. 2012; Garnier et al. 2021). For example, a study on near-threatened brush-tailed rock-wallabies (Petrogale penicillata) in Australia revealed evidence of female philopatry and malebiased dispersal, suggesting that females were less likely to disperse between colonies (Hazlitt et al. 2004). On the basis of these results, Hazlitt et al. (2004) cautioned that a geographically restricted collection of source animals for relocation would likely include highly related females, which could have adverse consequences for the translocated brushtailed rock-wallaby population, such as inbreeding depression and reduced genetic diversity. However, several studies have noted that the harvesting of social groups during translocation is vital for population establishment in several species, including the black-tailed prairie dog (Cynomys ludovicianus; Shier 2006), as it allows individuals to continue cooperative behaviour such as nest building and allogroomwith neighbours and relatives ing following translocation (Shier & Swaisgood 2012; Goldenberg et al. 2019).

Management strategies for maximising genetic diversity and maintaining cohesive family units are likely to be species-specific, highlighting the need to understand dispersal behaviour and patterns of philopatry on a species-by-species basis for effective conservation. These factors are likely to be particularly important when selecting founding individuals, as the success of translocation programmes is often determined by the viability of the founding population (e.g. sex and age ratios, numbers, genetic diversity; Singer *et al.* 2000; Chauvenet *et al.* 2013; Pacioni *et al.* 2019).

One species that has been the focus of multiple translocations over recent decades is the greater stick-nest rat (Leporillus conditor), a relatively large (up to 450 g), polygynous murid rodent, which was once widespread across the semi-arid and arid zones of southern mainland Australia (Copley 1999; Pearson et al. 1999; Webeck & Pearson 2005). The greater stick-nest rat produces up to three litters a year, with a typical lifespan of 5 years in the wild and a generation length of approximately 2 years (Procter 2007; Pacifici et al. 2013; Woinarski & Burbidge 2016). With the arrival of introduced predators and grazing herbivores with European settlers in the 1800s, greater stick-nest rats became extinct on the mainland by the 1930s, with the only surviving population on the Franklin Islands of South Australia (Robinson 1975; Copley 1999). Due to this rapid contraction of population size and geographical range, little was known about its habitat preferences

and life history until monitoring commenced on the Franklin Islands and, in recent decades, translocation programmes began on a number of islands and fenced mainland reserves (Robinson 1975; Pedler & Copley 1993; Copley 1999; Moseby & Bice 2004; Short et al. 2017, 2019). Greater stick-nest rats are nocturnal, feeding on vegetation, predominantly succulents (Ryan et al. 2003) and constructing large nests of sticks and stones to shelter from predators and temperature extremes during the day (Watts 1976; Copley 1999). Nests are often constructed beneath perennial shrubs, under rocky overhangs or over historical warrens dug by other species (Copley 1999; Short et al. 2019). While the nests are communal and believed to be shared within family groups (Copley 1988, 1999), little is known about how the nests are passed on from generation to generation.

Although the behaviour of greater stick-nest rats in the wild is still understudied, in captivity they have been observed to exhibit a matriarchal hierarchy, with the eldest female in the nest assuming the dominant role (Procter 2007) and occasionally behaving aggressively towards males in the vicinity of the female's natal nest (P. Copley, pers. comm., 2020). In addition, field observations suggest that females in wild and reintroduced populations appear to be sedentary, while males disperse readily (Robinson 1975; Pedler & Copley 1993; Copley 1999). Such behaviour suggests greater stick-nest rats may exhibit female philopatry and male-biased dispersal; however, no data have yet been published to demonstrate this. Such social patterns are common in other matrilineal rodent species, such as the black-tailed prairie dog (Hoogland 1995); females demonstrate strong philopatric behaviour, whilst males are more wide-ranging and less territorial (Christian 1970; Aguilera-Miller et al. 2018).

We studied a translocated population of greater stick-nest rats at the Arid Recovery Reserve, South Australia, in order to understand the social behaviours of the greater stick-nest rat and inform future translocation strategies. Arid Recovery Reserve is located in an arid environment with limited rainfall near the northern edge of the species' former range (Moseby et al. 2011; Short et al. 2019). The translocation programme began in 1998 with a trial reintroduction, shortly followed by a full-scale reintroduction the following year (Moseby & Bice 2004). The reintroduction was considered successful (Short et al. 2019), with population growth, limited inbreeding, and up to 98% of genetic diversity retained from their founding groups (Moseby et al. 2011; White et al. 2018); however, greater stick-nest rats demonstrated increased mortality during the summer months and the population size was adversely affected by drought and overbrowsing of vegetation by burrowing bettongs (Bettongia lesueur; Moseby et al. 2018).

By investigating the dispersal behaviours of the greater stick-nest rat, we aimed to establish whether sex-biased dispersal and philopatry were present in the species and should therefore be considered during the planning of subsequent translocation programmes to increase their chance of success. Previously, philopatry and dispersal in the wild have been difficult to determine except through long-term observational studies. Here, we use high-throughput sequencing of DNA samples collected during the first 4 years following the reintroduction of greater sticknest rats at Arid Recovery Reserve to determine patterns of dispersal and philopatry in this species.

METHODS

Sample collection & DNA sequencing

The Arid Recovery Reserve is located 20 km north of Roxby Downs, South Australia, and includes a 14 km² rabbit, cat and fox-proof exclosure of 50 mm mesh fencing (the Main Exclosure) encompassing a dune and swale landscape vegetated predominantly by chenopod and wattle (Acacia spp.; Moseby & Bice 2004). A 30-mm mesh foot netting runs along the bottom of the fence, although greater stick-nest rats have been observed to climb this netting and disperse through the 50-mm mesh. Following a successful trial release in 1998, 92 greater stick-nest rats were released into the Main Exclosure in 1999 at random across a number of release sites, as described by Moseby et al. (2011). From 1999 to 2002 (inclusive), tissue samples (tail tips, ~5 mm length) were collected from a total of 56 individuals across 18 nest sites during routine trapping and monitoring at Arid Recovery Reserve and stored at -20°C in 70% ethanol. Trapping effort was equal across all nest sites and included all known nests in the reserve. Nests were located by radiotracking rats to nest sites. Individuals were a mixture of age-classes, some were part of the translocated cohort, and some were born in the reserve. Information on the sex, trapping coordinates, age and nesting site of each individual were recorded in the field. Traps were set in close proximity to the nest, and individuals caught were presumed to inhabit that nest. Where multiple captures were recorded during the lifetime of an individual, trapping location and data from the first adult capture were used (adults were identified as animals >180 g according to Procter (2007)). DNA was then extracted from tissue by S. Barclay using the method described in Barclav et al. (2006). These samples were submitted to commercial sequencing company Diversity Arrays Pty Ltd (DArT) for single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) genotyping. Diversity Arrays employs a complexity reduction method (DArTseq) to generate SNP data for each individual (Egea et al. 2017; Melville et al. 2017). DArT provided both raw FASTQ files for each individual (subsequently used for sex assignment) and a coded matrix of SNP loci by individual, which was then passed to a genlight object for kinship analysis.

Sex assignment

Although field-determined sex data were available for most of the samples, a genetic sex assignment approach was used also to ensure that sexing was accurate (Onley et al. 2021). Briefly, greater stick-nest rat FASTQ sequencing data were first aligned to the house mouse (Mus musculus) genome reference using the 'mem' algorithm in BWA v0.7.17 (Li & Durbin 2009), after which per-scaffold read counts were extracted using SAMtools v1.10 (Li et al. 2009). As described in Gower et al. (2019), we then used the Python script 'sexassign' (https://github.com/grahamgower/sexassign) to construct two binomial models (one for males and one for females) for the X chromosome 'read-dosage' versus that of the autosomes and conduct a likelihood ratio test between them. Sex assignment using this method resulted in ~94% concordance with field-determined sex, with the discrepancies determined to be due to misidentification of individual sex in the field (Onley et al. 2021). This is consistent with previously reported rates for human error when sexing rodents in the field, which are typically around 10% (particularly during non-reproductive periods; Williams et al. 2004; Hoffmann et al. 2010; Jacques et al. 2015).

Kinship analysis

Kinship analysis was performed on the DArTseq data to determine the degree of relatedness of individuals within and between nest sites. Data filtration was performed on the SNP matrix using the 'dartR' package in R v3.6.2 (Gruber et al. 2019). Monomorphic and secondary loci were removed from the dataset, and SNPs with a locus call rate <0.80 and a repeatability <0.9 were filtered out (Massault et al. 2021). Observed and expected heterozygosity were also calculated. We chose not to filter the dataset based on minor allele frequencies, as this has been shown to mask population structure in large data sets (Linck & Battey 2019; Wright et al. 2019). Following this, an identity-by-descent (IBD) analysis using the KING method of moment was conducted using the R package 'SNPRelate' (Zheng et al. 2012). This returned an estimated kinship coefficient for pairings within the population, which was then used to create a network graph to visualise relatedness. To confirm kinship pairings, SNP data were also run through the program COLONY v2.0.6.5 using a full likelihood analysis to produce full and half sibling dyads with associated probability values. Due to memory constraints, 500 randomly selected SNP markers were used for the COLONY run, with the following settings: polygyny for both males and females, inbreeding present, medium run length, locus error rate of 0.02, and an allelic dropout rate of 0.

To determine whether male and female greater stick-nest rats displayed a higher degree of relatedness at the cooperative group (nest site) level than within the population as a whole, a Wilcoxon rank sum test was performed on kinship coefficients of pairings within and between nest sites according to sex. A Wilcoxon rank sum test was chosen because the data were not normally distributed. If sexbiased dispersal was occurring, individuals of the dispersing sex were expected to demonstrate lower relatedness than the philopatric sex at the cooperative group level (Liu *et al.* 2015).

Spatial autocorrelation

To further examine the spatial genetic structure (i.e. the distribution of genetic variation within the reserve space) of the Arid Recovery Reserve population in relation to nest sites, spatial autocorrelation analyses were conducted using GenAlEx v6.5 (Peakall & Smouse 2012). In order to meet GenAlEx memory requirements, we randomly selected 5000 filtered SNPs as a representative sample of the filtered data set. As the aim of this analysis was to determine how related individuals dispersed across the landscape, only individuals that appeared in kinship pairings determined by the IBD-KING analysis were used for spatial autocorrelation analysis. Data were then transformed to the appropriate format using the 'poppr' package in R (Kamvar et al. 2014). The SNP data were split into two separate datasets for males and females (each with the same 5000 SNPs), and pairwise genetic distance was calculated separately for each sex. Decimal latitude and longitude values of the nest locations for each individual were used to calculate a matrix of geographic distance. Using these distance matrices, a spatial structure analysis was implemented to test for spatial heterogeneity at even distance classes of 0.5-km intervals and to determine a correlation coefficient, r. This analysis was conducted using a permutation procedure with 999 simulations to test for deviations from zero and 1000 bootstraps to estimate the confidence intervals around r. Where r exceeded the 95% confidence intervals of the permutations and the bootstrap confidence intervals did not exceed zero, spatial genetic structuring was declared (Peakall et al. 2003; Hazlitt et al. 2004). Heterogeneity is determined by calculating an 'Omega' value and testing whether the observed value is larger than expected under the null hypothesis of homogenous genetic structure, wherein no significant spatial autocorrelation is observed (P > 0.01where $P = \text{Omega-rand} \ge \text{Omega-data}$; Smouse *et al.* 2008; Banks & Peakall 2012).

Male versus female nest fidelity

Finally, to corroborate any evidence of female philopatry, field trapping data were analysed to identify rates of recapture over time by sex at the same nest site. This data set included recorded captures for individuals not included in the genetic analysis, so field recorded sex was used where genetic sex determination data were not available.

RESULTS

Samples and SNP data

Fifty-six individuals (32 females and 24 males) were captured across 18 nests with 1-7 individuals sampled per nest (mean = 2.9; Appendix S1). The average male:female ratio per nest was 1:1.33. Four individuals (two males and two females) did not have nest site recorded (Appendix S1). The initial data set

contained 21 792 SNPs. After filtering, 17 787 SNPs remained, with an expected heterozygosity of 0.323 and observed heterozygosity of 0.301.

Kinship analysis

Our IBD-KING analysis yielded 130 kinship pairings, with kinship coefficients ranging from 0.032 to 0.25 (Fig. 1), which corresponded to the pairings calculated by the COLONY run (Appendix S2). A kinship coefficient of 0.25 represents a parent-offspring or full sibling relationship, while 0.15 is consistent with half siblings (Lopes *et al.* 2013). Thirteen individuals showed no (or very low) genetic relatedness to any other sampled individuals, while the remaining 43 individuals formed two clusters (Fig. 1). One cluster contained 11 individuals mostly from three nests (1, 2 and 15) from the north-eastern section of the Main Exclosure, while the second cluster contained 32 individuals from 12 of the 18 nests distributed across the entire sampling area (Fig. 1).

Of the pairings determined by IBD-KING analysis, 35 were female-female and 23 were male-male. Female-female kinship coefficients were significantly lower between nests than within nests (mean = 0.11 ± 0.05 SD, cf. mean = 0.18 ± 0.04 SD), whereas male-male kinship coefficients were low and not significantly different between versus within nests (mean = 0.10 ± 0.06 SD. cf. mean = 0.11 ± 0.02 SD; Fig. 2).

Cohabiting females demonstrated a significantly higher degree of relatedness than cohabiting males (mean 0.18 vs. 0.11, *P*-value 0.02; Fig. 3).

Spatial autocorrelation

Results of our spatial autocorrelation analyses for genetic data indicated that heterogeneous spatial structuring was present for both males and females. For both sexes, the Omega value was larger than expected under the null hypothesis of homogeneous genetic structure, indicating spatial heterogeneity. Correlograms demonstrate that the correlation coefficient between genetic and geographic distance, r, of females is strongest in shared locations (i.e. distance class = 0), well above the upper 95% confidence intervals of no observed spatial autocorrelation (indicated by U and L in Fig. 4), and decreases as physical distance increases, while the r value for cohabiting males is much lower and relatively stochastic until the distance class exceeds 1.5 km (Fig. 4). This indicates that, while females did not disperse far from their family groups, males may disperse up to 1.5 km from their natal nest. However, confidence intervals overlap zero for both males and



Fig. 1. (a) Relatedness network of male (squares) and female (circles) greater stick-nest rats (*Leporillus conditor*) within the Main Exclosure at Arid Recovery Reserve, coloured by nesting site. Thickness of links corresponds to degree of relatedness; (b) Location of the 18 sampled nests within the Main Exclosure.

females in the first distance class, so some level of uncertainty (likely due to small sample size) must be acknowledged. There is also a slight rise in r at 4 km in both sexes, possibly due to high post-release dispersal.

Male versus female nest fidelity

In the trapping dataset, 14 individuals were recaptured on multiple occasions over periods of 2-24 months (Table 1). Of these, 12 were females and two were males. Nine of these females were recaptured at the same nest over periods of up to 16 months. The mean period of recapture at the same nest site was nine months. The remaining three females were each recaptured at one adjacent nest site to their natal nest. The distance of these adjacent nests from the home nest did not exceed 330 m. Conversely, the two recaptured males were trapped across multiple nest sites over a period of up to 12 months, at distances that ranged from 3.38 to 1.52 km. This appears consistent with the network graph (Fig. 1), in which some individuals (e.g. ET183) were trapped at nests across the exclosure from their closely related kin. Of the two individuals that were recaptured as subadults and then again as adults – one male (ET198) and one female (ET147) – the male was recaptured at a different nest site while the female was recaptured in the same nest.

DISCUSSION

Evidence for female philopatry and male-biased dispersal

Our results demonstrate a significantly higher degree of relatedness between female and female pairings of greater stick-nest rat individuals sharing nest sites compared to those inhabiting different nests, a trend not evident in male–male pairings within the same population. Further, there was a significantly higher degree of relatedness between cohabiting female–female pairings than male–male pairings. Females were repeatedly recaptured in the same or adjacent nest sites, while recaptured males were recorded at multiple nest sites around the reserve. One female was also captured in the same nest as a subadult and as



Fig. 2. Violin plots for pairwise kinship coefficients between female (top panel) and male (bottom panel) greater stick-nest rats (*Leporillus conditor*) trapped in the same or different nests at Arid Recovery Reserve.

an adult, consistent with matrilineal nest inheritance – although the small sample size makes robust conclusions based on this observation difficult. This is the first genetic evidence of female philopatry in greater stick-nest rats, wherein males disperse from the natal nest and females remain in their familial territory, a pattern that is often observed in other polygynous mammals (Greenwood 1980).

There are a number of potential advantages to male-biased dispersal strategies in polygynous species, namely that males increase their chances of breeding by gaining access to multiple females, while females maintain strong knowledge of their home range and available resources, improving the chances of survival for both themselves and their young (Moses & Millar 1994; Pärt 1995; Ruusila *et al.* 2001). Female site fidelity has been linked to increased survival and reproduction success in several taxa (Cockburn *et al.* 1985; Bose *et al.* 2017; Patrick & Weimerskirch 2017), particularly in species like the greater stick-nest rat that invest considerable energy in nest or burrow construction, such as prairie dogs and yellow-bellied marmots (Armitage 1991; Shier 2006). Over time, such systems can result in geographically restricted matrilines, with members of the resident sex in nesting sites or territories becoming closely related (Kappeler *et al.* 2002). Our field results supported the genetic data, with individual females exhibiting higher recapture rates in the same or closely spaced nests over time compared to males.





Fig. 4. Correlograms showing spatial genetic structure in male and female greater sticknest rats (*Leporillus conditor*). Genetic correlation coefficient (r) is displayed with 95% confidence intervals (U = upper, L = lower) and error bars determined by bootstrapping. Upper and lower confidence intervals correspond to no observed spatial autocorrelation.

Spatial structure analysis (males) 0.400 0.300 0.200 ► 0.100 0.000 -0.100 -0.200 0 0.5 1.5 2 2.5 3 3.5 4.5 5 1 Distance Class (km) Spatial structure analysis (females) 0.400 0.300 0.200 0.100 0.000 1 -0.100 0 0.5 1.5 2 2.5 3 3.5 4.5 5 1 Δ Distance Class (km)

While our results provide evidence for male-biased dispersal in the greater stick-nest rat population at Arid Recovery Reserve, the applicability of our findings to other greater stick-nest rat populations is subject to some caveats. Arid Recovery Reserve is a fenced reserve, and greater stick-nest rats used in this study were confined within a 14-km² area. Dispersal distance was likely to have been limited by the presence of fences. Further research is needed to determine whether reserve size impacts male dispersal distance in this species. In addition, Arid Recovery Reserve is located in an arid environment, and it is unclear whether climate and resource availability impact greater stick-nest rat dispersal distance. Similar monitoring of populations in coastal or more mesic habitats would inform on this. In any case, we believe that our results have a number of implications for conservation of the greater stick-nest rat, particularly concerning the planning, execution and subsequent management of translocation programmes.

	Capture month and nest site													
	ID	08/ 1999	09/ 1999	01/ 2000	02/ 2000	03/ 2000	04/ 2000	05/ 2000	06/ 2000	11/ 2000	12/ 2000	03/ 2001	10/ 2001	10/ 2002
Female recaptures	ET29 ET42						2*	2*		17			17	
	ET44						1		1	1	1			
	ET55				6	7	7			7	7	7		
	ET63									6		6	5	5
	ET133											13	13	
	ET147											6*	6	
	ET149											1	2	
	ET3140	2	2			2	2	2	2	2	2			
	ET3599						12			12				
	ET5976											15	15	
	ET5997							9				9		
Male	ET198												5*	15 & 20
recuptures	ET5992			7		9				7				20

Table 1. Nest site locations for individual greater stick-nest rats (*Leporillus conditor*) recaptured between August 1999 and October 2002 by capture month and sex

Asterisks indicate individuals that were subadult at the time of trapping. Cells shaded in light grey stipple represent a capture at a different site to the individual's preferred or original nest site.

Conservation implications & recommendations for future translocations

Post-release dispersal is an important, but often overlooked, component of translocation success or failure (Gouar et al. 2012), so understanding dispersal patterns of greater stick-nest rats is likely to be important for the ongoing success of future translocation programmes. Selection of wild-caught individuals for translocation from a source population is often opportunistic or transect-based and heavily impacted by factors such as trapping success and accessible terrain (Coulson & Eldridge 2010). Further, guidelines around sampling regimes for translocations are limited (Ewen et al. 2012). However, sex-biased dispersal can result in fine-scale spatial genetic structuring, a factor that should be considered when harvesting individuals to establish a new colony (Hazlitt et al. 2004; Banks & Peakall 2012; Pacioni et al. 2020). For example, low levels of female dispersal in blacktailed deer (Odocoileus hemionus columbianus) have led researchers to suggest that matrilineal groups should be treated as the basic unit of genetic structuring in species demonstrating female philopatry, a major consideration for conservation management (Bose et al. 2017).

Selection of multiple females from the same location in a species demonstrating female philopatry will likely result in a higher degree of relatedness than desired and could increase the risk of inbreeding depression in the new population. For example, a genetic evaluation of translocated freshwater fish (*Notropis heterodon* and *Notropis heterolepis*) in Illinois, U.S.A., determined that the lack of consideration for kinship structure during harvesting had resulted in the selection of multiple full and half sibship pairings, thereby lowering the effective population size of the reintroduced stock (Ozer & Ashley 2013). Ozer and Ashley (2013) suggested that harvesting from multiple sites and across multiple trapping events may decrease the overall relatedness of the new population and improve genetic representation.

However, it must also be acknowledged that several studies on mammals demonstrating kin clustering and female philopatry have noted an increase in translocation success when entire family groups were harvested. This has been attributed to the benefits associated with resource sharing, as well as reduced aggression and stress and increased site fidelity during reintroduction (Watson et al. 1994; Bradley et al. 2005; Gusset et al. 2006; Shier & Swaisgood 2012; Goldenberg et al. 2019; but see also Franks et al. 2020). Consequently, when translocating a species demonstrating female philopatry, managers should consider the importance of increasing long-term genetic diversity by selecting unrelated founding individuals against the potential survival benefits of maintaining close familial associations.

Pacioni *et al.* (2020) proposed a spatially explicit approach to selection of individuals for translocation, wherein prior knowledge of a species' dispersal patterns is applied to determine the appropriate separation distance between candidates to minimise relatedness. This approach can be applied to all species with a predictable dispersal pattern. Trials using this method on woylies (*Bettongia penicillata ogilbyi*) have proven far more effective than conventional transect and grid trapping designs, with resulting samples exhibiting higher genetic diversity and lower relatedness, while requiring minimal increases in time and resource investment by managers (Pacioni et al. 2020). While some uncertainty exists around the spatial autocorrelation analysis due to the small sample size of this study, our results have shown that relatedness is significantly decreased beyond a 0.5 km radius of nest sites for females and 1.5 km for males; an appropriate harvesting strategy would therefore involve selecting small cohorts of males and females from multiple adjacent nest sites which are then separated from the next group by a minimum distance of 1.5 km. This would allow for founding females to retain family groups, while simultaneously maximising genetic diversity and reducing the risk of inbreeding. Post-release monitoring of future translocations would inform on the consistency of this spatial genetic structure when dispersal distances are not limited by fencing.

Female philopatry is an important adaptive behaviour that increases breeding success, ensuring longterm viability in a population (Stacey & Ligon 1991). In greater stick-nest rats, permanent nest structures appear to be inherited maternally and are maintained and used by subsequent generations of related females, a strategy that has been shown to improve offspring survival in other species (Armitage 1991; Moses & Millar 1994; Hatchwell & Komdeur 2000; Lutermann et al. 2006). As the construction of such large and complex shelter sites is energetically expensive, resource inheritance by female kin has an added survival advantage, namely that subsequent generations of females in established nests are not required to expend large amounts of energy on founding a new nest and can therefore prioritise foraging for food and caring for young (Myles 1988; Hansell 1993; Almond et al. 2019). Since nest sites are central to the breeding behaviour and, consequently, the population viability of the greater stick-nest rat (Aslin 1972; Copley 1999; Procter 2007), the presence of adequate nesting sites should be a consideration for future conservation of the species. An abundance of sticks and dry grass should be present for nest construction. More importantly, rock overhangs and fissures, warrens and burrows, and low, thick perennial shrubs such as Maireana spp. and Rhagodia spp. act as important substrates for nest building. The latter also supply additional protection from predators and environmental extremes, as well as providing a source of food (Copley 1988, 1999; Moseby & Bice 2004; Short et al. 2019). Suitable habitat for future translocations of the greater stick-nest rat should contain a variety of these structures within close proximity, providing ample shelter for both dispersing males and females remaining in their natal

Finally, although our results suggest that maintaining related female groups with closely spaced nests should be facilitated and encouraged during translocation, female greater stick-nest rats have been observed to demonstrate aggressive territorial behaviour in captivity, thus overcrowding and reduced capacity for dispersal may increase aggression within a population (Jackson 2003; Procter 2007). During a trial reintroduction of greater sticknest rats at Arid Recovery Reserve into an 8-ha release pen, the two largest of the three females quickly established territories that did not overlap; the youngest female roamed between the two territories, but whether this was due to her immaturity or the small size of the enclosure is unclear (Moseby & Bice 2004). Small release pens for family groups may therefore also be used to limit stress, maintain kin clusters and promote shelter establishment (Moseby et al. 2014, 2020), but managers should consider the long-term implications of this strategy; once the translocated population has become settled and nests established - greater sticknest rats at Arid Recovery Reserve built nests within a few months of translocation (Moseby & Bice 2004) - larger areas should be provided to facilitate male dispersal, an important mechanism for inbreeding avoidance (Cockburn et al. 1985; Wolff et al. 1988; Szulkin & Sheldon 2008).

CONCLUSION

Here, we have presented the first empirical evidence of sex-biased dispersal behaviour in the greater sticknest rat. Data were collected within 5 years of the start of the reintroduction program, suggesting that distinct local matrilines in the greater stick-nest rat can develop over only a few generations, and that male dispersal is likely the primary mechanism for inbreeding avoidance in the species. Based on these results, we present two key recommendations for future translocations of greater stick-nest rats using wild stock. Firstly, an adaptive design for trapping founders, such as the method proposed by Pacioni et al. (2020), would involve selecting small cohorts of males and females from multiple adjacent nest sites that are then separated from the next group by a minimum distance of 1.5 km. Secondly, as greater stick-nest rat matrilines rely on the generational construction and maintenance of nest sites that require a high degree of energy investment, future conservation programmes should consider releasing founder individuals in family groups into patches of optimal

nesting habitat ideally interspersed at distances not exceeding 300–500 m, thereby encouraging shelter establishment, maintaining group structure and limiting panic dispersal.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors wish to acknowledge and thank Shaun Barclay, Professor William Sherwin and the staff of Arid Recovery Reserve for supplying the field data and samples used in this study. We would also like to thank Pete Copley for his input and expertise, Katherine Tuft for constructive feedback on the final draft and Amy Slender for assistance in the use of COLONY software. We thank four anonymous reviewers for their constructive feedback on the manuscript.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Isabelle Onley: Conceptualization (equal); Data curation (equal); Funding acquisition (lead); Investigation (lead); Methodology (lead); Writing-original draft (lead). **Jeremy Austin:** Conceptualization (equal); Data curation (equal); Investigation (supporting); Supervision (lead); Writing-review & editing (supporting). **Kieren J Mitchell:** Investigation (supporting); Methodology (supporting); Writing-review & editing (supporting). **Katherine Moseby:** Resources (lead); Supervision (supporting); Validation (lead); Writing-review & editing (supporting).

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

FUNDING

This research was supported by the University of Adelaide and funded by the following organisations and awards: Arid Recovery, Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship, Nature Foundation South Australia Grand Start Grant (Grant No. 2019-07), Biological Society South Australia/Nature Conservation Society of South Australia Conservation Biology Grant and Field Naturalists Society of South Australia Lirabenda Endowment Fund Research Grant. Field work was undertaken at Arid Recovery Reserve, which is run by a conservation charity (Arid Recovery) supported by BHP, the University of Adelaide, Bush Heritage Australia and the South Australian Department for Environment and Water. Live animal trapping and sampling at Arid Recovery Reserve was conducted under South Australian Wildlife Ethics Committee permit numbers 27/98, 4/99, 22/99, 2/2000, 19/2000 and 18/2000.

CODE AVAILABILITY

Code used in sex assignment can be found on Dr Graham Gower's GitHub repository https://github.c om/grahamgower/sexassign. Code used in the kinship analysis can be found on Isabelle Onley's GitHub repository https://github.com/ionley/sticknestratdispe rsal.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

SNP data set and trapping metadata used in the kinship analysis can be found on Isabelle Onley's GitHub repository https://github.com/ionley/stickne stratdispersal.

REFERENCES

- Aguilera-Miller E. F., Álvarez-Castañeda S. T. & Murphy R. W. (2018) Matrilineal genealogies suggest a very low dispersal in desert rodent females. *J. Arid Environ.* 152, 28–36.
- Almond E. J., Huggins T. J., Crowther L. P., Parker J. D. & Bourke A. F. G. (2019) Queen longevity and fecundity affect conflict with workers over resource inheritance in a social insect. Am. Nat. 193, 256–66.
- Armitage K. B. (1991) Social and population dynamics of yellow-bellied marmots: results from long-term research. *Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst.* 22, 379–407.
- Aslin H. J. (1972) Nest-building by *Leporillus conditor* in captivity. S. Aust. Nat. 47, 43-6.
- Banks S. C. & Peakall R. (2012) Genetic spatial autocorrelation can readily detect sex-biased dispersal. *Mol. Ecol.* 21, 2092–105.
- Barclay S. D., Costello B. & Sherwin W. B. (2006) Limited crossspecies microsatellite amplification and the isolation and characterization of new microsatellite markers for the greater stick-nest rat (*Leporillus conditor*). *Mol. Ecol. Notes* 6, 882–5.
- Bose S., Forrester T. D., Brazeal J. L., Sacks B. N., Casady D. S. & Wittmer H. U. (2017) Implications of fidelity and philopatry for the population structure of female black-tailed deer. *Behav. Ecol.* 28, 983–90.
- Bradley E. H., Pletscher D. H., Bangs E. E. et al. (2005) Evaluating wolf translocation as a nonlethal method to reduce livestock conflicts in the northwestern United States. Conserv. Biol. 19, 1498–508.
- Chauvenet A. L. M., Ewen J. G., Armstrong D. P., Blackburn T. M. & Pettorelli N. (2013) Maximizing the success of assisted colonizations. *Anim. Conserv.* 16, 161–9.
- Christian J. J. (1970) Social subordination, population density, and mammalian evolution. *Science* **168**, 84–90.

- Clutton-Brock T. H. & Lukas D. (2012) The evolution of social philopatry and dispersal in female mammals. *Mol. Ecol.* 21, 472–92.
- Cockburn A., Scott M. P. & Scotts D. J. (1985) Inbreeding avoidance and male-biased natal dispersal in Antechinus spp. (Marsupialia: Dasyuridae). Anim. Behav. 33, 908–15.
- Copley P. (1988) The Stick-nest Rats of Australia: A Final Report to World Wildlife Fund (Australia). National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Environment and Planning, Adelaide.
- Copley P. (1999) Natural histories of Australia's stick-nest rats, genus Leporillus (Rodentia: Muridae). *Wildl. Res.* 26, 513.
- Coulson G. & Eldridge M. D. B. (2010) Macropods: The Biology of Kangaroos, Wallabies, and Rat-kangaroos. CSIRO Publishing, Canberra.
- Dobson F. S., Chesser R. K., Hoogland J. L., Sugg D. W. & Foltz D. W. (1997) Do black-tailed prairie dogs minimize inbreeding? *Evolution* 51, 970–8.
- Egea L. A., Mérida-García R., Kilian A., Hernandez P. & Dorado G. (2017) Assessment of genetic diversity and structure of large garlic (*Allium sativum*) germplasm bank, by diversity arrays technology "genotyping-by-sequencing" platform (DArTseq). *Front. Genet.* 8, 98. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fgene.2017.00098.
- Ewen J. G., Armstrong D. P., Parker K. A. & Seddon P. J. (2012) Reintroduction Biology: Integrating Science and Management. John Wiley & Sons, West Sussex.
- Franks V. R., Andrews C. E., Ewen J. G., McCready M., Parker K. A. & Thorogood R. (2020) Changes in social groups across reintroductions and effects on post-release survival. *Anim. Conserv.* 23, 443–54.
- Garnier A., Besnard A., Crampe J. P., Estèbe J., Aulagnier S. & Gonzalez G. (2021) Intrinsic factors, release conditions and presence of conspecifics affect post-release dispersal after translocation of Iberian ibex. *Anim. Conserv.* https:// doi.org/10.1111/acv.12669.
- Goldenberg S. Z., Owen M. A., Brown J. L., Wittemyer G., Oo Z. M. & Leimgruber P. (2019) Increasing conservation translocation success by building social functionality in released populations. *Glob. Ecol. Conserv.* 18, e00604.
- Gouar P. L., Mihoub J.-B. & Sarrazin F. (2012) Dispersal and habitat selection: Behavioural and spatial constraints for animal translocations. In: *Reintroduction Biology* (eds D. Armstrong, K. Parker, P. Seddon & J Ewen) [online] pp. 138–64. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, West Sussex. https://doi. org/10.1002/9781444355833.ch5.
- Goudet J., Perrin N. & Waser P. (2002) Tests for sex-biased dispersal using bi-parentally inherited genetic markers. *Mol. Ecol.* 11, 1103–14.
- Gower G., Fenderson L. E., Salis A. T. *et al.* (2019) Widespread male sex bias in mammal fossil and museum collections. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci.* **116**, 19019–24.
- Greenwood P. J. (1980) Mating systems, philopatry and dispersal in birds and mammals. *Anim. Behav.* 28, 1140–62.
- Gruber B., Unmack P., Berry O. & Georges A. (2019) Introduction to dartR. User Manual, 51.
- Gusset M., Slotow R. & Somers M. (2006) Divided we fail: the importance of social integration for the re-introduction of endangered African wild dogs (*Lycaon pictus*). *J. Zool.* 270, 502–11.
- Hamilton W. D. (1964) The genetic evolution of social behaviour. J. Theor. Biol. 7, 1–16.
- Hansell M. H. (1993) The ecological impact of animal nests and burrows. *Funct. Ecol.* 7, 5–12.

- Hatchwell B. J. & Komdeur J. (2000) Ecological constraints, life history traits and the evolution of cooperative breeding. *Anim. Behav.* **59**, 1079–86.
- Hazlitt S. L., Eldridge M. D. B. & Goldizen A. W. (2004) Fine-scale spatial genetic correlation analyses reveal strong female philopatry within a brush-tailed rock-wallaby colony in southeast Queensland. *Mol. Ecol.* **13**, 3621–32.
- Hoffmann A., Decher J., Rovero F., Schaer J., Voigt C. & Wibbelt G. (2010) Field methods and techniques for monitoring mammals. In: *Manual on Field Recording Techniques and Protocols for All Taxa Biodiversity Inventories*, Vol. 8 (eds J. Degreef, C. Häuser, J. C. Mohje, Y. Samyn & V. D. Spiegel) pp. 482–529. Abc Taxa, Brussels.
- Holekamp K. E. & Sawdy M. A. (2019) The evolution of matrilineal social systems in fissiped carnivores. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 374, 20180065.
- Hoogland J. L. (1995) The Black-Tailed Prairie Dog: Social Life of a Burrowing Mammal. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Jackson S. M. (2003) Australian Mammals: Biology and Captive Management. CSIRO Publishing, Canberra.
- Jacques M.-E., McBee K. & Elmore D. (2015) Determining sex and reproductive status of rodents, 4.
- Kamvar Z. N., Tabima J. F. & Grünwald N. J. (2014) Poppr: an R package for genetic analysis of populations with clonal, partially clonal, and/or sexual reproduction. *Peerf* 2, e281.
- Kappeler P. M., Wimmer B., Zinner D. & Tautz D. (2002) The hidden matrilineal structure of a solitary lemur: implications for primate social evolution. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond Ser. B Biol. Sci.* 269, 1755–63.
- Kleiman D. G. (1989) Reintroduction of captive mammals for conservation. *Bioscience* 39, 152–61.
- Li H. & Durbin R. (2009) Fast and accurate short read alignment with Burrows-Wheeler transform. *Bioinformatics* 25, 1754–60.
- Li H., Handsaker B., Wysoker A. *et al.* (2009) The sequence alignment/map format and SAMtools. *Bioinformatics* 25, 2078–9.
- Liebgold E. B., Brodie E. D. & Cabe P. R. (2011) Female philopatry and male-biased dispersal in a directdeveloping salamander, *Plethodon cinereus*. *Mol. Ecol.* 20, 249–57.
- Linck E. & Battey C. J. (2019) Minor allele frequency thresholds strongly affect population structure inference with genomic data sets. *Mol. Ecol. Resour.* 19, 639–47.
- Liu M., Zhong Q.-D., Cheng Y.-R. et al. (2015) The genetic relatedness in groups of joint-nesting Taiwan Yuhinas: low genetic relatedness with preferences for male kin. PLoS One 10, e0127341.
- Lopes M. S., Silva F. F., Harlizius B. *et al.* (2013) Improved estimation of inbreeding and kinship in pigs using optimized SNP panels. *BMC Genet.* **14**, 92.
- Lutermann H., Schmelting B., Radespiel U., Ehresmann P. & Zimmermann E. (2006) The role of survival for the evolution of female philopatry in a solitary forager, the grey mouse lemur (*Microcebus murinus*). Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 273, 2527–33.
- Massault C., Jones D., Zenger K., Strugnell J., Barnard R. & Jerry D. (2021) A SNP parentage assignment panel for the silver lipped pearl oyster (*Pinctada maxima*). Aquaculture Reports 20, 100687.
- Matocq M. D. (2004) Philopatry, kin clusters, and genetic relatedness in a population of woodrats (*Neotoma macrotis*). *Behav. Ecol.* 15, 647–53.

© 2021 Ecological Society of Australia.

- Melville J., Haines M. L., Boysen K. *et al.* (2017) Identifying hybridization and admixture using SNPs: application of the DArTseq platform in phylogeographic research on vertebrates. *Royal Society Open Science* **4**, 161061.
- Moseby K. E. & Bice J. K. (2004) A trial re-introduction of the Greater Stick-nest Rat (*Leporillus conditor*) in arid South Australia. *Ecol. Manage. Restor.* **5**, 7.
- Moseby K. E., Blumstein D. T., Letnic M. & West R. (2020) Choice or opportunity: are post-release social groupings influenced by familiarity or reintroduction protocols? *Oryx* 54, 215–21.
- Moseby K. E., Hill B. M. & Lavery T. H. (2014) Tailoring release protocols to individual species and sites: one size does not fit all. *PLoS One* 9, e99753.
- Moseby K. E., Lollback G. W. & Lynch C. E. (2018) Too much of a good thing; successful reintroduction leads to overpopulation in a threatened mammal. *Biol. Cons.* 219, 78–88.
- Moseby K. E., Read J. L., Paton D. C., Copley P., Hill B. M. & Crisp H. A. (2011) Predation determines the outcome of 10 reintroduction attempts in arid South Australia. *Biol. Cons.* 144, 2863–72.
- Moses R. A. & Millar J. S. (1994) Philopatry and motherdaughter associations in bushy-tailed woodrats: space use and reproductive success. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 35, 131– 40.
- Myles T. G. (1988) Resource inheritance in social evolution from termites to man. In: *Ecology of Social Behaviour* (ed C. Slobodchikoff) pp. 379–342. Academic Press, Inc, San Diego.
- Onley I. R., Austin J. J. & Mitchell K. J. (2021) Sex assignment in a non-model organism in the absence of field records using Diversity Arrays Technology (DArT) data. *Conserv. Genet. Resour.*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12686-021-01203-w.
- Ozer F. & Ashley M. V. (2013) Genetic evaluation of remnant and translocated shiners, *Notropis heterodon* and *Notropis heterolepis*. J. Fish Biol. 82, 1281–96.
- Pacifici M., Santini L., Di Marco M. et al. (2013) Generation length for mammals. Nat. Conserv. 5, 89.
- Pacioni C., Atkinson A., Wayne A. F., Maxwell M. A., Ward C. G. & Spencer P. B. S. (2020) Spatially sensitive harvest design can minimize genetic relatedness and enhance genetic outcomes in translocation programmes. *J. Zool.* **312**, 32–42. https://doi.org/10.1111/jzo.12791.
- Pacioni C., Wayne A. F. & Page M. (2019) Guidelines for genetic management in mammal translocation programs. *Biol. Cons.* 237, 105–13.
- Pärt T. (1995) The importance of local familiarity and search costs for age- and sex-biased philopatry in the collared flycatcher. Anim. Behav. 49, 1029–38.
- Patrick S. C. & Weimerskirch H. (2017) Reproductive success is driven by local site fidelity despite stronger specialisation by individuals for large-scale habitat preference. *J. Anim. Ecol.* 86, 674–82.
- Peakall R., Ruibal M. & Lindenmayer D. B. (2003) Spatial autocorrelation analysis offers new insights into gene flow in the Australian bush rat, *Rattus fuscipes. Evolution* 57, 1182–95.
- Peakall R. & Smouse P. E. (2012) GenAlEx 6.5: genetic analysis in Excel. Population genetic software for teaching and research—an update. *Bioinformatics* 28, 2537–9.
- Pearson S., Lawson E., Head L., McCarthy L. & Dodson J. (1999) The spatial and temporal patterns of stick-nest rat middens in Australia. *Radiocarbon* 41, 295–308.

- Pedler L. & Copley P. (1993) Re-introduction of stick-nest rats to Reevesby Island, South Australia. South Australian Department of Environment and Land Management: Biological Conservation Branch, Adelaide.
- Procter J. (2007) Greater Stick-Nest Rat Husbandry Guidelines. Alice Springs Desert Park. Husbandry Manual, Alice Springs.
- Robinson A. C. (1975) The sticknest rat, *Leporillus conditor*, on Franklin Island, Nuyts Archipelago, South Australia. *Aust. Mammal.* 1, 319–27.
- Ruppell O., Stratz M., Baier B. & Heinze J. (2003) Mitochondrial markers in the ant *Leptothorax rugatulus* reveal the population genetic consequences of female philopatry at different hierarchical levels. *Mol. Ecol.* 12, 795–801.
- Ruusila V., Pöysä H. & Runko P. (2001) Costs and benefits of female-biased natal philopatry in the common goldeneye. *Behav. Ecol.* **12**, 686–90.
- Ryan S., Moseby K. & Paton D. (2003) Comparative foraging preferences of the greater stick-nest rat *Leporillus conditor* and the European rabbit *Oryctolagus cuniculus*: implications for regeneration of arid lands. *Aust. Mammal.* 25, 135.
- Shaw R. E., Banks S. C. & Peakall R. (2018) The impact of mating systems and dispersal on fine-scale genetic structure at maternally, paternally and biparentally inherited markers. *Mol. Ecol.* 27, 66–82.
- Shier D. M. (2006) Effect of family support on the success of translocated black-tailed prairie dogs. *Conserv. Biol.* 20, 1780– 90.
- Shier D. M. & Swaisgood R. R. (2012) Fitness costs of neighborhood disruption in translocations of a solitary mammal. *Conserv. Biol.* 26, 116–23.
- Short J., Copley P., Ruykys L., Morris K., Read J. & Moseby K. (2019) Review of translocations of the greater stick-nest rat (*Leporillus conditor*): lessons learnt to facilitate ongoing recovery. *Wildl. Res.* 46, 455.
- Short J., Richards J. D., O'Neill S., Short J., Richards J. D. & O'Neill S. (2017) Reintroduction of the greater stick-nest rat (*Leporillus conditor*) to Heirisson Prong, Shark Bay: an unsuccessful attempt to establish a mainland population. *Aust. Mammal.* 40, 269–80.
- Silk J. B. (2007) The adaptive value of sociality in mammalian groups. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 362, 539–59.
- Singer F. J., Papouchis C. M. & Symonds K. K. (2000) Translocations as a tool for restoring populations of bighorn sheep. *Restor. Ecol.* 8(4S), 6–13.
- Smouse P. E., Peakall R. & Gonzales E. (2008) A heterogeneity test for fine-scale genetic structure. *Mol. Ecol.* 17, 3389–400.
- Stacey P. B. & Ligon J. D. (1991) The benefits-of-philopatry hypothesis for the evolution of cooperative breeding: variation in territory quality and group size effects. *Am. Nat.* 137, 831–46.
- Szulkin M. & Sheldon B. C. (2008) Dispersal as a means of inbreeding avoidance in a wild bird population. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 275, 703–11.
- Watson A., Moss R., Parr R., Mountford M. D. & Rothery P. (1994) Kin landownership, differential aggression between kin and non-kin, and population fluctuations in red grouse. *J. Anim. Ecol.* 63, 39–50.
- Watts C. H. S. (1976) Notes on the nests and diet of the white-tailed stick-nest rat, *Leporillus apicalis*, in Northern South Australia. S. Aust. Nat. 51, 9–12.
- Webeck K. & Pearson S. (2005) Stick-nest rat middens and a late-Holocene record of White Range, central Australia. *The Holocene* 15, 466–71.

- White L. C., Moseby K. E., Thomson V. A., Donnellan S. C. & Austin J. J. (2018) Long-term genetic consequences of mammal reintroductions into an Australian conservation reserve. *Biol. Cons.* 219, 1–11.
- Williams C. L., Breck S. W. & Baker B. W. (2004) Genetic methods improve accuracy of gender determination in beavers. J. Mammal. 85, 1145–8.
- Woinarski J. C. Z. & Burbidge A. A. (2016) Leporillus conditor. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species [online]. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. [Cited 12 July 2019.] Available from URL: https://doi.org/10.2305/IUCN. UK.2016-2.RLTS.T11634A22457522.en.
- Wolff J. O., Lundy K. I. & Baccus R. (1988) Dispersal, inbreeding avoidance and reproductive success in whitefooted mice. *Anim. Behav.* 36, 456–65.
- Wright B. R., Grueber C. E., Lott M. J., Belov K., Johnson R. N. & Hogg C. J. (2019) Impact of reducedrepresentation sequencing protocols on detecting population structure in a threatened marsupial. *Mol. Biol. Rep.* 46, 5575–80.

Zheng X., Levine D., Shen J., Gogarten S. M., Laurie C. & Weir B. S. (2012) A high-performance computing toolset for relatedness and principal component analysis of SNP data. *Bioinformatics* 28, 3326–8.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may/can be found online in the supporting information tab for this article.

Appendix S1. Nest site capture data used in kinship and nest relatedness analysis (first adult capture) of greater stick-nest rats (*Leporillus conditor*).

Appendix S2. Probability of full and half sibling dyads of greater stick-nest rats (*Leporillus conditor*) as determined by COLONY run.

97	Chapter 5
98	
99	The importance of alternative heat refuges for a nest-building rodent translocated to the arid
100	zone
101	

	The importance of alternative climate refuges for a nest-building rodent reintroduced to Australia's arid zone						
Publication Status	Published	Accepte	d for Pu	ublication			
Publication Details	Submitted for Publication Submitted to Journal of Arid Environments	Unpub manusci	lished a ript style	ind Unsubmitted work written in e			
Principal Author							
Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Isabelle Onley						
Contribution to the Paper	Isabelle collected data, developed and acted as corresponding author	the methodology,	analyse	ed the data, drafted the manuscript			
Overall percentage (%)	80%						
Certification:	This paper reports on original rese Research candidature and is not su party that would constrain its inclus	earch I conducted ibject to any obligation in this thesis. I	during f ations or I am the	the period of my Higher Degree by contractual agreements with a third primary author of this paper.			
Signature	F	D	ate	26/11/2021			
Co-Author Contributions By signing the Statement of Authorship i. the candidate's stated	s each author certifies that: contribution to the publication is accu for the candidate in include the public	rate (as detailed a ation in the thesis,	ubove); ; and				
ii. permission is granted	or contributions is caused to 100% loss	the candidate's st	ated co	ntribution.			
ii. permission is granted iii. the sum of all co-auth	or communitions is equal to 100 % ress						
ii. permission is granted iii. the sum of all co-auth Name of Co-Author	Kathenine Tuft						
ii. permission is granted iii. the sum of all co-auth Name of Co-Author Contribution to the Paper	Kathenine Tuft Kathenine assisted with field-base manuscript, and edited the manusc	i data collection, t ript.	he deve	lopment of the methodology and			
ii. permission is granted iii. the sum of all co-auth Name of Co-Author Contribution to the Paper Signature	Katherine Tuft Katherine assisted with field-base manuscript, and edited the manusc	i data collection, t ript.	he deve	lopment of the methodology and 26/11/2021			
ii. permission is granted iii. the sum of all co-auth Name of Co-Author Contribution to the Paper Signature Name of Co-Author	Katherine Tuft Katherine assisted with field-base manuscript, and edited the manusc	i data collection, t ript.	he deve vate	kopment of the methodology and 26/11/2021			

Signature		D	Date	6/12/2021
Please cut and paste additional co	o-author panels here as required.			
Name of Co-Author	Jeremy Austiin			
Contribution to the Paper	Jeremy assisted with experimental deamanuscript.	sign, deve	ekopment	of ideas and edited the
Signature		D	Date	6/92/2021

105	The importance of alternative heat refuges for a nest-building rodent reintroduced to
106	Australia's arid zone
107	
108	Isabelle R Onley ¹ *, Katherine Tuft ² , Jeremy J Austin ¹ , Katherine E Moseby ^{2,3}
109	
110	¹ Australian Centre for Ancient DNA (ACAD), School of Biological Sciences, University of
111	Adelaide, South Australia, Adelaide, SA 5005, Australia
112	² Arid Recovery, PO Box 147, Roxby Downs, SA 5725
113	³ Centre for Ecosystem Sciences, Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of New
114	South Wales, Sydney, NSW 2035, Australia
115	* Corresponding author (email: isabelle.onley@adelaide.edu.au) (ORCID 0000-0003-2053-
116	4002)
117	
118	Author contributions
119	Isabelle Onley: Funding acquisition, conceptualisation, methodology, formal analysis,
120	investigation, data curation, visualisation, writing – original draft. Katherine Tuft:
121	Conceptualisation, methodology, validation, writing - review & editing. Jeremy Austin:
122	Conceptualisation, methodology, validation, writing - review & editing, supervision.
123	Katherine Moseby: Conceptualisation, methodology, validation, writing - review & editing,
124	supervision.
125	
126	Highlights
127	• Understanding thermal properties of refugia is important under climate change
128	• Greater stick-nest rats build nests under shrubs but also in burrows and rocky ledges
129	• Rocky substrates provide better thermal buffering in extreme climates
130	• Alternative heat refuges may need to be provided for nesting species in the future
131	
132	Abstract
133	
134	Effective heat refuges are of increasing importance for nesting species under climate change,
135	particularly in the arid zone, with heatwaves predicted to become more frequent and intense.
136	The greater stick-nest rat shelters in nests built beneath vegetation, under rocky outcrops and
137	in the burrows of other species. This study aimed to determine whether rocky substrates

138 provide a more thermally buffered environment than vegetation, and whether this is more 139 important in the arid zone than mesic environments. We compared internal temperatures of 140 nests beneath different substrates in two environments – arid and coastal – to quantify their 141 thermal buffering capabilities. We found that rocky substrates typically provided a more 142 stable microclimate than nests beneath vegetation, particularly in the arid environment during 143 extreme temperatures and heatwaves. However, above ground nests within large shrubs 144 provided a warmer microclimate during winter which may assist with thermoregulation 145 during breeding. We suggest that optimum habitat for greater stick-nest rats may include 146 areas where large shrubs and rocky warrens are both present. Future management strategies 147 of nesting species vulnerable to climate change should ensure that rocky shelters, either 148 natural or artificial, are available. Further, reintroducing ground nesting mammals in tandem 149 with burrowing species will also increase the prevalence of warrens as an alternative heat 150 refuge. 151 152 Key words 153 154 Refugia, climate change, translocation, ecology, thermoregulation, nesting rodent 155 156 **Declarations** 157 158 Funding 159 This research was supported by the University of Adelaide and funded by the following organisations and awards: Arid Recovery, Australian Government Research Training 160 161 Program Scholarship, Nature Foundation South Australia Grand Start Grant (Grant No. 2019-162 07), Biological Society South Australia/Nature Conservation Society of South Australia 163 Conservation Biology Grant, Field Naturalists Society of South Australia Lirabenda 164 Endowment Fund Research Grant. Field work was undertaken at the Arid Recovery Reserve, 165 which is run by a conservation charity (Arid Recovery) supported by BHP, the University of 166 Adelaide, Bush Heritage Australia and the South Australian Department for Environment and 167 Water. 168 169 Conflicts of interest The authors declare no conflicts of interest. 170 171

172 *Ethics approval*

173 All monitoring was conducted under the University of Adelaide Animal Ethics Committee,

174 Approval Number S-2019-074, subject to the requirements of the Animal Welfare Act (SA),

175 the Australian Code for the care and use of animals for scientific purposes and other relevant

animal welfare Codes of Practice. Scientific Research Permit Number Q26904 was granted

- 177 by the Department of Environment and Water, Government of South Australia.
- 178

179 Introduction

180

181 Periods of extreme heat have been linked to recent mass mortality events in several species,

182 such as flying foxes (*Pteropus* spp.), wrinkle-lipped bats (*Chaerephon plicatus*), blue mussels

183 (Mytilus edulis) and Carnaby's Black Cockatoo (Calyptorhynchus latirostris) (Welbergen et

al. 2008; Saunders et al. 2011; McKechnie et al. 2012; Pruvot et al. 2019; Ratnayake et al.

185 2019; Seuront et al. 2019). Heatwaves are predicted to become more frequent and intense

186 under climate change, with potentially disastrous consequences for biodiversity on both

187 regional and global scales (Perkins-Kirkpatrick and Gibson 2017). This is of particular

188 concern for arid species that already experience high ambient temperatures. During times of

189 heat stress in arid environments, thermal refugia such as nests, tree hollows, burrows and

190 vegetation are a vital resource, and many species utilise these microhabitats to provide a

191 stable thermal environment for themselves and their young (Pike and Mitchell 2013).

192 Burrowing behaviour is common among arid vertebrates and invertebrates, and warrens serve

193 a dual purpose as shelter from both climate extremes and predators. A variety of other species

194 also utilise these underground shelters, particularly during the summer months (Kinlaw 1999;

195 Read et al. 2008; Dawson et al. 2019).

196

197 One species known to build nests for protection against weather and predators is the greater 198 stick-nest rat (Leporillus conditor), a murid rodent once found across the arid and semi-arid 199 regions of southern Australia. Stick-nest rats are characterised by their large, resilient nest 200 structures that they build as a central refuge (Robinson 1975). These nests are typically 201 comprised of sticks bonded together by the rats' sticky urine, that crystallises to form amberat 202 (Copley 1999a). The structure of the nests are fairly heterogeneous, with a series of tunnels 203 leading to a central chamber lined with soft vegetation and occasionally feathers (Robinson 204 1975). The nests are communal, and are inhabited by successive matrilinial generations 205 (Copley 1999a; Onley et al. 2021). They are typically built within shrubs or under low

206 hanging trees or rocky breakaways, measuring from less than 50 cm in height and 80 cm in 207 diameter to up to 1 m high and 2 m in diameter (Robinson 1975; Moseby and Bice 2004). 208 Early European explorers noted that stick-nest rat nests were so robust that they could not be 209 pulled apart manually (Le Souef 1922). Despite the species' use of nests as a predator 210 avoidance strategy, the introduction of rabbits, cats and foxes by Europeans, in addition to 211 pastoralism, resulted in the mainland extinction of the greater stick-nest rat (Copley 1999a). 212 Conservation efforts for the species have included a number of translocations from its 213 remaining extant population on the Franklin Islands, including a reintroduction to Arid 214 Recovery Reserve, near Roxby Downs, South Australia (Moseby and Bice 2004; Moseby et 215 al. 2011). While some other reintroductions of greater stick-nest rats have failed (Short et al. 216 2018), the population at Arid Recovery has remained viable for twenty years; however, high 217 mortality rates have been observed during the hot summer months (Bolton and Moseby 218 2004).

219

220 The thermal insulation provided by nests is of particular importance to species living in 221 extreme environments, such as the arid zone of Australia, where diurnal temperatures can 222 fluctuate by up to 35°C and water is scarce (National Climate Centre 2008). Extreme heat 223 stress, or hyperthermia, can have a number of detrimental effects on rodents, including rapid 224 water loss, hyperventilation, loss of coordination and, in extreme cases, organ damage, 225 neurological complications, and death (Haveman et al. 2005; Leon et al. 2010; Quinn et al. 226 2014). It is therefore important to develop our understanding of heat refuges for the greater 227 stick-nest rat, particularly under the projected temperature increases under climate change. 228 The thermal properties of stick-nest rat nests have not been extensively studied, and other 229 rodents that exhibit similar nest-building behaviours have been the subject of limited 230 research. A laboratory study on the nest material preferences of the European ground squirrel 231 (Spermophilus citellus) found that the insulation properties of nests built from fresh grass 232 were superior to those built from dry grass, likely due to the flexibility of fresh nesting 233 material allowing for a thicker, less permeable structure (Gedeon et al. 2010). Another study 234 on woodwool nests built by short-tailed field voles (Microtus agrestis) in captivity 235 determined that the most important factor influencing nest insulation was found to be wall 236 thickness (Redman et al. 1999). Temperatures inside nest structures built by pack rats 237 (Neotoma spp.) have been recorded up to 10°C below ambient air temperature in the warmer 238 months, when outdoor temperatures reached up to 37°C (Whitford and Steinberger 2010).

- 239 Comparable studies have also recorded the internal nest temperatures of ground-nesting
- 240 birds; the nests of bobwhites in Oklahoma were monitored during periods of extreme diurnal
- temperature fluctuations, and it was observed that when ambient temperatures reached
- $\geq 39^{\circ}$ C, mortality rates were lower in nests that remained, on average, 6°C cooler than other –
- 243 however, no structural variables that may be linked to the thermoregulatory properties of
- 244 nests were determined in this study (Carroll et al. 2015).
- 245

246 Given that the thermoregulatory capacity of nesting sites in many taxa (including birds, 247 mammals, and invertebrates) has been linked to reproductive success and mortality in 248 extreme environments (Flaquer et al. 2014; Michielsen et al. 2019), and that heat stress has 249 been recorded as a cause of mortality in greater stick-nest rats in the summer months (Bolton 250 and Moseby 2004), nest insulation is likely to be an important consideration for greater stick-251 nest rats translocated to desert areas such as Arid Recovery. Further, greater stick-nest rats 252 translocated to the Arid Recovery Reserve would experience a desert climate and average 253 temperatures several degrees higher than those experienced by the founding populations 254 located in coastal areas (Australian Bureau of Meteorology 2021). If greater stick-nest rats 255 have developed lower heat tolerance thresholds in response to cooler, coastal environments, 256 this may increase the importance of thermally buffered refugia when translocated to arid 257 regions. We monitored the internal temperatures of greater stick-nest rat nests located in 258 rocky shelters (ledges or warrens) and under vegetation at both the mesic founder site 259 (Reevesby Island) and the arid translocation site (Arid Recovery) to inform shelter suitability 260 during periods of heat stress. We expect that i) nests built in or under rock will be more 261 thermally buffered than nests built under vegetation at both sites and ii) nests on Reevesby 262 Island will be exposed to much lower temperatures than those at Arid Recovery. In good 263 conditions, greater stick-nest rats have been observed to breed year-round, but high summer 264 temperatures may limit breeding to annual events in cooler months in semi-arid and arid 265 areas (Copley, 1988; Moseby and Bice 2004). Given that females demonstrate a high degree 266 of nest fidelity (Onley et al. 2021), understanding the conditions inside nests and how they 267 may impact breeding success will be an important outcome for the ongoing management of 268 the species. In addition, it may assist in identifying optimum release sites for future 269 translocation efforts and predicted persistence under the increasing temperatures and 270 projected weather extremes of anthropogenic climate change.

- 272 Methods
- 273

274 Study Sites

275

276 Reevesby Island

277

278 Reevesby Island is a 344 ha island located 20 km south east of Tumby Bay in the Spencer 279 Gulf, South Australia. It consists of low dunes and sandplain, limestone outcrops, open 280 shrublands, chenopods and grassland, and the climate is characterised by temperate, dry 281 summers (mean maximum temperature 26.3 °C in January), with higher rainfall in winter 282 (mean monthly rainfall 60.3 mm in June as opposed to 15.0 mm in January) (annual average 283 rainfall 388.5 mm) (Australian Bureau of Meteorology 2021). It was used for grazing 284 livestock until the mid-1970's, and since this time feral predators, including cats (*Felis catus*) 285 have been eradicated. The introduced plant African Boxthorn (Lycium ferocissimum) has 286 spread across the island (Pedler and Copley 1993). The lack of feral predators, as well as 287 skeletal evidence that greater stick-nest rats once inhabited the island, made Reevesby Island 288 a suitable release site for the species, and a translocation program began in 1990 (Copley 289 1988; Pedler and Copley 1993). A population was successfully established, with numbers 290 varying between 600-5000, and greater stick-nest rats utilised the boxthorn for nesting, as 291 well as the rocky outcrops along the shoreline (Pedler and Copley 1993; Copley 1999b; Short 292 et al. 2019).

293

294 Arid Recovery

295

296 Arid Recovery is a fenced 123 km² reserve located 20 km north of Roxby Downs, South 297 Australia. It has an arid climate, with hot summers (mean maximum temperature 37.1 °C in 298 January) and unpredictable rainfall (annual mean rainfall is 139 mm, but has been recorded as 299 low as 35.2 mm and as high as 320.2 mm in the last twenty years) (Australian Bureau of 300 Meteorology 2021). Habitats within the Arid Recovery Reserve include longitudinal dunes 301 and chenopod swales (Moseby and Bice 2004). Following a trial release in 1998, greater 302 stick-nest rats were translocated into a 14 km² paddock within the reserve and subsequently 303 monitored (Moseby et al. 2011). Greater stick-nest rats at Arid Recovery build stick nests 304 beneath shrubs and bushes (such as Umbrella Wattle (Acacia oswaldii) and Narrow-leafed 305 Hopbush (Dodonaea viscosa)), but have also been observed to shelter in the warrens of
306 burrowing bettongs (*Bettongia lesueur*) (Bolton and Moseby 2004; Moseby and Bice 2004).

- 307 Burrowing bettongs were reintroduced to the reserve in 1999 and 2000, and have created
- 308 many warren systems beneath the calcrete layer that provide a thermally buffered
- 309 environment (Moseby et al. 2011, 2018). Recently, managers at Arid Recovery constructed
- 310 two hollow rock piles as an alternative thermal refuge for greater stick-nest rats (H.
- 311 McGregor Pers Comm. 2021). These rock piles were constructed using calcrete blocks and
- 312 sedimentary stones from within the reserve, with metal pallet frames to create an open space
- 313 beneath the rocks. The rocks were piled tightly on top of the frames in layers to reach heights
- of approximately 80 cm, with diameters of roughly 1.5 m. A small gap at the base of each
- 315 pile was left open to allow greater stick-nest rats to enter the cavity beneath.
- 316

317 Data collection

318

319 10 HOBO MX2301A Temperature/Relative Humidity (RH) data loggers (accuracy ±0.2°C, 320 ±2.5%RH) were deployed at each study location (Reevesby Island and Arid Recovery, 20 321 loggers total), across varying habitat types and nest locations (Figure 1). Nest surveys were 322 conducted, and indicators of activity such as counts of fresh scats and tracks were noted, 323 along with observations of vegetation cover type and density. Loggers recorded temperature 324 and relative humidity at 1 hour intervals. At Reevesby Island, all nests showed some degree 325 of activity (i.e. fresh scats present). At Arid Recovery, not all nests were active at the time of 326 recording but had been used in recent years when the greater stick-nest rat population was 327 higher. At Arid Recovery, loggers were placed on the soil surface inside nests under 328 cottonbush (Maireana aphylla) shrubs (n=2) and Acacia (Acacia ligulata)/Dodonea (Dodonea 329 viscosa) shrubs (n=3), inside burrowing bettong burrows known to be used by greater stick-330 nest rats (n=3) and inside one artificial rock pile (n=1) (Supplementary Information 1). Given 331 the homogeneity of the landscape, one ambient logger was installed at Arid Recovery ~2 m 332 from the ground inside a ventilated equipment shelter that provided sufficient cover from 333 solar radiation and wind to record true ambient temperatures. At Reevesby Island loggers 334 were placed on the soil surface inside nests underneath boxthorn bushes (n=4) and nests built 335 underneath limestone ledges and outcrops (n=4) (Supplementary Information 1). As the two 336 boxthorn and limestone outcrops habitat types at Reevesby Island varied considerably (inland 337 versus coastal, respectively), an ambient logger was installed in each habitat type. For all 338 analyses comparing internal nest temperature to ambient in the Reevesby Island dataset, the

339 appropriate ambient temperature was used (i.e. boxthorn nest temperatures were compared to 340 ambient temperature in boxthorn habitat only). The ambient loggers were placed in slatted 341 PVC housing that allowed for airflow but protected the loggers from solar radiation, excess 342 moisture and high winds and were set up in a shaded, south-facing location and installed 343 approximately 30 cm above ground. Infrastructure at Reevesby Island was not available to 344 suspend the ambient logger any higher than 30cm off the ground, without risking exposure to 345 sun and wind that would compromise the results. At Arid Recovery, a shelter was available 346 that would eliminate these risks, but it required the logger to be installed at a greater height 347 where the roof would shelter it from the sun.





Figure 1: Logger locations at Arid Recovery and Reevesby Island, coloured by nest type.

352 Data loggers deployed inside nests (n=13) were attached to 2 mm wire to allow for

353 deployment and retrieval with minimal disturbance to the nest and secured to stakes or

nearby vegetation. Loggers were installed via rat entry holes to a minimum of 30 cm towards

355 the centre of the nest, at the point of easiest entry that would require minimal disturbance to

the nest. In warrens, loggers were deployed to a depth of 30-40cm into the warren and

tethered externally to a stake using wire. GPS coordinates of each nest was recorded. Loggers
remained in the field for a period of twelve months (January 2020 – January 2021, summer to
summer) at Reevesby Island, and fourteen months (January 2020 – March 2021, summer to
autumn) at Arid Recovery to encompass seasonal climatic variation. Upon retrieval of
loggers, nest surveys were repeated to determine whether activity patterns of nests had
changed. Data from loggers were downloaded onto a mobile device using the Onset HOBO

- 363 application and exported as a comma delimited file for subsequent analysis.
- 364

365 Data analysis

366

367 All data analysis was conducted using the software package R (v3.5.3). To visualise the data, 368 the package "ggplot2" (v3.3.3) was used. Descriptive statistics for loggers at each nest at 369 each site were then calculated using the "dplyr" package (v1.0.2), including mean 370 temperature and standard deviations, as well as minimum and maximum temperatures and daily average temperature range (hereafter "mean range"). As a reflection of the possible 371 372 amount of time greater stick-nest rats would spend under heat stress sheltering in each nest 373 type, the number of days during the observation period at which internal temperatures 374 reached 40°C or higher were calculated (Liu et al. 2011; Chauhan et al. 2017; Cooper et al. 375 2020), as well as the number of times internal nest temperatures reached or exceeded 40°C 376 for three or more consecutive days (hereafter "heatwaves") (consistent with the Bureau of 377 Meteorology's (BOM) definition of a heatwave (Bureau of Meteorology 2018)). No specific 378 data on heat tolerance threshold is available for greater stick-nest rats – however, based on 379 the increased mortality observed by Collins (1973) in bush rats (Rattus fuscipes) at 380 temperatures exceeding 40°C, we chose 40°C as the threshold for heat stress in this study. 381

To determine the thermal buffering properties of nests and to capture seasonal variation, we ran linear regression models of each nest with ambient temperature as the independent predictor variable and extracted residuals using the "stats" package (v4.0.2) to determine how closely the internal temperature of the nests matched ambient temperature. Mean daily (7:00-19:00) and nightly (19:00-7:00) residual values were calculated and plotted for each nest type. Negative and positive residual values reflect internal nest temperatures below or above ambient, respectively, with 0 indicating no difference.

- 390 Finally, given the number of external factors that may influence internal nest temperature (i.e.
- 391 vegetation cover, orientation, nest wall thickness), we then conducted linear mixed effects
- 392 (LME) models using the "nlme" package (v3.1-152) (Pinheiro et al. 2012), comparing

393 ambient temperature variables to all nests at each study site as a function of nest type (i.e.

- 394 vegetative or rocky), with nest site as a random component to determine whether nest type
- 395 alone significantly influenced internal temperature.
- 396
- 397 Results
- 398

Five out of twenty of the loggers (four at Reevesby Island and one at Arid Recovery) failed
during deployment due to internal water damage, despite the loggers being sold as
waterproof. The loggers at Reevesby Island failed in April 2020, August 2020, October 2020,

402 and December 2020 respectively, while the logger at Arid Recovery failed in July 2020. Data

403 collected up until the point of failure were retrieved from all five loggers and included in the

404 analysis, following inspection of the data to ensure that values were not compromised by

- 405 damage to the sensors. However, due to the high number of logger failures at Reevesby
- 406 Island and subsequent reduction of the dataset, the recording period used in the analysis for
- 407 this site was reduced from 12 months to six months, from 22/01/2020 to 30/06/2020
- 408 including late summer, autumn and winter.
- 409

410 **Descriptive Statistics**

411

412 Ambient temperature had the widest range at Arid Recovery, with ambient temperature 413 reaching a maximum of 46. 4°C and a minimum of -1.6°C. In comparison, Reevesby Island 414 recorded a maximum of 34.3°C and a minimum of 3.9°C. Temperatures on Reevesby Island 415 did not exceed 40°C during the six month period used in this analysis, nor were temperatures 416 recorded above this threshold during the full twelve month period by the loggers that 417 remained active. However, during the 15 month recording period at Arid Recovery, ambient 418 temperature reached or exceeded 40°C on 19 days, with heatwaves (three or more 419 consecutive days over 40°C) recorded on three separate occasions (Figure 2). Temperatures 420 within warrens and the rock pile at Arid Recovery appeared more stable than nests beneath 421 vegetation, with no heatwave events, fewer days over 40°C and a less thermal variation than 422 other nest types (i.e. lower daily maximum and higher daily minimum) (Figures 2 and 3). A 423 similar trend was apparent at Reevesby Island, where temperatures beneath rock ledges

- 424 appeared more stable than those in boxthorn nests, with the exception of LC4 (Figures 2 and
- 425 3). Mean temperatures showed little variation between nest location or type at Arid Recovery
- 426 in general (mean temperatures across all nest sites ranged from 21.3°C to 23.1°C), but nests
- 427 under rock ledges at Reevesby Island had higher mean daily temperature than boxthorn nests
- 428 and ambient (18.9-20.0°C compared to 17.7-19.9°C, respectively). A full table of descriptive
- 429 statistics is available in Supplementary Information 2.
- 430
- 431







434 type at Arid Recovery, and overall temperature range for each nest by type at B) Arid

435 Recovery and C) Reevesby Island.



436

437

Figure 3: Comparison of smoothed daily minimum and maximum temperatures recorded in
each nest by type at A) Arid Recovery and B) Reevesby Island. One rock nest on Reevesby
Island, LC4, experienced higher temperatures than other nests.

442 Residual Internal Temperature vs Ambient

443

Comparison of residual internal nest temperature with ambient revealed not only seasonal
fluctuations, but variation in thermal buffering capacity between nest types. At Arid
Recovery, both warrens and rock piles were generally cooler than ambient during the day
(mean residual values -1.11 and -0.58 respectively), with the exception of the late summer

- 448 months, while warmer than ambient at night (mean residual values 1.31 and 0.58
- 449 respectively), indicating good thermal buffering most of the year (Figure 4). Conversely,
- 450 acacia and cottonbush nests were typically warmer than ambient during the day (mean

- 451 residual values 0.40 and 0.73 respectively), and cooler at night (mean residual values -0.4 and
- 452 0.73 respectively). At Reevesby Island, residuals for both nest types were similar (mean
- 453 daytime residual for boxthorn = -0.37 and rock = -0.35, mean night time residual for
- 454 boxthorn = 0.38 and rock = 0.35), but with some seasonal variation (Figure 4).
- 455
- 456
- 457



458 **Figure 4:** Average daily and nightly residual temperatures of each nest type in comparison to

459 respective ambient temperature (y intercept = 0) at Arid Recovery and Reevesby Island.

460 0=logger is same temperature as ambient.

462 Mixed Effects Models

464 LME models revealed no significant effect of nest type on internal nest temperature at 465 Reevesby Island. At Arid Recovery, while variation between the nest types was evident, a 466 statistically significant relationship between internal temperature and nest type was only 467 evident for warrens when evaluating minimum (p-value <0.0001), maximum (p-value 0.038) 468 and daily temperature range (p-value 0.013), and the rock pile in relation to minimum 469 temperature (p-value 0.005). All model outputs are detailed in Supplementary Information 3. 470 The lack of statistically significant relationships between certain nest types and temperature 471 variables when clear variation is evident (e.g. the number of heatwave events in the rock pile 472 in comparison to nests under Acacia) may be caused by the low sample size, particularly for 473 the rock pile. 474 475 476 Discussion 477 478 Monitoring of internal temperatures of greater stick-nest rat nests with different nest types at 479 two locations revealed considerable variation in nest type thermal buffering at Arid 480 Recovery, where temperatures within rock and warren shelters were generally more stable 481 than nests located beneath vegetation. A similar trend was observed at Reevesby Island, 482 albeit to a lesser extent. 483 484 As hypothesised, internal temperatures of nests at Reevesby Island were lower and less 485 extreme than those recorded at Arid Recovery. Internal temperatures of nests built beneath 486 rock ledges at Reevesby Island proved to be less variable than those inside boxthorn shrubs, 487 with the exception of nest LC4. This nest recorded higher temperatures than all other rock 488 ledge nests, possibly due to solar radiation or radiant body heat from nesting greater stick-489 nest rats. Overall, rock ledges were more thermally buffered than boxthorn nests. However, 490 LME models determined that the rocky shelters did not have a significant effect on 491 temperature variables at Reevesby Island, possibly due to the absence of extreme 492 temperatures as observed at Arid Recovery. Residual nightly temperatures in rock ledges 493 were lower than boxthorn nests in comparison to ambient temperature during the winter 494 months, indicating poor thermal buffering during this time. This may have been the result of

495 coastal weather patterns, as the rock ledges monitored in this study were all located on the 496 eastern coastline of the island where they would have been more exposed to coastal winds 497 and sheltered from daily maximum solar radiation, occurring in the afternoon when the sun is 498 in the west (Guan et al. 2013). Internal temperatures of boxthorn nests remained relatively 499 similar to ambient throughout the year, although maximum temperatures were slightly higher 500 in summer and lower in winter, an indication of poor thermal buffering. Again, boxthorn as a 501 nest cover was not determined to have a significant effect on internal temperature by LME 502 models. This suggests that in mesic environments such as Reevesby Island, a variety of 503 nesting habitats may be important across the seasons - in this case, rock ledges may provide good thermal buffering in summer, but boxthorn nests are more favourable in winter. 504

505

506 Although there was no significant variance in mean internal temperature between refuge 507 types at Arid Recovery, clear differences between treatments emerged when analysing nest 508 temperatures during thermal extremes. Bettong warrens and the artificial rock pile exhibited 509 good thermal buffering, with higher daily minimum temperatures, lower maximum 510 temperatures, fewer days over 40°C and no heatwaves in comparison to nests beneath 511 vegetation or ambient temperature, a highly advantageous feature for a nocturnal animal in an 512 extreme desert environment. Although the rock pile did experience a higher number of days 513 over 40°C than warrens, these temperatures were not sustained long enough to be considered 514 a heatwave. LME models showed that nest type had a significant effect on the maximum and 515 minimum daily temperatures of warrens, as well as the daily range. For the rock pile, nest 516 type was significantly associated with minimum daily temperature only, despite this nest also 517 having lower values for maximum temperature and daily range than nests beneath vegetation. 518 This lack of correlation may be the result of low sample size and statistical power for this 519 nest type, which can mask relationships during analysis (Zuur et al. 2009).

520

521 Of the nests built beneath vegetation, cottonbush and acacia appeared relatively similar in 522 terms of poor thermal buffering. Both experienced temperatures exceeding 40°C on more 523 days than the ambient temperature in all but one nest, likely due to the exposure of the nests 524 to solar radiation or radiant heat from the ground). Nests beneath both shrub species also 525 experienced more heatwaves, wherein temperatures exceeded 40°C on three or more 526 consecutive days. LMEs did not determine a significant effect of nest type on internal 527 temperature in these nests, suggesting that thermal properties may be influenced by other 528 factors such as nest thickness, size and construction material (Redman et al. 1999; Gedeon et

529 al. 2010). However, studies on communal nests built by sociable weavers (*Philetairus socius*) 530 found no effect of nest volume on thermoregulatory benefits (van Dijk et al. 2013). 531 Comparison of results from the two study sites suggest that thermal buffering of nests 532 beneath vegetation may not be effective in extreme climates, like the desert environment of 533 Arid Recovery Reserve. However, nests within large shrubs may be important as protection 534 from predators during breeding, as well as providing passive warming of greater stick-nest 535 rats and their young during the cooler winter months. Thus, habitat where large shrubs and 536 rocky warrens are both present may provide the optimum combination for thermoregulation 537 of greater stick-nest rats in arid environments. It should be noted, however, that loggers 538 recording in nests beneath vegetation may not have been placed in the exact location that the 539 greater stick-nest rats were inhabiting, which is a limitation of this study – greater stick-nest 540 rat nests have been recorded as having many chambers at varying heights and depths within 541 the nest (Arid Recovery, unpublished data). Additionally, the presence or absence of greater 542 stick-nest rats inside the nests may also have influenced the temperatures recorded.

543

544

545 Climate refugia are a valuable resource for species living in Australia's arid zone. Many 546 species construct warren and burrow systems, scrapes or nests to act as an environmental 547 buffer (Kinlaw 1999; Riley et al. 2021). These, in turn, create refuges for other sympatric 548 organisms (Read et al. 2008). Reptiles, for example, have been observed to use termite 549 mounds in the Pilbara of Western Australia as shelter from the hot sun and cold nights, as 550 well as predators (Thompson and Thompson 2015). A study on the sheltering behaviour of 551 the sandhill dunnart (Sminthopsis psammophila) recently found a preference for constructing 552 burrows under Triodia hummocks rather than sheltering under hummocks alone (Riley et al. 553 2021). Although the greater stick-nest rat is characterised by its nest building behaviours, 554 accounts of the species prior to its mainland extinction state that greater stick-nest rats in arid 555 areas often built their nests over existing warrens dug by European rabbits (Oryctolagus 556 cuniculus), and likely by burrowing bettongs prior to their mainland extinction (Le Souef 557 1922; Troughton and Wright 1923). Further, greater stick-nest rats on the Franklin Islands 558 have been observed building nests over, and inside, penguin burrows (Troughton and Wright 559 1923; Robinson 1975). This behaviour has been supported by studies of the greater stick-nest 560 rat population at Arid Recovery, where nest-building over bettong warrens has been observed 561 (Bolton and Moseby 2004; Moseby and Bice 2004; Moseby et al. 2014). This knowledge, 562 combined with the present study, suggests that underground warrens constructed by other

563 species provide important heat refuges for greater stick-nest rats in an arid environment. 564 Further, we present evidence that man-made rock structures provide a good alternative to 565 naturally occurring rocky outcrops. While thermal buffering in the rock pile was not quite as 566 effective as warrens, the rock pile was relatively stable during periods of extreme heat and 567 resistant to heatwaves, an important consideration given the mass wildlife mortality events 568 associated with such climatic events (Ratnayake et al. 2019). Because the loss of vegetated 569 microhabitats as a result of climate change is likely to have a strong impact on arid species 570 (Grimm-Seyfarth et al. 2017), this finding is of significance for future management of greater 571 stick-nest rats and other nesting, arid-dwelling species. As most studies of artificial refuges 572 focus on arboreal species, and only a small percentage measure the thermal properties of 573 these refuges (Cowan et al. 2021), this research is a timely contribution to the literature 574 surrounding heat refuges.

575

576 Heat refuges are becoming an increasingly important resource for managers to consider when 577 planning translocations and population management of threatened species. Managers 578 planning future translocation efforts of greater stick-nest rats to the arid zone or to bioregions 579 predicted to experience highly variable temperatures under climate change, particularly 580 reaching or exceeding 40°C, should ensure that rocky shelters or species that burrow are 581 present in the community so that alternative thermal refuges are made available to greater 582 stick-nest rats in times of heat stress. This will be of particular importance under climate 583 change scenarios, with the number of heatwave days per year predicted to double in certain 584 regions of Australia in the near future (Herold et al. 2018). The ideal habitat for greater stick-585 nest rats may well be a combination of large shrubs to provide nesting substrate with access 586 to solar warming during winter coupled with burrows in rocky substrate to facilitate thermal 587 buffering in summer. Further research into the thermal properties of burrows in other substrates, such as sand, would also be a valuable contribution to the future management of 588 589 greater stick-nest rats and other nesting species. If access to rocky outcrops or space in 590 warrens is limited, artificial rock piles present an alternative refuge type. However, the 591 uptake of artificial rock piles by greater stick-nest rats at Arid Recovery has not yet been 592 studied and trials involving optimising the design of artificial rock piles are required. 593

594 Acknowledgements

Thank you to Hugh McGregor and Stan Slagmolen for designing and constructing the
artificial rock shelters at Arid Recovery. For fieldwork assistance, the authors wish to thank

- 597 Georgina Neave, Genevieve Hayes, and all other staff of Arid Recovery Reserve, as well as
- the National Parks and Wildlife Service rangers for Sir Joseph Banks Group, particularly
- 599 Kyle Watters. The authors also thank Simon Tuke and Steve Delean for statistical advice.

601 References

- Australian Bureau of Meteorology, 2021. Australian Bureau of Meteorology Website
 [online]. Available from: http://www.bom.gov.au.
- Bolton, J. and Moseby, K., 2004. The activity of Sand Goannas *Varanus gouldii* and their
 interaction with reintroduced Greater Stick-nest Rats *Leporillus conditor*. Pacific
 Conservation Biology, 10 (3), 193.
- Bureau of Meteorology, 2018. Heatwave Assessment and Forecast. [online]. Available from:
 http://www.bom.gov.au/metadata/catalogue/19115/ANZCW0503900601 [Accessed 8
 Jun 2021].
- 610 Carroll, J. M., Davis, C. A., Elmore, R. D. and Fuhlendorf, S. D., 2015. A Ground-Nesting
 611 Galliform's Response to Thermal Heterogeneity: Implications for Ground-Dwelling
 612 Birds. PLOS ONE, 10 (11), e0143676.
- 613 Chauhan, N. R., Kapoor, M., Prabha Singh, L., Gupta, R. K., Chand Meena, R., Tulsawani,
 614 R., Nanda, S. and Bala Singh, S., 2017. Heat stress-induced neuroinflammation and
 615 aberration in monoamine levels in hypothalamus are associated with temperature
 616 dysregulation. Neuroscience, 358, 79–92.
- 617 Collins, B. G., 1973. The ecological significance of thermoregulatory responses to heat stress
 618 shown by two populations of an Australian murid, *Rattus fuscipes*. Comparative
 619 Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology, 44 (4), 1129–1140.
- Cooper, C. E., Hurley, L. L., Deviche, P. and Griffith, S. C., 2020. Physiological responses of
 wild zebra finches (*Taeniopygia guttata*) to heatwaves. Journal of Experimental
 Biology, 223 (12)
- 623 Copley, P., 1988. The Stick-nest Rats of Australia: A Final Report to World Wildlife Fund
 624 (Australia). National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Environment and
 625 Planning.
- 626 Copley, P., 1999a. Natural histories of Australia's stick-nest rats, genus *Leporillus*627 (Rodentia : Muridae). Wildlife Research, 26 (4), 513.
- Copley, P., 1999b. Review of the recovery plan for greater stick-nest rat, *Leporillus conditor*.
 Adelaide: Biodiversity Branch, Department for Environment, Heritage and Aboriginal
 Affairs.
- 631 Cowan, M. A., Callan, M. N., Watson, M. J., Watson, D. M., Doherty, T. S., Michael, D. R.,
 632 Dunlop, J. A., Turner, J. M., Moore, H. A., Watchorn, D. J. and Nimmo, D. G., 2021.
 633 Artificial refuges for wildlife conservation: what is the state of the science? Biological
 634 Reviews
- Dawson, S., Broussard, L., Adams, P., Moseby, K., Waddington, K., Kobryn, H., Bateman,
 P. and Fleming, P., 2019. An outback oasis: the ecological importance of bilby
 burrows. Journal of Zoology, 308 (3), 149–163.
- Flaquer, C., Puig-Montserrat, X., López-Baucells, A., Torre, I., Freixas, L., Mas, M., Porres,
 X. and Arrizabalaga, A., 2014. Could overheating turn bat boxes into death traps.
 Barbastella, 7 (1), 46–53.
- 641 Gedeon, C. I., Markó, G., Németh, I., Nyitrai, V. and Altbäcker, V., 2010. Nest material
 642 selection affects nest insulation quality for the European ground squirrel (
 643 Spermophilus citellus). Journal of Mammalogy, 91 (3), 636–641.
- 644 Grimm-Seyfarth, A., Mihoub, J.-B. and Henle, K., 2017. Too hot to die? The effects of
 645 vegetation shading on past, present, and future activity budgets of two diurnal skinks
 646 from arid Australia. Ecology and Evolution, 7 (17), 6803–6813.
- 647 Guan, H., Zhang, X., Makhnin, O. and Sun, Z., 2013. Mapping mean monthly temperatures
 648 over a coastal hilly area incorporating terrain aspect effects. Journal of
 649 Hydrometeorology, 14 (1), 233–250.

- Haveman, J., Sminia, P., Wondergem, J., van der Zee, J. and Hulshof, M. C. C. M., 2005.
 Effects of hyperthermia on the central nervous system: What was learnt from animal studies? International Journal of Hyperthermia, 21 (5), 473–487.
- Herold, N., Ekström, M., Kala, J., Goldie, J. and Evans, J.P., 2018. Australian climate
 extremes in the 21st century according to a regional climate model ensemble:
 Implications for health and agriculture. Weather and Climate Extremes, 20, 54-68.
- Kinlaw, A., 1999. A review of burrowing by semi-fossorial vertebrates in arid environments.
 Journal of Arid Environments, 41 (2), 127–145.
- Le Souef, A. S., 1922. Notes on the mating and breeding habits of the housebuilding rat
 (*Coniluris conditor*) and Banfield's rat (*Uromys banfieldi*). Australian Zoologist, 3,
 15–16.
- Leon, L. R., Gordon, C. J., Helwig, B. G., Rufolo, D. M. and Blaha, M. D., 2010.
 Thermoregulatory, behavioral, and metabolic responses to heatstroke in a conscious mouse model. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 299 (1), R241–R248.
- Liu, Z., Li, B., Tong, H., Tang, Y., Xu, Q., Guo, J. and Su, L., 2011. Pathological changes in
 the lung and brain of mice during heat stress and cooling treatment. World Journal of
 Emergency Medicine, 2 (1), 50–53.
- McKechnie, A. E., Hockey, P. A. R. and Wolf, B. O., 2012. Feeling the heat: Australian
 landbirds and climate change. Emu Austral Ornithology, 112 (2), 1-8
- Michielsen, R. J., Ausems, A. N. M. A., Jakubas, D., Pętlicki, M., Plenzler, J., ShamounBaranes, J. and Wojczulanis-Jakubas, K., 2019. Nest characteristics determine nest
 microclimate and affect breeding output in an Antarctic seabird, the Wilson's stormpetrel. PLOS ONE, 14 (6), e0217708.
- Moseby, K. E. and Bice, J. K., 2004. A trial re-introduction of the Greater Stick-nest Rat
 (*Leporillus conditor*) in arid South Australia. Ecologial Management & Restoration, 5
 (2), 7.
- Moseby, K. E., Hill, B. M. and Lavery, T. H., 2014. Tailoring release protocols to individual
 species and sites: one size does not fit all. PLoS ONE, 9 (6), e99753.
- Moseby, K. E., Lollback, G. W. and Lynch, C. E., 2018. Too much of a good thing;
 successful reintroduction leads to overpopulation in a threatened mammal. Biological
 Conservation, 219, 78–88.
- Moseby, K. E., Read, J. L., Paton, D. C., Copley, P., Hill, B. M. and Crisp, H. A., 2011.
 Predation determines the outcome of 10 reintroduction attempts in arid South
 Australia. Biological Conservation, 144 (12), 2863–2872.
- 685 National Climate Centre, 2008. An Exceptional and Prolonged Heatwave in Southern
 686 Australia. Bureau of Meteorology.
- Onley, I. R., Austin, J. J., Mitchell, K. J. and Moseby, K. E., 2021. Understanding dispersal
 patterns can inform future translocation strategies: A case study of the threatened
 greater stick-nest rat (*Leporillus conditor*). Austral Ecology.
- 690 Pedler, L. and Copley, P., 1993. Re-introduction of stick-nest rats to Reevesby Island, South
 691 Australia. South Australian Department of Environment and Land Management:
 692 Biological Conservation Branch.
- 693 Perkins-Kirkpatrick, S. E. and Gibson, P. B., 2017. Changes in regional heatwave
 694 characteristics as a function of increasing global temperature. Scientific Reports, 7
 695 (1), 12256.
- Pike, D. A. and Mitchell, J. C., 2013. Burrow-dwelling ecosystem engineers provide thermal
 refugia throughout the landscape. Animal Conservation, 16 (6), 694–703.
- 698 Pinheiro, J. C., Bates, D. J., DebRoy, S. and Sakar, D., 2012. The Nlme Package: Linear and
 699 Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models, R Version 3. R package version, 6.

- Pruvot, M., Cappelle, J., Furey, N., Hul, V., Heng, H. S., Duong, V., Dussart, P. and
 Horwood, P., 2019. Extreme temperature event and mass mortality of insectivorous
 bats. European Journal of Wildlife Research, 65 (3), 1–5.
- Quinn, C. M., Duran, R. M., Audet, G. N., Charkoudian, N. and Leon, L. R., 2014.
 Cardiovascular and thermoregulatory biomarkers of heat stroke severity in a conscious rat model. Journal of Applied Physiology, 117 (9), 971–978.
- Ratnayake, H. U., Kearney, M. R., Govekar, P., Karoly, D. and Welbergen, J. A., 2019.
 Forecasting wildlife die-offs from extreme heat events. Animal Conservation, 22 (4), 386–395.
- Read, J. L., Carter, J., Moseby, K. M. and Greenville, A., 2008. Ecological roles of rabbit,
 bettong and bilby warrens in arid Australia. Journal of Arid Environments, 72 (11),
 2124–2130.
- Redman, P., Selman, C. and Speakman, J., 1999. Male short-tailed field voles (*Microtus agrestis*) build better insulated nests than females. Journal of Comparative
 Physiology B, 169 (8), 581–587.
- Riley, J., Turpin, J. M., Zeale, M. R. K., Jayatilaka, B. and Jones, G., 2021. Diurnal
 sheltering preferences and associated conservation management for the endangered
 sandhill dunnart, *Sminthopsis psammophila*. Journal of Mammalogy, 102 (2), 588-602
- Robinson, A. C., 1975. The Sticknest Rat, *Leporillus conditor*, on Franklin Island, Nuyts
 Archipelago, South Australia. Australian Mammalogy, 1 (4), 319–327.
- Saunders, D., Mawson, P. and Dawson, R., 2011. The impact of two extreme weather events
 and other causes of death on Carnaby's Black Cockatoo: A promise of things to come
 for a threatened species? Pacific Conservation Biology, 17, 141–148.
- Seuront, L., Nicastro, K. R., Zardi, G. I. and Goberville, E., 2019. Decreased thermal
 tolerance under recurrent heat stress conditions explains summer mass mortality of
 the blue mussel *Mytilus edulis*. Scientific reports, 9 (1), 1–14.
- Short, J., Copley, P., Ruykys, L., Morris, K., Read, J. and Moseby, K., 2019. Review of
 translocations of the greater stick-nest rat (*Leporillus conditor*): lessons learnt to
 facilitate ongoing recovery. Wildlife Research, 46 (6), 455.
- Short, J., Richards, J. D. and O'Neill, S., 2018. Reintroduction of the greater stick-nest rat
 (*Leporillus conditor*) to Heirisson Prong, Shark Bay: an unsuccessful attempt to
 establish a mainland population. Australian Mammalogy, 40 (2), 269.
- Thompson, G. G. and Thompson, S. A., 2015. Termitaria are an important refuge for reptiles
 in the Pilbara of Western Australia. Pacific Conservation Biology, 21 (3), 226–233.
- Troughton, E. L. G. and Wright, J. H., 1923. The sticknest building rats of Australia.
 Australian Museum Magazine, 2, 18–23.
- van Dijk, R. E., Kaden, J. C., Argüelles-Ticó, A., Beltran, L. M., Paquet, M., Covas, R.,
 Doutrelant, C. and Hatchwell, B. J., 2013. The thermoregulatory benefits of the
 communal nest of sociable weavers (*Philetairus socius*) are spatially structured within
 nests. Journal of Avian Biology, 44 (2), 102–110.
- Welbergen, J. A., Klose, S. M., Markus, N. and Eby, P., 2008. Climate change and the effects
 of temperature extremes on Australian flying-foxes. Proceedings of the Royal Society
 B: Biological Sciences, 275 (1633), 419–425.
- Whitford, W. G. and Steinberger, Y., 2010. Pack rats (*Neotoma* spp.): Keystone ecological
 engineers? Journal of Arid Environments, 74 (11), 1450–1455.
- Zuur, A., Ieno, E. N., Walker, N., Saveliev, A. A. and Smith, G. M., 2009. Mixed effects
 models and extensions in ecology with R. Springer Science & Business Media.
- 747

749 Supplementary Information 1

750

751 SI 1: Images of various nest types studied at Arid Recovery and Reevesby Island. Pictured:

A) cottonbush over greater stick-nest rat nest at Arid Recovery, B) bettong warren previously

753 used by greater stick-nest rats at Arid Recovery, C) boxthorn over greater stick-nest rat nest

at Reevesby Island, D) rock ledge used by greater stick-nest rats at Reevesby Island.



756 Supplementary Information 2

757

758 SI 2: Descriptive statistics of internal nest temperatures per nest at study sites. Ambient loggers were shaded from solar radiation. At Reevesby

		Arid Recov	very			
Nest Type	Mean (°C)±SD	Min (°C)	Max (°C)	Mean Range (°C)	Days ≥40°C	Heatwaves
Ambient	21.3±8.45	-1.6	46.4	13.7	19	3
Acacia	22.3±9.86	-3.5	53.4	18.7	106	17
Acacia	21.8±9.03	-1.5	51.7	16.0	60	9
Acacia	21.3±8.09	-1.0	47.8	12.1	17	2
Cottonbush	21.4±8.48	0.8	50.3	13.8	37	5
Cottonbush	21.7±8.37	1.4	48.3	13.5	27	4
Warren	23.1±6.07	8.9	40.5	4.8	2	0
Warren	21.4±6.25	8.1	34.6	2.2	0	0
Warren	22.2±6.41	7.4	37.9	4.4	0	0
Rock pile	22.3±7.31	5.0	46.0	9.4	9	0
		Reevesby Is	land	I		
Nest Type	Mean (°C)±SD	Min (°C)	Max (°C)	Mean Range (°C)	Days ≥40°C	Heatwaves
Ambient	17.1±4.37	3.9	33.9	7.9	0	0
Ambient	18.9±4.07	10.1	34.3	6.5	0	0
Boxthorn	17.7±4.05	5.8	31.7	5.1	0	0
	Nest TypeAmbientAcaciaAcaciaAcaciaCottonbushCottonbushWarrenWarrenWarrenRock pileNest TypeAmbientAmbientBoxthorn	Nest Type Mean (°C)±SD Ambient 21.3±8.45 Acacia 22.3±9.86 Acacia 21.8±9.03 Acacia 21.3±8.09 Cottonbush 21.4±8.48 Cottonbush 21.7±8.37 Warren 23.1±6.07 Warren 21.4±6.25 Warren 21.4±6.25 Warren 22.2±6.41 Rock pile 22.3±7.31 Mean (°C)±SD Ambient Ambient 17.1±4.37 Ambient 18.9±4.07 Boxthorn 17.7±4.05	Nest Type Mean (°C)±SD Min (°C) Ambient 21.3±8.45 -1.6 Acacia 22.3±9.86 -3.5 Acacia 21.8±9.03 -1.5 Acacia 21.3±8.49 0.10 Cottonbush 21.4±8.48 0.8 Cottonbush 21.7±8.37 1.4 Warren 23.1±6.07 8.9 Warren 21.4±6.25 8.1 Warren 21.4±6.25 8.1 Warren 22.3±7.31 5.0 Recevesby Is Reevesby Is 17.1±4.37 Ambient 17.1±4.37 3.9 Ambient 18.9±4.07 10.1 Boxthorn 17.7±4.05 5.8	Nest Type Mean (°C)±SD Min (°C) Max (°C) Ambient 21.3±8.45 -1.6 46.4 Acacia 22.3±9.86 -3.5 53.4 Acacia 21.8±9.03 -1.5 51.7 Acacia 21.3±8.09 -1.0 47.8 Cottonbush 21.4±8.48 0.8 50.3 Cottonbush 21.7±8.37 1.4 48.3 Warren 23.1±6.07 8.9 40.5 Warren 21.4±6.25 8.1 34.6 Warren 22.2±6.41 7.4 37.9 Rock pile 22.3±7.31 5.0 46.0 Reevesby Island Mabient 17.1±4.37 3.9 33.9 Ambient 18.9±4.07 10.1 34.3 Boxthorn 17.7±4.05 5.8 31.7	Nest Type Mean (°C)±SD Min (°C) Max (°C) Mean Range (°C) Ambient 21.3±8.45 -1.6 46.4 13.7 Acacia 22.3±9.86 -3.5 53.4 18.7 Acacia 21.8±9.03 -1.5 51.7 16.0 Acacia 21.3±8.09 -1.0 47.8 12.1 Cottonbush 21.4±8.48 0.8 50.3 13.8 Cottonbush 21.7±8.37 1.4 48.3 13.5 Warren 23.1±6.07 8.9 40.5 4.8 Warren 21.4±6.25 8.1 34.6 2.2 Warren 21.4±6.25 8.1 34.6 2.2 Warren 21.4±6.25 8.1 34.6 2.2 Warren 22.3±6.41 7.4 37.9 4.4 Rock pile 22.3±7.31 5.0 46.0 9.4 Reevesby Isud 8 9.33.9 7.9 Ambient 17.1±4.37 3.9 33.9 7.9	Arid Recovery Mean C°C) ±SD Min (°C) Max (°C) Mean Range (°C) Days ≥40°C Ambient 21.3±8.45 -1.6 46.4 13.7 19 Acacia 22.3±9.86 -3.5 53.4 18.7 106 Acacia 21.3±8.09 -1.5 51.7 16.0 600 Acacia 21.3±8.09 -1.0 47.8 12.1 117 Cottonbush 21.4±8.48 0.8 50.3 13.8 37 Cottonbush 21.4±8.48 0.8 50.3 13.8 37 Cottonbush 21.4±6.25 8.1 34.6 2.2 0 Warren 23.1±6.07 8.9 40.5 4.8 2 Warren 21.4±6.25 8.1 34.6 2.2 0 Warren 21.4±6.25 8.1 34.6 2.2 0 Warren 22.2±6.41 7.4 37.9 4.4 0 Rock pile 22.3±7.31 5.0 46.0 9.4

759 Island, one ambient logger was installed in each habitat type (boxthorn and rock).

BT2	Boxthorn	17.7±5.05	5.1	34.9	8.5	0	0
BT3	Boxthorn	17.4±4.42	6.6	31.6	6.2	0	0
BT4	Boxthorn	19.9±3.61	11.1	36.3	8.1	0	0
LC1	Rock	19.6±3.77	11.4	27.6	2.7	0	0
LC2	Rock	18.9±3.96	11.6	31.2	4.7	0	0
LC3	Rock	20.0±2.74	14.1	25.8	1.4	0	0
LC4	Rock	19.2±4.66	8.1	39.6	9.8	0	0

762 Supplementary Information 3

- 763
- 764 SI 3: Results of linear mixed effects models for a range of temperature variables at each
- study site. The relationship between nest type and internal nest temperature in comparison to
- ambient temperature was tested. Significant p-values are highlighted in bold.

Arid Recovery						
		Estimate	Standard Error	t-value	p-value	
Mean Temp (°C)	(Intercept)	21.317	0.640	33.289	0.000	
	Acacia	0.479	0.739	0.648	0.546	
	Cottonbush	0.242	0.784	0.309	0.770	
	Rock Pile	1.012	0.906	1.118	0.314	
	Warren	0.929	0.739	1.256	0.265	
Minimum Temp (°C)	(Intercept)	-1.600	0.986	-1.622	0.166	
	Acacia	-0.383	1.139	-0.337	0.750	
	Cottonbush	2.680	1.208	2.218	0.077	
	Rock Pile	6.620	1.395	4.746	0.005	
	Warren	9.757	1.139	8.566	0.000	
Maximum Temp (°C)	(Intercept)	46.380	2.695	17.212	0.000	
	Acacia	4.613	3.112	1.483	0.198	
	Cottonbush	2.905	3.300	0.880	0.419	
	Rock Pile	-0.390	3.811	-0.102	0.922	
	Warren	-8.683	3.112	-2.791	0.038	
Mean Range (°C)	(Intercept)	13.704	2.265	6.050	0.002	
	Acacia	1.923	2.615	0.735	0.495	
	Cottonbush	-0.056	2.774	-0.020	0.985	
	Rock Pile	-4.330	3.203	-1.352	0.234	
	Warren	-9.866	2.615	-3.772	0.013	
Days Over 40 (°C)	(Intercept)	19.000	28.336	0.671	0.532	
	Acacia	42.000	32.720	1.284	0.256	
	Cottonbush	13.000	34.704	0.375	0.723	
	Rock Pile	-10.000	40.073	-0.250	0.813	
	Warren	-18.333	32.720	-0.560	0.599	
Heatwaves	(Intercept)	3.000	4.757	0.631	0.556	

	Acacia	6.333	5.493	1.153	0.301
	Cottonbush	1.500	5.827	0.257	0.807
	Rock Pile	-3.000	6.728	-0.446	0.674
	Warren	-3.000	5.493	-0.546	0.608
	J	Reevesby Islan	d		
		Value	Standard Error	t-value	p-value
Mean Temp (°C)	(Intercept)	18.024	0.671	26.859	0.000
	Boxthorn	0.194	0.822	0.236	0.820
	Rock Ledge	1.411	0.822	1.717	0.130
Minimum Temp (°C)	(Intercept)	7.020	2.051	3.423	0.011
	Boxthorn	0.140	2.512	0.056	0.957
	Rock Ledge	4.283	2.512	1.705	0.132
Maximum Temp (°C)	(Intercept)	34.145	3.039	11.236	0.000
	Boxthorn	-0.518	3.722	-0.139	0.893
	Rock Ledge	-3.120	3.722	-0.838	0.430
Mean Range (°C)	(Intercept)	7.194	1.868	3.851	0.006
	Boxthorn	-0.196	2.288	-0.086	0.934
	Rock Ledge	-2.522	2.288	-1.102	0.307

772	Chapter 6
773	
774	Needle in a genomic haystack: searching for signals of selection in a fragmented non-model
775	species
776	

Needle in a genomic haystack: searching for signals of selection in a fragmented non model species

- 779
- 780 Abstract
- 781

782 The adaptive potential of threatened species to climate change is of increasing interest to 783 conservation managers. Identifying populations that are well- or maladapted to projected 784 temperature increases may assist with developing adaptive management and breeding 785 programs to encourage resilience. Here I use genotype-environment association (GEA) tests 786 on a translocated population of greater stick-nest rats to determine whether reintroduction to 787 the arid zone has resulted in selection in response to heat stress. While I found evidence of a 788 SNP under selection associated with a heat shock protein in the translocated population, the 789 study was hampered by the lack of reference genome for the species, a high degree of 790 collinearity between environmental variables, and the inconsistent environmental gradient 791 between populations in the dataset. While GEAs can be useful tools when the necessary 792 requirements of the analysis are met, the issues encountered in this study are likely to be 793 faced in many population genetics studies of threatened, bottlenecked species. I therefore 794 highlight the need for a concerted effort towards developing reference genomes for 795 understudied taxa of conservation concern.

796

797 Introduction

798

799 Current climate change projections, including temperature increases, extreme weather 800 patterns and reduced rainfall (Field et al. 2012; Head et al. 2014; CSIRO and Bureau of 801 Meteorology 2020), imply increasing extinction risk in a broad range of taxa worldwide 802 (Urban 2015). More days with extremely high temperatures are predicted, with longer fire 803 seasons, more time spent in drought coupled with intense periods of heavy rainfall, and rising 804 sea levels (CSIRO and Bureau of Meteorology 2020). Evidence of the impacts of climate 805 change are already being observed, in the form of population declines, selection pressures 806 and phenological and distribution shifts (Hoffmann et al. 2019). Soberingly, in 2016, 807 Australia's first extinction attributed to climate change was recorded; the Bramble Cay 808 melomys (Melomys rubicola), a species found only on an island in the Torres Strait, 809 succumbed to habitat loss due to ocean inundation sometime between 2009 and 2011 (Fulton 810 2017).

812 Conservation managers are now faced with the challenge of protecting biodiversity under 813 rapidly changing conditions. For many threatened species, adaptation *in situ* to rising 814 temperatures and extreme climatic events is unlikely to keep pace with the speed of 815 environmental change. In this case managers may consider translocation (Burbidge et al. 816 2011; Thomas 2011) - the facilitated movement of a species from one area to another, with 817 the intention of establishing insurance populations. Alternatively, managers may seek to build 818 adaptive capacity in an existing population via genetic rescue, the introduction of new genetic 819 material via translocation of individuals carrying alleles adapted to projected future climate 820 (Whiteley et al. 2015; Weeks et al. 2017; Hoffmann et al. 2021). While genetic rescue has, to 821 date, predominantly focused on increasing overall genetic diversity and reducing the impacts 822 of inbreeding depression in small populations of threatened species, recent reviews have 823 suggested that it may provide a mechanisms to enhance adaptive response to climate change 824 (Hoffmann et al. 2015, 2021; Prober et al. 2015; Onley et al. 2021). Advances in population 825 genomics allows signals of selection in response to environmental stressors to be identified in 826 a population (Cummins et al. 2019). By identifying individuals or populations that are better 827 adapted to predicted conditions under climate change, managers may soon be able to perform 828 genetic rescue with a specific focus on beneficial alleles, for example, higher thermal tolerance thresholds or improved water retention, thereby encouraging species-wide 829 830 resilience to anthropogenic climate change (Hoffmann et al. 2021).

831

832 Identifying adaptive genetic differentiation between populations of a species can be achieved 833 through the identification of outlier loci with respect to the background level of genomic differentiation (Horscroft et al. 2019). However, such differentiation is not always the result 834 835 of selection; processes such as genetic drift may cause neutral variation between populations (Wright 1949; Weeks et al. 2016). There are two main mechanisms used to determine 836 837 whether genetic variation is due to divergent selection; firstly, genomic data may be aligned 838 to an annotated reference genome to determine whether highly differentiated loci are aligned 839 with functional genes, such as heat shock proteins (Ghosh et al. 2020). If no reference 840 genome is available, however, genotype-environment association (GEA) studies may be used 841 to test for correlations between genomic divergence and a variable of interest, such as climate 842 factors or ecological gradients, thereby detecting signatures of local adaptation (Savolainen et 843 al. 2013; Caye et al. 2019; Vranken et al. 2021). These tests are most successful if a reference

genome of a recently diverged species is available to assist in the identification of functional
regions prior to testing for selection (Everett et al. 2011).

846

847 Most threatened species that are of interest for conservation initiatives under climate change 848 do not have detailed genomic resources including an annotated reference genome (Brandies 849 et al. 2019). In Australia, threatened species are also often highly fragmented, making them 850 primary targets for genetic rescue and assisted gene flow (Aitken and Whitlock 2013; Weeks 851 et al. 2016; Pavlova et al. 2017; Ralls et al. 2018; Hoffmann et al. 2021). Many researchers 852 have called for an increased effort to produce reference genomes for threatened species 853 (Brandies et al. 2019), and the sequencing platforms required are becoming cheaper and more 854 accessible every year. For example, the Earth BioGenome Project was established for this 855 very purpose (Lewin et al. 2018; Exposito-Alonso et al. 2020). However, many reference 856 genomes of threatened species do not yet exist and GEA studies present a useful alternative 857 until such resources are available. In the present study, I applied a GEA test to populations of 858 a non-model species lacking a reference genome, the greater stick-nest rat (Leporillus 859 *conditor*), in order to determine whether translocation to a desert environment has resulted in 860 adaptation in response to extreme arid conditions in the translocated population.

861

862 The greater stick-nest rat is a native murid rodent that was once found across most of the 863 southern half of the Australian mainland (Copley 1999a). Its range encompassed a variety of 864 ecological niches, from the arid sandplains of Lake Eyre to mesic coastal islands. With the 865 arrival of European settlers and introduced predators and grazers, however, the greater stick-866 nest rat suffered a rapid range contraction, and was extinct on the mainland by the 1920s 867 (Copley 1999a). Translocations from the single remaining extant population on the Franklin 868 Islands, South Australia, began in the 1980s to a number of offshore islands and fenced 869 mainland reserves (Short et al. 2019). One such translocation to Arid Recovery Reserve in 870 South Australia's arid zone was considered successful (Moseby and Bice 2004; Moseby et al. 871 2011; Short et al. 2019), although it was noted that summer heatwaves resulted in increased 872 mortality of greater stick-nest rats despite the region being encompassed by the species' 873 historical range (Bolton and Moseby 2004). This is not surprising, given that the source 874 populations of Reevesby Island and Monarto Zoo (both populations were established using 875 founders from the Franklin Islands, which shares a similar climate to Reevesby Island) 876 experience annual mean maximum temperatures 4-6°C lower than Arid Recovery Reserve, 877 and considerably higher rainfall (Short et al. 2019; Bureau of Meteorology 2021). A genetic

- 878 comparison of greater stick-nest rats at Arid Recovery Reserve with the founding populations
- 18 years after establishment by White et al. (2018) found six (out of 8,703) differentiated
- single nucleotide polymorphim (SNP) loci in the genome of the translocated population (note
- that this research was based on a different dataset to the present study). Although the authors
- acknowledged that the small effective population size at Arid Recovery Reserve made natural
- selection an unlikely source of this variation, they note that the high mortality observed as a
- result of heat stress could be acting as a selective pressure.
- 885

886 Here I applied a GEA test to a single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) dataset of greater

stick-nest rats sampled at Arid Recovery Reserve, the source populations (Reevesby Island

and Monarto) and the extant population of the Franklin Islands to determine whether

889 selection has occurred in the Arid Recovery Reserve population in response to heat stress and

890 climate-associated mortality events. Given the difference in environment experienced by the

source populations and the translocated population, I expect that at least some differentiation

in the Arid Recovery Reserve genome will have occurred as a result of climate adaptation inresponse to high temperatures.

894

895 Methods

896

897 *Study populations*

898 Franklin Islands

The Franklin Islands are two islands (East and West) connected at low tide by a small sandbar located off the coast of Ceduna, South Australia (Copley 1988). The islands are dominated by Nitre-bushes and sandy soil, and are believed to have separated from the

902 mainland ~7700 years ago (Robinson et al. 1996). The Franklin Islands are home to the

903 single remaining natural population of greater stick-nest rats, which became the subject of

- 904 recovery efforts and multiple translocations in the 1980s (Copley 1988, 1999b; Short et al.
- 905 2019).
- 906 <u>Monarto</u>

907 Monarto Safari Park, ~80km east of Adelaide, South Australia in mallee bushland, became

908 the site of a captive breeding facility for two greater stick-nest rats sourced from the Franklin

909 Islands in 1985 (Copley 1988). The population was supplemented several times over the

- 910 subsequent years, eventually totalling 29 wild-caught rats in 1998, and was subsequently
- 911 maintained as a source for translocations until 2003 (Short et al. 2019). The colony supported

- 912 \sim 100 individuals throughout the 1990s in eight breeding aviaries (3 x 7.5 m) that were
- 913 exposed to the elements (Copley 1988; Short et al. 2019). A breeding colony was
- 914 reestablished at Monarto Zoo in 2019, again using founders from the Franklin Islands
- 915 (Australian Wildlife Conservancy 2020).

916 <u>Reevesby Island</u>

917 Reevesby Island is a large island located offshore of Tumby Bay, South Australia. The

- 918 habitat consists mainly of sandplains, low dunes, grasslands and shrublands (Robinson et al.
- 919 1996). Greater stick-nest rats were translocated to the island in four stages in 1990 and 1991,
- sourced from the Monarto captive colony (Pedler and Copley 1993), and is estimated to
- 921 sustain a population of 600-1,000 individuals (Woinarski and Burbidge 2016).

922 <u>Arid Recovery</u>

Arid Recovery is a fenced, predator-free mainland reserve located outside of Roxby Downsin South Australia's arid zone. The area is dominated by longitudinal sand dunes and swales

925 with low shrubs (Short et al. 2019). Arid Recovery became the site of a several releases of

926 greater stick-nest rats from 1998-2003, with individuals sourced from both Reevesby Island

927 (55 males and 43 females, translocated in 1998-1999) and Monarto (10 males and 14

928 females, translocated in 2003) (Moseby and Bice 2004; Short et al. 2019). Only samples that

- had been collected after 2010 at Arid Recovery were included in this analysis to account for
- 930 possible selection as a result of heat stress following translocation.
- 931
- 932 Population genomic analysis of greater stick-nest rat populations from the Franklin Islands,
- 933 Monarto, Reevesby Island and Arid Recovery is detailed in White et al. (2020).
- 934

935 Samples

936 187 samples from the four populations of greater stick-nest rats were included in the dataset

937 (Table 1). Tissue samples (tail tips/ear clips) were collected during sporadic trapping and

938 monitoring events, and stored in 70% ethanol at -20°C. DNA extractions were performed

- prior to sequencing on some samples using the protocols detailed in Barclay et al. (2006) and
- 940 White et al. (2018), and subsequently stored at -20°C. All samples were sent to commercial
- 941 sequencing platform Diversity Arrays Pty Ltd (DArT) in Canberra, ACT. DArT uses double-
- 942 digest restriction-site associated DNA next-generation sequencing to produce a reduced-
- 943 representation genome sequence while capturing a uniform set of informative markers across
- all samples (Kilian et al. 2012). The proprietary bioinformatic pipeline process was used to
- 945 demultiplex, clean, and filter reads, call SNP genotypes and is described in Egea et al. (2017).

Table 1. Greater stick-nest rat (*Leporillus conditor*) samples included in the SNP dataset.

	n	Period	Population	Source Population
		Sampled	Туре	
Arid Recovery	17	2012-2017	Translocation	Reevesby Island &
				Monarto
Reevesby Island	84	1998-2018	Translocation	Franklin Islands
Monarto	56	1994-2003	Captive	Franklin Islands
			breeding	
Franklin Islands	30	1994	Extant	-

Climate data

To obtain covariates suitable for testing genotype-environment associations, five climatic variables were extracted for each population. Given that the sampling periods spanned several years for most populations, annual means for each location were used. The following climate parameters were extracted from the Atlas of Living Australia's Spatial Portal (Belbin 2011) at a resolution of ~1km; mean annual minimum temperature (°C) (CSIRO 2010a), mean annual temperature (°C) (CSIRO 2010b), mean annual maximum temperature (°C) (CSIRO 2010c), mean annual rainfall (mm) (CSIRO 2010d), and mean annual relative humidity (%) (CSIRO 2010e) (Table 2). Where climate information was not available for offshore islands, values from the nearest mainland point were used.

Table 2. Climatic variables extracted for each population of greater stick-nest rats (*Leporillus conditor*) used in this study.

	Arid Recovery	Monarto	Reevesby Island	Franklin Islands
Mean annual minimum temperature (°C)	12.84	8.93	10.86	10.97
Mean annual temperature (°C)	20.2	15.8	16.5	17.3
Mean annual maximum temperature (°C)	26.78	21.22	20.91	22.5
Mean annual rainfall (mm)	13.25	30.89	32.35	26

Mean annual relative humidity (%)	65.92	77.23	80.35	76.47

964

965 *Data filtering*

966 Raw demultiplexed sequence data for all samples were obtained from Diversity Arrays in 967 FASTQ format. These reads were mapped to the most recently diverged reference genome 968 available for the greater stick-nest rat, that of the Australian broad-toothed rat (Mastacomys 969 fuscus) using the bwa-mem algorithm (v0.7.17, (Li 2013)). The resulting SAM files 970 compressed to BAM files using SAMtools (v1.7-1, (Li et al. 2009)). SAMTOOLS was also 971 used to filter out unmapped reads, sort reads by chromosome and position, and index each 972 BAM file. The mapped reads were then passed through ANGSD software (version 0.930, 973 (Korneliussen et al. 2014)) to produce a SNP-by sample matrix with the following read 974 filters; mapping quality: ≥ 20 , minimum individual read depth: 5, maximum individual read 975 depth: 100, genotype likelihoods method: SAMtools model, SNP likelihood ratio p-value: 976 $1 \times 10-5$, and posterior probability: 0.98. The resulting SNP-by-sample matrix was then further 977 filtered using R (version 4.1.0) (R Core Team 2021). The following thresholds were applied 978 in R; samples with >15% missingness, SNPs with >5% missingness, SNPs with minor allele 979 frequencies (MAFs) <0.05, and SNPs with unusually high heterozygosity (>0.6) were all 980 removed from the dataset. Samples and SNPs were filtered alternately using increasing 981 thresholds to retain the most informative samples and SNPs as follows; locus call rate 0.85, 982 individual missingness 0.5, locus call rate 0.88, individual missingness 0.4, locus call rate 983 0.9, individual missingness 0.3, locus call rate 0.92, individual missingness 0.2, locus call 984 rate 0.935, individual missingness 0.15, locus call rate 0.95. The data was also filtered on linkage disequilibrium using the R package "SNPRelate" (version 1.26.0, (Zheng et al. 985 986 2012)), via the snpgdsLDpruning function using a correlation threshold of 0.5 and a sliding 987 window of 100 kb.

988

989 Genotype-environment association analysis

990 To test for a correlation between genetic differentiation and environmental variables across

991 the four populations, I employed a latent factor mixed model (LFMM) approach using the R

992 package "LEA" (version 3.4.0) (Frichot and François 2015). *sNMF* (sparse non-negative

993 matrix factorisation) was used to estimate the number of ancestral populations (K) (Frichot et

994 al. 2014), with ten repetitions performed for each K value from 1 to 10. Cross-entropy was 995 then performed on the most appropriate K value, with admixture for the best run (i.e. lowest 996 cross-entropy) visualised using a barplot. Missing data was then imputed using the chosen K997 value, the best cross-entropy run and the "mode" (most likely genotype) method. I tested for 998 multicollinearity between climatic predictor variables using variance inflation factor (VIF), 999 implemented in the R package "usdm" (version 1.1-18). VIF analysis of climatic factors 1000 revealed a high degree of multicollinearity between predictors, with VIF resulting in a near 1001 perfect correlation (Inf) for all factors, meaning that all climatic variables were likely to 1002 produce the same result. As the use of highly correlated environmental variables can lead to 1003 wrong conclusions in GEA studies (Rellstab et al. 2015), I therefore selected only the 1004 climatic variable of most relevance to the hypothesis, that of mean annual maximum 1005 temperature (°C), for GEA testing. 1006

1007 LFMMs were then run on the imputed SNP matrix and the mean annual maximum

1008 temperature (°C) dataset to detect outlier loci. To eliminate false positives, a false discovery

1009 rate (FDR) of 0.01 was applied. The positions of the resulting candidate SNPs were then

1010 manually searched against the closest annotated reference genome to the greater stick-nest

1011 rat, that of the house mouse (*Mus musculus*) (GRCm39), using the National Centre for

1012 Biotechnology Information (NCBI) Genome Data Viewer to determine whether any

- 1013 functional genes were associated with the regions.
- 1014

1015 **Results**

1016 1017

1018 The initial filtering pipeline from DArT of greater stick-nest rat samples produced 21,792

1019 SNPs. Following alignment to the *Mastacomys fuscus* genome, data filtering and SNP

1020 calling, a total of 4,564 SNPs were retained for analysis. Read depths per sample per site had

a mean of 14.48 and a median of 12.63. The optimum number of ancestral populations

1022 determined by LEA was K = 2, consistent with the extant metapopulations of the East and 1023 West Franklin Islands.

1024

1025 The LFMM for mean annual maximum temperature (°C) identified three outlier loci (Table

1026 3). When compared to the *Mus musculus* genome, only one SNP had a gene associated with

1027 the region. HiC_scaffold_2:119015455 was located within the gene of DNAJ heat shock

1028 protein family (HSP40) member C17 (DNAJC17).

1030 **Table 3.** Outlier loci produced by latent factor mixed models for the climatic variable of

1031	interest,	annual	maximum	temperature	$(^{\circ}C)$
------	-----------	--------	---------	-------------	---------------

Climatic Variable	Outlier loci (chr:position)	P-value	Associated Gene
Mean annual	HiC_scaffold_2:119015455	3.308626e-07	DNAJC17
maximum	HiC_scaffold_4:16873031	4.381668e-07	None
temperature (°C)	HiC_scaffold_19:97670270	6.194336e-07	None

1032

1033

1034 Discussion

1035

In the present study, I tested for signals of selection in greater stick-nest rats by performing a GEA analysis that tested specifically for climate adaptation due to heat stress. GEA testing of a modest number of SNPs from the translocated population of greater stick-nest rats at Arid Recovery Reserve against those of the source populations revealed high divergence at three SNPs. While two of these SNPs could not be associated with any particular gene due to the lack of annotated reference genome for the species, one SNP was associated with a protein coding gene (DNAJC17), a heat shock protein family member, in the house mouse genome.

1044 All climatic variables gathered for GEA testing in this study were found to be highly 1045 correlated, negating the value of testing for signals of selection in response to each predictor. 1046 I therefore chose to test only for the climatic variable of most relevance to our hypothesis, 1047 mean annual maximum temperature (°C), as mortality events of greater stick-nest rats at Arid 1048 Recovery Reserve are believed to have been in response to prolonged periods of extreme 1049 heat. Hence, maximum temperature was expected to be the most likely selection pressure in 1050 this study. Although this variable was correlated with outlier loci, the multicollinearity 1051 between the climatic variables results in uncertainty as to which factor is driving putative 1052 selection.

1053

1054 The association of one outlier SNP with a heat shock protein, however, presents some

1055 evidence that increased temperature is acting as the selection pressure in the Arid Recovery

- 1056 Reserve population. DNAJC17 is a member of the heat shock protein family HSP40, a group
- 1057 of proteins responsible for a number of functions including protein folding, translocation,
- 1058 degradation, and, importantly, stimulation of HSP70 "chaperone" heat shock proteins (Qiu et

1059 al. 2006). Although DNAJC17's functions are poorly understood (Pascarella et al. 2018), it 1060 has been implicated in the function and development of the thyroid gland in mice - more 1061 specifically, DNAJC17 has the ability to interfere with thyroid specific genes, resulting in 1062 congenital hypothyroidism (Amendola et al. 2010). Reduced thyroid activity, or 1063 hypothyroidism, has been found to improve heat stress survival in chickens (Bowen et al. 1064 1984) and livestock (Aleena et al. 2016). Further, a rapid thyrosuppressive mechanism 1065 ("Wolff-Chaikoff" phenomenon) induced in laboratory rats alleviated heat stress impacts (Al-1066 Tamimi et al. 2019). While thyroid activity and hormone production can vary throughout an 1067 animal's lifetime in response to environmental stressors (Rasouli et al. 2004), prolonged 1068 periods of extreme heat stress at Arid Recovery Reserve may have resulted in selection for 1069 greater stick-nest rats with upregulated DNAJC17, resulting in reduced thyroid activity and 1070 thus improved survival under heat stress.

1071

1072 However, studies have shown that hypothyroidism in rodents can also result in a number of 1073 deficiencies, including reduced tactile and sensory processing (Afarinesh et al. 2020) and 1074 impaired cognitive function (Amano et al. 2018). Natural selection or mutations resulting in 1075 both beneficial and negative consequences for a population are not uncommon. Indeed, 1076 Brady et al. (2019) refer to evolution as a "Rubin's vase" illusion, in which most see one 1077 component (beneficial adaptation) when in fact, two are present (adaptation and 1078 maladaptation). Well-known examples of these types of evolutionary "trade-offs" are malaria 1079 resistance in sickle cell disease patients (Ferreira et al. 2011) and the negative correlation 1080 between male sexual attractiveness/ornamentation and survival in species such as guppies 1081 (Poecilia reticulata) (Brooks 2000). A growing number of studies are highlighting the 1082 occurrence of these trade-offs in response to climate change (Kelly et al. 2016; Leites et al. 1083 2019); a model system of microalgae in a simulated climate change environment was found 1084 to allocate less carbon to growth, while instead increasing resilience to reactive oxygen 1085 species, toxic molecules induced by climate stress in plants (Cassia et al. 2018; Lindberg and 1086 Collins 2020). Selection for hypothyroidism in greater stick-nest rats may therefore be an 1087 adaptive trade-off in response to increased heat stress, with potential costs to other biological 1088 functions. Future research on whether the benefits of hypothyroidism under rising temperatures outweigh the negative physiological consequences is required; laboratory gene 1089 1090 editing experiments using CRISPR technology may provide further insight.

1092 Differentiation of the DNAJC17 gene in the greater stick-nest rat genome can only be 1093 inferred by this study, however. The reference genome used to identify this gene (Mus 1094 *musculus*) – although currently the closest functionally annotated reference genome available 1095 - shared a common ancestor with the greater stick-nest rat ~10 million years ago (Steppan 1096 and Schenk 2017). This divergence must be taken into account (da Fonseca et al. 2016), as it 1097 is by no means certain that the functional regions of the greater stick-nest rat genome align 1098 perfectly with those of the house mouse; high divergence can significantly reduce gene 1099 recovery rate (Ungaro et al. 2017). Indeed, two of the three SNPs found to be under putative 1100 selection in the GEA that had been aligned to a genic region in the more recently diverged 1101 (but un-annotated) broad-toothed rat genome were not associated with any functional gene in 1102 the house mouse. Further, the lack of reference genome for the greater stick-nest rat 1103 significantly reduced the number of SNPs that could be identified as belonging to genic 1104 regions, and consequently only a small fraction of the greater stick-nest rat genome was 1105 analysed for signals of selection. Although less stringent filtering would likely have resulted 1106 in more SNPs, it would also have increased the likelihood of false positives. This study could 1107 therefore be strengthened by the development of a more recently diverged, functionally 1108 annotated reference genome for the greater stick-nest rat, to improve the recovery rate of 1109 orthologous genes. The absence of a reference genome is a common issue in conservation 1110 genomics (Brandies et al. 2019), and the development of more published genomes for 1111 threatened non-model species globally would be highly beneficial.

1112

1113 The results of this study are also confounded by the high degree of multicollinearity between 1114 the environmental variables, likely as a result of the absence of an ecological gradient in the 1115 dataset. The Franklin Islands, Reevesby Island and Monarto populations all experience a 1116 relatively similar, mesic climate, while the environment at Arid Recovery Reserve is 1117 decidedly hotter and dryer. The lack of sampling gradient and replication in this study, along 1118 with the inability to align all diverged SNPs to a functional gene, make it difficult to parse 1119 out signals of selection from population structure and genetic drift, or to determine which, if 1120 any, environmental factor is causing divergence (Rellstab et al. 2015). Future studies with 1121 greater representation of samples along spatial and climatic gradients may also be expanded 1122 by incorporating environmental variables beyond minimum and maximum temperatures that 1123 are likely to result in selection pressures, such as the number and duration of heatwaves.

1125 While GEA studies are a useful tool that have been used in many studies of ecologically and 1126 commercially important species (eg. Sandoval-Castillo et al. 2018; Cummins et al. 2019; von 1127 Takach et al. 2021), this study highlights that the requirements of a statistically sound GEA 1128 analysis are not always possible for threatened species. These taxa are often highly 1129 fragmented (Ralls et al. 2018), and in some cases, such as that of the greater stick-nest rat, 1130 have survived only on offshore islands and in subsequent translocations to mainland reserves 1131 (Copley 1988, 1999a; Woinarski et al. 2015; Short et al. 2019). Further, less than 1% of the 1132 species listed as threatened by the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) 1133 have a published reference genome (Kitts et al. 2016; Brandies et al. 2019). This is not 1134 surprising, given the high cost of sequencing and annotating a high-quality reference genome 1135 (Lewin et al. 2018), an often unachievable expense for conservation practitioners and 1136 researchers. However, reference genomes are an extremely valuable asset in the genetic 1137 management of threatened species. Such tools can not only assist in identifying signals of 1138 adaptation and selection, but in effectively managing populations and understanding and 1139 controlling disease (Brandies et al. 2019). In recent years, a number of organisations and 1140 initiatives have been developed with the goal of generating high-quality, publicly available 1141 reference genomes for underrepresented taxa such as the Earth BioGenome Project (EBP), 1142 Oz Mammal Genomics (OMG) Consortium and the Global Invertebrate Genomics Alliance (GIGA) (GIGA Community of Scientists 2014; Potter and Eldridge 2017; Lewin et al. 2018; 1143 1144 Teeling et al. 2018; Brandies et al. 2019; Exposito-Alonso et al. 2020). These groups are 1145 providing vital resources to the conservation community; OMG alone is currently developing 1146 reference data for a wide range of marsupials, bats and rodents, and are responsible for 1147 publication of the Mastacomys fuscus genome used in this study (Eldridge et al. 2020). 1148 However, there is still a long way to go before comprehensive genomic analyses can be 1149 applied to Australia's threatened species to identify local adaptation and harness that 1150 knowledge for conservation management against climate change.

1151

1152 Funding

1153 This research was supported by the University of Adelaide and funded by the following

1154 organisations and awards: Arid Recovery, Australian Government Research Training

1155 Program Scholarship, Nature Foundation South Australia Grand Start Grant (Grant No. 2019-

1156 07), Biological Society South Australia/Nature Conservation Society of South Australia

1157 Conservation Biology Grant, Field Naturalists Society of South Australia Lirabenda

1158 Endowment Fund Research Grant.
- 1160 Acknowledgements
- 1161 The author wishes to acknowledge and thank Brenton von Takach Dukai for his assistance in
- 1162 the development of the methodology and analysis of the data, as well as Shaun Barclay,
- 1163 Professor William Sherwin, and the staff of Arid Recovery Reserve for supplying the
- 1164 samples used in this study.

- 1165 **References**
- 1166

1167 Afarinesh, M. R., Shafiei, F., Sabzalizadeh, M., Haghpanah, T., Taheri, M., Parsania, 1168 S., Golshan, F. and Sheibani, V., 2020. Effect of mild and chronic neonatal hypothyroidism on sensory information processing in a rodent model: A behavioral and electrophysiological 1169 1170 study. Brain Research Bulletin, 155, 29-36. 1171 Aitken, S. N. and Whitlock, M. C., 2013. Assisted Gene Flow to Facilitate Local 1172 Adaptation to Climate Change. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 44 1173 (1), 367 - 388.1174 Aleena, J., Pragna, P., Archana, P., Sejian, V., Bagath, M., Krishnan, G., Manimaran, A., Beena, V., Kurien, E. and Varma, G., 2016. Significance of metabolic response in 1175 1176 livestock for adapting to heat stress challenges. Asian Journal of Animal Sciences, 10, 224-1177 234

Al-Tamimi, H. J., Al-Dawood, A. and Mahasneh, Z., 2019. The Wolff–Chaikoff effect ameliorates heat stress in rats. Animal Biotelemetry, 7 (1), 1–7.

Amano, I., Takatsuru, Y., Khairinisa, M. A., Kokubo, M., Haijima, A. and Koibuchi,
N., 2018. Effects of mild perinatal hypothyroidism on cognitive function of adult male
offspring. Endocrinology, 159 (4), 1910–1921.

- 1183 Amendola, E., Sanges, R., Galvan, A., Dathan, N., Manenti, G., Ferrandino, G.,
- 1184 Alvino, F. M., Di Palma, T., Scarfò, M., Zannini, M., Dragani, T. A., De Felice, M. and Di

Lauro, R., 2010. A Locus on Mouse Chromosome 2 Is Involved in Susceptibility to
 Congenital Hypothyroidism and Contains an Essential Gene Expressed in Thyroid.

- 1180 Congenital Hypothyroidism and Contains an Essential Gene Expressed in 1 1187 Endocrinology, 151 (4), 1948–1958.
- 1188Australian Wildlife Conservancy, 2020. Stick-nest building mammal back in the1189Mallee. Australian Wildlife Conservancy. Available from:
- 1190 https://www.australianwildlife.org/stick-nest-building-mammal-back-in-the-mallee/
 1191 [Accessed 16 Jun 2021].

Barclay, S. D., Costello, B. and Sherwin, W. B., 2006. Limited cross-species
microsatellite amplification and the isolation and characterization of new microsatellite
markers for the greater stick-nest rat (*Leporillus conditor*). Molecular Ecology Notes, 6 (3),
882–885.

- Belbin, L., 2011. The Atlas of Livings Australia's Spatial Portal. In:. Proceedings of
 the Environmental Information Management Conference, Santa Barbara: Jones, M., B. &
 Gries, C., (eds.), 39–43. Available from: https://spatial.ala.org.au/#.
- Bolton, J. and Moseby, K., 2004. The activity of Sand Goannas *Varanus gouldi* and
 their interaction with reintroduced Greater Stick-nest Rats *Leporillus conditor*. Pacific
 Conservation Biology, 10 (3), 193.

1202Bowen, S. J., Washburn, K. W. and Huston, T. M., 1984. Involvement of the Thyroid1203Gland in the Response of Young Chickens to Heat Stress. Poultry Science, 63 (1), 66–69.

- 1204 Brady, S. P., Bolnick, D. I., Angert, A. L., Gonzalez, A., Barrett, R. D. H., Crispo, E.,
- 1205 Derry, A. M., Eckert, C. G., Fraser, D. J., Fussmann, G. F., Guichard, F., Lamy, T.,
- 1206 McAdam, A. G., Newman, A. E. M., Paccard, A., Rolshausen, G., Simons, A. M. and
- Hendry, A. P., 2019. Causes of maladaptation. Evolutionary applications, 12 (7), 1229–1242.
 Brandies, P., Peel, E., Hogg, C. J. and Belov, K., 2019. The Value of Reference
- 1209 Genomes in the Conservation of Threatened Species. Genes, 10 (11), 846
- 1210 Brooks, R., 2000. Negative genetic correlation between male sexual attractiveness 1211 and survival. Nature, 406 (6791), 67–70.
- Burbidge, A. A., Byrne, M., Coates, D., Garnett, S. T., Harris, S., Hatward, M. W.,
 Martin, T. G., McDonald-Madden, E., Mitchell, N. J., Nally, S. and Setterfield, S. A., 2011.

1214 Is Australia ready for assisted colonization? Policy changes required to facilitate 1215 translocations under climate change. Pacific Conservation Biology, 17 (3), 259. Bureau of Meteorology, 2021. Bureau of Meteorology Climate Data Online. 1216 Commonwealth of Australia. 1217 1218 Cassia, R., Nocioni, M., Correa-Aragunde, N. and Lamattina, L., 2018. Climate change and the impact of greenhouse gasses: CO2 and NO, friends and foes of plant 1219 1220 oxidative stress. Frontiers in Plant Science, 9, 273. Caye, K., Jumentier, B., Lepeule, J. and François, O., 2019. LFMM 2: Fast and 1221 1222 Accurate Inference of Gene-Environment Associations in Genome-Wide Studies. Molecular 1223 Biology and Evolution, 36 (4), 852–860. 1224 Copley, P., 1988. The Stick-nest Rats of Australia: A Final Report to World Wildlife 1225 Fund (Australia). National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Environment and 1226 Planning. Adelaide, South Australia Copley, P., 1999a. Natural histories of Australia's stick-nest rats, genus Leporillus 1227 1228 (Rodentia : Muridae). Wildlife Research, 26 (4), 513. 1229 Copley, P., 1999b. Review of the recovery plan for greater stick-nest rat, Leporillus 1230 conditor. Adelaide: Biodiversity Branch, Department for Environment, Heritage and 1231 Aboriginal Affairs. 1232 CSIRO, 2010a. Terrestrial Temperature Grid 737 - Mean annual minimum 1233 temperature (°C). CSIRO Ecosystem Sciences. 1234 CSIRO, 2010b. Terrestrial Temperature Grid 874 - Mean annual temperature (°C) 1235 (Bio01). CSIRO Ecosystem Sciences. CSIRO, 2010c. Terrestrial Temperature Grid 774 - Mean annual maximum 1236 1237 temperature (°C). CSIRO Ecosystem Sciences. CSIRO, 2010d. Terrestrial Precipitation Grid 713 - Mean annual rainfall (mm). 1238 CSIRO Ecosystem Sciences. 1239 CSIRO, 2010e. Terrestrial Humidity Grid 728 - Mean annual relative humidity (%). 1240 1241 CSIRO Ecosystem Sciences. 1242 CSIRO and Bureau of Meteorology, 2020. State of The Climate 2020. 1243 Commonwealth of Australia. 1244 Cummins, D., Kennington, W. J., Rudin-Bitterli, T. and Mitchell, N. J., 2019. A 1245 genome-wide search for local adaptation in a terrestrial-breeding frog reveals vulnerability to 1246 climate change. Global Change Biology, 25 (9), 3151–3162. da Fonseca, R. R., Albrechtsen, A., Themudo, G. E., Ramos-Madrigal, J., Sibbesen, J. 1247 1248 A., Maretty, L., Zepeda-Mendoza, M. L., Campos, P. F., Heller, R. and Pereira, R. J., 2016. 1249 Next-generation biology: sequencing and data analysis approaches for non-model organisms. 1250 Marine Genomics, 30, 3–13. Egea, L. A., Mérida-García, R., Kilian, A., Hernandez, P. and Dorado, G., 2017. 1251 1252 Assessment of Genetic Diversity and Structure of Large Garlic (Allium sativum) Germplasm 1253 Bank, by Diversity Arrays Technology "Genotyping-by-Sequencing" Platform (DArTseq). 1254 Frontiers in Genetics, 8, 98. Eldridge, M. D., Deakin, J. E., MacDonald, A. J., Byrne, M., Fitzgerald, A., Johnson, 1255 1256 R. N., Moritz, C., Palmer, S. and Young, A., 2020. The Oz Mammals Genomics (OMG) 1257 initiative: developing genomic resources for mammal conservation at a continental scale. Australian Zoologist, 40 (3), 505–509. 1258 1259 Everett, M. V., Grau, E. D. and Seeb, J. E., 2011. Short reads and nonmodel species: 1260 exploring the complexities of next-generation sequence assembly and SNP discovery in the 1261 absence of a reference genome. Molecular Ecology Resources, 11 (1), 93–108.

1262 Exposito-Alonso, M., Drost, H.-G., Burbano, H. A. and Weigel, D., 2020. The Earth BioGenome project: opportunities and challenges for plant genomics and conservation. The 1263 1264 Plant Journal, 102 (2), 222–229. 1265 Ferreira, A., Marguti, I., Bechmann, I., Jeney, V., Chora, Â., Palha, N. R., Rebelo, S., Henri, A., Beuzard, Y. and Soares, M. P., 2011. Sickle Hemoglobin Confers Tolerance to 1266 Plasmodium Infection. Cell, 145 (3), 398-409. 1267 1268 Field, C. B., Barros, V., Stocker, T. F. and Dahe, O., 2012. Managing the risks of 1269 extreme events and disasters to advance climate change adaptation: special report of the 1270 intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press. 1271 Frichot, E. and François, O., 2015. LEA: An R package for landscape and ecological 1272 association studies. Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 6 (8), 925–929. 1273 Frichot, E., Mathieu, F., Trouillon, T., Bouchard, G. and François, O., 2014. Fast and 1274 Efficient Estimation of Individual Ancestry Coefficients. Genetics, 196 (4), 973–983. 1275 Fulton, G. R., 2017. The Bramble Cay melomys: the first mammalian extinction due 1276 to human-induced climate change. Pacific Conservation Biology, 23 (1), 1. 1277 Ghosh, A., Johnson, M. G., Osmanski, A. B., Louha, S., Bayona-Vásquez, N. J., 1278 Glenn, T. C., Gongora, J., Green, R. E., Isberg, S., Stevens, R. D. and Ray, D. A., 2020. A 1279 High-Quality Reference Genome Assembly of the Saltwater Crocodile, Crocodvlus porosus, Reveals Patterns of Selection in Crocodylidae. Genome Biology and Evolution, 12 (1), 3635-1280 1281 3646. 1282 GIGA Community of Scientists, 2014. The Global Invertebrate Genomics Alliance (GIGA): developing community resources to study diverse invertebrate genomes. Journal of 1283 1284 Heredity, 105 (1), 1–18. 1285 Head, L., Adams, M., McGregor, H. V. and Toole, S., 2014. Climate change and Australia. WIREs Climate Change, 5 (2), 175–197. 1286 1287 Hoffmann, A. A., Miller, A. D. and Weeks, A. R., 2021. Genetic mixing for 1288 population management: From genetic rescue to provenancing. Evolutionary applications, 14 1289 (3), 634–652. 1290 Hoffmann, A. A., Rymer, P. D., Byrne, M., Ruthrof, K. X., Whinam, J., McGeoch, M., Bergstrom, D. M., Guerin, G. R., Sparrow, B., Joseph, L., Hill, S. J., Andrew, N. R., 1291 1292 Camac, J., Bell, N., Riegler, M., Gardner, J. L. and Williams, S. E., 2019. Impacts of recent 1293 climate change on terrestrial flora and fauna: Some emerging Australian examples. Austral 1294 Ecology, 44 (1), 3–27. 1295 Hoffmann, A., Griffin, P., Dillon, S., Catullo, R., Rane, R., Byrne, M., Jordan, R., 1296 Oakeshott, J., Weeks, A. and Joseph, L., 2015. A framework for incorporating evolutionary 1297 genomics into biodiversity conservation and management. Climate Change Responses, 2 (1), 1298 1 - 24. 1299 Horscroft, C., Ennis, S., Pengelly, R. J., Sluckin, T. J. and Collins, A., 2019. 1300 Sequencing era methods for identifying signatures of selection in the genome. Briefings in 1301 Bioinformatics, 20 (6), 1997–2008. Kelly, M. W., DeBiasse, M. B., Villela, V. A., Roberts, H. L. and Cecola, C. F., 2016. 1302 Adaptation to climate change: trade-offs among responses to multiple stressors in an 1303 1304 intertidal crustacean. Evolutionary Applications, 9 (9), 1147-1155. 1305 Kilian, A., Wenzl, P., Huttner, E., Carling, J., Xia, L., Blois, H., Caig, V., Heller-Uszynska, K., Jaccoud, D., Hopper, C., Aschenbrenner-Kilian, M., Evers, M., Peng, K., 1306 1307 Cayla, C., Hok, P. and Uszynski, G., 2012. Diversity Arrays Technology: A Generic Genome 1308 Profiling Technology on Open Platforms. In: Pompanon, F. and Bonin, A., eds. Data 1309 Production and Analysis in Population Genomics: Methods and Protocols. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press, 67–89. 1310

1311	Kitts, P. A., Church, D. M., Thibaud-Nissen, F., Choi, J., Hem, V., Sapojnikov, V.,
1312	Smith, R. G., Tatusova, T., Xiang, C. and Zherikov, A., 2016. Assembly: a resource for
1313	assembled genomes at NCBI. Nucleic Acids Research, 44 (1), 73-80.
1314	Korneliussen, T. S., Albrechtsen, A. and Nielsen, R., 2014. ANGSD: analysis of next
1315	generation sequencing data. BMC bioinformatics, 15 (1), 1–13.
1316	Leites, L. P., Rehfeldt, G. E. and Steiner, K. C., 2019. Adaptation to climate in five
1317	eastern North America broadleaf deciduous species: Growth clines and evidence of the
1318	growth-cold tolerance trade-off. Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics,
1319	37, 64–72.
1320	Lewin, H. A., Robinson, G. E., Kress, W. J., Baker, W. J., Coddington, J., Crandall,
1321	K. A., Durbin, R., Edwards, S. V., Forest, F. and Gilbert, M. T. P., 2018. Earth BioGenome
1322	Project: Sequencing life for the future of life. Proceedings of the National Academy of
1323	Sciences, 115 (17), 4325–4333.
1324	Li, H., 2013. Aligning sequence reads, clone sequences and assembly contigs with
1325	BWA-MEM. arXiv preprint arXiv:1303.3997.
1326	Li, H., Handsaker, B., Wysoker, A., Fennell, T., Ruan, J., Homer, N., Marth, G.,
1327	Abecasis, G. and Durbin, R., 2009. The sequence alignment/map format and SAMtools.
1328	Bioinformatics, 25 (16), 2078–2079.
1329	Lindberg, R. T. and Collins, S., 2020. Quality-quantity trade-offs drive functional
1330	trait evolution in a model microalgal 'climate change winner'. Ecology Letters, 23 (5), 780-
1331	790.
1332	Moseby, K. and Bice, J., 2004. A trial re-introduction of the Greater Stick-nest Rat
1333	(Leporillus conditor) in arid South Australia. Ecological Management & Restoration, 5, 118-
1334	124.
1335	Moseby, K., Read, J., Paton, D., Copley, P., Hill, B. and Crisp, H., 2011. Predation
1336	determines the outcome of 10 reintroduction attempts in arid South Australia. Biological
1337	Conservation, 144, 2863–2872.
1338	Onley, I. R., Moseby, K. E. and Austin, J. J., 2021. Genomic Approaches for
1339	Conservation Management in Australia under Climate Change. Life, 11 (7).
1340	Pascarella, A., Ferrandino, G., Credendino, S. C., Moccia, C., D'Angelo, F., Miranda,
1341	B., D'Ambrosio, C., Bielli, P., Spadaro, O., Ceccarelli, M., Scaloni, A., Sette, C., De Felice,
1342	M., De Vita, G. and Amendola, E., 2018. DNAJC17 is localized in nuclear speckles and
1343	interacts with splicing machinery components. Scientific Reports, 8 (1), 7794.
1344	Pavlova, A., Beheregaray, L. B., Coleman, R., Gilligan, D., Harrisson, K. A., Ingram,
1345	B. A., Kearns, J., Lamb, A. M., Lintermans, M., Lyon, J., Nguyen, T. T. T., Sasaki, M.,
1346	Tonkin, Z., Yen, J. D. L. and Sunnucks, P., 2017. Severe consequences of habitat
1347	fragmentation on genetic diversity of an endangered Australian freshwater fish: A call for
1348	assisted gene flow. Evolutionary Applications, 10 (6), 531–550.
1349	Pedler, L. and Copley, P., 1993. Re-introduction of stick-nest rats to Reevesby Island,
1350	South Australia. South Australian Department of Environment and Land Management:
1351	Biological Conservation Branch. Adelaide, South Australia.
1352	Potter, S. and Eldridge, M., 2017. OMG: Oz Mammal Genomics. Australasian
1353	Science, 38 (2), 19–21.
1354	Prober, S., Byrne, M., McLean, E., Steane, D., Potts, B., Vaillancourt, R. and Stock,
1333	w., 2015. Climate-adjusted provenancing: a strategy for climate-resilient ecological
1356	restoration. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution, 3, 65.
1357	Qiu, XB., Shao, YM., Miao, S. and Wang, L., 2006. The diversity of the
1338	DnaJ/Hsp40 family, the crucial partners for Hsp70 chaperones. Cellular and Molecular Life
1339	Sciences UNILS, $63 (22)$, $2560-25/0$.

1360	R Core Team, 2021. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing.
1361	Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Available from: https://www.R-
1362	project.org/.
1363	Ralls, K., Ballou, J. D., Dudash, M. R., Eldridge, M. D. B., Fenster, C. B., Lacy, R.
1364	C., Sunnucks, P. and Frankham, R., 2018. Call for a Paradigm Shift in the Genetic
1365	Management of Fragmented Populations. Conservation Letters, 11 (2), e12412.
1366	Rasouli, A., Nouri, M., KHAJEH, G. H. and Rasekh, A., 2004. The influences of
1367	seasonal variations on thyroid activity and some biochemical parameters of cattle. Iranian
1368	Journal of Veterinary Research, 5 (2), 1383-1391.
1369	Rellstab, C., Gugerli, F., Eckert, A. J., Hancock, A. M. and Holderegger, R., 2015. A
1370	practical guide to environmental association analysis in landscape genomics. Molecular
1371	Ecology, 24 (17), 4348–4370.
1372	Robinson, T., Canty, P., Mooney, T. and Rudduck, P., 1996. South Australia's
1373	Offshore Islands. South Australia: Resource Management Branch, Department of
1374	Environment and Natural Resources. Adelaide, South Australia.
1375	Sandoval-Castillo, J., Robinson, N. A., Hart, A. M., Strain, L. W. S. and Beheregaray,
1376	L. B., 2018. Seascape genomics reveals adaptive divergence in a connected and
1377	commercially important mollusc, the greenlip abalone (Haliotis laevigata), along a
1378	longitudinal environmental gradient. Molecular Ecology, 27 (7), 1603–1620.
1379	Savolainen, O., Lascoux, M. and Merilä, J., 2013. Ecological genomics of local
1380	adaptation. Nature Reviews Genetics, 14 (11), 807-820.
1381	Short, J., Copley, P., Ruykys, L., Morris, K., Read, J. and Moseby, K., 2019. Review
1382	of translocations of the greater stick-nest rat (Leporillus conditor): lessons learnt to facilitate
1383	ongoing recovery. Wildlife Research, 46 (6), 455.
1384	Steppan, S. J. and Schenk, J. J., 2017. Muroid rodent phylogenetics: 900-species tree
1385	reveals increasing diversification rates. PLOS ONE, 12 (8), e0183070.
1386	Teeling, E. C., Vernes, S. C., Dávalos, L. M., Ray, D. A., Gilbert, M. T. P., Myers, E.,
1387	and Bat1K Consortium, 2018. Bat biology, genomes, and the Bat1K project: to generate
1388	chromosome-level genomes for all living bat species. Annual review of animal biosciences,
1389	6, 23–46.
1390	Thomas, C., 2011. Translocation of species, climate change, and the end of trying to
1391	recreate past ecological communities. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 26, 216–221.
1392	Ungaro, A., Pech, N., Martin, JF., McCairns, R. S., Mévy, JP., Chappaz, R. and
1393	Gilles, A., 2017. Challenges and advances for transcriptome assembly in non-model species.
1394	PloS one, 12 (9), e0185020.
1395	Urban, M. C., 2015. Accelerating extinction risk from climate change. Science, 348
1396	(6234), 571–573.
1397	von Takach, B., Ahrens, C. W., Lindenmayer, D. B. and Banks, S. C., 2021. Scale-
1398	dependent signatures of local adaptation in a foundation tree species. Molecular Ecology, 30
1399	(10), 2248–2261.
1400	Vranken, S., Wernberg, T., Scheben, A., Severn-Ellis, A. A., Batley, J., Bayer, P. E.,
1401	Edwards, D., Wheeler, D. and Coleman, M. A., 2021. Genotype–Environment mismatch of
1402	kelp forests under climate change. Molecular Ecology
1403	Weeks, A. R., Heinze, D., Perrin, L., Stoklosa, J., Hoffmann, A. A., van Rooyen, A.,
1404	Kelly, 1. and Mansergh, I., 2017. Genetic rescue increases fitness and aids rapid recovery of
1405	an endangered marsupial population. Nature Communications, 8 (1), 10/1.
1406	Weeks, A. R., Stoklosa, J. and Hottmann, A. A., 2016. Conservation of genetic
1407	uniqueness of populations may increase extinction likelihood of endangered species: the case
1408	of Australian mammals. Frontiers in Zoology, 13 (1), 31.

1409 White, L. C., Moseby, K. E., Thomson, V. A., Donnellan, S. C. and Austin, J. J., 1410 2018. Long-term genetic consequences of mammal reintroductions into an Australian conservation reserve. Biological Conservation, 219, 1-11. 1411 1412 White, L. C., Thomson, V. A., West, R., Ruykys, L., Ottewell, K., Kanowski, J., Moseby, K. E., Byrne, M., Donnellan, S. C., Copley, P. and Austin, J. J., 2020. Genetic 1413 monitoring of the greater stick-nest rat meta-population for strategic supplementation 1414 1415 planning. Conservation Genetics, 21 (5), 941-956. 1416 Whiteley, A. R., Fitzpatrick, S. W., Funk, W. C. and Tallmon, D. A., 2015. Genetic rescue to the rescue. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 30 (1), 42–49. 1417 1418 Woinarski, J. C. Z. and Burbidge, A. A., 2016. Leporillus conditor. The IUCN Red 1419 List of Threatened Species. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. 1420 Woinarski, J. C. Z., Burbidge, A. A. and Harrison, P. L., 2015. Ongoing unraveling of 1421 a continental fauna: Decline and extinction of Australian mammals since European 1422 settlement. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 112 (15), 4531–4540. 1423 Wright, S., 1949. The genetical structure of populations. Annals of Eugenics, 15 (1), 323-354. 1424 1425 Zheng, X., Levine, D., Shen, J., Gogarten, S. M., Laurie, C. and Weir, B. S., 2012. A high-performance computing toolset for relatedness and principal component analysis of SNP 1426 data. Bioinformatics, 28 (24), 3326-3328. 1427 1428 1429 1430 1431

1432	Chapter 7
1433	
1434	Disproportionate admixture improves reintroduction outcomes despite the use of low-
1435	diversity source populations: population viability analysis for a translocation of the greater
1436	stick-nest rat
1437 1438	

le of Paper	Disproportionate admixture improves reintroduction outcomes despite the use of low-diversity source populations: population viability analysis for a translocation of the greater stick-nest rat					
blication Status	IT Published	Γ 4	Accepted for P	Publication	1	
	x Submitted for Publication	Γ,	Inpublished a nanuscript sty	ind Unsub le	mitted work writter	1 in
blication Details	Submitted to Animal Conservation					
rincipal Author						
me of Principal Author (Candidate)	Isabelle Onley					
ntribution to the Paper	isabelle developed and analysed the author.	e data, d	irafted the man	uscript an	d acted as correspo	nding
erall percentage (%)	70%	_				
rtification:	This paper reports on original resear Research candidature and is not subj party that would constrain its inclusion	rch I cor ject to ar in in this	nducted during ny obligations o thesis. I am th	the perio or contract e primary	d of my Higher De ual agreements with author of this paper	pree b h a third
Inature			Date	26/1	1/21	
signing the Statement of Authorship, i, the candidate's stated contrib ii. permission is granted for the iii. the sum of all co-author cont	each author certifies that: bution to the publication is accurate (as candidate in include the publication in tributions is equal to 100% less the can	s detailed the thes ididate's	d above); ils; and stated contribu	ution.		
me of Co-Author	Saul Cowen					
ntribution to the Paper	Saul assisted with data collation and manuscript.	t analysi	s, as well as de	evelopmer	nt and editing of the	
			Date	26/	11/2021	
ynature	Lauren White					
me of Co-Author			assisted with t	the develo	pment and editing o	f the
me of Co-Author	Lauren contributed data to the analy manuscript.	isis, and				
me of Co-Author Intribution to the Paper	Lauren contributed data to the analy manuscript.	rsis, and				

Name of Co-Author	Katherine Moseby				
Contribution to the Paper	Katherine contributed data to the manuscript.	Katherine contributed data to the analysis, and assisted with the development and editing of the manuscript.			
Signature			Date	6/12/2021	
Name of Co-Author	Pete Copley	0			
Contribution to the Paper	Pete assisted with the develo	opment and editing	of the man	uscript.	
Signature			Date	6/12/2021	

1441	Disproportionate admixture improves reintroduction outcomes despite the use of low-
1442	diversity source populations: population viability analysis for a translocation of the
1443	greater stick-nest rat
1444	
1445	Isabelle R. Onley ¹ *, Lauren C. White ² , Katherine E. Moseby ³ , Peter Copley ⁴ , Saul Cowen ^{5,6}
1446	
1447 1448	¹ Australian Centre for Ancient DNA (ACAD), School of Biological Sciences, University of Adelaide, South Australia, Adelaide, SA 5005, Australia
1449 1450	² Department of Primatology, Max Planck Institute for Evolutionary Anthropology, Deutscher Platz 6, 04103, Leipzig, Germany
1451 1452	³ Centre for Ecosystem Sciences, Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW 2035, Australia
1453	⁴ South Australian Department for Environment and Water, GPO Box 1047, Adelaide, SA 5001, Australia
1454	⁵ Biodiversity and Conservation Science, Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions, 17 Dick
1455	Perry Avenue, Kensington, WA 6151, Australia
1456	⁶ School of Biological Sciences, University of Western Australia, 35 Stirling Highway. Crawley, WA 6009,
1457	
1458	* Corresponding author (email: <u>ISabelle.onley(<i>a</i>/adelaide.edu.au</u>) (ORCID 0000-0003-2053-4002)
1439	Shout titles Sleaved administrate improved point advetion autoemes
1400	Short the: Skewed admixture improves reintroduction outcomes
1401	A bestweet
1402	Abstract
1405	Translagation is becoming on increasingly immentant annuagh to threatened encoder
1404	Transfocation is becoming an increasingly important approach to infratened species
1403	conservation. Coupled with the knowledge that maximising genetic diversity and population
1466	establishment, the growing use of translocations can place unsustainable harvesting pressure
1467	on critical and vulnerable source populations. However, adaptive, genetically-informed
1468	modelling tools such as Population Viability Analysis (PVA) can be used to predict
1469	translocation outcomes and optimise harvesting strategies. In this study, we use PVAs for the
1470	frequently translocated greater stick-nest rat (Leporillus conditor) to demonstrate the value of
1471	admixing founder populations for translocation, even when one source population is deemed
1472	genetically depauperate. This approach not only maximises genetic diversity in the
1473	translocated population, but reduces harvesting pressure on critical populations. Further, we
1474	show that admixed harvesting ratios can be skewed significantly towards the genetically
1475	depauperate population in order to further protect the critical population while still producing

1476	favourable outcomes, providing adequate founder numbers are used. As many threatened
1477	species are limited to fragmented and bottlenecked populations, these results are broadly
1478	applicable to the science of reintroduction biology, and demonstrate the value of PVAs for
1479	preliminary translocation planning and species management.
1480	
1481	Key words
1482	
1483	Conservation genetics, ecology, population viability analysis, reintroduction biology
1484	
1485	Declarations
1486	
1487	Funding
1488	This research was supported by the University of Adelaide and funded by the following
1489	organisations and awards: Arid Recovery, Australian Government Research Training
1490	Program Scholarship, Nature Foundation South Australia Grand Start Grant (Grant No. 2019-
1491	07), Biological Society South Australia/Nature Conservation Society of South Australia
1492	Conservation Biology Grant, Field Naturalists Society of South Australia Lirabenda
1493	Endowment Fund Research Grant. The Dirk Hartog Island National Park Ecological
1494	Restoration Project (Return to 1616) is being undertaken by the Western Australian
1495	Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions (DBCA) and is funded by the
1496	Gorgon-Barrow Island Net Conservation Benefits Fund.
1497	
1498	Conflicts of interest
1499	The authors declare no conflicts of interest.
1500	
1501	Ethics approval
1502	All samples were collected and sequenced as part of a previous study (White et al. 2020).
1503	
1504	Availability of data and material
1505	All de-multiplexed raw sequencing data are available from NCBI's sequence read archive
1506	(accession number: PRJNA389954).
1507	
1508	
1509	

1510 Acknowledgements

1511 The authors wish to acknowledge and thank Shaun Barclay, William Sherwin and Kim

1512 Branch for providing data incorporated into this analysis. We would also like to thank Jeremy

1513 Austin and two anonymous reviewers for constructive feedback on the manuscript, Aline

1514 Gibson Vega for assistance with the sensitivity analysis, and Kym Ottewell for assistance in

- 1515 preparing genetic data for input into Vortex.
- 1516

1517 Introduction

1518

1519 Australia's biodiversity faces a growing number of threats associated with land use changes, 1520 habitat loss and climate change, and many conservation managers have employed the practice 1521 of translocation, the facilitated movement of a species from one area to another, to combat 1522 extinctions and secure populations (Seddon 2010; IUCN 2013). Translocation programs face 1523 a number of practical challenges both pre- and post-release, including funding shortages, 1524 monitoring difficulties, predation, poor habitat quality and lack of baseline knowledge 1525 (Clayton et al. 2014; Short et al. 2019; Berger-Tal et al. 2020). Translocation success may 1526 often rely on sufficient numbers of genetically diverse individuals. Low founder numbers are 1527 associated with high failure rates due to the increased likelihood of inbreeding and founder 1528 effects (Weeks et al. 2011; McCoy et al. 2014; Pacioni et al. 2019). Similarly, low genetic 1529 diversity (either from founders or due to founder effect/post-release bottlenecks) also places 1530 translocations at risk of inbreeding depression or a lack of adaptive potential (Jamieson 2011; 1531 Biebach and Keller 2012; Ramstad et al. 2013; Murphy et al. 2019) (but see also Harding et 1532 al. 2016).

1533

1534 One of the guiding principles of translocations is to ensure that the source population is not 1535 negatively impacted by harvesting (IUCN 2013). The increasing use of translocation 1536 programs combined with the importance of maximising genetic diversity for population 1537 establishment and persistence means that source populations are under more pressure for 1538 conservation reintroductions (Armstrong and Seddon 2008; Jamieson and Lacy 2012; IUCN 1539 2013; Schäfer et al. 2020). As many threatened species have already suffered genetic 1540 bottlenecks (Jamieson et al. 2008), it is paramount that harvesting for translocations does not 1541 jeopardise the persistence of small and/or genetically depauperate source populations. In 1542 some cases, harvesting for translocations can have negative effects on the source population, 1543 such as population declines, disruption of social networks, loss of allelic richness and reduced 1544 genetic diversity (Goldenberg et al. 2019; Pacioni et al. 2019; Furlan et al. 2020; Morrison et 1545 al. 2020). For example, the sole remaining wild population of redfin blue eye, a small 1546 endangered fish endemic to Australia, lost a significant amount of genetic diversity when it 1547 was used as a source for eight translocations between 2009-2012, which the authors predicted 1548 would reduce adaptive potential in the long term (Furlan et al. 2020). Harvesting of remnant 1549 populations of the banded hare-wallaby (Lagostrophus fasciatus) in Western Australia has 1550 been predicted to result in slower drought recovery within the remnant populations (White, et 1551 al. 2020a). Further, population models of threatened Leiopelma frog species in New Zealand 1552 revealed that harvesting more than 150 individuals from source populations would result in 1553 declines in allelic retention (Easton et al. 2020).

1554

1555 One method which has proved helpful in mitigating the unsustainable harvesting of source 1556 populations and maximising translocation success is adaptive and genetically informed 1557 population modelling (Dimond and Armstrong 2007; Pacioni et al. 2019). These approaches 1558 often employ a population viability analysis (PVA), that incorporate population-specific 1559 survival parameters, genetic data and environmental variability in order to model demographic 1560 stochasticity over time and, ultimately, predict loss of genetic diversity and extinction risk 1561 (Morris and Doak 2002). PVAs can be used to predict the impact of harvesting on a source 1562 population, while simultaneously determining the likelihood of successful establishment of the 1563 translocated population. Well-designed PVAs can be useful in assisting conservation decision-1564 making (Brook et al. 2000; Chaudhary and Oli 2020) and are considered to be of most value 1565 when comparing multiple scenarios to determine the most effective management strategy, 1566 rather than delivering an absolute result (Akçakaya and Sjögren-Gulve 2000).

1567

1568 Here we aim to incorporate genetically informed population models into planning the 1569 translocation of an endemic Australian rodent, the greater stick-nest rat (Leporillus conditor) 1570 (hereafter GSNR). Once widespread across the southern half of the continent, the combined 1571 pressures of land use changes and introduced predators and herbivores reduced the species to 1572 a single location (on the East and West Franklin Islands, near Ceduna, South Australia) by 1573 the 1930s (Copley 1999a). GSNRs were listed as 'Endangered' under the IUCN assessment 1574 criteria in 1996 but have since been downlisted to 'Vulnerable' due to successful 1575 translocations to a captive colony at Monarto Safari Park in the late 1980s and several 1576 conservation areas since 1990 (Short et al. 2019). All five of the surviving translocated 1577 populations have lower genetic diversity than the Franklin Islands individuals (White et al.

1578 2020b), possibly due to founder effects in the Monarto captive population, over- and under-1579 representation of founders in translocated populations, and/or genetic drift after release. As 1580 the last remaining wild (and most genetically diverse) population, the Franklin Islands 1581 GSNRs represent both an important source for translocation harvesting and a critical 1582 population that must be conserved for the ongoing viability of the species. Indeed, White et 1583 al. (2020b) identified the Franklin Islands as the most appropriate source population for 1584 future GSNR translocations but suggested that other populations with lower diversity were good candidates for cross-translocations. We therefore aimed to use PVAs to determine an 1585 1586 optimised harvesting strategy for a new reintroduction of GSNRs on Dirk Hartog Island, 1587 Western Australia, whereby natural Franklin Island stock are supplemented with individuals 1588 from an additional established translocated population in order to improve the translocation 1589 outcome while minimising negative effects on source populations. A former pastoral lease, 1590 the majority of Dirk Hartog Island was gazetted as a National Park in 2009. The Dirk Hartog 1591 Island National Park Ecological Restoration Project (or 'Return to 1616') aims to return the 1592 island to a similar ecological state to how it was when the first Europeans landed there in 1593 1616 (Morris et al. 2017). To achieve this, eradication programs were successfully enacted 1594 for sheep (Ovis aries; completed in 2010), goats (Capra hircus; 2017) (Heriot et al. 2019) 1595 and feral cats (Felis catus; 2018) (Algar et al. 2019). With these key threats removed, the 1596 restoration project is now focused on the reintroduction of 13 locally extinct fauna species, 1597 including the GSNR (Algar et al. 2020). Of highest importance for the GSNR translocation is 1598 establishing a viable, genetically diverse population via translocation, while minimising 1599 harvesting impact on the critical population of the Franklin Islands.

- 1600
- 1601 Methods
- 1602

1603 Study Species & Source Populations

1604

GSNRs are herbivorous, medium-sized rodents (180-450g), feeding predominantly on perennial succulent plants and grasses (Robinson 1975; Copley 1988; Ryan et al. 2003; Procter 2007). They build and inhabit communal stick nests, with females remaining in or nearby their natal nest while males disperse (Onley, et al. in review). Offspring are produced throughout the year, and once born remain attached to the mothers' teats until weaned (Le Souef 1922; Copley 1988). While the species has suffered a rapid decline due partly to predation by cats (*Felis catus*) and foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*), native predators include various

- 1612 species of owls, kites, snakes, and other reptiles such as monitors (Pedler and Copley 1993;
- 1613 Copley 1999a; Moseby and Bice 2004). Since the 1980s, the species has been the subject of
- 1614 multiple translocation attempts from the single remaining extant population on the Franklin
- 1615 Islands (harvested periodically from 1985-1998, and again in 2011 and 2019 (Page et al.
- 1616 2011; Short et al. 2019; AWC 2020)) and resulting captive breeding colonies with varying
- 1617 levels of success (see Short et al., 2019). Successful translocations have occurred to
- 1618 Salutation Island (first release 1990) (Copley, 1999b), Reevesby Island (first release 1990)
- 1619 (Pedler and Copley 1993), St Peter Island (first release 1993) (Copley, 1999b), Arid
- 1620 Recovery (fenced reserve) (first release 1998) (Moseby et al. 2011), and Mt Gibson (fenced
- 1621 reserve) (first release 2011) (Short et al. 2019).
- 1622

1623 The source populations considered in our models were the Franklin Islands (East and West) 1624 and Salutation Island (Figure 1). The Franklin Islands – East and West, 225 ha and 247 ha 1625 respectively and joined at low tide by a tombolo - populations were chosen because of their relatively high genetic diversity (White, et al. 2020b) and relatively large population size 1626 1627 (1000-1200) (Robinson 1975; Copley 1988, 1999a). Genetic comparisons between West and 1628 East Franklin GSNRs indicate that the two island populations are weakly genetically distinct, 1629 with historical, but little contemporary, gene flow (White, et al. 2020b). We therefore 1630 estimated allele frequencies for West and East Franklins separately, with an equal harvesting 1631 ratio from both islands. Salutation Island (169 ha) was chosen because it has one of the largest populations of GSNRs (500-1000) (Copley 1999b; Short et al. 2019) and is closest to 1632 1633 the release site, thereby minimising travel time for animals. However, it has lower genetic 1634 diversity in comparison to other potential source sites (White et al. 2020). Other extant 1635 GSNR populations were not considered in this PVA due to either low population sizes (Arid 1636 Recovery) or difficult logistics for an overland translocation combined with reduced genetic 1637 diversity (Mt Gibson, St Peter Island, Reevesby Island) (White et al. 2020).



Figure 2 Map of current extant GSNR populations (red circles/triangles), proposed harvesting sites
 (red triangles), proposed translocation site (red star) and historic GSNR distribution (grey stipple).

1642 Translocation Site



1653 populations predicted to be sufficiently large to withstand predation by quolls. A trial 1654 reintroduction of western quolls to Arid Recovery found GSNRs were not frequently found in 1655 quoll scats (West et al. 2020) but sample size was low and observations at rat nest sites 1656 suggest it is likely that quolls represent a significant predator of stick-nest rats (Arid 1657 Recovery unpublished data). Furthermore, successful establishment of GSNRs on DHI may 1658 lead to increased presence of avian predators. Given the relatively large size of the island and 1659 extensive areas of suitable habitat, it is anticipated that the carrying capacity of GSNRs is 1660 significantly higher than any extant populations – we therefore estimate the carrying capacity 1661 as 10000 in our models. Successful establishment of GSNRs on DHI would therefore

1662 represent an important outcome for the recovery of the species (Woinarski et al. 2014).

1663

1664 Genetic Data

1665

1666 To incorporate genetic information into our PVA, we used single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) data generated and first published by White et al. 2020b. These data were generated 1667 1668 using ddRAD-seq (Poland et al. 2012) from ear or tail clips sampled from GSNRs trapped on 1669 the Franklin Islands in 1994 and on Salutation Island in 2016. SNPs with minor allele 1670 frequencies of <0.05 and more than 25% missing data were removed (White et al. 2020b). 1671 Demultiplexed and adapter-trimmed sequencing data are available from NCBI's sequence 1672 read archive (accession number: PRJNA389954) and more detailed methodology regarding 1673 sampling, library preparation and bioinformatic processing can be found in White et al. 1674 (2020b). We chose to not identify and remove close-kin from this dataset as we have no 1675 evidence that sampling on the Salutation and Franklin Islands was non-random with respect 1676 to relatedness (Waples and Anderson 2017; Wang 2018). Thus, we assume relatives are 1677 present in the sample in proportion to their prevalence in the populations and that our sample 1678 is representative.

1679

The SNP dataset includes 8723 loci genotyped from 19 individuals from Salutation Island,
and 15 individuals from the Franklin Islands (8 from East Franklin and 7 from West
Franklin). From this total dataset, SNPs were randomly subset to 500 loci as a representative
sample of the genetic diversity of each population, and an allele frequency table was created
using the R package "adegenet" (version 2.1.5) as per the requirements of the population
modelling software.

1687 Given that genetic samples from the Franklin Islands were collected in 1994, we first

- 1688 modelled a 25-year scenario of the Franklin Islands, including periodic harvesting for
- 1689 translocation, to ensure that no significant changes to allele frequency were likely to have
- 1690 occurred since sampling (Supplementary Information 1). Changes in genetic diversity were
- 1691 minimal (<0.005 expected heterozygosity), and were not considered significant enough to
- 1692 impact the outcome of PVAs.
- 1693

1694 **Population Modelling**

1695

Population modelling software Vortex (version 10.3.6.0) was used to conduct the PVA (Lacy
and Pollak 2017). Vortex uses Monte Carlo simulations based on life history and population
parameters and incorporates uncertainty and stochastic events in order to predict
demographic changes over time. Life history parameters (Table 1) were developed using a
combination of published literature and observations by conservation managers with decades
of experience in GSNR husbandry. A full description of life history parameters and rationale
is detailed in Supplementary Information 2.

1703

1704 It should be noted that the GSNR is a relatively understudied species, and reported breeding 1705 and mortality rates vary between environments and conditions. Many reproductive rates and 1706 life span parameters available in the literature and used in this PVA are based on data from 1707 captive populations. While we may not expect wild populations exhibit identical traits to 1708 captive animals, this information was still informative in developing realistic parameters, 1709 especially when releasing individuals into a new environment (such as DHI), where resources 1710 are not likely to be limiting in the medium term at least. Inevitably though, some uncertainty 1711 around the parameters used remains, and future PVAs for this species would benefit from 1712 further life history studies, the chosen parameters were developed and validated in 1713 consultation with experienced practitioners specialising in the species in question. 1714 Furthermore, as the present study was a comparative analysis of harvesting techniques, 1715 absolute values are of less importance to our models than if they were to be used to predict 1716 actual extinction risk of a real-life population, and more conservative estimates would cloud 1717 the central question of the influences of founder size and source population on translocation 1718 outcomes.

Population Parameters		Male Female		Sensitivity Testing	Reference (see also	
				Range (min-max)	Supplementary Information 2)	
Species	Lethal equivalents		3.14	2-6.5	(Ralls et al. 1988)	
Description	Percent due to recessive lethal alleles	50				
	EV correlation between reproduction and survival		1			
	EV correlation among populations		0.8			
Reproductive	Age of first offspring (years)	1	1			
System	Maximum age of reproduction	5	5		(Procter, 2007; K. Branch, pers.	
(monogamous)	(years)				<i>comm</i> . 2021)	
	Maximum lifespan (years)	5	5			
	Maximum number of broods per year	-	3		(Copley, 1988; K. Branch, pers. comm. 2020)	
	Maximum number of progeny per brood	-	3		(Copley, 1988; Copley, 1999 <i>a</i> ; Pedler and Copley, 1993).	
	Sex ratio at birth (%)	50	50			
Reproductive Rates	Adult females breeding (%)		=(80-((80- 50)*((N/K)^2)))*(N/(1+N))		(Barclay et al., unpublished data)	

Table 1 Life history parameters used in population modelling of GSNR translocation. EV denotes environmental variation. SD denotes standard deviation.

	SD in % breeding due to EV		8		
	Number of broods per year (%		0 broods - 0		(Copley, 1988; Copley, 1999a;
	distribution)		1 broods - 10		Pedler and Copley, 1993).
			2 broods - 60		
			3 broods – 30		
	Number of offspring per brood		1 offspring – 52		(Copley 1988)
	(% distribution)		2 offspring – 41		
			3 offspring – 7		
Mortality Rates	Mortality from age 0 to 1 (±SD)	36±11	36±11		(Barclay et al., unpublished data)
	(%)				
	Annual mortality after age 1	15±4	16±4	10-20	(Barclay et al., unpublished data)
	(±SD) (%)				
Catastrophes	Frequency (%)		16		(White et al., 2020a)
(drought)	Reproduction (% of normal		15		(Copley, 1999b; Barclay et al.,
	rate)				unpublished data)
	Survival (% of normal rate)		70		(Copley, 1999b; Barclay et al.,
					unpublished data)
Mate	Males in breeding pool (%)	100		70-100	
Monopolization					

1723 Harvesting scenarios

1724

1725 Eleven different scenarios were modelled based on various harvesting numbers and source 1726 populations (Table 2). These scenarios were chosen to reflect the outcome of translocations 1727 using both single and multiple source populations with a range of founder numbers and 1728 ratios. Simulations (hereafter "Sims") 1 and 2 and Sims 3 and 4 represent single source 1729 translocations with baseline (n = 120) harvesting numbers and low (n = 64) harvesting 1730 numbers respectively. Sims 5 to 7 represent multiple sourced translocations with baseline, 1731 low and high (n = 240) founder numbers. Sims 8 and 9 and Sims 10 and 11 are multiple 1732 sourced translocations with skewed harvesting ratios, and baseline and high founder numbers 1733 respectively. The number of baseline founders was determined following Weeks et al. (2015), 1734 who advocated for sampling up to 50 unrelated individuals to capture 95% of genetic 1735 diversity. Accounting for related individuals and mortality following translocation, we chose 1736 120 individuals (60 from each population) as our baseline harvest number. Survival during 1737 and after translocation was estimated at 70%, based on monitoring results from translocation of GSNRs to Mount Gibson (Short et al. 2019). GSNRs have been observed to demonstrate 1738 1739 some mortality during trapping and transportation, as well as post-release (Pedler and Copley 1740 1993; Short et al. 2019). Each scenario was simulated 1000 times over a 50 year period. 1741 Carrying capacity (K) for DHI was estimated to be 10000 individuals, but this is likely to be 1742 conservative given the carrying capacity of Salutation Island (just 169ha in size) appears to 1743 be 500-1000 individuals (Short et al., 2019). Salutation Island's K and initial population size 1744 was set to 600 individuals (K. Branch, pers. comm. 2020). Based on density estimates 1745 (Copley 1988) and the fact that both East and West Franklin Islands are larger than Salutation 1746 Island, we estimated K of each of the Franklin Islands to be 800, but the current population 1747 size was set to 500 individuals on East and West respectively.

1748

1749 *Table 2* Harvesting scenarios used in population modeling for GSNR translocation to Dirk Hartog

- 1750 Island. Symbols denote the following; *single source, †multiple source, ‡low founder numbers,
- 1751 §baseline founder numbers, ¶high founder numbers, #skewed harvesting ratio.

Scenario	Harvest Strategy (50:50 sex ratio)	Total <i>n</i>
Sim 1 ^{*§}	60 from Franklin Islands in Year 1; 60 from	120
	Franklin Islands in Year 2	

Sim 2 [*] §	60 from Salutation Island in Year 1; 60 from	120
	Salutation Island in Year 2	
Sim 3 [*] ‡	32 from Franklin Islands in Year 1; 32 from	64
	Franklin Islands in Year 2	
Sim 4 ^{*‡}	32 from Salutation Island in Year 1; 32 from	64
	Salutation Island in Year 2	
Sim 5 ^{†§}	60 from Salutation Island in Year 1; 60 from	120
	Franklin Islands in Year 2	
Sim 6 ^{†‡}	32 from Salutation Island in Year 1; 32 from	64
	Franklin Islands in Year 2	
Sim 7 ^{†¶}	120 from Salutation Island in Year 1; 120	240
	from Franklin Islands in Year 2	
Sim 8 ^{†§#}	40 from Salutation Island in Year 1; 80 from	120
	Franklin Islands in Year 2	
Sim 9 ^{†§#}	80 from Salutation Island in Year 1; 40 from	120
	Franklin Islands in Year 2	
Sim 10 ^{†¶#}	200 from Salutation Island in Year 1; 40 from	240
	Franklin Islands in Year 2	
Sim 11 ^{†¶#}	180 from Salutation Island in Year 1; 60 from	240
	Franklin Islands in Year 2	

- 1752
- 1753

1754Data Analysis

1755

1756 All Vortex outputs were collated using the package "vortexR" (Pacioni and Mayer 2017) in R Studio (version 4.0.2). Post-hoc analysis of translocated populations was conducted using the 1757 1758 package "stats" (version 4.0.2) (R Core Team 2020). Since data was determined to be 1759 abnormally distributed, we conducted a non-parametric analysis of variance (ANOVA; 1760 Kruskal-Wallis test) model followed by a pairwise Wilcoxon rank sum test of all 1000 1761 iteration outputs for population size, expected heterozygosity, inbreeding and probability of 1762 extinction averaged over each year of the PVA in order to test for significant differences 1763 between translocation scenarios. Finally, to determine relative impact to founder populations,

expected heterozygosity, inbreeding coefficient and size of each population were compared atyears 1 and 5 under each scenario.

1766

1767 While a reasonable amount of data on breeding and survival rates was available for this 1768 species (strengthened by consultation with leading practitioners), it is possible that variation 1769 to breeding and survival rates may occur in the population following reintroduction. We 1770 therefore used sensitivity testing in Vortex to determine the impact of variation in three key 1771 parameters on population establishment, represented by probability of extinction, inbreeding, heterozygosity and population size. These parameters were lethal equivalents, % males in the 1772 breeding pool and % mortality after age 1 (Table 1). Sensitivity testing was performed on the 1773 1774 source population of East Franklin Island, due to computing restraints encountered when attempting sensitivity testing on multiple populations with extremely large carrying capacity 1775 1776 (eg. 10000 individuals on DHI). The results of the sensitivity tests were analysed using a 1777 binomial logistic regression, with all parameters of the sensivity test included as predictor variables (Rayner et al. 2021). 1778

1779

- 1781 **Results**
- 1782

1783 **Population Growth**

- 1784
- 1785 All scenarios, regardless of founder source population, reached a stable population size just
- 1786 below the estimated carrying capacity within 35 years of translocation to DHI (Figure 2A).
- 1787



1788

Figure 3 A) Population size, B) expected heterozygosity as a measure of genetic diversity, and C)
comparison of inbreeding coefficients (mean and SD) of greater stick-nest rats at Dirk Hartog Island
under each scenario over 50 years. Symbols denote the following; *single source, †multiple source,
‡low founder numbers, §baseline founder numbers, ¶high founder numbers, #skewed harvesting ratio.

1793

1794 Genetic Diversity

1795

1796 Scenarios resulting in the lowest expected heterozygosity were those with single source

1797 populations and low founder numbers (Sim 3 Franklins only and Sim 4 Salutation only),

1798 followed by single source populations with baseline founder numbers (Sim 1 Franklins only

- and Sim 2 Salutation only) (Figure 2B). Multiple sourced translocations with low numbers
- 1800 performed better (Sim 6), but not as well as multiple source populations with baseline and

1801 high numbers (Sims 5, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11), even when the ratios were skewed. Whether the

- 1802 harvesting was skewed towards the critical population (Franklins) or not had little impact on
- 1803 the outcome.
- 1804

1805 Inbreeding

1806

1807 Inbreeding coefficients for each scenario were relatively similar at the beginning of the

1808 translocation, with the exception of single sourced translocations from the Franklin Islands

1809 (Sims 1 and 3), which had a higher inbreeding coefficient than all other scenarios initially.

1810 By year 50, however, single sourced populations (Sims 1 to 4) and the population with two

- 1811 sources but low founder numbers (Sim 6) had the highest degree of inbreeding, while all
- 1812 others remained relatively constant (Figure 2C).
- 1813

1814 **Probability of Extinction**

- 1815
- 1816 In 1000 iterations, all scenarios had a low probability of extinction (\Box 1.5%). Of these
- 1817 scenarios, single sourced translocations with low founding numbers (Sims 3 and 4) had the
- 1818 highest probability of extinction (Table 3).
- 1819

1820 *Table 3* Year and probability of extinction of Dirk Hartog Island stick-nest rat population for each

- 1821 PVA scenario over 50 years and 1000 iterations. Symbols denote the following; *single source,
- 1822 †multiple source, ‡low founder numbers, §baseline founder numbers, ¶high founder numbers,
- 1823 #skewed harvesting ratio.

Scenario	Years Population	Probability of
	Went Extinct	Extinction
Sim 1 ^{*§}	11, 12, 18, 27	0.4%
Sim 2 ^{*§}	9	0.1%
Sim 3 ^{*‡}	6, 8, 10, 12, 13, 14,	1.5%
	18, 20, 26, 27	

Sim 4 [*] ‡	5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12,	0.9%
	16, 23	
Sim 5 ^{†§}	6, 7, 9, 15	0.4%
Sim 6 ^{†‡}	9, 10, 12	0.5%
Sim 7 [†] ¶	21	0.1%
Sim 8 ^{†§#}	11, 12, 17, 20	0.5%
Sim 9 ^{†§#}	7, 12	0.2%
Sim 10 ^{†¶#}	-	0%
Sim 11 ^{†¶#}	-	0%

1825 Statistical Differences

1826

1827 Non-parametric ANOVA models of four key outputs – population size, expected

1828 heterozygosity, inbreeding coefficient and probability of extinction – averaged across 1000

1829 iterations for each year of the 50 year PVA per scenario revealed a significant difference

1830 between scenarios in outcome for all parameters (Table 4).

1831

Table 4 P-values of output parameters for all PVA scenarios determined by non-parametric ANOVAmodels.

	Population size	Expected	Inbreeding	Extinction
		Heterozygosity	Coefficient	Probability
P-value	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001

1834

1835 Pairwise testing revealed that differences in inbreeding coefficients and expected

1836 heterozygosity were statistically significant between all models except Sims 1 and 2, Sims 3

and 4, and Sims 8 and 10 (Supplementary Information 3). Sims 5 and 10 were not

1838 significantly different in terms of inbreeding coefficient, but were significantly different in

1839 expected heterozygosity. Single source populations with low and baseline founder numbers

1840 had therefore higher inbreeding values and lower expected heterozygosity than all multiple

1841 sourced translocations, even when low founder numbers were used.

1842

1843 Sensitivity testing did not reveal significant impacts of variation of lethal equivalents, % males1844 in the breeding pool or % adult mortality rates on GSNR populations (Supplementary

1845 Information 4). Of the life history parameters we examined, % mortality after age 1 appeared

- 1846 to have the strongest effect on heterozygosity and extinction probability, however these
- 1847 effects were not statistically significant.
- 1848

1849 Impact of Harvesting on Source Populations

1850

Harvesting did not appear to have any impact on the source populations long term, regardless of numbers removed from the population; 10 years after harvest, expected heterozygosity for all founding populations and harvesting scenarios decreased <0.003, inbreeding values increased by <0.002, and population size remained constant. Values for these outputs for each founder population at years 1, 5 and 10 of each harvesting strategy are detailed in Supplementary Information 5.

- 1857
- 1858

1859 **Discussion**

1860

1861 PVAs are a valuable tool in conservation planning, management and decision-making 1862 (Chaudhary and Oli 2020). Population modelling of eleven different scenarios for the 1863 translocation of GSNRs to DHI revealed that sourcing founders from multiple populations 1864 improved the outcome of reintroductions in comparison to single sourced translocations. In 1865 translocated populations with multiple sources, inbreeding coefficients were, on average, 1866 lower, while expected heterozygosity was higher than single sourced populations. Inbreeding 1867 values for single sourced translocations were higher initially, but this is likely due to a 1868 Wahlund Effect resulting from the slight genetic divergence between the East and West 1869 Franklins (Hartl 1988; Frantz et al. 2006). Founder numbers also contributed to the outcome 1870 of translocations; where multiple sources were used, those scenarios with higher harvesting 1871 rates produced higher genetic diversity and lower inbreeding in the long-term. Skewing the 1872 harvesting strategy towards either source did not appear to change the outcome of the 1873 translocation, particularly when overall founder numbers were high. Interestingly, impact on 1874 source populations did not appear to vary between harvesting strategies, regardless of number 1875 of individuals taken in the scenarios we tested. Sensitivity testing on variable values of mate 1876 monopolisation, lethal equivalents, and % mortality after age 1 did not reveal a significant 1877 impact on population parameters of interest. This may be due to the large population sizes 1878 and carrying capacities of the populations considered within this study.

1880 Value of skewed admixture for translocations

1881 The results of our PVA support previous studies indicating that sourcing founder individuals 1882 for translocation programs from multiple populations not only reduces the risk of placing 1883 harvesting pressure on critical source populations, but can improve the outcome of the reintroduction as a whole (Biebach and Keller 2012; Wirtz et al. 2018; McLennan et al. 1884 1885 2020). Both genetic diversity and levels of inbreeding were significantly improved in the 1886 DHI GSNR population when founders were sourced from both Salutation Island and the 1887 Franklin Islands, in comparison to single sourced translocations from either location. This 1888 pattern has been observed in real-world translocations of other taxa, such as sea otter 1889 (Enhydra lutris) (Bodkin et al. 1999; Albrecht and McCue 2010; Robinson et al. 2021), 1890 Tasmanian devils (Sarcophilus harrisii) (McLennan et al. 2020) and bighorn sheep (Ovis 1891 canadensis) (Olson et al. 2013; Jahner et al. 2019; Poirier et al. 2019). The improved genetic 1892 diversity outcomes in the admixture scenarios is particularly interesting given that Salutation 1893 Island is considered a genetically depauperate population (White et al., 2020b), 1894 demonstrating that even populations of low diversity can act as valuable sources for 1895 reintroductions when combined with other populations. Further, skewing the proportion of 1896 animals harvested towards either the Franklin Islands or Salutation Island did not appear to significantly alter the outcome of the translocation. Skewing towards Salutation Island when 1897 1898 founder numbers were high (Sim 10) had similar outcomes to Sim 8, where there was a skew 1899 towards the Franklin Islands. This key finding indicates that the critical population of GSNRs 1900 can be protected in future translocations by admixing with a high proportion of animals from 1901 the genetically depauperate population of Salutation Island.

1902

1903 Although we found little difference in the likelihood of population persistence/extinction or 1904 population growth across the simulated scenarios, admixture may still improve population 1905 sustainability for the DHI GSNRs through positive fitness effects. Our simulations modelled 1906 inbreeding depression through the inclusion of a number of lethal equivalents equal to the 1907 average for diploid organisms. It is possible that the true number of lethal equivalents in the 1908 GSNR populations is higher than this average – for example, GSNRs have been observed to 1909 suffer from cataract formation in both captivity and the wild, though it is unknown whether 1910 this is associated with genetics or diet (Robertson 2007)). If this is the case, the probability of 1911 positive fitness effects in admixed individuals through the reversal of inbreeding depression 1912 (i.e. genetic rescue, (Frankham et al. 2010; Frankham 2015; Whiteley et al. 2015)), may also

- 1913 increase. This result has been demonstrated in practice for several taxa, including genetic
- 1914 rescues of the South Island robin (*Petroica australis*) and the mountain pygmy possum
- 1915 (Burramys parvus) (Heber et al. 2013; Weeks et al. 2017). Future investigation on the
- 1916 potential fitness benefits associated with translocation would be valuable for the management
- 1917 of GSNRs and other threatened species.
- 1918

1919 Role of founder numbers in translocation success and source population impacts 1920 Our models support previous findings that founder numbers play a role in conservation 1921 outcomes (Weeks et al. 2011; McCoy et al. 2014; Pacioni et al. 2019). While scenarios with 1922 multiple source populations performed better overall, of these scenarios, those with higher 1923 founder numbers appeared to be the most successful in terms of retaining genetic diversity 1924 and minimising inbreeding over time. The positive impact of increased founder numbers has 1925 been reported on many times in recent years (Griffith et al. 1989; Lee et al. 2019; Furlan et al. 1926 2020; White, et al. 2020a), while low founder numbers have been attributed to a number of 1927 failed reintroductions, including several translocations of woylies (brush-tailed bettong) 1928 (Bettongia penicillata) where the genetic effects of small founder numbers were further 1929 compounded by predation and drought (Fischer and Lindenmayer 2000; Mawson 2004; 1930 Germano and Bishop 2009; Short 2009). However, given the importance of conserving 1931 critical source populations, a trade-off must be reached between optimising translocation 1932 outcomes and minimising impacts to existing populations. Although we found no noticeable 1933 impact of higher harvesting numbers on source populations, detrimental effects of 1934 overharvesting have been observed (Goldenberg et al. 2019; Furlan et al. 2020), and the 1935 possibility of this occurring should be avoided where possible. Our PVAs showed similar 1936 genetic outcomes between Sims 5 and Sims 8 and 9, wherein 120 total founders were used in 1937 both, but the harvesting ratios from Salutation Island and the Franklin Islands were 50:50 and 1938 \sim 70:30/30:70 respectively. Further, increasing the founder numbers to 240 individuals but 1939 heavily skewing the harvesting towards the genetically depauperate population (Salutation 1940 Island) as in Sims 10 (~85:15) and 11 (75:25) also produced favourable results. Our results 1941 indicate that managers may consider alleviating harvesting pressure on critical source 1942 populations by heavily supplementing translocations with individuals from other, less 1943 diverse, populations, as long as a high number of founders are used.

1944

1945 *Limitations and considerations*

1946 While PVAs are a valuable, and often highly accurate, method of predicting translocation 1947 outcomes (Brook et al. 2000), they are not infallible. The single-species focus and inability to 1948 account for all survival factors mean that there will always be some uncertainty associated 1949 with the results. Here, all scenarios produced a very low risk of extinction ($\leq 1.5\%$). In reality, 1950 the likelihood of translocation failure is far higher; a study of Australian macropod 1951 translocations found between 51% and 61% of translocations to be successful, depending on 1952 the criteria (Clayton et al. 2014). Similarly, Short (2009) collated 380 translocations of 102 1953 Australian species and identified 54% as successful. For GSNR translocations specifically, 1954 the success rate is 40% (Short et al. 2019). It is therefore unlikely that the extinction 1955 probability for the DHI translocation of GSNRs is as low as our models predict due to the 1956 inability to include all potential risk factors, and the values should be considered as relative, 1957 rather than absolute (Akçakaya and Sjögren-Gulve 2000). Furthermore, understudied species 1958 often have limited demographic data available; for example, in our analysis we assume that 1959 all males have equal breeding success. While no data currently exist for GSNRs that suggest 1960 otherwise, it should be acknowledged that the potential for unequal reproductive success rates 1961 may have genetic impacts on translocated populations. However, in this comparative analysis 1962 of translocation scenarios we feel it is unlikely that greater certainty around variation in male 1963 breeding success would result in any changes to our conclusions. The results of the sensitivity 1964 testing support this.

1965

1966 Conclusions and recommendations

1967

1968 Our models show that skewed harvesting ratios towards genetically depauperate source 1969 populations can produce favourable outcomes following translocation, highlighting a 1970 promising approach to protect critical populations without jeopordizing reintroduction 1971 programs. These results are broadly applicable, as many native species have suffered range 1972 contractions and genetic bottlenecks similar to those of greater stick-nest rats. 1973 Disproportionate admixed harvesting, rather than a single-source approach, has the potential 1974 to lessen harvesting impacts on the genetic diversity of critical naturally-occurring 1975 populations, even if one source population is genetically suboptimal. These findings are a 1976 timely contribution to the growing science of reintroduction biology. Managers working with 1977 other species should take a case-by-case approach and consider species-specific life-history 1978 parameters such as reproduction rates, brood size and breeding age to determine appropriate 1979 founder numbers. Tailored, species-specific PVAs are a valuable tool for incorporating this

- 1980 information into conservation planning, and should be used to assist with decision-making for
- 1981 future reintroductions.
- 1982
- 1983

1985 **References**

- 1986
- Akçakaya, H. R. and Sjögren-Gulve, P., 2000. Population Viability Analyses in Conservation
 Planning: An Overview. *Ecological Bulletins*, (48), 9–21.
- 1989 Albrecht, M. A. and McCue, K. A., 2010. Changes in Demographic Processes Over Long
- 1990 Time Scales Reveal the Challenge of Restoring an Endangered Plant. *Restoration Ecology*,
- 1991 18 (s2), 235–243.
- 1992 Algar, D., Johnston, M. and Pink, C., eds. 2019. Big island feral cat eradication campaigns:
- an overview and status update of significant examples. *In*: [online]. Presented at the Island
- invasives: scaling up to meet the challenge, IUCN, International Union for Conservation of
 Nature, 238. Available from: https://portals.iucn.org/library/node/48358 [Accessed 5 Feb
- 1995 Nature, 238. Available from: https://portais.iucn.org/library/node/48358 [Accessed 5 Feb 2021].
- 1997 Algar, D., Morris, K., Asher, J. and Cowen, S., 2020. Dirk Hartog Island 'Return to 1616'
- 1998 Project The first six years (2014 to 2019). *Ecological Management & Restoration*, 21 (3),
 1999 173–183.
- Armstrong, D. P. and Seddon, P. J., 2008. Directions in reintroduction biology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 23 (1), 20–25.
- 2002 AWC, 2020. Stick-nest building mammal back in the Mallee [online]. Australian Wildlife
- 2003 Conservancy. Available from: https://www.australianwildlife.org/stick-nest-building-
- 2004 mammal-back-in-the-mallee/ [Accessed 15 Mar 2021].
- Berger-Tal, O., Blumstein, D. T. and Swaisgood, R. R., 2020. Conservation translocations: a
 review of common difficulties and promising directions. *Animal Conservation*, 23 (2), 121–
 131.
- 2008 Bureau of Meteorology. (2018). Climate data online. [Accessed 30 April 2020.] Available 2009 from URL: http://www.bom.gov.au/climate/cdo/about/cdo-selecting-data.shtml.
- 2009 Holin OKL. http://www.bolin.gov.au/cliniae/cdo/about/cdo-selecting-data.shthil. 2010 Biebach, I. and Keller, L. F., 2012. Genetic variation depends more on admixture than
- number of founders in reintroduced Alpine ibex populations. *Biological Conservation*, 147
- 2011 inditioer of foe 2012 (1), 197–203.
- 2013 Bodkin, J. L., Ballachey, B. E., Cronin, M. A. and Scribner, K. T., 1999. Population
- 2014 Demographics and Genetic Diversity in Remnant and Translocated Populations of Sea Otters.
 2015 Conservation Biology, 13 (6), 1378–1385.
- 2016 Bolton, J. and Moseby, K., 2004. The activity of Sand Goannas Varanus gouldii and their
- 2017 interaction with reintroduced Greater Stick-nest Rats Leporillus conditor. Pacific
- 2018 Conservation Biology, 10 (3), 193.
- 2019 Brook, B. W., O'Grady, J. J., Chapman, A. P., Burgman, M. A., Akçakaya, H. R. and
- 2020 Frankham, R., 2000. Predictive accuracy of population viability analysis in conservation
- 2021 biology. Nature, 404 (6776), 385–387.
- 2022 Chaudhary, V. and Oli, M. K., 2020. A critical appraisal of population viability analysis.
- 2023 *Conservation Biology*, 34 (1), 26–40.
- Clayton, J., Pavey, C., Vernes, K. and Tighe, M., 2014. Review and analysis of Australian
 macropod translocations 1969–2006. *Mammal Review*, 44, 109–123.
- 2026 Copley, P., 1988. The Stick-nest Rats of Australia: A Final Report to World Wildlife Fund
- 2027 (Australia). National Parks and Wildlife Service, Department of Environment and Planning.
- 2028 Copley, P., 1999a. Natural histories of Australia's stick-nest rats, genus Leporillus
- 2029 (Rodentia : Muridae). Wildlife Research, 26 (4), 513.
- 2030 Copley, P., 1999b. Review of the recovery plan for greater stick-nest rat, Leporillus conditor.
- 2031 Adelaide: Biodiversity Branch, Department for Environment, Heritage and Aboriginal
- 2032 Affairs.

- 2033 Cowen, S., Rayner, K., Scheelen, L., Sims, C. and Gibson, L., 2019. Dirk Hartog Island
- 2034 National Park Ecological Restoration Project: Stage Two Year One Translocation and
- 2035 *Monitoring Report.* Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions.
- 2036 Cowen, S., Rayner, K., Sims, C., Friend, T., Ottewell, K. and Gibson, L., 2020. Dirk Hartog
- 2037 Island National Park Ecological Restoration Project: Stage Two Year Two, 63.
- 2038 Cowen, S., Rayner, K., Sims, C. and Morris, K., 2018. Dirk Hartog Island National Park
- 2039 Ecological Restoration Project: Stage One Trial hare-wallaby, 52.
- 2040 Dimond, W. J. and Armstrong, D. P., 2007. Adaptive Harvesting of Source Populations for
- Translocation: a Case Study with New Zealand Robins. *Conservation Biology*, 21 (1), 114– 124.
- Easton, L. J., Bishop, P. J. and Whigham, P. A., 2020. Balancing act: modelling sustainable release numbers for translocations. *Animal Conservation*, 23 (4), 434–442.
- Fischer, J. and Lindenmayer, D. B., 2000. An assessment of the published results of animal relocations. *Biological Conservation*, 96 (1), 1–11.
- 2047 Frankham, R., 2015. Genetic rescue of small inbred populations: meta-analysis reveals large
- and consistent benefits of gene flow. *Molecular Ecology*, 24 (11), 2610–2618.
- 2049 Frankham, R., Ballou, J. D. and Briscoe, D. A., 2010. Introduction to Conservation Genetics
- 2050 [online]. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Available from:
- 2051 https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/introduction-to-conservation-
- 2052 genetics/696B4E558C93F7FBF9C33D6358EA7425.
- 2053 Frantz, A. C., Pourtois, J. T., Heuertz, M., Schley, L., Flamand, M. C., Krier, A., Bertouille,
- 2054 S., Chaumont, F. and Burke, T., 2006. Genetic structure and assignment tests demonstrate
- illegal translocation of red deer (Cervus elaphus) into a continuous population. *Molecular Ecology*, 15 (11), 3191–3203.
- 2057 Furlan, E. M., Gruber, B., Attard, C. R. M., Wager, R. N. E., Kerezsy, A., Faulks, L. K.,
- 2058 Beheregaray, L. B. and Unmack, P. J., 2020. Assessing the benefits and risks of
- translocations in depauperate species: A theoretical framework with an empirical validation.
 Journal of Applied Ecology, 57 (4), 831–841.
- 2061 Germano, J. M. and Bishop, P. J., 2009. Suitability of Amphibians and Reptiles for
- 2062 Translocation. Conservation Biology, 23 (1), 7–15.
- 2063 Goldenberg, S. Z., Owen, M. A., Brown, J. L., Wittemyer, G., Oo, Z. M. and Leimgruber, P.,
- 2064 2019. Increasing conservation translocation success by building social functionality in
- 2065 released populations. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 18, e00604.
- 2066 Griffith, B., Scott, J. M., Carpenter, J. W. and Reed, C., 1989. Translocation as a Species
- 2067 Conservation Tool: Status and Strategy. *Science*, 245 (4917), 477–480.
- 2068 Harding, L.E., Heffelfinger, J., Paetkau, D., Rubin, E., Dolphin, J. and Aoude, A., 2016.
- 2069 Genetic management and setting recovery goals for Mexican wolves (Canis lupus baileyi) in
- 2070 the wild. *Biological conservation*, 203, 151-159.
- 2071 Hartl, D. L., 1988. A primer of population genetics. [online]. Sinauer Associates, Inc.
- 2072 Available from: https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/19901611604.
- 2073 Heber, S., Varsani, A., Kuhn, S., Girg, A., Kempenaers, B. and Briskie, J., 2013. The genetic
- 2074 rescue of two bottlenecked South Island robin populations using translocations of inbred
- 2075 donors. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 280 (1752), 20122228.
- 2076 Heriot, S., Asher, J., Williams, M. and Moro, D., 2019. The eradication of ungulates (sheep
- and goats) from Dirk Hartog Island, Shark Bay World Heritage Area, Australia. *Biological Invasions*, 21 (5), 1789–1805.
- 2079 IUCN, 2013. Guidelines for reintroductions and other conservation translocations. *Gland*,
- 2080 Switzerland: IUCN Species Survival Commission [online]. Available from:
- 2081 https://www.iucn.org/content/guidelines-reintroductions-and-other-conservation-
- translocations [Accessed 11 Jan 2021].

- 2083 Jahner, J. P., Matocq, M. D., Malaney, J. L., Cox, M., Wolff, P., Gritts, M. A. and Parchman,
- 2084 T. L., 2019. The genetic legacy of 50 years of desert bighorn sheep translocations.
- 2085 Evolutionary Applications, 12 (2), 198–213.
- Jamieson, I. G., 2011. Founder Effects, Inbreeding, and Loss of Genetic Diversity in Four Avian Reintroduction Programs. *Conservation Biology*, 25 (1), 115–123.
- 2088 Jamieson, I. G., Grueber, C. E., Waters, J. M. and Gleeson, D. M., 2008. Managing genetic
- diversity in threatened populations: a New Zealand perspective. New Zealand journal of
 ecology, 130–137.
- Jamieson, I. G. and Lacy, R. C., 2012. Managing genetic issues in reintroduction biology. *In*:
- 2092 *Reintroduction Biology: Integrating Science and Management*. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell, 2093 441–475.
- Lacy, R. C. and Pollak, J. P., 2017. VORTEX: A Stochastic Simulation of the Extinction
 Process. Brookfield, Illinois, USA: Chicago Zoological Society.
- Le Souef, A. S., 1922. Notes on the mating and breeding habits of the housebuilding rat
- 2097 (Coniluris conditor) and Banfield's rat (Uromys banfieldi). *Australian Zoologist*, 3, 15–16.
- 2098 Lee, D. E., Fienieg, E., Van Oosterhout, C., Muller, Z., Strauss, M., Carter, K. D., Scheijen,
- 2099 C. P. J. and Deacon, F., 2019. Giraffe Translocation Population Viability Analysis. *bioRxiv*,
- 619114.
- 2101 Mawson, P. R., 2004. Translocations and fauna reconstruction sites: Western Shield
- 2102 review—February 2003. Conservation Science of Western Australia, 5 (2), 108–121.
- 2103 McCoy, E. D., Osman, N., Hauch, B., Emerick, A. and Mushinsky, H. R., 2014. Increasing
- 2104 the chance of successful translocation of a threatened lizard. *Animal Conservation*, 17 (S1),
- 2105 56–64.
- 2106 McLennan, E. A., Grueber, C. E., Wise, P., Belov, K. and Hogg, C. J., 2020. Mixing
- 2107 genetically differentiated populations successfully boosts diversity of an endangered 2108 carnivore. *Animal Conservation*, 23 (6), 700–712.
- 2109 Morris, K., Page, M., Thomas, N. and Ottewell, K., 2017. A Strategic Framework for the
- 2110 Reconstruction and Conservation of the Vertebrate Fauna of Dirk Hartog Island, 28.
- 2111 Morris, W. F. and Doak, D. F., 2002. *Quantitative Conservation Biology: Theory and*
- 2112 Practice of Population Viability Analysis. Massachusetts, USA: Sinauer, Sunderland.
- 2113 Morrison, C.E., Johnson, R.N., Grueber, C.E. and Hogg, C.J., 2020. Genetic impacts of
- conservation management actions in a critically endangered parrot species. *Conservation Genetics*, 21(5), 869-877.
- 2116 Moseby, K. E. and Bice, J. K., 2004. A trial re-introduction of the Greater Stick-nest Rat
- 2117 (Leporillus conditor) in arid South Australia. Ecologial Management & Restoration, 5 (2), 7.
- 2118 Moseby, K., Read, J., Paton, D., Copley, P., Hill, B. and Crisp, H., 2011. Predation
- 2119 determines the outcome of 10 reintroduction attempts in arid South Australia. *Biological*
- 2120 Conservation, 144, 2863–2872.
- 2121 Murphy, C., Burnett, S., Conroy, G. C., Howland, B. W. A., Lamont, R. W., Sumner, J. and
- 2122 Ogbourne, S. M., 2019. Genetic diversity and structure of the threatened striped legless
- 2123 lizard, Delma impar: management implications for the species and a translocated population.
- 2124 *Conservation Genetics*, 20 (2), 245–257.
- 2125 Olson, Z. H., Whittaker, D. G. and Rhodes, O. E., 2013. Translocation history and genetic
- diversity in reintroduced bighorn sheep. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 77 (8), 1553–
- 2127 1563.
- 2128 Pacioni, C. and Mayer, F. W., 2017. vortexR: an R package for post Vortex simulation
- analysis. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 8, 1477–1481.
- 2130 Pacioni, C., Wayne, A. F. and Page, M., 2019. Guidelines for genetic management in
- 2131 mammal translocation programs. *Biological Conservation*, 237, 105–113.

- 2132 Page, M., Spence-Bailey, L., Legge, S., Armstrong, D. and Morris, K., 2011. Translocation
- 2133 proposal for greater stick-nest rat (Leporillus conditor). Perth: Australian Wildlife
- 2134 Conservancy.
- 2135 Pedler, L. and Copley, P., 1993. Re-introduction of stick-nest rats to Reevesby Island, South
- 2136 *Australia*. South Australian Department of Environment and Land Management: Biological
 2137 Conservation Branch.
- 2138 Poirier, M.-A., Coltman, D. W., Pelletier, F., Jorgenson, J. and Festa-Bianchet, M., 2019.
- 2139 Genetic decline, restoration and rescue of an isolated ungulate population. *Evolutionary*
- 2140 *Applications*, 12 (7), 1318–1328.
- Procter, J., 2007. *Greater Stick-Nest Rat Husbandry Guidelines*. Alice Springs Desert Park.
 Husbandry Manual.
- 2143 R Core Team, 2020. R: A language and environment for statistical computing [online].
- 2144 Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Available from: https://www.R-2145 project.org/.
- 2146 Ralls, K., Ballou, J. D. and Templeton, A., 1988. Estimates of Lethal Equivalents and the
- 2147 Cost of Inbreeding in Mammals. *Conservation Biology*, 2 (2), 185–193.
- 2148 Ramstad, K. M., Colbourne, R. M., Robertson, H. A., Allendorf, F. W. and Daugherty, C. H.,
- 2149 2013. Genetic consequences of a century of protection: serial founder events and survival of
- 2150 the little spotted kiwi (Apteryx owenii). Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological
- 2151 Sciences, 280 (1762), 20130576.
- 2152 Rayner, K., Lohr, C. A., Garretson, S. and Speldewinde, P., 2021. Two species, one island:
- Retrospective analysis of threatened fauna translocations with divergent outcomes. *PLOS*ONE, 16 (7), e0253962.
- 2155 Robertson, H. M., 2007. Wildlife Conservation and Perth Zoo., 6.
- 2156 Robinson, A. C., 1975. The Sticknest Rat, Leporillus conditor, on Franklin Island, Nuyts
- 2157 Archipelago, South Australia. Australian Mammalogy, 1 (4), 319–327.
- 2158 Robinson, N. M., Rhoades, C., Pierson, J., Lindenmayer, D. B. and Banks, S. C., 2021.
- 2159 Prioritising source populations for supplementing genetic diversity of reintroduced southern
- 2160 brown bandicoots Isoodon obesulus obesulus. *Conservation Genetics* [online]. Available
- 2161 from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10592-021-01341-6 [Accessed 3 Mar 2021].
- 2162 Ryan, S., Moseby, K. and Paton, D., 2003. Comparative foraging preferences of the greater
- 2163 stick-nest rat Leporillus conditor and the European rabbit Oryctolagus cuniculus:
- 2164 implications for regeneration of arid lands. *Australian Mammalogy*, 25 (2), 135.
- 2165 Schäfer, D., Vincent, H., Fischer, M. and Kempel, A., 2020. The importance of genetic
- diversity for the translocation of eight threatened plant species into the wild. *Global Ecologyand Conservation*, 24, e01240.
- 2168 Seddon, P. J., 2010. From Reintroduction to Assisted Colonization: Moving along the
- 2169 Conservation Translocation Spectrum. *Restoration Ecology*, 18 (6), 796–802.
- 2170 Short, J., 2009. The characteristics and success of vertebrate translocations within Australia:
- a progress report to Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry. *Wildlife Research and Management*.
- 2173 Short, J., Copley, P., Ruykys, L., Morris, K., Read, J. and Moseby, K., 2019. Review of
- translocations of the greater stick-nest rat (Leporillus conditor): lessons learnt to facilitate
 ongoing recovery. *Wildlife Research*, 46 (6), 455.
- 2176 Wang, J., 2018. Effects of sampling close relatives on some elementary population genetics
- analyses. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 18 (1), 41–54.
- 2178 Waples, R. S. and Anderson, E. C., 2017. Purging putative siblings from population genetic
- 2179 data sets: a cautionary view. *Molecular Ecology*, 26 (5), 1211–1224.
- 2180 Weeks, A. R., Heinze, D., Perrin, L., Stoklosa, J., Hoffmann, A. A., van Rooyen, A., Kelly,
- T. and Mansergh, I., 2017. Genetic rescue increases fitness and aids rapid recovery of an endangered marsupial population. *Nature Communications*, 8 (1), 1071.
- 2183 Weeks, A. R., Sgro, C. M., Young, A. G., Frankham, R., Mitchell, N. J., Miller, K. A., Byrne,
- 2184 M., Coates, D. J., Eldridge, M. D. B., Sunnucks, P., Breed, M. F., James, E. A. and
- 2185 Hoffmann, A. A., 2011. Assessing the benefits and risks of translocations in changing
- 2186 environments: a genetic perspective: Translocations in changing environments. *Evolutionary*
- 2187 *Applications*, 4 (6), 709–725.
- 2188 West, R. S., Tilley, L. and Moseby, K. E., 2020. A trial reintroduction of the western quoll to
- a fenced conservation reserve: implications of returning native predators. *Australian Mammalogy*, 42 (3), 257.
- 2191 White, D. J., Ottewell, K., Spencer, P. B. S., Smith, M., Short, J., Sims, C. and Mitchell, N.
- J., 2020. Genetic Consequences of Multiple Translocations of the Banded Hare-Wallaby in
 Western Australia. *Diversity*, 12 (12), 448.
- 2194 White, L. C., Thomson, V. A., West, R., Ruykys, L., Ottewell, K., Kanowski, J., Moseby, K.
- E., Byrne, M., Donnellan, S. C., Copley, P. and Austin, J. J., 2020a. Genetic monitoring of
- 2196 the greater stick-nest rat meta-population for strategic supplementation planning.
- 2197 Conservation Genetics [online]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-020-01299-x
 2198 [Accessed 24 Sep 2020].
- 2199 White, L. C., Thomson, V. A., West, R., Ruykys, L., Ottewell, K., Kanowski, J., Moseby, K.
- 2200 E., Byrne, M., Donnellan, S. C., Copley, P. and Austin, J. J., 2020b. Genetic monitoring of
- 2201 the greater stick-nest rat meta-population for strategic supplementation planning.
- 2202 *Conservation Genetics*, 21 (5), 941–956.
- Whiteley, A. R., Fitzpatrick, S. W., Funk, W. C. and Tallmon, D. A., 2015. Genetic rescue to the rescue. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 30 (1), 42–49.
- 2205 Wirtz, S., Böhm, C., Fritz, J., Kotrschal, K., Veith, M. and Hochkirch, A., 2018. Optimizing
- the genetic management of reintroduction projects: genetic population structure of the captive Northern Bald Ibis population. *Conservation Genetics*, 19 (4), 853–864.
- 2208 Woinarski, J., Burbidge, A. and Harrison, P., 2014. The action plan for Australian mammals
- 2209 2012 [online]. Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organization Publishing
- 2210 (CSIRO Publishing). Available from: http://espace.cdu.edu.au/view/cdu:48863 [Accessed 5
- 2211 Feb 2021].

- 2214
- 2215 Changes in expected heterozygosity over 25 years of population modelling for GSNRs on the
- 2216 Franklin Islands.

	Year 0	Year 25
East Franklin Island	0.3051	0.3005
West Franklin Island	0.2908	0.2863

- 2217
- 2218 Supplementary Information 2
- 2219

2220 Description and rationale of life history parameters used in GSNR population

- 2221 modelling
- 2222

2223 Species description

One Vortex "year" was deemed to be 365 days, therefore all reproductive and mortality rates

are annual. Inbreeding depression was estimated at 3.14 lethal equivelants per diploid gene,

the mean value for mammals (Ralls et al. 1988).

2227

2228 *Reproductive system and rates*

2229 GSNRs have been observed to breed up to four times per year in captivity and in good 2230 conditions in the wild (Copley, 1988; K. Branch, pers. comm. 2020), although high summer 2231 temperatures may limit breeding to annual events in cooler months in semi-arid and arid 2232 areas (Moseby and Bice 2004). This is more likely to occur on Salutation and Dirk Hartog 2233 Islands than the Franklin Islands, given the lower latitude and warmer climate of the 2234 translocation sites. We therefore estimated an average of three broods per year (K. Branch, 2235 pers. comm. 2020). Litters may contain three offspring in captivity, but in the wild are 2236 typically limited to one or two (average 1.32 offspring per litter) (Copley, 1988; Copley, 2237 1999a; Pedler and Copley, 1993). We estimated the distribution of offspring per litter to 2238 reflect this (Table 1). The maximum age of reproduction is approximately five years old in 2239 captivity (Procter, 2007; K. Branch, pers. comm. 2021). 2240

2241 Mortality rates and catastrophes

2242 Mortality rates and standard deviations were calculated by Sean Barclay (unpublished data) 2243 using mortality estimates reported in Copley (1988) and further refined using Vortex 2244 sensitivity testing. DHI is an offshore island with no introduced predators, and few avian 2245 predators, and predation risk is therefore negligible. Reptilian predators such as sand 2246 monitors are present on DHI; Short et al. (2019) proposed that predation pressure from 2247 monitors may have been at least partially responsible for some poor translocation outcomes, 2248 and there is some evidence that GSNRs are frequently preved upon by this species (Bolton 2249 and Moseby 2004). However, on DHI, a limited study of monitor diet found that small 2250 mammals made up a relatively small proportion of prey items (<12% of samples), compared 2251 to invertebrates such as beetles and cockroaches (~75%) (Cowen et al. 2019), despite sandy 2252 inland mice (Pseudomys hermannsburgensis) being abundant on the island (Cowen et al., 2253 2020). GSNRs have demonstrated increased mortality during hot summer periods (Moseby 2254 and Bice 2004) and we therefore modelled "drought" as a stochastic environmental process. 2255 The frequency of a drought event was determined to be 16% per year (1 in 6.25 years) based 2256 on drought frequency predictions of nearby Western Australian islands Bernier and Dorre 2257 (White et al., 2020a). Mortality and proportion of animals reproducing during drought was 2258 estimated by analysing the under-representation of juveniles in trapping data from Reevesby 2259 Island in 1995 compared to 1994, which recorded a population decline during this period due 2260 to drought (Copley, 1999b; Barclay, unpublished data). 2261

- 2264 Pairwise Wilcoxon rank sum test comparisons of Vortex results for population size, expected heterozygosity, inbreeding coefficient and
- extinction probability of each simulation. Statistically significant values (p value <0.05) appear in bold.

	Inbreeding Coefficient									
	DHI Sim 1	DHI Sim 2	DHI Sim 3	DHI Sim 4	DHI Sim 5	DHI Sim 6	DHI Sim 7	DHI Sim 8	DHI Sim 9	DHI Sim 10
DHI Sim 2	0.26040993	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 3	6.09E-12	3.43E-13	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 4	3.14E-08	2.43E-09	0.73756548	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 5	3.62E-16	7.13E-15	3.62E-16	6.55E-15	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 6	9.88E-11	4.69E-08	2.99E-15	1.33E-10	9.94E-12	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 7	3.62E-16	3.76E-16	3.62E-16	3.63E-16	3.86E-12	7.74E-16	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 8	2.71E-15	1.52E-13	3.62E-16	1.06E-14	0.02977523	6.64E-11	3.14E-12	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 9	3.62E-16	1.75E-13	3.62E-16	7.78E-14	3.79E-07	5.97E-11	7.13E-15	9.52E-06	NA	NA
DHI Sim 10	3.62E-16	1.06E-14	3.62E-16	7.13E-15	0.07957477	1.14E-11	1.19E-14	0.3609373	3.50E-06	NA
DHI Sim 11	3.62E-16	3.62E-16	3.62E-16	3.62E-16	2.18E-07	4.98E-14	3.16E-13	7.97E-08	4.43E-10	3.12E-10
					Expected Het	erozygosity			·	
	DHI Sim 1	DHI Sim 2	DHI Sim 3	DHI Sim 4	DHI Sim 5	DHI Sim 6	DHI Sim 7	DHI Sim 8	DHI Sim 9	DHI Sim 10
DHI Sim 2	0.44952744	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 3	6.59E-15	4.73E-15	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 4	8.30E-13	7.37E-13	0.98662069	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 5	1.61E-16	1.61E-16	1.61E-16	1.61E-16	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 6	9.14E-11	2.21E-10	1.61E-16	5.83E-15	1.41E-14	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 7	1.61E-16	1.61E-16	1.61E-16	1.61E-16	6.96E-14	1.61E-16	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 8	1.72E-16	1.82E-16	1.61E-16	1.61E-16	0.00403423	9.51E-14	9.28E-14	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 9	1.61E-16	1.61E-16	1.61E-16	1.61E-16	1.38E-09	1.11E-13	1.97E-15	8.62E-09	NA	NA
DHI Sim 10	1.61E-16	1.61E-16	1.61E-16	1.61E-16	0.01666205	1.52E-14	1.78E-15	0.37094742	7.81E-09	NA

DHI Sim 11	1.61E-16	1.61E-16	1.61E-16	1.61E-16	1.18E-09	1.70E-15	2.76E-15	4.96E-10	3.02E-12	1.32E-12
Population Size										
	DHI Sim 1	DHI Sim 2	DHI Sim 3	DHI Sim 4	DHI Sim 5	DHI Sim 6	DHI Sim 7	DHI Sim 8	DHI Sim 9	DHI Sim 10
DHI Sim 2	0.33604951	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 3	0.14307435	0.04874016	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 4	0.16153061	0.06231325	0.9919901	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 5	0.96145691	0.28476298	0.09993078	0.14631337	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 6	0.16728272	0.05293725	0.903242	0.90804473	0.15858551	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 7	0.1123439	0.4180602	0.0097982	0.01179315	0.09778416	0.01085642	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 8	0.79849807	0.24578519	0.19060443	0.25376609	0.79849807	0.25376609	0.06231325	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 9	0.70279408	0.59705509	0.06231325	0.09778416	0.69998155	0.09778416	0.16728272	0.54445743	NA	NA
DHI Sim 10	0.16919354	0.73663166	0.0097982	0.01228571	0.14001151	0.01179315	0.70279408	0.09778416	0.29432204	NA
DHI Sim 11	0.03577634	0.08647022	0.00741652	0.00741652	0.02393829	0.00741652	0.28476298	0.01542926	0.05293725	0.16153061
					Probability of	Extinction				
	DHI Sim 1	DHI Sim 2	DHI Sim 3	DHI Sim 4	DHI Sim 5	DHI Sim 6	DHI Sim 7	DHI Sim 8	DHI Sim 9	DHI Sim 10
DHI Sim 2	0.30275853	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 3	0.1954	0.03589532	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 4	0.35148892	0.09044384	0.62412539	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 5	1	0.30275853	0.1954	0.35148892	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 6	0.80824867	0.44130498	0.146375	0.30275853	0.80824867	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 7	0.30275853	1	0.03589532	0.09044384	0.30275853	0.44130498	NA	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 8	1	0.30275853	0.20185406	0.370503	1	0.80824867	0.30275853	NA	NA	NA
DHI Sim 9	0.51104919	0.66621051	0.09044384	0.14675744	0.51104919	0.72275943	0.66621051	0.51104919	NA	NA
DHI Sim 10	0.146375	0.44130498	0.02587765	0.03589532	0.146375	0.20185406	0.44130498	0.146375	0.30275853	NA
DHI Sim 11	0.146375	0.44130498	0.02587765	0.03589532	0.146375	0.20185406	0.44130498	0.146375	0.30275853	NA

- 2268
- 2269 Results of binomial logistic regression analysis of sensitivity testing for three life-history
- 2270 parameters (lethal equivalents, % males in breeding pool and % mortality after age 1) and
- their impact on GSNR populations.

		Parameter	Estimate	Std. error	z-value	P-value
no		Lethal equivalents	3.879e-14	6.937e-02	0	1
latio		% Males in breeding pool	1.507e-14	9.150e-03	0	1
Popu	size	% Mortality after age 1	1.512e-14	2.965e-02	0	1
Ŋ		Lethal equivelants	-0.0003	0.076	-0.004	0.996
gosit		% Males in breeding pool	0.0004	0.01	0.039	0.969
Heterozy		% Mortality after age 1	-0.014	0.033	-0.435	0.664
Jg		Lethal equivalents	-0.01	0.084	-0.113	0.91
edin		% Males in breeding pool	-0.0003	0.011	-0.023	0.98
Inbre		% Mortality after age 1	0.015	0.036	0.411	0.68
u	ty	Lethal equivalents	0.221	3.542	0.062	0.95
ction		% Males in breeding pool	-0.043	0.522	-0.082	0.934
Extin	prob	% Mortality after age 1	0.247	1.916	0.129	0.897

- 2274
- 2275 Expected heterozygosity, inbreeding coefficients and population size of each founder
- 2276 population under different harvesting scenarios at years 1 and 5. Symbols denote the following;
- *single source, †multiple source, ‡low founder numbers, §baseline founder numbers, ¶high founder
- 2278 numbers, #skewed harvesting ratio.

Source	Model	Expected			Inbree	ding Coef	ficient	Population Size		
Population		Heterozygosity								
		Year 1	Year 5	Year 10	Year 1	Year 5	Year 10	Year 1	Year 5	Year 10
East	Sim 1 ^{*§}	0.305	0.3042	0.3033	0.6945	0.6949	0.6959	654.84	707.29	705.8
Franklin										
Island	Sim 3 ^{*‡}	0.305	0.3043	0.3033	0.6946	0.6949	0.6958	676.03	706.88	711.65
	Sim 5 ^{†§}	0.305	0.3043	0.3034	0.6945	0.6949	0.6958	676.02	716.98	715.8
	Sim 6 ^{†‡}	0.305	0.3043	0.3033	0.6945	0.6949	0.6958	687.84	710.45	703.8
	Sim 7 ^{†¶}	0.305	0.3043	0.3034	0.6945	0.6949	0.6959	688.05	714.28	716.07
	Sim 8 ^{†§#}	0.305	0.3043	0.3033	0.6945	0.695	0.6958	687.37	706.8	711.63
	Sim 9 ^{†§#}	0.305	0.3043	0.3033	0.6946	0.6949	0.6958	673.11	705.06	703.42
	Sim 10 ^{†¶#}	0.305	0.3043	0.3034	0.6945	0.6949	0.6957	687.51	712.82	710.89
	Sim 11 ^{†¶#}	0.305	0.3043	0.3034	0.6945	0.6949	0.6958	684.47	717.41	710.39
West Franklin	Sim 1 ^{*§}	0.2906	0.29	0.2891	0.7089	0.7093	0.7101	654.4	703.68	710.16
Island	Sim 3 ^{*‡}	0.2906	0.29	0.2891	0.7089	0.7093	0.7102	674.22	705.47	712.48
	Sim 5 ^{†§}	0.2903	0.2897	0.2888	0.7092	0.7096	0.7104	683.15	709.76	703.71
	Sim 6 ^{†‡}	0.2903	0.2897	0.2887	0.7092	0.7096	0.7105	688.11	711.67	709.75
	Sim 7 ^{†¶}	0.2903	0.2896	0.2887	0.7093	0.7097	0.7105	689.55	709.6	711.06

	Sim 8 ^{†§#}	0.2903	0.2896	0.2887	0.7093	0.7097	0.7105	680.57	713.01	703.95
	Sim 9 ^{†§#}	0.2903	0.2896	0.2887	0.7093	0.7096	0.7105	683.4	705.3	701.27
	Sim 10 ^{†¶#}	0.2903	0.2897	0.2888	0.7093	0.7096	0.7105	679.4	711.88	707.46
	Sim 11 ^{†¶#}	0.2903	0.2897	0.2888	0.7093	0.7096	0.7104	681.07	709.47	706.19
Salutation Island	Sim 2 ^{*§}	0.3165	0.3154	0.3139	0.6831	0.6835	0.6849	551.38	526.45	529.89
	Sim 4 ^{*‡}	0.3165	0.3154	0.3139	0.683	0.6835	0.6848	556.42	531.33	527.6
	Sim 5 ^{†§}	0.3165	0.3156	0.3143	0.683	0.6834	0.6845	556.59	527.57	524.99
	Sim 6 ^{†‡}	0.3166	0.3156	0.3143	0.683	0.6833	0.6846	563.68	522.67	531.87
	Sim 7 ^{†¶}	0.3165	0.3156	0.3143	0.683	0.6834	0.6845	531.14	530.84	529.89
	Sim 8 ^{†§#}	0.3165	0.3156	0.3143	0.683	0.6834	0.6846	559.13	527.05	534.07
	Sim 9 ^{†§#}	0.3165	0.3156	0.3143	0.683	0.6834	0.6846	543.51	530.06	536.09
	Sim 10 ^{†¶#}	0.3165	0.3155	0.3142	0.683	0.6834	0.6846	522.01	525.88	525.48
	Sim 11 ^{†¶#}	0.3164	0.3155	0.3142	0.683	0.6835	0.6846	513.68	527.47	530.38

2283	Chapter 7
2284	
2285	General Discussion
2286	

- 2287 Thesis Discussion
- 2288

2289 Soulé (1985) defined the goal of conservation biology as providing principles and tools for 2290 preserving biological diversity. The discipline seeks to identify vital questions about the 2291 biology and ecology of a species, and to provide answers that can be harnessed and applied in 2292 a management context. Some of the major challenges encountered by proponents of 2293 conservation biology include deficiencies in species-specific demographic knowledge for 2294 threatened taxa, the management of genetic diversity in fragmented and bottlenecked 2295 populations, and the added pressures of a rapidly changing climate (McCarty 2001; Kim and 2296 Byrne 2006; Root and Schneider 2006; Frankham 2010; Conde et al. 2019). In this thesis, I 2297 have taken a multi-disciplinary approach to a broad ecological study of a species of 2298 conservation concern, the greater stick-nest rat (Leporillus conditor), to provide tools and 2299 principles required for its ongoing conservation. I have used a combination of field studies, 2300 genetics, morphology, and population modelling to resolve previously unanswered biological 2301 questions about this species, and to make informed suggestions for its ongoing management 2302 under the pressures of projected climate change. I have shown the importance of genetic 2303 considerations for effective, long-term threatened species recovery programs, and have 2304 highlighted the need for adaptive management under climate change. Ultimately, these tools 2305 will assist in the implementation of more informed translocation and conservation initiatives, 2306 increasing resilience to climate change and improving genetic diversity in threatened, 2307 bottlenecked species (Figure 1). In this chapter I will summarise my findings and their 2308 significance to conservation biology as a whole, and call attention to areas requiring further 2309 research. 2310

- 2311
- 2312



Figure 1. A summary of the chapters contained within this thesis, the common issues associated with conservation biology that they address, and the combined outcomes of this research.

2317

2318 Summary of Findings

2319

2320 Quantifying the past diversity of greater stick-nest rats

Quantifying past diversity in threatened species is a critical step towards designing 2321 recovery plans. This information allows conservation managers to set goals for the recovery 2322 of the species, as well as determining appropriate reintroduction sites and identifying any 2323 local adaptations that may influence persistence following translocation. The results of 2324 2325 Chapter Two provide insight into the historical diversity of greater stick-nest rats. The 2326 species was once found across a variety of habitats and bioclimates, from offshore islands to 2327 the central arid zone. While limited cranial shape variation existed between populations that 2328 may indicate local adaptation to food sources or environmental pressures, the remaining 2329 extant population on the Franklin Islands was significantly larger in size than most mainland populations, apart from those in central Australia. Encouragingly, this may be evidence that 2330 2331 the greater stick-nest rat conforms to an evolutionary pattern observed in many Australian rodents in which a generalised skull shape allows for success in a variety of habitats, and so 2332 2333 local morphological adaptation may not be of concern for translocated populations.

2335 Understanding contemporary populations

2336 Effective, tailored and adaptive threatened species management requires detailed 2337 understanding of the biology and demography of the species in question. This thesis 2338 comprises of a number of studies that have contributed to a better understanding of the social 2339 structure, dispersal behaviours and habitat requirements of extant greater stick-nest rat 2340 populations, and provided tools for genomic studies of non-model species. Chapter Three 2341 demonstrated that a bioinformatics pipeline originally designed for sex determination of 2342 shotgun sequencing samples could be successfully applied to ddRAD-seq data generated by 2343 Diversity Arrays Technology Pty Ltd (DArT), a popular platform for conservation genomics 2344 studies. Furthermore, this study showed that the pipeline could be applied to a non-model 2345 species using a diverged reference genome, and is therefore a valuable tool for understudied 2346 and threatened species. Informed by the results of Chapter Three, Chapter Four used SNP 2347 data and field monitoring data to show the first empirical evidence of sex-biased dispersal 2348 and female philopatry in the greater stick-nest rat. Chapter Four quantified the average 2349 dispersal distance of male and female greater stick-nest rats at Arid Recovery Reserve, and 2350 used the findings to provide clear direction for future spatially-sensitive harvesting strategies 2351 when implementing a translocation. Implementing these recommendations will help future 2352 conservation managers to maximise genetic diversity and establishment in new populations 2353 of greater stick-nest rats.

2354

2355 Chapter Five used field monitoring data and statistical analysis to compare internal nest 2356 temperatures of greater stick-nest rat sites at two locations, one coastal and one arid. This 2357 study showed that thermal capabilities of nests were of much greater importance under the 2358 extreme temperature variation of the arid zone, and that bettong warrens provided an 2359 effective climate refuge during heat waves. Further, it demonstrated that man-made rock 2360 refuges in the arid environment were also effective thermal buffers of both extreme cold and 2361 extreme heat, more so than nests built beneath vegetation. This study has important 2362 implications for the management of the species under increasingly frequent heat waves and climatic extremes, and highlights the importance of alternative climate refuges for greater 2363 2364 stick-nest rats and other small mammals experiencing such conditions. 2365

2366 *Planning for the future*

2367 The goalposts of conservation management are rapidly shifting under climate change. 2368 The aim is no longer to simply restore and recover what has been lost, but to safeguard 2369 populations against the rapid environmental changes of the near future. For greater stick-nest 2370 rats and other fragmented species, this means that adaptive management is required to build 2371 resilience against climate change. Chapter Six of this thesis applied genome-environment 2372 association tests (GEAs) to determine whether greater stick-nest rats at Arid Recovery had 2373 undergone adaptation to heat stress in the two decades following their translocation from the 2374 more mesic source region, with the hope that this may indicate adaptive resilience to the 2375 projected conditions under climate change and therefore an ideal source population for 2376 targeted gene flow (explored in Chapter One). A signal of selection was detected on a 2377 genomic region associated with hypothyroidism in the house mouse (*Mus musculus*) 2378 reference genome. Hypothyroidism has been associated with improved heat stress survival in 2379 several taxa, and may therefore be evidence of heat stress adaptation in the Arid Recovery 2380 population of greater stick-nest rats. However, given that no reference genome exists for the 2381 greater stick-nest rat, and the population is highly fragmented, GEAs are unlikely to be a 2382 reliable method of determining adaptive genomic responses in greater stick-nest rats or, 2383 indeed, many other Australian threatened species that are similarly fragmented and data-2384 deficient.

2385

2386 Maximising genetic diversity is another way in which populations can be safeguarded 2387 against climate change, as the chances of heat or drought resistant alleles existing within a 2388 population are increased. Chapter Seven incorporated genetic data into a population viability 2389 analysis (PVA) to predict the optimal harvesting strategy for a translocation of greater stick-2390 nest rats to Dirk Hartog Island, Western Australia, that would maximise genetic diversity in 2391 the new population and minimise harvesting pressure on the single remaining extant 2392 ("critical") population. The results of the PVA supported the use of high founder numbers 2393 and multiple source populations for improving genetic diversity and reducing extinction risk 2394 in the new population. Further, it revealed that skewed admixture, wherein a small proportion 2395 of individuals were sourced from the critical population and the remainder from a genetically 2396 depauperate population, could still produce favourable outcomes whilst protecting the critical 2397 source population from the pressures of overharvesting.

2398

2399 Implications for Conservation Biology

2401 Wildlife conservation is a multi-disciplinary science, and must take into consideration 2402 species' life history, ecology and genetics. Further, when planning for future climate change, 2403 it must be acknowledged that adaptation can come in many forms, be it behavioural, 2404 phenotypic, or at the genetic level. Taken together, the results of this thesis provide a multi-2405 faceted toolkit for the effective management of a threatened endemic species under climate 2406 change. For greater stick-nest rats, future translocations and management programs should 2407 consider a spatially sensitive harvesting strategy with multiple source populations and high 2408 founding numbers, with a smaller proportion of individuals taken from the relict source 2409 population of the Franklin Islands. Conservation efforts for the species should ensure that 2410 adequate nesting materials are available for the establishment of family groups, and that 2411 climate refugia such as warrens and rock piles are accessible during periods of climatic 2412 extremes. Recovery efforts for the species should work towards reconstructing the historical 2413 geographic range of the species and maximising its genetic diversity while monitoring 2414 morphological change post-translocation. Finally, a concerted effort should be made towards 2415 sequencing a reference genome for this species, so that detailed analyses targeting responses 2416 to climate change at the genetic level can be undertaken in order to further improve 2417 conservation management of the greater stick-nest rat. Access to a reference genome for this 2418 species would allow researchers to search for functional adaptations in response to selection 2419 pressures associated with climate change, such as heat or drought tolerance, and use this 2420 knowledge to inform future management of the species.

2421

These findings are also applicable on a broad scale. Many taxa in Australia and worldwide
exist in small, fragmented populations with reduced genetic diversity, making them all the
more vulnerable to the pressures of climate change. With so much of our precious
biodiversity at risk of extinction, we can rarely afford to be experimental – this thesis
demonstrates that an adaptive management approach guided by data and sound biological
knowledge is extremely valuable for conservation success in a changing environment.

Firstly, reconstructing or restoring lost diversity is not possible without understanding the historical diversity and range of the species in question. For this purpose, natural history collections are an invaluable resource, and should be utilised wherever possible to inform conservation practices. Many reintroduction programs are planned and operated without incorporating knowledge of the morphological and genetic diversity of extirpated, with
potentially adverse consequences. We are learning more and more about the cryptic nature of
taxonomy, particularly in Australia; recent studies on bandicoots, for example, have resulted
in the reclassification of subspecies and the identification of new species (Travouillon and
Phillips 2018; Travouillon et al. 2019). Individual populations of a species are not always
equal in terms of local adaptations and habitat requirements; it is therefore important for
future reintroductions to consider past diversity and conduct "like-for-like" translocations

- wherever possible.
- 2441

2442 Further, for translocations to be executed successfully at both the harvest and release stages, 2443 knowledge of a species' dispersal behaviours is critical. Sex-biased dispersal was found to 2444 contribute to fine-scale genetic heterogeneity across the landscape in our study population of 2445 greater stick-nest rats, an important consideration for future translocation harvesting and 2446 management strategies. Further, the nesting behaviour of the species clearly contributes to the 2447 spatial genetic structure and dispersal patterns. Might such patterns be of importance in other 2448 species, particularly those that use shelters such as nests or burrows? The greater bilby 2449 (Macrotis lagotis) or the Shark Bay mouse (Pseudomys fieldi), for example? Combining 2450 biological and genetic data with decision-making tools such as Pacioni et al.'s (2020) spatial 2451 trapping design or the decision-tree approach presented in Ebrahimi et al. (2015) when 2452 planning harvest, holding, and release stages of a translocation could significantly improve 2453 the outcome of translocation programs in the future.

2454

2455 Populations, translocated or otherwise, experiencing heat stress are unlikely to persist without 2456 adequate habitat and climate refugia, so managers must also ensure that a variety of heat-2457 resistant microclimates are available that suit the species' sheltering preferences (e.g. 2458 burrows, tree hollows, vegetation or rocky outcrops). More than 300 Australian species 2459 utilise tree hollows for nesting or shelter (Gibbons and Lindenmayer 2002), with many others 2460 relying on burrows, caves, rocky outcrops and nests. As such, the availability of thermally 2461 buffered refugia should be a consideration for most conservation programs. Where habitats 2462 are degraded, the provision of such shelters is of particular importance, and can be extremely 2463 effective. In a study by Croak et al. (2010), artificial rocks crafted from cement provided 2464 similar thermal regimes to natural rocks, and were colonised by many invertebrate and reptile 2465 species within 40 weeks of installation. Not all shelters are equal, however; for example, a

- 2466 recent study on two types of artificial hollows provided for the Leadbeater's possum 2467 (Gymnobelideus leadbeateri) found that temperatures were far more stable in chainsaw 2468 hollows than nest boxes, which reached temperatures as high as 48.5°C and as low as -5.5°C 2469 (McComb et al. 2021). Higher temperatures in nest boxes and other shelters with poor 2470 thermoregulatory buffering increase the likelihood of dehydration and heat-stress in the 2471 inhabiting taxa (Rowland et al. 2017), ultimately leading to higher mortality. It is therefore of 2472 utmost importance that managers test and monitor microclimates within sheltering sites, both 2473 natural and artificial, in order to optimise the refugia available to threatened species, 2474 particularly under the increasingly frequent heat waves predicted under climate change. 2475 2476 Lastly, with adequate biological data and genetic information, population modelling can be
- 2470 Lastly, with adequate biological data and genetic information, population moderning can be 2477 used to plan best-practice translocation and supplementation programs and minimise the risk 2478 of population crashes or loss of genetic diversity, in both the source and translocated 2479 populations. A recent review of published studies on wild-sourced translocations found that 2480 only 11% estimated the impact of harvest on the source population (Mitchell et al. 2021). The 2481 application of population modelling tools such as PVA should, in future, be a priority for 2482 translocation planning in order to ensure source sustainability.
- 2483

2484 Areas for Future Research

2485

2486 Most of the approaches discussed in this thesis require at least some degree of genetic 2487 knowledge to be performed in-depth. Fortunately, high-throughput next-generation sequencing is becoming more accessible every year. Commercial platforms such as Diversity 2488 2489 Arrays Pty Ltd provide a means for conservation researchers and practitioners to gain access 2490 to whole or reduced-representation genome sequencing of individuals and populations. This 2491 genetic information can inform on not only genetic diversity and levels of inbreeding, but on 2492 adaptive traits that may increase resilience to climate change. Such technology could even be 2493 combined with other valuable conservation resources, both new and old, to enhance our 2494 management capabilities in the future. The results of Chapter Two could be further explored 2495 in the future using genetic analysis to determine whether the historical variation in size of 2496 greater stick-nest rats represents phenotypic plasticity or genetic variation. Further, next-2497 generation sequencing could be used to identify heat-adapted genes in extirpated populations 2498 of species which are represented by specimens in natural history collections (Card et al.

2499 2021). These genes could then be inserted into the genome of contemporary populations that
2500 are maladapted to high temperatures using CRISPR gene-editing technology. Such an
2501 approach is already being employed for de-extinction research into the passenger pigeon

2502 (Ectopistes migratorius) (Hung et al. 2013; Servick 2013) – it follows that gene editing is a

tool that could be utilised to prevent, as well as reverse, extinction.

2504

2505 Given the complex nature of reintroduction biology and the many considerations required for 2506 successful establishment (a number of which have been explored in this thesis), future 2507 translocations should be guided by two main questions at the outset. Firstly, is the site 2508 appropriate? Many translocations occur on the peripheral edge of the species in question's 2509 historical range, with little consideration for the suitability of the site under climate change 2510 projections. Species distribution models (SDMs) combined with future climate scenarios can 2511 be applied here to great effect. The second consideration should then be, is the species 2512 appropriate? There is a significant lack of equal representation of native species in 2513 conservation reserves. During the period of 2010-2017, 11 "safe havens" were established 2514 that provided protection for 16 native species susceptible to predation – however, these 2515 species were already well represented in conservation reserves and did not add any new taxa 2516 to the haven network (Ringma et al. 2018). Ringma et al. (2019) present a systematic 2517 framework to address and close this representation gap by creating more reserves and adding 2518 predator-susceptible, underrepresented taxa in a fair way. The role of the species in the 2519 ecological community is also important to consider; if the goal is reconstructing a diverse, 2520 functional ecosystem, managers should carefully consider trophic levels and ecological 2521 niches, and the order in which these should be filled. Native meso- and top order predators, 2522 for example, should not be reintroduced into communities that do not have an adequate 2523 abundance of appropriate prey species.

2524

Finally, and perhaps most importantly, there is a need for greater transparency and timely reporting of translocation failure. Translocation failures, as well as challenges faced during translocation programs, are rarely reported in peer reviewed journals, making it difficult for future reintroduction programs to be informed by problems from the past and subsequently improved (Germano and Bishop 2009; Berger-Tal et al. 2020). Fischer and Lindenmayer (2000) found that 49% of reviewed reintroduction case studies did not explicitly identify causes of decline. Further, 40% of translocations reviewed by Short (2009) had an

2532 "indeterminate outcome". The accumulated knowledge from failed translocations is equally 2533 important to the science of reintroduction biology as that of successful translocations. It is 2534 therefore vital that conservation managers are accountable for reporting translocation 2535 outcomes even when they are unfavourable, and that scientific journals seek to address the 2536 publication bias that hinders the dissemination of results considered to be "negative" or "nonsignificant" (Scargle 1999). To encourage transparency, the conservation community 2537 2538 needs to work towards removing the stigma and judgement associated with negative 2539 outcomes when managers have worked to the best of their knowledge and ability towards 2540 population establishment. Translocation approvals issued by government bodies should also 2541 incorporate a data sharing agreement which obliges proponents to report translocation 2542 outcomes either in a peer reviewed journal or on a public repository such as bioRxiv.

2543

2544 Conclusion

2545

2546 In a time of unprecedented biodiversity loss and environmental change, adaptive 2547 conservation strategies are more vital than ever before. A "preservationist" approach to 2548 threatened species management is no longer possible or appropriate – instead, 2549 conservationists must move to build resilience and adaptability in the populations they 2550 protect through methods such as translocation, habitat provision, assisted gene flow and 2551 genetic rescue. In this thesis, I have contributed to the biological knowledge of one 2552 threatened species, the greater stick-nest rat, and explored a number of tools to further inform 2553 its future conservation. The findings of this research can be extrapolated to other Australian 2554 endemics with similar histories of range contraction, fragmentation and genetic bottlenecks, 2555 and will contribute to the ongoing protection of threatened species in the face of 2556 anthropogenic climate change.

2557 References

- Berger-Tal, O., Blumstein, D. T. and Swaisgood, R. R., 2020. Conservation translocations: a
 review of common difficulties and promising directions. Animal Conservation, 23 (2),
 121–131.
- Card, D. C., Shapiro, B., Giribet, G., Moritz, C. and Edwards, S. V., 2021. Museum
 Genomics. Annual Review of Genetics, 55
- Conde, D. A., Staerk, J., Colchero, F., da Silva, R., Schöley, J., Baden, H. M., Jouvet, L., Fa,
 J. E., Syed, H. and Jongejans, E., 2019. Data gaps and opportunities for comparative
 and conservation biology. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 116 (19),
 9658–9664.
- Croak, B. M., Pike, D. A., Webb, J. K. and Shine, R., 2010. Using Artificial Rocks to Restore
 Nonrenewable Shelter Sites in Human-Degraded Systems: Colonization by Fauna.
 Restoration Ecology, 18 (4), 428–438.
- Ebrahimi, M., Ebrahimie, E. and Bull, C. M., 2015. Minimizing the cost of translocation
 failure with decision-tree models that predict species' behavioral response in
 translocation sites: Species Behavior and Decision-Tree Models. Conservation Biology,
 2573 29 (4), 1208–1216.
- Fischer, J. and Lindenmayer, D. B., 2000. An assessment of the published results of animal
 relocations. Biological Conservation, 96 (1), 1–11.
- Frankham, R., 2010. Challenges and opportunities of genetic approaches to biological
 conservation. Biological conservation, 143 (9), 1919–1927.
- Germano, J. M. and Bishop, P. J., 2009. Suitability of amphibians and reptiles for
 translocation. Conservation Biology, 23 (1), 7–15.
- Gibbons, P. and Lindenmayer, D., 2002. Tree Hollows and Wildlife Conservation in
 Australia. CSIRO Publishing, Canberra, Australia.
- Hung, C.-M., Lin, R.-C., Chu, J.-H., Yeh, C.-F., Yao, C.-J. and Li, S.-H., 2013. The de novo
 assembly of mitochondrial genomes of the extinct passenger pigeon (*Ectopistes migratorius*) with next generation sequencing. PloS one, 8 (2), e56301.
- Kim, K. C. and Byrne, L. B., 2006. Biodiversity loss and the taxonomic bottleneck: emerging
 biodiversity science. Ecological Research, 21 (6), 794–810.
- McCarty, J. P., 2001. Ecological consequences of recent climate change. Conservation
 biology, 15 (2), 320–331.
- McComb, L. B., Lentini, P. E., Harley, D. K. P., Lumsden, L. F., Eyre, A. C. and Briscoe, N.
 J., 2021. Climate and behaviour influence thermal suitability of artificial hollows for a critically endangered mammal. Animal Conservation .
- Mitchell, W. F., Boulton, R. L., Sunnucks, P. and Clarke, R. H., 2021. Are we adequately
 assessing the demographic impacts of harvesting for wild-sourced conservation
 translocations? Conservation Science and Practice, e569.
- Pacioni, C., Atkinson, A., Wayne, A. F., Maxwell, M. A., Ward, C. G. and Spencer, P. B. S.,
 2020. Spatially sensitive harvest design can minimize genetic relatedness and enhance
 genetic outcomes in translocation programmes. Journal of Zoology, 312 (1), 32–42.
- Ringma, J., Legge, S., Woinarski, J. C. Z., Radford, J. Q., Wintle, B., Bentley, J., Burbidge,
 A. A., Copley, P., Dexter, N., Dickman, C. R., Gillespie, G. R., Hill, B., Johnson, C.
 N., Kanowski, J., Letnic, M., Manning, A., Menkhorst, P., Mitchell, N., Morris, K.,
 Moseby, K., Page, M., Palmer, R. and Bode, M., 2019. Systematic planning can rapidly
 close the protection gap in Australian mammal havens. Conservation Letters, 12 (1).
 e12611

- Ringma, J., Legge, S., Woinarski, J., Radford, J., Wintle, B. and Bode, M., 2018. Australia's
 mammal fauna requires a strategic and enhanced network of predator-free havens.
 Nature Ecology & Evolution, 2 (3), 410–411.
- 2607 Root, T. L. and Schneider, S. H., 2006. Conservation and climate change: the challenges
 2608 ahead. Conservation biology, 20 (3), 706–708.
- 2609 Rowland, J. A., Briscoe, N. J. and Handasyde, K. A., 2017. Comparing the thermal suitability
 2610 of nest-boxes and tree-hollows for the conservation-management of arboreal
 2611 marsupials. Biological Conservation, 209, 341–348.
- Scargle, J. D., 1999. Publication bias (the" file-drawer problem") in scientific inference.
 arXiv preprint physics/9909033.
- Servick, K., 2013. The plan to bring the iconic passenger pigeon back from extinction. WiredScience.
- Short, J., 2009. The characteristics and success of vertebrate translocations within Australia.
 Wildlife Research and Management Pty Ltd, Perth, and Australian Government
 Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry, Canberra, Australia.
- 2619 Soulé, M. E., 1985. What is conservation biology? BioScience, 35 (11), 727–734.
- Travouillon, K. J. and Phillips, M. J., 2018. Total evidence analysis of the phylogenetic
 relationships of bandicoots and bilbies (*Marsupialia: Peramelemorphia*): reassessment
 of two species and description of a new species. Zootaxa, 4378 (2), 224.
- Travouillon, K. J., Simões, B. F., Miguez, R. P., Brace, S., Brewer, B., Stemmer, D., Price,
 G. J., Cramb, J. and Louys, L., 2019. Hidden in plain sight: reassessment of the pigfooted bandicoot, *Chaeropus ecaudatus (Peramelemorphia, Chaeropodidae)*, with a
 description of a new species from central Australia, and use of the fossil record to trace
 its past distribution. Zootaxa, 4566 (1), 1-69.